Preventing childhood asthma: the neglected impact of existing public health interventions

Edited by

David Michael Patrick, Stuart Turvey, Meghan B. Azad, Petra Zimmermann and Angela Dramowski

Coordinated by Hannah Lishman

Published in Frontiers in Allergy Frontiers in Public Health Frontiers in Pediatrics





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-6429-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-6429-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Preventing childhood asthma: the neglected impact of existing public health interventions

Topic editors

David Michael Patrick — University of British Columbia, Canada Stuart Turvey — University of British Columbia, Canada Meghan B. Azad — University of Manitoba, Canada Petra Zimmermann — Université de Fribourg, Switzerland Angela Dramowski — Stellenbosch University, South Africa

Topic coordinator

Hannah Lishman — British Columbia Centre for Disease Control, Canada

Citation

Patrick, D. M., Turvey, S., Azad, M. B., Zimmermann, P., Dramowski, A., Lishman, H., eds. (2025). *Preventing childhood asthma: the neglected impact of existing public health interventions*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-6429-5



Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Preventing childhood asthma—the neglected impact of existing public health interventions David M. Patrick, Stuart E. Turvey, Meghan B. Azad, Petra Zimmermann, Angela Dramowski and Hannah Lishman
- 08 The association between children's exposure to pesticides and asthma, wheezing, and lower respiratory tract infections. A systematic review and meta-analysis Awoke Keleb, Chala Daba, Lakew Asmare, Fekade Demeke Bayou, Mastewal Arefaynie, Anissa Mohammed, Abiyu Abadi Tareke, Natnael Kebede, Yawkal Tsega, Abel Endawkie,

Shimels Derso Kebede, Kaleab Mesfin Abera, Eyob Tilahun Abeje and Ermias Bekele Enyew

23 Caregiver burden among parents of school-age children with asthma: a cross-sectional study

Fang Yang, Jingru Zhou, Hongying Xiao, Xia Wu, Yingjuan Cui, Houqiang Huang, Silin Zheng and Huawei Li

32 The role of antibiotic exposure and the effects of breastmilk and human milk feeding on the developing infant gut microbiome

Meredith Brockway

- 39 Association between antibiotic usage during infancy and asthma incidence among children: a population-level ecological study in British Columbia, Canada Abdullah Al Mamun, Carl Zou, Hannah Lishman, Säde Stenlund, Max Xie, Erica Chuang and David M. Patrick
- 49 The effect of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota in children - a systematic review Juliane Wurm, Nigel Curtis and Petra Zimmermann
- 67 Mechanisms of microbe-mediated immune development in the context of antibiotics and asthma Katherine Donald and B. Brett Finlay
- 73 Reduce, reinforce, and replenish: safeguarding the early-life microbiota to reduce intergenerational health disparities Darlene L. Y. Dai, Charisse Petersen and Stuart E. Turvey
- 84 Experimental models of antibiotic exposure and atopic disease

Katherine Donald and B. Brett Finlay

91 Individual- and system-level determinants of breastfeeding in a low-resource setting Miranda G. Loutet

97 Impact analysis of infant antibiotic exposure on the burden of asthma: a simulation modeling study

Tae Yoon Lee, John Petkau, Ariana Saatchi, Fawziah Marra, Stuart E. Turvey, Hannah Lishman, David M. Patrick, Jacquelyn J. Cragg, Kate M. Johnson and Mohsen Sadatsafavi

- 109 Exploring the potential mediating role of systemic antibiotics in the association between early-life lower respiratory tract infections and asthma at age 5 in the CHILD study Maria V. Medeleanu, Myrtha E. Reyna, Darlene L. Y. Dai, Geoffrey L. Winsor, Fiona S. L. Brinkman, Rahul Verma, Ella Nugent, Nashita Riaz, Elinor Simons, Piushkumar J. Mandhane, Meghan B. Azad, Stuart E. Turvey, Theo J. Moraes and Padmaja Subbarao
- 123 Serum inflammatory factors, vitamin D levels, and asthma severity in children with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight: a comparative study Wan-yu Jiang, Rong-hong Jiao, Su-li Ma, Jin-sheng Dai, Hai-feng Zhu, Meng-ya Wu, Yan-ran Che, Lei Zhang and Xiao-yuan Ding
- 132 The changing epidemiology of paediatric childhood asthma and allergy in different regions of the world

D. J. Adamko and Kyla J. Hildebrand

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Abdelilah Soussi Gounni, Max Rady College of Medicine, Rady Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba, Canada

*correspondence David M. Patrick David.Patrick@bccdc.ca

RECEIVED 30 April 2025 ACCEPTED 13 May 2025 PUBLISHED 23 May 2025

CITATION

Patrick DM, Turvey SE, Azad MB, Zimmermann P, Dramowski A and Lishman H (2025) Editorial: Preventing childhood asthma —the neglected impact of existing public health interventions. Front. Allergy 6:1621332. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2025.1621332

COPYRIGHT

© 2025 Patrick, Turvey, Azad, Zimmermann, Dramowski and Lishman. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Preventing childhood asthma—the neglected impact of existing public health interventions

David M. Patrick^{1,2*}, Stuart E. Turvey³, Meghan B. Azad^{4,5}, Petra Zimmermann^{6,7,8}, Angela Dramowski⁹ and Hannah Lishman²

¹School of Population and Public Health, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ²British Columbia Centre for Disease Control, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ³Department of Pediatrics, BC Children's Hospital, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁴Manitoba Interdisciplinary Lactation Centre (MILC), Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁵Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁶Faculty of Health Science and Medicine, University of Lucerne, Lucerne, Switzerland, ⁷Department for Community Health, Faculty of Science and Medicine, University of Fribourg, Switzerland, ⁸Department of Paediatrics, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁹Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Stellenbosch University, Cape Town, South Africa

KEYWORDS

asthma, atopic disease, antibiotics, human milk, microbiota, population

Editorial on the Research Topic Preventing childhood asthma - the neglected impact of existing public health interventions

Asthma is the most prevalent chronic disease of childhood in high income countries, with prevalence rising steeply during the late 20th century, a pattern now echoed in some middle-income countries (1, 2). How can this vast burden of illness be reduced? Current strategies focus appropriately on environmental factors such as indoor and outdoor air quality, and ensuring access to effective medical treatment (3). This series summarizes growing evidence that exposure to microbes and human breastmilk during infancy shape the immune system and influence lifelong risk for atopic disease, including asthma. Such evidence begs the question: can existing public health interventions, such as reducing unnecessary antibiotic exposure during infancy and promoting breastfeeding, contribute to reversing the global pandemic of asthma and atopic disease?

Hildebrand and Adamko open the series by reviewing the changing epidemiology and distribution of asthma and allergy. The global burden of asthma and allergic disease has remained high since the late 20th century, but uneven distribution of prevalence between countries and across socioeconomic contexts highlights the complexity of early life exposures and their interaction with genetic predisposition for atopic disease.

Donald and Finlay neatly summarize crucial insight from experimental models that provide evidence of a link between antibiotic exposure, disrupted development of infant gut microbiota and subsequent risk of atopic disease. Mice without microflora have a higher risk of atopic disease, but proper immune function can be rescued by replacement of missing bacterial taxa in a critical early-life window. Donald and Finlay's second contribution is a detailed review of known mechanisms of immune mediation by the developing gut microbiota and its links to lifelong atopic disease risk. The human gut is the major point of contact between the immune system and the environment. Specific microbes produce metabolites, including short chain fatty acids, that "train" the immune system away from atopic responses by regulating a variety of processes, including T_{reg} development. Thus, there is a plausible pathway by which early life exposures imprint on lifelong immune responses.

The global literature points to the importance of a number of pre- and perinatal exposures in predicting asthma risk, and in such studies, receipt of antibiotics during infancy has a large effect (4). Wurm et al. provide a systematic review of the effect of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota in children. Antibiotic therapy during the first year of life clearly disrupts the gut microflora during infancy and childhood, including taxa implicated as beneficial in preventing atopic disease. Moreover, the effects on microbiota and atopic disease risk seem worse for macrolides than aminopenicillins; an important observation, because health systems are contemplating broad use of prophylactic macrolides for children in regions with possible benefit for infant mortality (5).

Brockway summarizes the potential for human milk to mitigate antibiotic-mediated atopic disease risk by preventing or repairing antibiotic-associated disruption of the infant gut microbiota. Human milk oligosaccharides, while not metabolized by the infant, favour the growth of *Bifidobacterium infantis* and other beneficial bacteria. Human milk feeding to at least six months is already recommended, but there is variation in the practice globally and limited availability of donor human milk for families unable to breastfeed.

Loutet provides a detailed study of factors associated with breastfeeding in Bangladesh, outlining the individual and system challenges in lower resource settings. Providing human milk to an infant is harder where both parents need to work, where public breastfeeding is less accepted and in the face of intensive formula marketing. In settings where antibiotic use in infancy and caesarean section rates are also high, a compounding effect on microbiome disruption must be considered when investigating the impact on atopic disease outcomes. Stronger system-level supports are required to overcome deficits in education, services and policies to promote and protect breastfeeding.

An important criticism of any theory linking antibiotics to atopic disease is the question of confounding by indication: what if the infections that caused antibiotic prescription are themselves the cause of asthma? Medeleanu et al. analyze data from a prospective birth cohort to address the interface with early-life respiratory infections and conclude that while those infections may confer independent risk for asthma, they do not explain the impact of antibiotic exposure. Further, antibiotics are associated with an array of atopic outcomes, not just asthma, speaking to the importance of a common immunomodulatory pathway.

This issue also includes articles that address additional observations about the complex pathogenesis of atopic asthma. Keleb et al. speak to the importance of outdoor environmental exposures by contributing a global systematic review and metaanalysis of the effect of pesticide exposure on childhood asthma, wheezing and respiratory infections. Jiang et al. contribute an important study on asthma severity in children with comorbid obesity in China. This reminds us that inflammation and immune modulation may be a common pathway linking asthma and obesity; both associated with disrupted microbiota.

With growing evidence of a plausible and impactful causal mechanism at play in patients and in experimental models, this issue focuses on the relevance of recent findings to population health. Dai et al. contribute important thinking on how such findings relate to health equity and cross-generational risk of chronic disease. Their article makes cogent arguments about how safeguarding the early-life microbiota may not only reduce atopic disease risk but also contribute to reducing intergenerational public health disparities.

Yang et al. contribute a regional study that characterises the burden that childhood asthma places on families through missed school days, missed work days, hospital visits and medical costs. Li et al. provide a modelling study that probes the impact of an observed 70% drop in infant antibiotic exposure on asthma burden in British Columbia, Canada. Very large drops in incident asthma cases, person-years with asthma and exacerbations have been realized, highlighting that asthma reduction should be considered in the value proposition of public health interventions such as antibiotic stewardship.

Mamun et al. address whether the observed effects of reducing exposure to antibiotics and promoting breastfeeding should have a significant effect at the population level. They observe that large declines in asthma seen in high income countries are in line with modelled predictions driven by lower exposure to antibiotics and improved uptake of breastfeeding. Falling asthma rates in British Columbia, Canada and in Germany have been linked to significant drops in antibiotic exposure (6, 7). Large drops in asthma have also been recorded in other countries where researchers are now looking for such an association (8).

Much remains to be done. Findings need to be replicated in additional cohorts and populations. Work is needed to quantify infant antibiotic exposure in resource-limited settings and identify opportunities to safely reduce unnecessary use. The complexities of competing risks are large. Antibiotic use for infants will be more important and more difficult to reduce in settings with higher sepsis rates. Approaches that have led to less antibiotic use in Canada, Germany or the UK may not be viable in other epidemiological contexts. Yet, observations outlined in this issue also remind us that atopic disease risk associated with antibiotics may be mitigated where breastfeeding or donor milk are available. A detailed understanding of beneficial bacteria and their function may also lead to better design of probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics for the benefit of infants who need antibiotics and cannot be fed human milk.

This series provides a comprehensive introduction to experimental, population, cohort and modelling studies in this key area. When considered in aggregate, the evidence points to a significant potential to reduce the burden of atopic disease where it is possible to reduce unnecessary antibiotic use and encourage human milk feeding for infants, alongside existing evidence of the benefit of improved air quality. Antimicrobial resistance and optimal infant nutrition are already sound reasons for such actions, but it now appears increasingly likely that they may also have a sizable impact on the scale of atopic disease pandemics, morbidity and costs.

Author contributions

DP: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ST: Writing – review & editing. MA: Writing – review & editing. PZ: Writing – review & editing. AD: Writing – review & editing. HL: Writing – review & editing.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge an unrestricted grant in aid from the Pacific Public Health Foundation to offset publishing costs.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Platts-Mills TAE. The allergy epidemics: 1870-2010. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 136(1):3-13. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.03.048

2. Asher MI, Rutter CE, Bissell K, Chiang CY, El Sony A, Ellwood E, et al. Worldwide trends in the burden of asthma symptoms in school-aged children: global asthma network phase I cross-sectional study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398(10311):1569–80. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01450-1

3. Rodriguez A, Brickley E, Rodrigues L, Normansell RA, Barreto M, Cooper PJ. Urbanisation and asthma in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review of the urban-rural differences in asthma prevalence. *Thorax.* (2019) 74(11):1020–30. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2018-211793

4. Duong QA, Pittet LF, Curtis N, Zimmermann P. Antibiotic exposure and adverse long-term health outcomes in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Infect.* (2022) 85(3):213–300. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2022. 01.005

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

The handling editor ASG declared a shared affiliation with the author MA at the time of review.

Generative AI statement

The author(s) declare that no Generative AI was used in the creation of this manuscript.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

5. Keenan JD, Bailey RL, West SK, Arzika AM, Hart J, Weaver J, et al. Azithromycin to reduce childhood mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa. *N Engl J Med.* (2018) 378(17):1583–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1715474

6. Patrick DM, Sbihi H, Dai DLY, Al Mamun A, Rasali D, Rose C, et al. Decreasing antibiotic use, the gut microbiota, and asthma incidence in children: evidence from population-based and prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8(11):1094–105. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30052-7

7. Kohring C, Akmatov MK, Dammertz L, Heuer J, Bätzing J, Holstiege J. Trends in incidence of atopic disorders in children and adolescents - analysis of German claims data. *World Allergy Organ J*. (2023) 16(7):100797. doi: 10.1016/j.waojou.2023.100797

 Kallis C, Maslova E, Morgan AD, Sinha I, Roberts G, van der Valk RJP, et al. Recent trends in asthma diagnosis, preschool wheeze diagnosis and asthma exacerbations in English children and adolescents: a SABINA Jr study. *Thorax.* (2023) 78(12):1175–80. doi: 10.1136/thorax-2022-219757 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Petra Zimmermann, Université de Fribourg, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Guilherme Liberato Da Silva, University of Vale do Taquari, Brazil Yu Sun, South China Agricultural University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Awoke Keleb ⊠ kalebawoke@gmail.com

RECEIVED 18 March 2024 ACCEPTED 22 April 2024 PUBLISHED 24 May 2024

CITATION

Keleb A, Daba C, Asmare L, Bayou FD, Arefaynie M, Mohammed A, Tareke AA, Kebede N, Tsega Y, Endawkie A, Kebede SD, Abera KM, Abeje ET and Enyew EB (2024) The association between children's exposure to pesticides and asthma, wheezing, and lower respiratory tract infections. A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Public Health* 12:1402908. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1402908

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Keleb, Daba, Asmare, Bayou, Arefaynie, Mohammed, Tareke, Kebede, Tsega, Endawkie, Kebede, Abera, Abeje and Enyew. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the corginal publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The association between children's exposure to pesticides and asthma, wheezing, and lower respiratory tract infections. A systematic review and meta-analysis

Awoke Keleb^{1*}, Chala Daba¹, Lakew Asmare², Fekade Demeke Bayou², Mastewal Arefaynie³, Anissa Mohammed², Abiyu Abadi Tareke⁴, Natnael Kebede⁵, Yawkal Tsega⁶, Abel Endawkie², Shimels Derso Kebede⁷, Kaleab Mesfin Abera⁶, Eyob Tilahun Abeje² and Ermias Bekele Enyew⁷

¹Department of Environmental Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Wollo University, Dessie, Ethiopia, ²Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Science Wollo University, Dessie, Ethiopia, ³Department of Reproductive and Family Health, School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Wollo University, Dessie, Ethiopia, ⁴Amref Health in Africa, COVID-19 Vaccine/EPI Technical Assistant at West Gondar Zonal Health Department, Gondar, Ethiopia, ⁵Department of Health Promotion, School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Wollo University, Dessie, Ethiopia, ⁶Department of Health System and Management, School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Wollo University, Dessie, Ethiopia, ⁷Department of Health Informatics, School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Wollo University, Dessie, Ethiopia

Background: Exposure to pesticides is a global public health problem, especially for children. Its association with chronic respiratory disease among children has attracted considerable attention, but the existing evidence remains inconclusive and cannot be certain. Therefore, this systematic review and meta-analysis aim to determine the global pooled effect size of association with pesticide exposure and asthma, wheezing, and respiratory tract infections among children.

Methods: A comprehensive search was conducted for relevant literature from electronic databases, including PubMed, Google Scholar, Hinari, Semantic Scholar, and Science Direct. Studies that provided effect size on the association between pesticide exposure and childhood asthma, wheezing, and respiratory tract infections in children were included. The articles were screened, data was extracted, and the quality of each study was assessed with four independent reviewers. Random effects models for significant heterogeneity and fixed effect sizes with 95% confidence intervals using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis version 3.3.070 and MetaXL version 2. Funnel plot and Higgins *I*² statistics were used to determine the heterogeneity of the included studies. Subgroup analyses were computed based on the types of pesticide exposure, study design, sample size category, and outcome assessment technique.

Result: A total of 38 articles with 118,303 children less than 18 years of age were included in this meta-analysis. Pesticide exposure among children increased the risk of asthma by 24%; (OR = 1.24, 95% CI: 1.14-1.35) with extreme heterogeneity

 $(l^2 = 81\%, p < 0.001)$. Exposure to pesticides increased the odds of developing wheezing among children by 34% (OR = 1.34, 95% CI: 1.14–1.57), with high heterogeneity ($l^2 = 79\%$, p < 0.001) and also increased the risk of developing lower respiratory tract infection by 79% (OR = 1.79, 95% CI: 1.45–2.21) with nonsignificant low heterogeneity ($l^2 = 30\%$, p-value = 0.18).

Conclusion: This meta-analysis provided valuable evidence supporting the association between childhood asthma, wheezing, and lower respiratory tract infection with pesticide exposure. The findings would contribute to a better understanding of the estimate of the effect of pesticide exposure on respiratory health in children and inform evidence-based preventive strategies and public health interventions.

KEYWORDS

pesticide exposure, chronic respiratory diseases, asthma, respiratory tract infection, children, systematic review, meta-analysis

Introduction

In the 21st century, pesticide exposure continues to be a serious global public health concern, especially for children. Approximately 300,000 deaths per year are attributable to pesticide exposure, which affects about 3 million people globally (1). Data from poison control centers showed that 3.4% of pediatric deaths and 3.6% of adult deaths are attributable to pesticide poisoning, with 3.3% of unintentional poisoning deaths coming from all sources (2). It was indicated that children aged less than 19 years of age accounted for about 59% of all single-substance pesticide exposures, and 94% of all pesticide ingestions were done inadvertently. The associated costs of treating chronic illness are very substantial, especially in developing nations (1, 3).

There is a risk of accidental and occupational exposure to pesticide residues of many kinds, including pyrethroids, fungicides, organochlorine (OC), organophosphate (OP), (4), indoor metabolites, and other chemicals (5). Different studies indicated that mostly organophosphate pesticides can cause neurotoxicity, immune toxicity, genotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, cardiotoxicity, and reproductive toxicity (6–8), while organochlorine and pyrethroid pesticides can cause both acute and chronic respiratory disease and allergic reactions (9–11).

Adult epidemiological research indicates that occupational and environmental exposure to pesticides is linked to a high incidence of respiratory illnesses and their symptoms (12), including asthma, wheezing, respiratory tract infections (13), and changes in lung function (10, 14, 15). According to the pooled prevalence from a meta-analysis of 56 publications, the ratio of forced expiratory volume in 1 s to forced vital capacity decreased as a result of exposure to organophosphate pesticides (16–19). This is also supported by three literature reviews that were recently published (9, 20, 21). However, little is known about the pooled effect size of exposure to pesticides and childhood chronic respiratory diseases, including asthma, wheezing, and other respiratory tract infections. Exposure to pesticides has been associated with an increased risk of chronic respiratory diseases and symptoms in children, and they are particularly vulnerable to asthma, wheezing, and lower respiratory tract infections (20) due to their developing bodies, immune systems, and behaviors that may increase their exposure (22–25). Children are mostly exposed to pesticides through inhalation (compared to adults, children breathe more about their body weight) (10), consumption of food and drink that has a high pesticide residual content (17, 23), by skin contact or exposure while using pesticides at home to control pests (17), mothers' exposure to pesticides during pregnancy, and their hand-to-mouth habit (25, 26).

Studies have examined the association between pesticide exposure and chronic respiratory diseases during childhood, and the previous studies conducted have not reached a consensus. This systematic review and meta-analysis aim to consolidate and determine pooled evidence on the association between chronic respiratory diseases and symptoms including asthma, wheezing, respiratory tract infection, and pesticide exposure. Understanding and pooled evidence for this relationship is crucial in advocating for environmental and occupational health regulations and promoting preventive measures to minimize the impact on public health.

Methods

Reporting system and registration

We used primary studies that reported the association between single or multiple pesticide exposure and asthma and/or LRTI and/ or wheezing and/or among children from prenatal to 18 years of age worldwide. Fundamental principles of the Centre for Reviews and Dissemination's (CRD) guidance for undertaking reviews in healthcare and Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis guideline (PRISMA) were employed to conduct this review. It was registered at the Protocols at the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO: CRD42020176826) available.¹

Data sources, study period, searching strategies, and study selection

A comprehensive literature search was conducted in electronic databases, including PubMed, Google Scholar, Hinari, Semantic Scholar, and Science Direct. The search included studies published from the inception of the databases from 1991 up to December 2, 2023, and the studies included in the previous systematic review were reevaluated and incorporated in this meta-analysis.

An effort was made to get in touch with experts in the field to obtain further details about both published and unpublished research. In addition, relevant references in selected studies were examined thoroughly to find related studies that were not found in our search.

The MeSH and search filters were included in the search strategies (Pesticides OR Insecticides OR Organophosphate OR Carbamates) AND (Respiratory function OR Pulmonary function OR Respiratory symptoms OR Respiratory disease OR Respiratory Disorder OR Asthma OR Wheeze OR Bronchitis OR Dyspnea OR Cough OR Phlegm) AND Children (27). In addition to the above keywords, synonyms, abbreviated symbols, and other free keywords were used. Only full-text articles in the English language were considered for review, the reference lists were also manually checked, and similar articles feature of a database was used. The search was performed up to December 2, 2023, by four authors independently (AK, CD, YT, and ET).

Every included and excluded studies were screened using EndNote 20 and the Rayyan automation tool. Screening by title and abstract was conducted independently, followed by screening by the full texts of the included studies by four authors. Disagreement was solved by consensus, and the selection process was recorded in sufficient detail to complete a PRISMA 2020 flow diagram.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

In this review, cohort, case–control, or cross-sectional studies conducted (without restrictions to study period and sample size, study setting, and published and unpublished) on the association between pesticide exposure and chronic respiratory diseases, including asthma, lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI), and wheezing, among children less than 18 years of age. Observational studies conducted among children exposed to pesticides, insecticides, organophosphate, or carbamates and their derivatives were eligible for this review and compared with children who were not exposed with more or less exposed to pesticides, insecticides, organophosphate, carbamates, or their derivatives. Children exposed to pesticides from agricultural sources, including parental and antenatal exposure, through air, via contaminated food, were also included, but studies carried out on groups other than children were excluded. Included outcomes were effect size reported on the association between asthma, wheezing, lower respiratory tract infection, and pesticide exposure among children less than 18 years of age. However, qualitative studies, irretrievable studies, editorial letters, studies with poor methodological quality, and studies that did not report the outcome of interest were excluded from the meta-analysis.

Outcome assessment

The primary outcome of the study was to estimate the pooled effect size of the association between pesticide exposure and asthma, and LRTI and wheezing in the form of odds ratio.

Data extraction quality assessment

After all, articles were exported into the EndNote 20 version and the Rayyan automation tool to remove the duplicated articles. The remaining data were extracted using a standardized form (initially piloted on two included studies) with characteristics of studies, outcomes, and risk of bias on Microsoft Excel 2016. Cohort, case-control, and cross-sectional studies using the author involved in the study, year, country, study design, sample size, type of pesticide exposed, exposure metrics, exposure assessment method, timing of outcome measurement, outcome assessment, and children with chronic respiratory disease (asthma and lower respiratory tract infections)/chronic respiratory symptoms (wheezing) associated with pesticide exposure were performed by five authors (AK, CD, YT, ET, and EB). After five reviewers (LA, AE, FD, MA, and AM) screened the relevant articles for eligibility, the quality of each article was evaluated using the Joana Brigg Institute (JBI) critical appraisal checklist (28). The four writers (AK, CD, AAT, and NK) evaluated the risk of bias for each study separately, and their scores were expressed on a 100% scale. A quality score of greater than 50% was used to include articles for further qualitative and quantitative analysis (28, 29). In the case of any discrepancies encountered during the quality assessment, the mean score was computed from the evaluations of all reviewers to address and resolve any differences.

Data analysis and synthesis

All types of analysis were computed using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis (CMA) version 3.3.070 and MetaXL version 2. The pooled effect sizes of the association between asthma, wheezing, and pesticide exposure were calculated using the random effects models.

The I^2 statistic was used to measure heterogeneity among the included studies and I^2 values less than 50% were considered homogeneous, and I^2 values greater than or equal to 50% were

¹ https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/Prospero



considered as of high heterogeneity. Begg's funnel plots and Eggers test were employed to assess publication bias/small studies effect. A 95% Confidence Interval (CI) and *p*-value of less than 0.05 were considered significant for the association, absence of publication bias, and heterogeneity.

Subgroup analyses were conducted on different factors to identify sources of heterogeneity, including sample size (large vs. small), types of study design (case-control, cohort, crosssectional), types of pesticide exposure (multiple vs. single), and types of outcome measurement (biomarker, doctor diagnosed, and self-reported) for asthma. Furthermore, to resolve heterogeneity further, sensitivity analysis was performed by removing one study in each scenario.

Results

Study selection and characteristics of the included studies

Based on the search study stated above, 1,487 studies from databases, 31 from websites, and 11 from citations were identified. A total of 502 studies from the database were discarded due to duplication. About 341 discarded studies were excluded via EndNote 20, and the remaining 161 studies were excluded using the Rayyan automation tool. Title and abstract parts of the remaining 985 studies were reviewed, of which 709 studies were excluded due to irrelevance. Out of the 276 studies that were sought to be retrieved, 87 could not be retrieved, and 189 were eligible for full-text screening. Finally, 15 studies from the new database, 2 studies from the website and citation, and 21 articles screened and reevaluated from previous reviews were eligible and included in the study. PRISMA flow chart related to the search process is shown in Figure 1.

Characteristics of the included studies (qualitative review)

A total of 38 articles (23, 27, 30–66) were included to determine the association between exposure to pesticides, chronic respiratory diseases, and symptoms including asthma, wheezing, and respiratory tract infections. In this meta-analysis, a total 118,303 of children as study subjects were included. In this meta-analysis, 13 studies were carried out in United states of America (27, 31, 33, 35–38, 49–51, 53, 56, 66), four from Spain (34, 59–61), two from China (46, 63), two in Canada (43), two in South Africa (30, 39), three in Lebanon (44), two from Costa Rica (40, 47), one each from six countries (Italy, Germany, Romania, Netherland, one combined study from Greenland and Ukraine, and one combined study from North Europe and Australia) (32, 41, 42, 45, 48, 57), and one from England (62). Characteristics of all the included studies are summarized in Table 1.

The association of pesticide exposure and childhood asthma

A total of 28 studies (27, 30, 32–36, 38, 41–43, 46, 48, 49, 52, 54– 58, 60, 63, 64) were included in the random effect model meta-analysis to examine the association between childhood asthma and pesticide exposure. Pesticide exposure had a statistically significant association between childhood asthma and pesticide exposure with pooled effect size, (OR = 1.24, 95% CI = 1.14–1.35, *p*-value <0.001) with significant extreme heterogeneity ($I^2 = 81\%$, *p* < 0.001) among included studies (Figure 2).

The association of pesticide exposure and childhood wheeze

Fifteen studies (30, 34, 37, 39, 40, 43–45, 53, 55, 57, 60, 61, 66) were included in the meta-analysis for the association between pesticide exposure and wheezing among children. The result from the random effect model indicated that pesticide exposure had a statistically significant association with the occurrence of childhood wheezing (OR=1.34, 95% CI=1.14–1.57, *p*-value <0.001) and

Benka-Coker.et al, 2019 Bukalasa et al, 2016 Elsiwi et al, 2023 Gascon et al, 2007 Gharibi et al, 2019a Gharibi et al, 2019b Gunier et al, 2018	8.70 (3.51, 14.60) 1.32 0.86 (0.52, 1.40) 2.44 2.40 (1.00, 5.80) 0.90 0.89 (0.61, 1.31) 3.59 1.07 (1.02, 1.13) 11.26
Elsiwi et al, 2023 Gascon et al, 2007 Gharibi et al, 2019a Gharibi et al, 2019b	2.40 (1.00, 5.80)0.900.89 (0.61, 1.31)3.59
Gascon et al, 2007 Gharibi et al, 2019a Gharibi et al, 2019b	0.89 (0.61, 1.31) 3.59
Gharibi et al, 2019a Gharibi et al, 2019b	
Gharibi et al, 2019b	1.07 (1.02, 1.13) 11.26
Gharibi et al, 2019b	
Gunier et al, 2018 🛛 🖉 🚽 🗲	1.14 (1.09, 1.20) 11.30
	3.60 (1.04, 12.10) 0.48
Halit et al, 2017	3.31 (1.85, 5.92) 1.88
islam et al, 2016	2.09 (0.98, 4.36) 1.22
Karmaus et al, 2001 📃 🗕 🔷 🗲	3.71 (1.10, 12.56) 0.49
Lu et al, 2018	4.17 (1.43, 13.26) 0.58
Masley et al, 2000	2.20 (0.80, 5.70) 0.74
Meng et al, 2016	1.00 (0.99, 1.01) 11.69
Pape et al, 2020	1.18 (0.87, 1.61) 4.75
Perla et al, 2016	1.16 (0.62, 2.17) 1.66
Raherison et al, 2019 🖌 🔳 🔷 🗲	3.93 (0.40, 38.44) 0.14
Raherison et al, 2019a	2.01 (0.54, 7.52) 0.42
Runkle et al, 2016	2.74 (1.33, 5.60) 1.30
Salam et al, 2004	1.61 (0.93, 2.79) 2.07
Salameh et al, 2003	1.73 (1.02, 2.43) 2.99
Smit et al, 2016	0.96 (0.77, 1.20) 6.65
Sunyer et al, 2005	1.18 (1.01, 1.39) 8.40
Wang et al, 2021	2.13 (0.80, 5.69) 0.73
Werthmann et al, 2023	1.07 (0.88, 1.29) 7.48
Weselak et al 2007	1.00 (0.71, 1.40) 4.21
Xiao et al, 2021	1.07 (0.80, 1.42) 5.15
Tagiyeva et al 2010	1.47 (1.14, 1.88) 5.95
Karmaus et al, 2003	3.04 (0.53, 22.30) 0.21
Overall	1.24 (1.14, 1.35) 100.00
Q=145.41, p=0.00, l2=81%	-

Forest plot of odds ratios for the association of pesticide exposure and childhood asthma, 2023.



significant extreme heterogeneity ($I^2 = 79\%$, p < 0.001) within included studies (Figure 3).

The association of pesticide exposure and lower respiratory tract infections

Meta-analysis of nine relevant studies (34, 40, 43, 47, 55, 58, 59, 63, 64) using fixed effect model showed a significant association between lower respiratory tract infections and pesticide exposure with a pooled odd ratio of 1.79 (95% CI=1.45–2.21, *p*-value <0.001) with nonsignificant low heterogeneity (I^2 = 30%, *p*-value = 0.18; Figure 4).

Publication bias

Publication bias occurs when research with significant results is more likely to be published than those with nonsignificant results. This bias may cause effect sizes to be overestimated and an inflated perception of the strength of the association. To mitigate the possibility of selective publication, a thorough literature search utilizing multiple databases was carried out to reduce publication bias. Egger's test and Begg's funnel plots were used to evaluate any potential publication bias quantitatively. For wheezing and asthma, publication bias was found (*p* value <0.05). To estimate the effect size by imputing or "filling in" potentially missing data, trim and fill analysis was carried out on the left using a fixed model (adjusted values from 12 trimmed studies with a point estimate of 1.01, with 95% CI = 1.00-1.02 for asthma and 6 trimmed studies with a point estimate of 1.16. with 95% CI: 1.08-1.24 for wheeze). However, publication bias was not detected in the case of lower respiratory infection (*p*-value = 0.403) during meta-analysis (Figure 5).

Subgroup analyses for asthma

Statistically significant association (OR = 1.32, 95% CI, 1.15– 1.51, p < 0.001) with extreme heterogeneity ($I^2 = 85.6\%$, p < 0.001) was detected among studies with small sample sizes (<1,000). The effect sizes between pesticide exposure and childhood asthma vary moderately for both cohorts, (OR = 1.19, 95% CI: 1.02–1.39, p = 0.025, with I²=75.9%, p < 0.001) and cross-sectional studies (OR = 1.35, 95% CI: 1.14–1.59, p = 0.001, with I²=65.2%, p < 0.001) in contrast to the nonsignificant association for case–control studies (Supplementary Table S1).

Studies investigating multiple pesticide exposures reported a significant association of 1.27 (95% CI: 1.10–1.94, p=0.002) with moderate significant heterogeneity (I^2 =58.8%, p<0.000), whereas

TABLE 1 Characteristics of all the included studies based on the pesticide exposure and respiratory health outcomes, 2023.

Author	Year	Country	Study design	Study sample	Pesticide addressed	Exposure metrics	Exposure assessment method	Timing of outcome measurement	Outcomes assessment method	Health effects and its association
Benka- Coker. et al.	2019	USA	Cohort	16	OP	agriculture	urine samples for DAP (summative measures)	Not clear	Biomarkers (Urinary LTE)	Asthma 8.7(95%CI:3.512,14.600)
Bukalasa et al.	2016	Netherlands	Cohort	1,470	Multiple exposure	agriculture	Questionnaire interview	0–14 years old	Self-reported	Asthma OR = 0.860, 95%CI:0.520, 1.400 with 1KM distance Respiratory symptoms OR = 0.860, 95%CI:0.520, 1.400 with 1KM distance
Elsiwi et al.	2023	South Africa	Cohort	620	Pyrethroid	environmental	maternal urine 3PBA	up to 5 years	Doctor diagnosed	Asthma, (OR=2.400, 95%CI:1.000, 5.800) Wheeze, OR=1.80 95%CI: 1.00, 3.30
Famid et al.	2020	South Africa	Cohort	652	Organochlorine	Prenatal	Cord blood DDT	Up to 3.5 years	Doctor diagnosed	Wheeze, (OR = 1.500, 95%CI:1.000, 2.300)
Gascon et al.	2007	Spain	cohort	405	DDE/OC	environmental	cord blood DDE+ immune biomarker	birth to 14 years old	doctor diagnosed	Asthma 10 years, RR = 1.03 (95%CI: 0.71, 1.50) 14 years, RR = 0.89 (95%CI: 0.61, 1.31) Wheeze 10 years, RR = 1.22 (95%CI: 0.91, 1.63) 14 years, RR = 0.92 (95%CI: 0.64, 1.31) LRTI 10 years, RR = 1.27 (95%CI: 0.86, 1.86)
Gharibi et al. a	2019a	USA	cross sectional	4,262	methyl bromide	environmental	questionnaire interview	2–18 years old	doctor diagnosed	Asthma OR = 1.02, 95% CI: 0.99, 1.05, for 2–5 years OR = 1.07, 95% CI: 1.02, 1.12 for 6–18 years
Gharibi et al. b	2019Ь	USA	cross sectional	1,331	1,3-dichloropropene	environmental	questionnaire interview urinary DAP and	2–18 years old	doctor diagnosed	Asthma (OR = 1.06, 95%CI: 1.02, 1.11 OR = 1.14, 95%CI: 1.07, 1.19) Wheeze
Gilden et al.	2020	USA	Cohort	390	OP and pyrethroid	Prenatal	3PBA	Up to 8 years old	spirometry	OR = 2.32, 95%CI: 1.28, 4.17
Gunjer et al.	2018	USA	Cohort	294	multiple pesticides	Agriculture	questionnaire interview	prenatal to 7 years	Interview and Spirometry	Asthma OR = 3.60, 95%CI: 1.04, 12.10
Halit et al.	2017	Lebanon	case control	1,503	multiple pesticides	environmental	questionnaire interview	3–16 years old	self-reported	Asthma OR = 2.709, 95%CI: 1.219, 6.020 LRTI OR = 2.71 (95%CI: 1.22, 6.02)
Huq et al.	2020	South Africa	Cohort	658	multiple	Prenatal	Questionnaire	3.5 years	Doctor diagnosis	Wheeze OR = 1.500 (95%CI: 1.000, 2.300)

10.3389/fpubh.2024.1402908

Keleb et al.

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Author	Year	Country	Study	Study	Pesticide	Exposure	Exposure	Timing of	Outcomes	Health effects and its association
			design	sample	addressed	metrics	assessment method	outcome measurement	assessment method	
										Asthma
										OR = 2.090, 95%CI: 0.980, 4.360
										Wheeze
										OR = 2.37(95%CI: 1.28, 4.34)
			cross				questionnaire		Doctor	LRTI
Islam et al.	2016	Costa Rica	sectional	303	Pyrethroid	Agriculture	interview	up to 5 year	diagnosed	OR=2.78 (95%CI: 0.41, 8.04)
Kuramaus			cross							Asthma
et al.	2001	Germany	sectional	343	OC/DDE	Agriculture	cord blood DDE	3–7 years old	Self-reported	OR = 3.710, 95%CI: 1.100, 12.560,
Kuramaus			cross							Asthma
et al.	2003	Germany	sectional	338	OC/DDE	Agriculture	cord blood DDE	7-10 years old	Self-reported	OR=3.040, 95%CI: 0.530, 22.300,
			cross				questionnaire			Multi-pollutant controlled to CO2 vs. asthma
Lu et al.	2018	Romania	sectional	280	multiple pesticides	environmental	interview	6–11 years old	self-reported	OR=4.17 (5%CI:1.430, 13.260)
			cross				questionnaire			Wheeze
Malaeb et al.	2020	Lebanon	sectional	1,203	multiple pesticides	environmental	interview	4–7 years	self-reported	OR=2.06(95%CI: 1.08, 3.91)
Maritano			case				questionnaire			Wheeze
et al.	2016	Italy	control	5,346	multiple pesticides	environmental	interview	6–18 months	self-reported	OR=1.72(95%CI: 1.11, 2.65)
										Asthma
										OR = 2.200, 95%CI: 0.800, 5.700
										Wheeze
										OR = 2.20(95%CI: 0.80,6.02)
			cross				questionnaire			Bronchitis/RTI
Masley et al.	2000	Canada	sectional	393	multiple pesticides	Agriculture	interview	Up to 17 years old	self-reported	OR=2.80 (95%CI: 1.60, 4.80)
				620						Severe Asthma
			case	case/218			questionnaire			OR = 1.000, 95%CI:0.99, 1.002,
Meng et al.	2016	China	control	control	OC	environmental	interview	3–6 years	doctor diagnosed	
										Wheezing
								1st trimester to		OR = 0.69 (95%CI: 0.37, 1.28)
							Seven Urinary	19 months of		LRTI
Mora et al.	2020	Costa Rica	Cohort	355	Fungicides	Prenatal	metabolites	postpartum	Biomarker	OR = 1.500, 95%CI:0.70, 3.19,
		North								Asthma
		Europe &				prenatal and	Questionnaire			OR = 1.180, 95%CI:0.870, 1.610
Pape et al.	2020	Australia	Cohort	2,766	Multiple exposure b	environmental	interview	0–15 years old	Self-reported	
			cross				blood and urine			Ever Asthma >75 th percentile
Perla et al.	2016	USA	sectional	10,077	OP and DDT	environmental	DAP test	Up to 16 years	Biomarker	RR=1.160, 95%CI: 0.620, 2.170,
				1	1	1		1	1	1

10.3389/fpubh.2024.1402908

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Author	Year	Country	Study design	Study sample	Pesticide addressed	Exposure metrics	Exposure assessment method	Timing of outcome measurement	Outcomes assessment method	Health effects and its association
Raanan et al.	2015	USA	Cohort	342	OP/DAPs	Agriculture	Maternal interview& urinary DAPs	prenatal up to 7 years	Self-reported respiratory symptoms	Respiratory symptoms OR = 2.530, 95%CI:1.320, 4.86, from children
Raanan et al.	2017	USA	Cohort	347	Elemental sulfur	agriculture	Pesticide use report	Short term exposure	Self-report	Respiratory symptoms/wheeze (OR = 2:09; 95% CI: 1.27; 3.46, p = 0.004) with 1KM distance
Raherison et al.	2019	France	cross sectional	281	multiple pesticides	environmental	urine ETU and air monitoring	not clear	Biomarker and clinical	Pesticide in air vs. Asthma OR: 3.930, 95% 0.400–38.440 Urinary ETU vs. Asthma OR = 2.010, 95%CI: 0.540, 7.520
Reardon et al.	2009	USA	Cohort	652	OP + Pyrethroids	Agriculture	questionnaire interview	prenatal to 12 months	Biomarkers	Wheeze (OR = 0.83,95%CI: 0.72–0.95)
Salam et al.	2004	USA	case control	4,000	multiple pesticides	environmental	questionnaire interview	prenatal to 12 months	doctor diagnosed	Asthma (OR = 1.61; 95% CI, 0.930–2.790)
Salameh et al.	2003	Lebanon	cross sectional	3,291	multiple pesticides	environmental	questionnaire & residential exposure score	3 years – 16 years	self-reported	Asthma (OR = 1.73; 95%CI: 1.02–2.97), Respiratory disease/RTI (OR = 1.71; 95%CI: 1.20–2.43), Ever wheezing (OR = 1.99; 95%CI: 1.43–2.78)
Smit et al.	2016	Greenland & Ukrain	Cohort	1,024	OC/PCB 153	environmental	blood sample PCB	5–9 years	doctor diagnosed	Asthma, (OR=0.960, 95%CI:0.770, 1.200) Wheeze,(OR=0.840, 95%CI:0.700, 1.010)
Sunyer et al.	2005	Spain	Cohort	468	OC/DDE	Agriculture	cord blood DDE	at age 4 year	Doctor diagnosed	Wheeze OR = 1.32, 95%CI:1.130, 1.540
Sunyer et al.	2006	Spain	Cohort	402	OC/DDE	Agriculture	cord blood DDE	at age 6.5 year	Doctor diagnosed	asthma (OR = 1.180, 95%CI:1.01, 1.39) Wheeze,(OR = 1.130, 95%CI:0.980, 1.300)
Sunyer et al.	2010	Spain	Cohort	584	OC/DDE	Prenatal	Maternal serum	6–14 months	Doctor diagnosis	RTI/LRTI (OR=2.40, 95%CI:1.19, 4.83)
Tagiyeva et al. 2010	2010	England	Cohort	13,971	Biocides and fungicides	Maternal postnatal exposure	Maternal interview	0–8.5 years	Doctor diagnosis	Asthma (OR = 1.470, 95%CI: 1.100, 1.880)
Wang et al.	2021	China	cross sectional	627	Insecticide	Residential	survey using questionnaire	school children	interview and spirometry	Asthma OR = 2.128 (95%CI: 0.796, 5.689) Bronchitis/RTI OR = 2.05 (95%CI: 1.38, 3.05)

(Continued)

10.3389/fpubh.2024.1402908

Health effects and its association	Asthma OR = 1.070, 95%CI: 0.880, 1.290)	Any pesticide vs. Asthma (OR = 1.000, 95%CI: 0.710, 1.400) Bronchitis/RTI OR = 1.21 (95%CI: 0.77, 1.90)	Asthma OR = 1.070 (95%CI: 0.800, 1.420)	Wheeze OR = 1.390 (95%CI: 1.080, 1.780)
Outcomes He assessment method	doctor diagnosed Asthma (OR=1.)	self-reported Any Bro	self- reported Astl OR	self-reported Wh
Timing of outcome measurement	7–12 years	Prenatal	up to 17 year	1–17 years old
Exposure assessment method	Urinary pesticide metabolite (3,PBA)	questionnaire interview	survey using questionnaire	questionnaire interview
Exposure metrics	environmental	Agriculture	household	Residential
Pesticide addressed	multiple pesticides	multiple pesticides	multiple pesticides	multiple pesticides
Study sample	162	3,405	41,423	14,065
Study design	Cohort	Cohort	cross sectional	cross sectional
Year Country Study design	USA	Canada	USA	USA
Year	2023	2007	2021	2014
Author	Werthmann et al.	Weselak et al.	Xiao et al.	Xu et al.

Keleb et al

studies focused on single pesticide exposures found a smaller but still significant effect size of 1.16 (95% CI: 1.05–1.29, p = 0.004) with higher significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 85.6\%$, p < 0.001) among the included studies (Table 2).

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was carried out to assess the robustness of the meta-analysis findings. The total effect size estimates were consistent and statistically significant, even after individual trials were systematically removed to evaluate their impact. Removing studies with a high potential for bias had no discernible impact on the findings. The pooled effect size estimate held true after accounting for publication bias, which was evaluated. However, it is imperative to consider data limitations and potential sources of heterogeneity when interpreting the results.

Discussion

Pesticides, such as fungicides, insecticides, and herbicides, have been widely used since the 1950s to increase crop yields (67). Exposure to these substances raised knowledge of the risks associated with respiratory diseases and/or symptoms (14, 16, 19, 68). This review demonstrates that numerous epidemiological studies showed an association between children's exposure to pesticides (from household, prenatal, postnatal, caregiver agricultural activities, residential, and environmental sources) and an increased risk of developing respiratory tract infections, asthma, and wheezing.

Because of the nature of the study design or the use of retrospective questionnaires, the measurement of pesticide exposure is frequently restricted in particular studies. However, 16 studies assessed the levels of pesticide metabolites in blood and urine, which is a more trustworthy estimate than utilizing a questionnaire during an interview.

The objective of this systematic review and meta-analysis aimed to determine the pooled effect size between prenatal, occupational, and environmental pesticide exposure and chronic respiratory disease/symptoms including asthma, lower respiratory tract infection, and wheezing globally. A significant association was found between pesticide exposure and asthma among children in this review aligns with previous systematic reviews and metaanalyses that have reported positive associations between pesticide exposure and asthma (18-21, 69). These concordant results across different meta-analyses strengthen the evidence for the association and underscore its significance in the field (22, 23, 70), and two recent studies with new perspectives have investigated the association between exposure to pesticides in indoor dust and respiratory outcomes including asthma and wheezing (5, 71). However, Mthethwa et al. (72) found that inconsistent patterns of increased risk of asthma outcomes with increasing organophosphate concentrations among school children, and Gunier et al. (38) also reported a negative association between pesticide exposure and childhood asthma.

The subgroup analysis of childhood asthma within this study revealed significant variability among the included studies. The

TABLE 1 (Continued)





Funnel plot of association of pesticide exposure and asthma, wheeze and LRTI, 2023.

Variable	Category	No of studies	Effect size and significance		Hetero	geneity
			OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> -value	l ²	<i>p</i> -value
Sample size	Large(≥1,000)	11	1.14(0.99–1.32)	0.077	36.7%	0.115
	Small(<1,000)	17	1.32(1.15-1.51)	<0.000	85.6%	<0.000
Study design	Case control	3	1.21(0.92-1.60)	0.174	77.4%	0.012
	Cohort	13	1.19(1.02–1.39)	0.025	75.9%	<0.000
	Cross sectional	12	1.35(1.14-1.59)	0.001	65.2%	0.001
Types of exposure	Multiple pesticide	13	1.27(1.09-1.47)	0.002	58.8%	0.005
	Single pesticide	15	1.16 (1.05–1.29)	0.004	85.6%	<0.000
Outcome measurement	Biomarkers	7	1.19(0.96-1.48)	0.110	54.5%	0.040
	Doctor diagnosed	13	1.18(1.05-1.34)	0.004	87.9%	<0.000
	Self-reported	7	1.23(1.05-1.45)	0.011	39.7%	0.077

TABLE 2 Subgroup analysis of the pooled effect size and heterogeneity of asthma among children exposed to pesticide globally, 2023.

general possible reasons for this variation seen in the study might include differences in exposure assessment techniques (self-reporting, biomarkers, doctor diagnosed, or environmental monitoring), outcome ascertainment (diagnostic criteria and follow-up durations), populations' characteristics (demographics, geographic locations, occupational exposures, and underlying health conditions), and publication bias, as well as variations in study designs, such as cohort, case–control, or cross-sectional studies.

Significant heterogeneity might impact the interpretation and generalizability of meta-analytic results; hence subgroup analysis was computed very carefully on types of study design, sample size, level of exposure, and method of measurement to produce subgroup effect sizes that can be interpreted in the context of the observed variability.

A significant level of heterogeneity among studies characterized by small sample sizes may be because small sample sizes lead to less precise estimates and greater susceptibility to chance variations or biases. Additionally, differences in exposure assessment, outcome measurement, children's characteristics, and study design across these studies may contribute to the observed heterogeneity.

A significant heterogeneity across cohort and cross-sectional studies in this meta-analysis can be attributed to several factors, including temporal limitations in establishing causality, children's characteristics such as age distribution, genetic predisposition, and environmental factors, potential bias, and unmeasured confounding variables.

Cross-sectional studies may encounter limitations in establishing temporal relationships due to the simultaneous assessment of exposure and outcome, making it challenging to determine the direction of causality accurately. Despite significant differences across the studies, 13 birth cohort studies with fewer recall bias and better control of confounders strongly suggest a causal association between pesticide exposure and asthma in children.

Both multiple- and single-pesticide exposure studies showed significant heterogeneity within each exposure category, highlighting differences between studies focusing on multiple versus single exposures. This variation might be attributed to differences in the types and combinations of pesticides across regions, individual susceptibility influenced by genetics and lifestyle, as well as variations in study design and methodology. These factors underscore the complexity of understanding the association between pesticide exposure and asthma among children.

The current meta-analysis also grouped studies according to how they measured the outcome (asthma) and found substantial variability between doctor-diagnosed asthma and biomarker measurements. This difference may stem from differences in diagnostic accuracy and variability in the interpretation of diagnostic criteria. Biomarkers provide objective measures of asthma, but there may still be variability in their use and interpretation across studies. On the other hand, doctor-diagnosed asthma relies on subjective assessment, which can vary greatly depending on individual clinician judgment, diagnostic criteria, and healthcare settings. These differences enforce to underscore the importance of standardized diagnostic approaches in research.

On the other hand, studies utilizing self-reported measures of asthma demonstrated nonsignificant heterogeneity. This may be because, in comparison to biomarker or doctor-diagnosed methods, self-reported measures of asthma typically capture a wider range of symptoms and experiences directly from individuals, which may result in higher sensitivity for detecting associations. Additionally, self-reported measures are typically more accessible and less resourceintensive, potentially leading to larger sample sizes and increased statistical power. Furthermore, a lower level of heterogeneity indicates more consistency in the methods used across studies employing selfreported measures, such as standardized questionnaires or protocols. However, it is important to acknowledge that reliance solely on selfreporting may introduce bias due to misclassification or recall errors, which could impact the observed effect sizes.

These subgroup findings also emphasize the need for further investigation and targeted research in specific children's age categories and follow-up. Future studies on pesticide exposure and childhood asthma need to focus on specific age cohorts, use rigorous methodology, and account for different variances. However, the inclusion of a large number of studies appropriately accounts for the observed heterogeneity between studies, which increases the generalizability of the findings. This comprehensive approach also enhances our understanding of the association between pesticide exposure and childhood asthma and emphasizes targeted preventive measures and other public health interventions. A significant association between wheeze and pesticide exposure of this finding aligns with the previous studies that have reported positive associations between pesticide exposure and wheezing among children (19, 20, 25, 37, 44, 73), particularly, in residential, agricultural, environmental, and prenatal exposure (23, 68, 73) and school (71). However, the included studies had statistically significant high heterogeneity, which was highly contrasted from study to study.

The variations in findings across different studies may be attributed to methodological differences, such as variations in study design, sample size, and age category of children or differences in exposure assessment methods including self-reporting or biomarker measurements. Furthermore, variations in study populations, including demographic characteristics and occupational backgrounds of mothers, caregivers, and fathers of children, may also influence the observed associations.

This meta-analysis also identified a significant positive association between pesticide exposure and an increased risk of lower respiratory tract infections with nonsignificant low heterogeneity. A significant association between pesticide exposure and lower respiratory tract infections from this finding is consistent with several previous studies that have reported positive associations between pesticide exposure and LRTI among children (19, 23, 40, 45, 47, 60). However, some studies have reported contrasted results (74) potentially due to methodological differences, variations in exposure assessment, and study populations. Finally, the included studies indicated non-significant heterogeneity that did not vary from study to study.

Limitation and strength of the study

We identified several limitations on the reporting of windows of susceptibility, timing, length, and surrogates of exposure assessment. The majority of studies relied on questionnaires and self-reported exposure, which can be affected by recall bias and exposure misclassification. However, this meta-analysis followed the updated preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis. In this meta-analysis, all cases including asthma, wheezing, and lower respiratory tract infection as a result of exposure to pesticides were appropriately assessed.

Conclusion

This meta-analysis showed that children who are exposed to pesticides are at an increased risk of developing chronic respiratory diseases and symptoms specifically asthma, RTI, and wheezing. This is particularly concerning as respiratory health problems could have long-term effects on a child's health and well-being. Parents and other caregivers who care for children must understand the possible dangers of pesticide exposure and take precautions to reduce their exposure to these dangerous substances.

This can involve utilizing natural pest management techniques, selecting organic products, and pushing for stronger laws governing the use of pesticides in agricultural operations. Policymakers must take a leading role in safeguarding children from pesticide exposure by implementing regulations and policies that prioritize the health and safety of our most vulnerable Future research on pesticide exposure and asthma, wheezing, and LRTI among children should focus on longitudinal studies with an accurate assessment of pesticide exposure to capture cumulative long-term effects. Novel methods have been used to investigate the combined health effects of multiple pesticide exposures. Stratified analyses can also elucidate susceptibility factors, while mechanistic studies and metabolomics are essential for uncovering the biological pathways of pesticide toxicity.

Evaluating the effectiveness of preventive measures through intervention studies is better to inform strategies to mitigate respiratory health risks associated with pesticide exposure among children. Moreover, international research protocols tailored to local specificities should be developed and validated to compare studies conducted in different settings and enhance our understanding of the complexities of pesticide exposure and respiratory health outcomes among children.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

AK: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. CD: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing review & editing. LA: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. FB: Conceptualization, Data curation, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. MA: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. AM: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. AT: Conceptualization, Data curation, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. NK: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. YT: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. AE: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. SK: Writing original draft, Writing - review & editing. KA: Conceptualization, Data curation, Methodology, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. EE: Conceptualization, Data curation, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. EB: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Boedeker W, Watts M, Clausing P, Marquez E. The global distribution of acute unintentional pesticide poisoning: estimations based on a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. (2020) 20:1875. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09939-0

2. Gummin DD, Mowry JB, Spyker DA, Brooks DE, Osterthaler KM, Banner W. 2017 annual report of the American Association of Poison Control Centers' National Poison Data System (NPDS): 35th annual report. *Clin Toxicol (Phila)*. (2018) 56:1213–415. doi: 10.1080/15563650.2018.1533727

3. Bliznashka L, Roy A, Jaacks LM. Pesticide exposure and child growth in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Environ Res.* (2022) 215:114230. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2022.114230

4. Akashe MM, Pawade UV, Nikam AV. Classification of pesticides: a review. *Int J Res Ayurveda and Pharmacy*. (2018) 9:144–50. doi: 10.7897/2277-4343.094131

5. Sun Y, Tang H, Du S, Chen Y, Ou Z, Zhang M, et al. Indoor metabolites and chemicals outperform microbiome in classifying childhood asthma and allergic rhinitis. *Eco Environ Health.* (2023) 2:208–18. doi: 10.1016/j.eehl.2023.08.001

6. Jokanovic M. Neurotoxic effects of organophosphorus pesticides and possible association with neurodegenerative diseases in man: a review. *Toxicology.* (2018) 410:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2018.09.009

7. Handy TG, Galloway TS, Depledge MH. Immunotoxicity of Organophosphorous pesticides. *Ecotoxicology*. (2003) 12:331–43. doi: 10.1023/A:1022527432252

8. Abdel Rasoul GM, Abou Salem ME, Mechael AA, Hendy OM, Rohlman DS, Ismail AA. Effects of occupational pesticide exposure on children applying pesticides. *Neurotoxicology*. (2008) 29:833–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2008.06.009

9. Tohari AI, Nugraha MY, Hidayat MRF, Mulyono BW, Qodar TS, Sakinah EN, et al. The correlation between occupational pesticide exposure with the incidence of COPD and chronic bronchitis: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. *Saf Health Work*. (2022) 13:S254–5. doi: 10.1016/j.shaw.2021.12.1546

10. Sreeparna CHAKRABORTY SS, SM, LAHIRI Twisha. Chronic exposures to cholinesterase-inhibiting pesticides adversely affect respiratory health of agricultural Workers in India. (2009), 51, 488–497, Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

11. Khoso A, Wasim S, Zainab S. Prevalence and predictors of respiratory symptoms and illnesses among farmers: a cross-sectional survey. *Pakistan East Mediterr Health J.* (2019) 25:698–705. doi: 10.26719/emhj.19.003

12. Lu C, Toepel K, Irish R, Fenske RA, Barr DB, Bravo R. Organic diets significantly lower children's dietary exposure to organophosphorus pesticides. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2006) 114:260–3. doi: 10.1289/ehp.8418

13. Sara, Mostafalou, and Mohammad, Abdollahi. Pesticides and human chronic diseases: evidences, mechanisms, and perspectives. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2013); 268:157–77.

14. Mohd Fareed MKP, Bihari V, Kamal R, Srivastava AK, Kesavachandran CN. Adverse Respiratory Health and Hematological Alterations among Agricultural Workers Occupationally Exposed to Organophosphate Pesticides: A Cross Sectional Study in North India.. PLOS ONE. (2013); 8:e69755.

15. Sham'a FA, Skogstad M, Nijem K, Bjertness E, Kristensen P. Cross-shift changes in lung function among Palestinian farmers during high- and low-exposure periods to pesticides: a longitudinal study. *Arch Environ Occup Health*. (2015) 70:218–24. doi: 10.1080/19338244.2013.859122

16. de Jong K, Boezen HM, Kromhout H, Vermeulen R, Postma DS, Vonk JM. Association of occupational pesticide exposure with accelerated longitudinal

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2024.1402908/ full#supplementary-material

decline in lung function. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2014) 179:1323–30. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu053

17. Hyland C, Laribi O. Review of take-home pesticide exposure pathway in children living in agricultural areas. *Environ Res.* (2017) 156:559–70. doi: 10.1016/j. envres.2017.04.017

18. Chittrakul JSapbamrer R, Sirikul W. Insecticide Exposure and Risk of Asthmatic Symptoms: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Toxics*. (2021) 9:1–11. doi: 10.3390/toxics9090228

19. Buralli RJ, Dultra AF, Ribeiro H. Respiratory and allergic effects in children exposed to pesticides—a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:2740. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17082740

20. Zhao L, Jia Y, Lin H, Yuanyuan Y, Chen X, Liu Z, et al. The Associations between Organophosphate Pesticides (OPs) and Respiratory Disease, Diabetes Mellitus, and Cardiovascular Disease: A Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. *Toxics*. (2023) 11:1–18. doi: 10.3390/toxics11090741

21. Rodrigues MB, Carvalho DS, Chong-Silva DC, Urrutia-Pereira M, Albuquerque GSC, Cieslak F, et al. Association between exposure to pesticides and allergic diseases in children and adolescents: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *J Pediatr.* (2022) 98:551–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jped.2021.10.007

22. Kim KH, Kabir E, Jahan SA. Exposure to pesticides and the associated human health effects. *Sci Total Environ*. (2017) 575:525–35. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.009

23. Mamane A, Raherison C, Tessier JF, Baldi I, Bouvier G. Environmental exposure to pesticides and respiratory health. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2015) 24:462–73. doi: 10.1183/16000617.00006114

24. Mostafalou S, Abdollahi M. Pesticides and human chronic diseases: evidences, mechanisms, and perspectives. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2013) 268:157–77. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2013.01.025

25. Roberts JR, Karr CJ. Council on environmental H. Pesticide exposure in children Pediatrics. (2012) 130:e1765–88. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-2758

26. Marks AR, Harley K, Bradman A, Kogut K, Barr DB, Johnson C, et al. Organophosphate pesticide exposure and attention in young Mexican-American children: the CHAMACOS study. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2010) 118:1768–74. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1002056

27. Salam MT, Li YF, Langholz B, Gilliland FD, Children's HS. Early-life environmental risk factors for asthma: findings from the Children's health study. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2004) 112:760–5. doi: 10.1289/ehp.6662

28. Aromataris E, Munn Z (Editors). *JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis*. JBI, (2020). Available from https://synthesismanual.jbi.global.

29. Munn Z, Moola S, Lisy K, Riitano D, Tufanaru C. Methodological guidance for systematic reviews of observational epidemiological studies reporting prevalence and cumulative incidence data. *Int J Evid Based Healthc*. (2015) 13:147–53. doi: 10.1097/XEB.00000000000054

30. Elsiwi B, Eskenazi B, Bornman R, Obida M, Kim J, Moodie EE, et al. Maternal exposure to pyrethroid insecticides during pregnancy and respiratory allergy symptoms among children participating in the Venda Health Examination of Mothers, Babies and their Environment (VHEMBE). *Environ Res.* (2023); 242:117604.

31. Benka-Coker W, Loftus C, Karr C, Magzamen S. Association of Organophosphate Pesticide Exposure and a marker of asthma morbidity in an agricultural community. *J Agromedicine*. (2020) 25:106–14. doi: 10.1080/1059924X.2019.1619644 32. Bukalasa JS, Brunekreef B, Brouwer M, Koppelman GH, Wijga AH, Huss A, et al. Associations of residential exposure to agricultural pesticides with asthma prevalence in adolescence: the PIAMA birth cohort. *Environ Int.* (2018) 121:435–42. doi: 10.1016/j. envint.2018.09.029

33. Werthmann, DW, Rabito, FA, Adamkiewicz, G, Reponen, T, Calafat, AM, Ospina, M, et al. Pesticide exposure and asthma morbidity in children residing in urban, multi-family housing. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol.* (2023). doi: 10.1038/s41370-023-00524-2.1-22

34. Gascon M, Sunyer J, Martinez D, Guerra S, Lavi I, Torrent M, et al. Persistent organic pollutants and children's respiratory health: the role of cytokines and inflammatory biomarkers. *Environ Int.* (2014) 69:133–40. doi: 10.1016/j. envint.2014.04.021

35. Gharibi H, Entwistle MR, Schweizer D, Tavallali P, Cisneros R. The association between 1,3-dichloropropene and asthma emergency department visits in California, USA from 2005 to 2011: a bidirectional-symmetric case crossover study. *J Asthma*. (2020) 57:601–9. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2019.1590596

36. Gharibi H, Entwistle MR, Schweizer D, Tavallali P, Thao C, Cisneros R. Methylbromide and asthma emergency department visits in California, USA from 2005 to 2011. *J Asthma*. (2020) 57:1227–36. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2019.1645167

37. Gilden R, Friedmann E, Holmes K, Yolton K, Xu Y, Lanphear B, et al. Gestational pesticide exposure and child respiratory health. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17197165

38. Gunier RB, Raanan R, Castorina R, Holland NT, Harley KG, Balmes JR, et al. Residential proximity to agricultural fumigant use and respiratory health in 7-year old children. *Environ Res.* (2018) 164:93–9. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018.02.022

39. Huq F, Obida M, Bornman R, Di Lenardo T, Chevrier J. Associations between prenatal exposure to DDT and DDE and allergy symptoms and diagnoses in the Venda health examination of mothers, babies and their environment (VHEMBE). *South Africa Environ Res.* (2020) 185:109366. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2020.109366

40. Islam JY, Hoppin J, Mora AM, Soto-Martinez ME, Gamboa LC, Castaneda JEP, et al. Respiratory and allergic outcomes among 5-year-old children exposed to pesticides. *Thorax*. (2023) 78:41–9. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2021-218068

41. Karmaus W, Kuehr J, Kruse H. Infections and atopic disorders in childhood and organochlorine exposure. *Arch Environ Health.* (2001) 56:485–92. doi: 10.1080/00039890109602896

42. Lu Y, Lin S, Lawrence WR, Lin Z, Gurzau E, Csobod E, et al. Evidence from SINPHONIE project: impact of home environmental exposures on respiratory health among school-age children in Romania. *Sci Total Environ*. (2018) 621:75–84. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.157

43. KMS M. L. Masley, Senthilselvan A., McDuffie H. H., Hanke P., Dosman J. A., Cessna A. J., Irvine D. G., et al. Health and Environment of Rural Families: Results of a Community Canvass Survey in the Prairie Ecosystem Study (PECOS). *J. Agricul. Safety Health.* (2000), 6, 103–115.

44. Malaeb D, Hallit S, Sacre H, Hallit R, Salameh P. Factors associated with wheezing among Lebanese children: results of a cross-sectional study. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*. (2020) 48:523–9. doi: 10.1016/j.aller.2020.02.003

45. Maritano S, Moirano G, Popovic M, D'Errico A, Rusconi F, Maule M, et al. Maternal pesticides exposure in pregnancy and the risk of wheezing in infancy: a prospective cohort study. *Environ Int.* (2022) 163:107229. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2022.107229

46. Meng G, Feng Y, Nie Z, Wu X, Wei H, Wu S, et al. Internal exposure levels of typical POPs and their associations with childhood asthma in Shanghai. *China Environ Res.* (2016) 146:125–35. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2015.12.026

47. Mora AM, Hoppin JA, Cordoba L, Cano JC, Soto-Martinez M, Eskenazi B, et al. Prenatal pesticide exposure and respiratory health outcomes in the first year of life: results from the infants' environmental health (ISA) study. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*. (2020) 225:113474. doi: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113474

48. Pape K, Svanes C, Sejbaek CS, Malinovschi A, Benediktsdottir B, Forsberg B, et al. Parental occupational exposure pre- and post-conception and development of asthma in offspring. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2021) 49:1856–69. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyaa085

49. Perla ME, Rue T, Cheadle A, Krieger J, Karr CJ. Biomarkers of insecticide exposure and asthma in children: a National Health and nutrition examination survey (NHANES) 1999-2008 analysis. *Arch Environ Occup Health*. (2015) 70:309-22. doi: 10.1080/19338244.2014.910490

50. Raanan R, Gunier RB, Balmes JR, Beltran AJ, Harley KG, Bradman A, et al. Elemental sulfur use and associations with pediatric lung function and respiratory symptoms in an agricultural community (California, USA). *Environ Health Perspect*. (2017) 125:087007. doi: 10.1289/EHP528

51. Raanan R, Harley KG, Balmes JR, Bradman A, Lipsett M, Eskenazi B. Early-life exposure to organophosphate pesticides and pediatric respiratory symptoms in the CHAMACOS cohort. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2015) 123:179–85. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1408235

52. Raherison C, Baldi I, Pouquet M, Berteaud E, Moesch C, Bouvier G, et al. Pesticides exposure by air in vineyard rural area and respiratory health in children: a pilot study. *Environ Res.* (2019) 169:189–95. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018.11.002

53. Reardon AM, Perzanowski MS, Whyatt RM, Chew GL, Perera FP, Miller RL. Associations between prenatal pesticide exposure and cough, wheeze, and IgE in early childhood. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2009) 124:852–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.07.046

54. Runkle J, Flocks J, Economos J, Tovar-Aguilar JA, McCauley L. Occupational risks and pregnancy and infant health outcomes in Florida farmworkers. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2014) 11:7820–40. doi: 10.3390/ijerph110807820

55. Salameh PR, Baldi I, Brochard P, Raherison C, Abi Saleh B, Salamon R. Respiratory symptoms in children and exposure to pesticides. *Eur Respir J.* (2003) 22:507–12. doi: 10.1183/09031936.03.00107403a

56. Siyuan Xiaoa ALN, Mendolac P, Batesa MN., Barcellosa AL, Ferrarab A, Yeyi Zhub D. Household mold, pesticide use, and childhood asthma: A nationwide study in the U.S. (2021). 233:1–21.

57. Smit LA, Lenters V, Hoyer BB, Lindh CH, Pedersen HS, Liermontova I, et al. Prenatal exposure to environmental chemical contaminants and asthma and eczema in school-age children. *Allergy*. (2015) 70:653–60. doi: 10.1111/all.12605

58. Hallit S, Salameh P. Exposure to toxics during pregnancy and childhood and asthma in children: A pilot study. *J Epidemiol Glob Health*. (2017) 7:147–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jegh.2017.04.004

59. Sunyer J, Garcia-Esteban R, Alvarez M, Guxens M, Goni F, Basterrechea M, et al. DDE in mothers' blood during pregnancy and lower respiratory tract infections in their infants. *Epidemiology*. (2010) 21:729–35. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181e5ea96

60. Sunyer J, Torrent M, Munoz-Ortiz L, Ribas-Fito N, Carrizo D, Grimalt J, et al. Prenatal dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE) and asthma in children. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2005) 113:1787–90. doi: 10.1289/ehp.8127

61. Sunyer J, Torrent M, Garcia-Esteban R, Ribas-Fitó N, Carrizo D, Romieu I, et al. Early exposure to dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene, breastfeeding and asthma at age six. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2006) 36:1236–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006.02560.x

62. Tagiyeva N, Devereux G, Semple S, Sherriff A, Henderson J, Elias P, et al. Parental occupation is a risk factor for childhood wheeze and asthma. *Eur Respir J*. (2010) 35:987–93. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00050009

63. Wang C, Qu Y, Niu H, Pan Y, He Y, Liu J, et al. The effect of residential environment on respiratory diseases and pulmonary function in children from a Community in Jilin Province of China. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*. (2021) 14:1287–97. doi: 10.2147/RMHP. S295553

64. Weselak M, Arbuckle TE, Wigle DT, Krewski D. In utero pesticide exposure and childhood morbidity. *Environ Res.* (2007) 103:79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2006.09.001

65. Wilfried Karmausa SD, Chena Q, Kueh J, Kruse H. Atopic manifestations, breast-feeding protection and the adverse effect of DDE. *Paedi Perin Epidemiol*. (2003) 17:212–20. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3016.2003.00488.x,

66. Xu X, Nembhard WN, Kan H, Becker A, Talbott EO. Residential pesticide use is associated with children's respiratory symptoms. *J Occup Environ Med*. (2012) 54:1281–7. doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e31825cb6ae

67. Pimentel D. Green revolution agriculture and chemical hazards. Sci Total Environ. (1996) 188:S86–98. doi: 10.1016/S0048-9697(96)90512-4

68. Doust E, Ayres JG, Devereux G, Dick F, Crawford JO, Cowie H, et al. Is pesticide exposure a cause of obstructive airways disease? *Eur Respir Rev.* (2013) 23:180–92. doi: 10.1183/09059180.00005113

69. Patel O, Syamlal G, Henneberger PK, Alarcon WA, Mazurek JM. Pesticide use, allergic rhinitis, and asthma among US farm operators. *J Agromedicine*. (2018) 23:327–35. doi: 10.1080/1059924X.2018.1501451

70. Barnish MS, Tagiyeva N, Devereux G, Aucott L, Turner S. Diverging prevalences and different risk factors for childhood asthma and eczema: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*. (2015) 5:e008446. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008446

71. Sun Y, Zhang M, Ou Z, Meng Y, Chen Y, Lin R, et al. Indoor microbiome, microbial and plant metabolites, chemical compounds, and asthma symptoms in junior high school students: a multicentre association study in Malaysia. *Eur Respir J.* (2022) 60:2200260. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00260-2022

72. Mthethwa M, Jeebhay M, Olaniyan T, Wiesner L, Parker B, Leaner J, et al. The Association Between Urinary Concentrations of Organophosphate Metabolites and Asthma-Related Outcomes Among Schoolchildren From Informal Settlements. *Int J Public Health.* (2023) 68:1606174. doi: 10.3389/ijph.2023.1606174

73. Jane A, Hoppin DMU, London SJ, Alavanja MCR, and Sandler DP. Chemical Predictors of Wheeze among Farmer Pesticide Applicators in the Agricultural Health Study. *American Journal of Res Criti Care Med.* (2002);165:683–9.

74. Glynn A, Thuvander A, Aune M, Johannisson A, Darnerud PO, Ronquist G, et al. Immune cell counts and risks of respiratory infections among infants exposed pre- and postnatally to organochlorine compounds: a prospective study. *Environ Health: a global access science source*. (2008) 7:62. doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-7-62

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stuart Turvey, University of British Columbia, Canada

REVIEWED BY Melissa Cheung, The University of Sydney, Australia Stephen Hughes, The University of Sydney, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Silin Zheng ⊠ 1400223549@qq.com Huawei Li ⊠ 2242159770@gg.com

RECEIVED 26 January 2024 ACCEPTED 23 May 2024 PUBLISHED 05 June 2024

CITATION

Yang F, Zhou J, Xiao H, Wu X, Cui Y, Huang H, Zheng S and Li H (2024) Caregiver burden among parents of school-age children with asthma: a cross-sectional study. *Front. Public Health* 12:1368519. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1368519

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Yang, Zhou, Xiao, Wu, Cui, Huang, Zheng and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Caregiver burden among parents of school-age children with asthma: a cross-sectional study

Fang Yang¹, Jingru Zhou¹, Hongying Xiao¹, Xia Wu¹, Yingjuan Cui², Houqiang Huang³, Silin Zheng³* and Huawei Li⁴*

¹Department of Pediatrics, Deyang People's Hospital, Deyang, Sichuan, China, ²Department of Surgery, Affiliated Hospital of North Sichuan Medical College, Nanchong, Sichuan, China, ³Nursing Department, The Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Medical University, Luzhou, Sichuan, China, ⁴Nephrology Department, Affiliated Hospital of Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine, Nanjing, Jiangsu, China

Objective: To investigate the caregiver burden of parents of school-age children with asthma and analyze the factors influencing their caregiver burden.

Methods: A convenience sampling method was used to select 366 parents of school-age children with asthma who visited the outpatient departments of three tertiary hospitals in Sichuan Province, China, from January 2021 to July 2021. A general information questionnaire and the Caregiver Burden Inventory (CBI) were used to assess the current caregiver burden and analyze the influencing factors.

Results: The caregiver burden score of parents of school-age children with asthma was 27 (17, 39), with 40.43% of parents experiencing moderate to high levels of burden. Detailed results of univariate analysis showed that there were significant differences in caregiver burden scores based on parents' gender, highest education level, number of children, occupation, family history of asthma, monthly family income, annual medical expenses for the child, child's gender, whether the child had undergone lung function tests, number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months, and whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months (p < 0.1). Detailed results of multivariate analysis showed that parents' gender, occupation, family history of asthma, monthly family income, annual medical expenses for the child, number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months (p < 0.1). Detailed results of multivariate analysis showed that parents' gender, occupation, family history of asthma, monthly family income, annual medical expenses for the child, number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months, and whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months, and whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months, and whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months, and whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months were independent risk factors for caregiver burden in parents of school-age children with asthma (p < 0.05).

Conclusion: Parents of school-age children with asthma experience a certain level of caregiver burden, with over one-third of parents experiencing moderate to high levels of burden. Being a mother, being a worker, having no family history of asthma, having low monthly family income, having high annual medical expenses for the child, having frequent emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3months, and having missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3months are independent risk factors for caregiver burden in parents of school-age children with asthma, healthcare providers should develop feasible coping strategies, such as paying attention to caregivers' psychological condition to reduce the burden of caring for parents of school-age children with asthma. The entire society should also make efforts in improving social support and strengthening healthcare coverage in order to achieve the aforementioned goals.

KEYWORDS

school-age, asthma, parents, caregivers, caregiver burden

Asthma is one of the most common chronic respiratory disease worldwide (1), affecting over 300 million people globally (2). The prevalence of asthma is approximately 5.00–10.00% in adults and 20.00% in children (3), with school-age children (6–14 years old) being a high-risk group for asthma (4). Numerous studies have shown that asthma has various and significant impacts on the health, learning, and social interactions of affected children (5, 6), as well as on the daily life, physical and mental health of their primary caregivers and families (7, 8).

Caregiver burden refers to the negative physiological, psychological, and economic stimuli and pressures experienced by caregivers during the caregiving process (9, 10). As the primary caregivers of school-age children with asthma (11), parents bear a series of burdens associated with the disease. Firstly, asthma is a prominent health issue among children (12, 13). Global studies have shown that only a small proportion of children with asthma have good disease control, with the situation being worse in China (14), especially among school-age children (15). Poor asthma control can lead to decreased lung function during the crucial period of lung development and function transition in childhood (16). Additionally, due to the ongoing growth and development of children, recurrent asthma exacerbations can result in growth retardation and reduced quality of life (17), and become important reasons for school absenteeism among school-age children (18, 19). Moreover, compared to their peers, school-age children with asthma are more likely to experience behavioral problems, learning difficulties, anxiety, and other issues (20). Secondly, there is currently no effective cure for asthma, and long-term, standardized, scientific, and effective disease management is necessary (21). In developed countries, the financial burden of asthma is relatively high, accounting for 1.00-2.00% of healthcare expenditures in countries with available medical expenditure data (22, 23). According to data from the US National Medical Expenditure Panel Survey from 2007 to 2013, the total annual medical expenses for school-age children with asthma amounted to 5.92 billion US dollars (22). In China, 37.80% of families with children with asthma bear annual medical expenses exceeding 10,000 yuan, and 27.60% of children with asthma have annual medical expenses exceeding 5,000 yuan (24). Thus, asthma poses a significant economic burden on both families and society (19, 25). Studies have also found that parents of children with asthma experience varying degrees of anxiety and depression during the long-term caregiving process (26). 81.52% of caregivers reported high parenting stress and psychological distress (27), 67.57% of caregivers experienced varying degrees of depression, and 29.00% of caregivers were diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder (27, 28).

In summary, asthma has various and significant impacts on school-age children and their parents. It is important to pay attention to the caregiver burden of parents of school-age children with asthma. However, current research mainly focuses on the caregiver burden of primary caregivers of children aged 0-14 with asthma (29–32), and there is a lack of studies specifically examining the caregiver burden of parents of school-age children (6–14 years old) with asthma. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the caregiver burden of parents of school-age children with asthma through a cross-sectional survey and analyze the influencing factors. The findings will provide

practical evidence for formulating targeted strategies to alleviate the caregiver burden of parents of school-age children with asthma.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Survey subjects

Convenience sampling method was used to select parents of school-age children with asthma who visited the pediatric outpatient departments of three tertiary hospitals in Sichuan Province, China from January 2021 to July 2021 as the research subjects. Inclusion criteria: ① Parents of children diagnosed with asthma according to the diagnostic criteria of the Chinese Medical Association's Pediatric Branch Respiratory Group's "Diagnosis and Treatment Guidelines for Children's Bronchial Asthma" (33); 2 Parents of children aged 6-14 years (34); 3 The parents of the children have the ability to think and express themselves in language and a certain level of reading and comprehension skills; ④ Willing to participate in this study and sign an informed consent form. Exclusion criteria: 10 Children with organic diseases, mental illnesses, or other severe chronic diseases other than asthma; 2 Parents with a history of mental illness or severe chronic diseases who are unable to complete the questionnaire independently; 3 Children and their parents who have experienced significant trauma in the past 3 months. This part of the study includes 9 items on general information of parents, 6 items on general information of children, and 24 items on caregiver burden inventory, for a total of 39 analyzed variables. Sample size calculation adopted Li Zheng's rough estimation method (35), with a sample size of 5-10 times the number of variables, considering a 20.00% increase in sample size for invalid questionnaires. The calculated sample size for this study was 234-468 people, with 380 included samples and 366 valid questionnaires, resulting in a questionnaire validity rate of 96.30%. This study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Deyang People's Hospital (No. 2021-04-21-K01), the Ethical Committee of Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Medical University (No. KY2021223), and the Ethical Committee of Affiliated Hospital of North Sichuan Medical College (No. 2022ER021-1).

2.2 Survey tools

2.2.1 General information questionnaire

Including general information questionnaires for children and parents. The demographic characteristics of children include age, gender, education method, course of disease, whether pulmonary function tests were performed, number of outpatient visits due to worsening of asthma in the past 3 months, number of school absenteeism days, etc. The demographic characteristics of parents include age, gender, education level, occupation, marital status, number of children, monthly income, smoking status, child's medical expenses, family history of asthma, etc.

2.2.2 Caregiver Burden Inventory (CBI)

The Caregiver Burden Inventory (CBI), developed by Novak and Guest (36) in 1989, is widely used in domestic and international caregiver research to assess the subjective burden of caregivers during the caregiving process. The CBI questionnaire used in this

study was translated and revised by Chinese scholar Yue Peng (37) in 2006. The Chinese version of the questionnaire consists of 5 dimensions: time-dependent burden (items 1–5), developmental burden (items 6–10), physical burden (items 11–14), social burden (items 15–18), and emotional burden (items 19–24), with a total of 24 items. The questionnaire uses a 5-point scoring standard, with scores ranging from 0 to 4. A score of 0 indicates "never" and a score of 4 indicates "always." The total score ranges from 0 to 96, with scores of 0 to 32 indicating mild burden, 33 to 64 indicating moderate burden, and scores above 65 indicating severe burden. The internal consistency reliability of the questionnaire is 0.92, and the Cronbach's alpha coefficients of each dimension range from 0.68 to 0.93. In this study, the internal consistency reliability of the questionnaire was 0.85, and the Cronbach's alpha coefficients of each dimension were 0.87.

2.2.3 Data collection and quality control methods

Convenience sampling method was used in this study to strictly select survey subjects according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. In order to achieve homogenization of the study, the research team members received unified training. Before completing the questionnaire, the researchers explain it to the research subjects and obtain their written informed consent. If the research subjects had any questions during the process of filling out the questionnaire, the researchers provided on-site explanations. After completing the questionnaire, it was collected on the spot to reduce data loss. The entire data collection process lasted for 7 months.

2.3 Statistical analysis

A database was established using Excel 2007 software, and the data was organized. SPSS 25.0 statistical software was used for data analysis. If quantitative data followed a normal distribution, it was described using mean ± standard deviation (SD); otherwise, median (M) and interquartile range (P25, P75) were used. Qualitative data were described using frequencies and percentages. Single-factor analysis of variance (Mann-Whitney U test) or multiple independent samples rank sum test (Kruskal-Wallis H test) were used to analyze the association between parents' and individual factors and caregiver burden scores, depending on the number of influencing factors. Multiple logistic regression analysis was used to analyze the factors associated with high caregiver burden. The 70th and 80th percentiles of the total burden score and each dimension score were used as the cut-off points for high burden, and the variables with p < 0.10 in the univariate analysis were included in the model, with the model fit using the Forward: LR method. A significance level of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3 Results

A total of 380 questionnaires were distributed and collected, with 366 valid questionnaires and 14 invalid questionnaires (6 questionnaires had too many missing answers, exceeding 4 items; 5 questionnaires had a regular pattern of selected options; 3 questionnaires were filled out by the same caregiver). The questionnaire validity rate was 96.30%.

3.1 General information

3.1.1 General information of parents of children with asthma

The average age of parents was (34.4 ± 5.1) years. There were 79 males (21.60%) and 287 females (78.40%). In terms of education level, 53 had junior high school education or below (14.40%), 113 had high school or technical secondary school education (30.90%), 118 had college education (32.20%), and 82 had master's degree or above (22.50%). In terms of the number of children, 233 had 1 child (63.70%) and 133 had 2 or more children (36.30%) (see Table 1 for details).

3.1.2 Demographic characteristics of children

The average age of children was (7.7 ± 1.7) years. There were 203 boys (55.50%) and 163 girls (39.30%). Course of illness ≤ 1 year 144 (39.30%), 1 ~ 2 year 141 (38.50%), ≥ 3 year 81 (22.10%) (see Table 2 for details).

3.2 The caregiver burden score of parents of school-age children with asthma

3.2.1 The caregiver burden score

The total caregiver burden score was 27 (17, 39) points, 148 parents with school-age children with asthma is \geq 32 points, indicating that 40.43% of parents with school-age children with asthma had a moderate to high level of caregiver burden. Among them, the score for time-dependent burden dimension was 9 (6, 13) points, the score for development-restricted burden dimension was 7 (4, 11) points, the score for physical burden dimension was 5 (2, 8) points, and the score for social burden dimension was 3 (1, 6) points (see Table 3 for details).

3.2.2 Univariate analysis of the caregiver burden

There were significant differences in caregiver burden scores based on parents' gender, highest education level, number of children, occupation, family history of asthma, monthly family income, annual medical expenses for the child, child's gender, whether the child had undergone lung function tests, number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months, and whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months (p < 0.1) (see Table 4 for details). The original analysis results of detailed data can be found in supplements.

3.2.3 Multivariate analysis of the caregiver burden

Based on the total burden score and the scores of each dimension at the 70th percentile (P70) and 80th percentile (P80), a burden score greater than P70 or P80 is defined as an excessive caregiver burden. Logistic regression models were fitted with factors with a *p*-value less than 0.10 in the single-factor analysis as independent variables, using whether the caregiver burden is excessive as the dependent variable. The corresponding models are referred to as model1 and model2. The P70 and P80 for the total score and scores of each dimension are shown in Table 5. Variable assignments can be found in Table 6.

Multiple factor logistic regression analysis shows: Parents' gender (female), occupation (worker), family history of asthma (no family history of asthma), monthly family income (low monthly family TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics of children's parents (n = 366).

Item	Ν	Constituent ratio (%)
Parents' gender		
Male	79	21.60
Female	287	78.40
Parents' age (year)		
<30	48	13.10
30~	259	70.80
≥40	59	16.10
Parents' highest education level		·
Junior high school education or below	53	14.40
High school or technical secondary school education	113	30.90
College education	118	32.20
Master's degree or above	82	22.50
Number of children		
1 child	233	63.70
2 or more children	133	36.30
Occupation		·
Worker	52	14.20
Farmer	63	17.20
Administrative worker	44	12.00
Service industry	129	35.20
Private business owner	78	21.40
Someone smoking at home		
Yes	199	54.40
No	167	45.60
Family history of asthma		
Yes	55	15.00
No	311	85.00
Monthly family income (CNY)		
3,000 ~ 4,999	128	35.00
5,000 ~ 9,999	142	38.80
≥10,000	96	26.20
Annual medical expenses of the child (CNY)		
<3,000	122	33.30
3,000 ~ 4,999	154	42.10
≥5,000	90	24.60

income), annual medical expenses for the child (high annual medical expenses for child), number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months (frequent emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months), and whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months (missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months) were independent risk factors for caregiver burden in parents of school-age children with asthma (p < 0.05) (see Table 7). The original analysis results of detailed data can be found in supplements.

TABLE 2 Demographic characteristics of children (n = 366).

5.							
ltem	N	Constituent ratio (%)					
Child's gender							
Воу	203	55.50					
Girl	163	44.50					
Child's age (year)							
6~	121	33.10					
7~	94	25.70					
8~	73	19.90					
≥9	78	21.30					
Child's illness course (ye	ar)						
≤ 1	144	39.30					
1~2	141	38.50					
≥3	81	22.10					
Whether the child had u	ndergone lung functior	1 tests					
Yes	340	92.90					
No	26	7.10					
Number of emergency vi	sits due to asthma exace	erbation in the past 3 months (time)					
0	112	30.60					
1	95	26.00					
2	69	18.90					
≥3	90	24.50					
Whether the child had m	issed school due to asthr	ma exacerbation in the past 3 months					
No	198	54.10					
Yes	168	45.90					

4 Discussion

The total burden of care score was 27 (17, 39), and among 366 parents, 148 scored \geq 32, indicating that over one-third of parents of school-age children with asthma experience a moderate to high level of caregiver burden in our study. The dimensions of caregiver burden were ranked as follows: time-dependence burden, developmental restriction burden, physical burden, social burden, and emotional burden. These rankings were consistent with previous studies (38), parents of school-age children with asthma face long-term uncertainty related to their child's worsening condition. Additionally, they devote significant time and effort to children with asthma, leading to physical and mental strain. The anxiety related to time constraints and the compression of parents' working hours by caregiver responsibilities exacerbate the sense of time-dependence burden.

Gender was found to be a factor influencing the time-dependence burden dimension, with mothers being at a higher risk of experiencing excessive burden compared to fathers. Several studies have shown that female caregivers bear a greater burden during long-term care for diseases (39, 40). This can be attributed to the fact that mothers are often the primary caregivers for children within the family (41, 42), investing more time and energy in their care. Furthermore, women are more prone to experiencing negative emotions such as stress and anxiety due to physiological and adaptability differences, resulting in increased physical and emotional burden (38, 42). Support systems

TABLE 3 The results of caregiver burden (n = 366).

Dimension	Scoring range	Min	P ₂₅	P ₅₀	P ₇₅	Max	Sorting
Time-dependence	0~20	0	6	9	13	20	1
Developmental	0~20	0	4	7	11	20	2
Physical	0~16	0	2	5	8	16	3
Social	0~16	0	1	3	6	16	4
Emotional	0~24	0	0	1	5	24	5
Caregiver burden	0~96	2	17	27	39	96	

TABLE 4 Univariate analysis variable screening results.

Variable	Time- dependence	Developmental	Physical	Social	Emotional	Caregiver burden
Parents' gender	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	_	\checkmark
Parents' age	_	_	_	_	_	_
Parents' highest education level	_	_	\checkmark	_	_	_
Number of children	\checkmark	—	_	_		_
Parents' occupation	\checkmark	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	\checkmark
Someone smoking at home	_	—	_	_	_	—
Family history of asthma	_	\checkmark	_	_	\checkmark	\checkmark
Family monthly income	_	—	\checkmark	_	_	—
Annual medical expenses of the child	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	_	\checkmark
Child's gender	\checkmark	—	_	_	—	—
Child's age	_	—	—	_	—	—
Child's illness course	—	—	—	—	—	—
Whether the child had undergone lung function tests	_	_	_	_	\checkmark	_
Number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
Whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

" $\sqrt{}$ " represents the factors that have an impact on CBI dimensions and overall burden, with p < 0.10; "—" represents p > 0.10.

refers to the external resources that individuals can utilize, mainly referring to the material support or psychological help obtained from family, colleagues, and friends in their social life (43). Researches have shown solid support system can enhance caregivers' ability to cope with challenges (44). It is recommended that family members, especially spouses, understand and support each other, taking turns in providing care and companionship for the child (38). Two studies have shown that the caregivers' mental status affects the caregivers' burden level, and psychological intervention can reduce caregivers' sense of stress, anxiety, and loneliness, as well as reduce caregivers' burden (45, 46). So, healthcare professionals should pay attention to the psychological wellbeing of mothers and provide necessary psychological interventions (47) such as cognitive-behavioral therapy, family therapy, motivational interviewing, and problem-solving therapy to alleviate the physical and mental stress experienced by mothers as primary caregivers.

Family monthly income and annual medical expenses of the child were found to be factors influencing the physical burden dimension. Wang Jing et al. (48) also identified economic issues as the main influencing factors of caregiver burden among family caregivers. This can be explained by the fact that asthma, as a chronic disease, requires financial support for its treatment and care. In order to ensure the continuity and effectiveness of their child's treatment, parents often choose to give up their jobs to take care of their child full-time (49), or they may increase their work hours or take on multiple jobs to earn more money (50). However, they still need to balance the responsibilities of supporting older adult family members and caring for their sick child, often neglecting their own health (38). This leads to excessive physical burden. It is suggested that diversified strategies be implemented at the national level, such as providing more job opportunities or flexible working hours for caregivers (44), establishing specialized medical insurance programs for children with asthma, promoting affordable medications (51), and implementing home nebulization therapy (50), in order to alleviate the economic pressure on caregivers.

The number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months and the child's absenteeism due to asthma were found to be factors influencing multiple dimensions of caregiver burden. Several studies have indicated that recent stressful events have a negative impact on individuals' quality of life (52), which is consistent

TABLE 5 Total caregiver burden score and P70 and P80 of each dimension score.

Percentile	Caregiver burden	Time-dependence	Developmental	Physical	Social	Emotional
P ₇₀	36	12	10	8	5	3
P ₈₀	43	14	12	9	7	6

TABLE 6 Multivariate logistic regression analysis variable assignment table.

Independent variable	Assignment			
Dependent variable				
Is the burden too high	1 = yes	0 = normal		
Independent variable				
Parents' gender	1 = male	2 = female		
Parents' highest education level	1=junior high school education or below	2 = high school or technical secondary school education	3 = college education	4 = master's degree or above
Number of children	1 = 1 child	2=2 or more children		
	1 = worker	2=farmer	3 = administrative worker	
Parents' occupation	4 = service industry	5 = private business owner		
Family history of asthma	0 = no	1 = yes		
Monthly family income	1=3,000~4,999 (CNY)	2=5,000~9,999 (CNY)	3 = 10,000 or above (CNY)	
Annual medical expenses for the child	1 = 3,000 or below (CNY)	2=3,000~4,999 (CNY)	3 = 5,000 or above (CNY)	
Child's gender	1 = boy	2=girl		
Whether the child had undergone lung function tests	0 = no	1 = yes		
Number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months	0 = time	1 = 1 time	2=2 times	3 = 3 times or above
Whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months	0 = no	1 = yes		

All multi-class variables are included in dummy variable form.

TABLE 7 Multivariate logistic regression analysis results summary.

Independent variable	Time- dependence	Developmental	Physical	Social	Emotional	Caregiver burden
Parents' gender		_	_	_	_	_
Parents' occupation	_	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	\checkmark
Family history of asthma	_	_	_	_		_
Monthly family income	_	_	\checkmark	_	_	_
Annual medical expenses for the child	_	_	\checkmark	_	_	
Number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	_	\checkmark
Whether the child had missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months	\checkmark	_	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	—

" $\sqrt{}$ " represents the factors that influence the burden of CBI in each dimension and overall, i.e., p < 0.05; "—" represents p > 0.05.

with the findings of Jiang Di (53). In this study, the stressful events experienced by caregivers were "the number of emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past three months" and "the number of school absences due to asthma in the past three months." This can be attributed to the greater caregiver difficulties faced by parents of children with asthma compared to parents of healthy children. Asthma exacerbations lead to frequent leaves from work to visit hospitals, deal with delays in the child's education, and handle school absences, which inevitably sacrifices the caregiver's rest time and social activities (54). Hospitals should pay more attention to children with frequent hospitalizations and poor disease control, as well as their family caregivers, providing targeted advice and recommendations to reduce the frequency of disease relapses (30). Additionally, weekend specialist asthma clinics should be increased (55), and the development of internet hospitals should be accelerated to expand online services (56). It is also important to establish communication platforms for caregivers, such as WeChat or QQ groups, organizing parent–child activities, and peer support meetings (44, 57), to facilitate the sharing of caregiver experiences and promote better care for the child.

5 Conclusion

This study reveals that parents of school-age children with asthma experience a certain level of caregiver burden, with over one-third of parents experiencing moderate to high levels of burden. Being a mother, being a worker, having no family history of asthma, having low monthly family income, having high annual medical expenses for the child, having frequent emergency visits due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months, and having missed school due to asthma exacerbation in the past 3 months are independent risk factors for caregiver burden in parents of school-age children with asthma, healthcare providers should develop feasible coping strategies, such as paying attention to caregivers' psychological condition to reduce the burden of caring for parents of school-age children with asthma. The entire society should also make efforts in improving social support and strengthening healthcare coverage in order to achieve the aforementioned goals.

6 Strengths and limitations

The impact of asthma on school-age children and their parents is multifaceted and significant. As the primary caregivers of school-age children with asthma, parents bear a series of burdens brought about by the disease. However, current research primarily focuses on the caregiver burden of parents of children with asthma aged 0–14. This study is the first to investigate the caregiver burden of parents of school-age children (6–14 years old) with asthma in China, and of course, this study has limitations such as a limited range of research tools. In the future, more research tools should be used and more variables should be included to further improve the research results.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

This study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Deyang People's Hospital (No. 2021-04-21-K01), the Ethical Committee of Affiliated Hospital of Southwest Medical University (No. KY2021223), and the Ethical Committee of Affiliated Hospital of North Sichuan Medical College (No. 2022ER021-1). The studies were conducted in

References

1. Shang B, Li X, Xu Y, Ren W, Wang J, Xing C, et al. Clinical characteristics and economic burden of asthma in China: a multicenter retrospective study. *Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2023) 22:290–8. doi: 10.18502/ijaai.v22i3.13057

2. Global, regional, and national deaths, prevalence, disability-adjusted life years, and years lived with disability for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma,

accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

FY: Supervision, Project administration, Data curation, Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft. JZ: Software, Methodology, Data curation, Writing – review & editing. HX: Investigation, Writing – review & editing, Data curation. XW: Writing – review & editing, Investigation, Data curation. YC: Writing – review & editing, Investigation, Data curation. HH: Writing – review & editing, Investigation, Data curation. SZ: Writing – original draft, Supervision, Project administration, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. HL: Project administration, Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Formal analysis, Conceptualization.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

We thank all the participants in this study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2024.1368519/ full#supplementary-material

1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2015. Lancet Respir Med. (2017). doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(17)30293-X

^{3.} Bagnasco D, Paggiaro P, Latorre M, Folli C, Testino E, Bassi A, et al. Severe asthma: one disease and multiple definitions. *World Allergy Organ J*. (2021) 14:100606. doi: 10.1016/j.waojou.2021.100606

4. Mou JH, Shao MJ, Liu CH, Sha L, Zhu WJ, Li S, et al. Comparison of food allergy among children with bronchial asthma and children without bronchial asthma in Chinese cities. *Chinese Clin J Pract Pediatr.* (2018) 33:684–7. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.2095-428X.2018.09.008

5. Xie T, Zhong LL, Huang H, Lin XJ, Xiao LG, Pen L, et al. Respiratory tract of 225 children with acute attack of bronchial asthma physical examination and clinical characteristics analysis of pathogens. *Chin J Contemp Pediatr.* (2020) 20:1198–203. doi: 10.7499/j.issn.1008-8830.2006024

6. Zhao XQ, Qin QZ, Jing W, Zhang X. Investigation on hospital stay and family economic burden of children with severe asthma under 14 years old. *Public Health Prevent Med.* (2021) 32:96–9. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1006-2483.2021.04.022

7. Gibson-Young LM, Arolan KJ, Wegucki LS, Lang JE, Norris CL. Interviens with aregivers during acute asthma hepitalisatins. *J Ashma*. (2020) 57:778–86. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2019.1602875

8. Foronda CL, Kelley CN, Nadeau C, Prather SL, Lewis-Pierre L, Sarik DA, et al. P'sychobgieal and socioecmnomie burdens faed by family cargivers of children with asthm; an integative review. *J Pediatr Health Care.* (2020) 34:366–76. doi: 10.1016/j. pedhc.2020.02.003

9. Liu S, Li C, Shi Z, Wang X, Zhou Y, Liu S, et al. Caregiver burden and prevalence of depression, anxiety and sleep disturbances in Alzheimer's disease caregivers in China. *J Clin Nurs.* (2017) 26:1291–300. doi: 10.1111/jocn.13601

10. Liu SJ, Zhang YH, Tang MW, Cheng Y. The impact of stigma on the caregiver burden of patients with schizophrenia. *Chin J Nurs.* (2019) 56:239–44. doi: 10.3761/j. issn.0254-1769.2021.02.013

11. Hua K, Mj Y, Sd X. The mediating effect of primary caregivers' self-efficacy on the influence of coping style on quality of life in children with asthma. *Modern Clinical Nursing*. (2021) 20:14–8. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-8283.2021.9.03

12. Caffrey Osvald E, Bower H, Lundholm C, Larsson H, Brew BK, Almqvist C. Asthma and all-cause mortality in children and young adults: a population-based study. *Thorax*. (2020) 75:1040–6. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2020-214655

13. Asher MI, Rutter CE, Bissell K, Chiang CY, El Sony A, Ellwood E, et al. Global asthma network phase I study group. Worldwide trends in the burden of asthma symptoms in school-aged children: global asthma network phase I cross-sectional study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:1569–80. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01450-1

14. Lin J, Wang W, Tang H, Huo J, Gu Y, Liu R, et al. Asthma management using the Mobileasthma evaluation and management system in China. *Allergy, Asthma Immunol Res.* (2022) 14:85–98. doi: 10.4168/aair.2022.14.1.85

15. Jia Y, Wang H, Zhang Z, Wang J, Yi M, Chen O. Parenting style and child asthma control in families of school-age children with asthma: the mediating effects of children's general self-efficacy and medication adherence. *J Pediatr Nurs.* (2023) 73:e293–301. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2023.09.025

16. Zheng YJ, Chen JH, Shen KL, et al. The childhood origin of adult respiratory diseases. *Chin J Pract Pediatr.* (2017) 32:1201-4. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.2095-428X.2017.16.001

17. Luo P, Bai YQ, Liu H, Long D. Investigation on self-perceived burden of children with bronchial asthma aged 3-6 years and analysis of influencing factors. *South China Prevent Med.* (2019) 46:22–5.

18. Pijnenburg MW, Fleming L. Advances in understanding and reducing the burden of severe asthma in children. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:1032–44. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30399-4

19. Prather SL, Foronda CL, Kelley CN, Nadeau C, Prather K. Barriers and facilitators of asthma management as experienced by African American caregivers of children with asthma: an integrative review. *J Pediatr Nurs*. (2020) 55:40–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2020.06.012

20. He HM, Chen Q, Wang GN. Effect of quality nursing program "asthma home" on out-of-hospital follow-up intervention of children with asthma. *J Guangxi Med Univ.* (2019) 36:174–7.

21. Knafl KA, Havill NL, Leeman J, Fleming L, Crandell JL, Sandelowski M. The nature of family engagement in interventions for children with chronic conditions. *West J Murs Res.* (2017) 39:690–723. doi: 10.1177/0193945916664700

22. Serebrisky D. Wiznia A Pediatric asthma: a global epidemic. *Ann Glob Health.* (2019) 85:6. doi: 10.5334/aogh.2416

23. Trikamjee T, Comberiati R. Peter pediatric asthma in developing countries:challenges and_future directions. *Curr Opin Allergy Cin Immunol.* (2022) 22:80–5. doi: 10.1097/ACI.00000000000806

24. Xu CY, Wang Q, Li N, Liu CH, Chen YZ, Shao MJ, et al. Impact of childhood asthma on children and families and analysis of related factors in Beijing. *J Environ Health*. (2015) 32:10–3.

25. Dardouri M, Sahli J, Ajmi T, Mtiraoui A, Bouguila J, Zedini C, et al. Effect of family empowerment education on pulmonary function and quality of life of children with asthma and their parents in Tunisia: a randomized controlled trial. *J Pediatr Nurs*. (2020) 54:e9–e16. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2020.04.005

26. Jing H. Effect of relaxation training on anxiety and depression in parents of children with asthma. Nanchang: Nanchang University (2021).

27. Chen JL, Chu XL, Li Y, Wu LL, Song FM. Effect of social support on family intimacy adaptability and depression level of parents with bronchial asthma. *Maternal*

Child Health Care China. (2021) 36:1865–8. doi: 10.19829/j.zgfybj. issn.1001-4411.2021.08.051

28. Guo M, Gao G, Guo J, Wen LT, Zeng LT. Burden among caregivers for children with asthma: a mixed-method study in Guangzhou, China. *Inter J Nurs Sci.* (2015) 2:394–401. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnss.2015.10.004

29. Chang MH, Xu SD. Analysis of the burden of primary caregivers in children with asthma and its influencing factors. *Jilin Med.* (2022) 43:1106–10.

30. Li QM, Zhang L. Analysis of the factors influencing the burden felt by caregivers of children with asthma. *Sichuan J Physiol Sci.* (2021) 43:385–7.

31. Zhang JC, Xu YC, Ao ZZ, Li CM, Liao CF, Huang YZ, et al. Analysis of caregiver burden of children with asthma and related factors in Heyuan City. *China Health Industry*. (2021) 18:28–31. doi: 10.16659/j.cnki.1672-5654.2021.16.028

32. Huang XL. Investigation on the burden and nursing knowledge demand of primary caregivers of children with asthma. *Health Required Reading*. (2021) 17:293.

33. Bao YX, Chen AH, Fu Z, Li CC, Liu CH, Xiang L, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and prevention of asthma in children (2016edition). *Chin J Pediatr.* (2016) 54:167–81. doi: 10.3760/cmaj.issn.0578-1310.2016.03.003

34. Cui Y, Yang SF. *Pediatric nursing*. Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House. (2017). 302–303.

35. Li Z, Liu Y. *Research methods of nursing*. Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House (2018). 62 p.

36. Novak M, Guest C. A comparison of the impact of institutionalization on spouse and nonspouse caregivers. *J Appl Gerontol.* (1992) 11:379–94. doi: 10.1177/073346489201100401

37. Yue P, Fu Y, Shang SM, Liu Y, Wang ZW, Yu X, et al. Reliability and validity test of caregiver burden questionnaire. *Chinese J Mental Health*. (2006) 8:562–4. doi: 10.3321/j. issn:1000-6729.2006.08.026

38. Li N, Chen LY, Ding LY, Chen XJ, Yao DY, Wu YY, et al. Analysis of primary caregiver burden and its influencing factors in preschool children with scoliosis. *World Latest Medical Inform Digest.* (2019) 19:177–9.

39. Qi SH, Dong M. Research status of primary caregiver burden in children with chronic diseases. *Tianjin Nursing*. (2019) 28:244–7.

40. Yang J, Hou HR, Tan JP, Wang XX, Xu J. Burden of family caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease and its influencing factors. *Chinese J Clin Health.* (2019) 22:170–3. doi: 10.3969/J.issn.1672-6790.2019.02.007

41. Bamber MD, Mahony H, Spratling R. Mothers of children with special health care needs: Exploring caregiver burden, quality of life, and resiliency. *J Pediatric Health Care.* (2023). doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2023.06.003

42. Zhu B. Status of quality of life in children with bronchial asthma and its relationship with family caregiver burden. *Baotou Med.* (2019) 44:46–9. doi: 10.3969/j. issn.1007-3507.2020.03.022

43. Lijiao M. Interactive effects of psychological congruence and social support between children with chronic kidney disease and their carers on their quality of life. *Right River College of Ethnic Medicine*. (2024). doi: 10.27908/d.cnki.gymzy.2023.000127

44. Hu JJ, Wang JN, Gong CY, Liang H, Huang QX, Zhang Y, et al. Meta-integration of care experience for family caregivers of children with asthma. *Nursing Manag China*. (2023) 23:79–86. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-1756.2023.01.016

45. Uzuner S, Durcan G, Sahin S, Bahali K, Barut K, Kilicoglu AG, et al. Caregiver burden and related factors in caregivers of patients with childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clinical.* (2021) 40:5025–32. doi: 10.1007/s10067-021-05867-5

46. Tkatch R, Bazarko D, Musich S, Wu L, MacLeod S, Keown K, et al. A pilot online mindfulness intervention to decrease caregiver burden and improve psychological wellbeing. *J Evid Based Complementary Altern Med.* (2017) 22:736–43. doi: 10.1177/2156587217737204

47. Wang H, Fan H, Zhu W. Qualitative study on maternal stressors in school-age children with asthma. *Modern nurse.* (2022) 29:113–6. doi: 10.19792/j. cnki.1006-6411.2022.08.035

48. Wang J, Yue SJ, Zhang RJ, Tang YY, Zhang R, Guo LQ, et al. Longitudinal study on the influence of family caregiver factors on the caring burden of patients with colorectal cancer. *China Nurs Adm.* (2021) 21:1250–6. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-1756.2021.08.026

49. Shangguan J, Wang AM, Liang PP, Zhang YY, Zhang YC. The relationship between family response, parents coping strategy and asthma control in children. *Chin Nurs Manag.* (2017) 17:1136–40. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-1756.2017.08.030

50. Yang HY, Shen Q, Zhang XC, Wang CH. A study on the caring burden of primary caregivers in children with chronic diseases. *Psychol J.* (2019) 16:7–9. doi: 10.19738/j. cnki.psy.2021.19.003

51. Ughasoro MD, Eze JN, Oguonu T, Onwujekwe EO. Burden of childhood and adolescence asthma in Nigeria: disability adjusted life years. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* (2021) 41:61–67. doi: 10.1016/j.prrv.2021.07.004

52. Abu Alrub A, Hyassat D, Khader YS, Bani-Mustafa R, Younes N, Ajlouni K, et al. Factors associated with health-related quality of life among Jordanian patients with diabetic foot ulcer. *J Diabetes Res.* (2019) 2019:1–8. doi: 10.1155/2019/4706720

53. Jiang D. Study on quality of life of caregivers of COPD patients with mixed methods. Jinan: Shandong University (2020).

54. Rullander AC, Lundstrom M, Lindkvist M, Hägglöf B, Lindh V. Stress symptoms among adolescents before and after scoliosis surgery:correlations with postoperative pain. *J Clin Nurs.* (2016) 25:1086–94. doi: 10.1111/jocn.13137

55. Chen ZH, Liu Y, Wang R, Zhou M, Zhao WQ, Li C, et al. Maternal environment and drinking risk factors during pregnancy in asthma with neuropsychiatric comorbidity. *Chin J Appl Clin Pediatr.* (2019) 34:675–9. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.2095-428X.2019.09.009 56. Wu DM, Cui WB, Yu GJ. Analysis on the operation strategy of internet hospital in our country. *Chinese Hospital.* (2021) 25:79–80. doi: 10.19660/j.issn.1671-0592.2021. 10.23

57. Xu SD, Xie J, Wang Q, Xu JH, Chang MH. Qualitative study on the stress of primary caregivers of asthmatic children in two-child families. *Modern Nurses*. (2023) 30:122–5. doi: 10.19793/j.cnki.1006-6411.2023.15.030

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Petra Zimmermann, Université de Fribourg, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Donna Rudd, James Cook University, Australia Ana Griselda Binetti, CONICET Instituto de Lactología Industrial (INLAIN), Argentina

*CORRESPONDENCE Meredith Brockway Mlbrockw@ucalgary.ca

RECEIVED 27 March 2024 ACCEPTED 28 May 2024 PUBLISHED 06 June 2024

CITATION

Brockway M (2024) The role of antibiotic exposure and the effects of breastmilk and human milk feeding on the developing infant gut microbiome. *Front. Public Health* 12:1408246.

doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1408246

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Brockway. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The role of antibiotic exposure and the effects of breastmilk and human milk feeding on the developing infant gut microbiome

Meredith Brockway^{1,2*}

¹Faculty of Nursing, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada, ²Alberta Children's Hospital Research Institute, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life followed by complementary foods and sustained breastfeeding for at least 2 years, underscoring its pivotal role in reducing infant mortality and preventing various illnesses. This perspective delves into the intricate relationship between breastfeeding practices, early life antibiotic exposure, and infant gut microbiome development, highlighting their profound influence on child health outcomes. Antibiotics are extensively prescribed during pregnancy and childhood, disrupting the microbiome, and are related to increased risks of allergies, obesity, and neurodevelopmental disorders. Breastfeeding is a significant determinant of a healthier gut microbiome, characterized by higher levels of beneficial bacteria such as Bifidobacterium and lower levels of potential pathogens. Despite widespread recognition of the benefits of breastfeeding, gaps persist in healthcare practices and support mechanisms, exacerbating challenges faced by breastfeeding families. This highlights the pressing need for comprehensive research encompassing breastfeeding behaviors, human milk intake, and their impact on infant health outcomes. Additionally, promoting awareness among healthcare providers and families regarding the detrimental effects of unnecessary formula supplementation could facilitate informed decision-making and bolster exclusive breastfeeding rates. Moreover, donor human milk (DHM) is a promising alternative to formula, potentially mitigating disruptions to the infant gut microbiome after antibiotic exposure. Overall, prioritizing breastfeeding support interventions and bridging research gaps are essential steps towards improving child health outcomes on a global scale.

KEYWORDS

breastfeeding, human milk, donor human milk, microbiome, antibiotics, early life exposure

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life followed by the introduction of complementary foods and sustained breastfeeding for 2 years and beyond (1). It is estimated that scaling up rates of optimal breastfeeding can prevent 823,000 child deaths globally per year (2). Infants who are breastfed have reduced rates of acute infection, asthma, obesity, diabetes, lower and upper respiratory illnesses, and acute otitis media (ear infections) (2). Unlike formula, the composition of human milk is dynamic, and it changes throughout a feed, throughout the

day, and across the lactation stage (3, 4). While breastmilk provides a complete source of macro- and micro-nutrients for full-term infants, it also contains many non-nutritive bioactive components, such as hormones, immunoglobulins, growth factors, cytokines, microbes, metabolites, and human milk oligosaccharides that impact infant health (5). Many of these bioactive components directly influence the developing infant microbiome. In fact, infant feeding method, particularly breastfeeding and human milk feeding, is one of the most influential aspects on the developing infant microbiome (6). As such, promoting and protecting breastfeeding and offering exclusive human milk diets, even for full-term infants, may help to mitigate potential microbiome mediated risks to child health and development.

Antibiotic use and exposure in perinatal and pediatric populations

Antibiotics are the most prescribed medication during pregnancy and childhood, accounting for approximately 80% of prescriptions (7–9). A Swedish population based-cohort study found that across 125,106 pregnancies, 25.9% of mothers received antibiotics during pregnancy and over 40% of children were prescribed antibiotics in their first 2 years of life (10). Similarly in Canada, an examination of the Quebec Pregnancy Registry found that 24.5% of mothers used antibiotics during pregnancy. Antenatally (during labour), approximately 15–40% of mothers are exposed to antibiotics for Group B *Streptococcus* prophylaxis (11).

In the infant and pediatric populations from high income setting, antibiotic prescription rates in acute care exceed 35%, many in the first 30 days of life (9), whereas antibiotic prescription rates exceed 45% in outpatient care (12). As such, close to half of all children will be exposed to antibiotics during critical windows of development. While antibiotics are an important anti-infective agent, their use over the past several decades has become wide spread, often being used as a prophylaxis to prevent infection (9). It was previously believed that antibiotic exposure posed minimal risk, however as a medical community, we have come to learn that exposure to antibiotics is a concern from a resistance perspective as well as the impact that antibiotics can have on commensal microbiota in the human body (13).

Early life antibiotic exposure and child health outcomes

Early life antibiotic exposure has been associated with poorer health outcomes for children and adults. A systematic review of 160 studies examining outcomes of over 22 million children found that children who were exposed to antibiotics early in life have significantly increased risks of developing atopy and allergy, obesity and overweight, and neurodevelopmental disorders such as autism and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (14). Additionally, it is likely that there is a dose response with increased antibiotic exposure yielding an increased risk in developing adverse health outcomes (10). It is well supported that many of these disorders may be related to the disruptions that antibiotics create in the infant microbiome during critical windows of child development.

The first 1,000 days of life, from conception to 2 years of age, is the critical period when the bacterial composition of the infant's gut microbiome helps to shape its developing immune system (15). A dysbiotic, or imbalanced, gut microbiome during critical windows of infant development in the first 1,000 days can have long-term negative consequences on child health outcomes such as metabolic diseases, asthma and allergy, and altered neurodevelopment (16). Ideally, the infant gut microbiome is established when the mother transmits microbes to their infant during vaginal delivery, followed by exclusive breastfeeding and no antibiotic treatment (15). However, more than half of full-term infants experience deviations from this cascade, including interventions such as c-section delivery (17), formula feeding (18, 19), and antibiotic exposure (7-9) which can adversely impact their developing microbiome (20).

Exposure to antibiotics in the perinatal and neonatal period significantly alters the developing infant gut microbiome, leading to a disrupted or dysbiotic state (21). Antibiotic use during pregnancy significantly disrupts the gut and vaginal microbiomes of mothers, reducing the α diversity of the bacteria that infants are exposed to when they are born vaginally, thereby impacting the initial colonization of the infant microbiome (22). Intrapartum antibiotic exposure, usually for Group B Streptococcus prophylaxis, is associated with a lower relative concentration of Bifidobacteriaceae, and increased relative abundance of Proteobacteria in the gut microbiome of exposed infants compared with those who are not exposed (21). Exposure to antibiotics during infancy significantly alters the composition of the microbiome in the developing gut, resulting in reduced levels of essential anaerobic bacteria like Bifidobacteria, Lactobacilli, and Bacteroides, as well as diminished populations of butyrate-producing families such as Bifidobacteriaceae, Bacteroidaceae, and Eubacteriaceae (23). Additionally, maternal use of antibiotics while breastfeeding significantly alters the breastmilk microbiome and the antibiotics can pass through the breastmilk to impact the infant's developing microbiome as well (23, 24).

Evidence consistently suggests that antibiotic exposure during pregnancy, breastfeeding and in the neonatal period, reduces colonization and abundance of important commensal bacteria such as *Bifidobacterium* (25). *Bifidobacteria* are important early colonizers of the gut because they are primary consumers of prebiotic oligosaccharides in human milk, they crowd out pathogenic bacteria, and their presence is associated with decreased risk of atopy and other childhood diseases (26).

Can breast milk and human milk feeding help to recover the infant gut microbiome?

After birth, breastfeeding is one of the most influential factors on the developing infant gut microbiome. Breastfed infants consistently demonstrate higher levels of *Bifidobacterium* compared to infants who receive formula (27, 28). Compared to exclusively formula fed infants, exclusively breastfed infants have lower α diversity which remains stable over the first 3 months of life and increases at 6 months (28). Conversely, formula fed infants demonstrate increased α diversity early in life, which is reflective of the gut microbiome in older children (28). Further, breastfed infants have increased levels of commensal bacteria such as *lactobacilli* and *enterococci*, and reduced levels of pathogenic bacteria such as *Clostridium perfringens*, *Klebsiella oxytoca*, and *Enterococcus faecalis* (6).

Human milk contains pro-, pre- and post-biotic substances that directly impact the developing infant microbiome. Raw human milk, fed directly from the breast contains live bacteria, or probiotics, consisting of more than 800 bacterial species, that can colonize the infant gut (29). An exclusively breastfed infant consumes 1×10^5 and 1×10^7 bacteria per day (30), making human milk the second most important source of colonization of the infant gut microbiome, following bacterial exposure via the birth canal (29). Processing of human milk, such as decanting, storage, refrigeration, freezing and pasteurization can drastically impact the viability of probiotics in human milk (31, 32). While direct breastfeeding confers the greatest levels of probiotic exposure, previously refrigerated and frozen milk also still demonstrates viable microbial activity (Figure 1). Pasteurized donor human milk (DHM) has minimal microbial activity (32), and while not sterile, is not considered a viable source of probiotics.

Human milk also contains pre-biotics in the form of human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs) which are the third most prevalent component in human milk (33). There are over 150 different HMO structures in human milk and only about 1% are absorbed into the circulation of the infant (34, 35). The remaining 99% are believed to be metabolised by gut microbes or excreted by the infant (34). The primary role of HMOs is to serve as a pre-biotic for commensal bacteria in the infant gut (35). While HMOs do not naturally occur in formula, 2'-FL (2'-Fucosylactose) and LNnT (Lacto-N-neotetraose) are approved to be added to infant formulas in the US and Canada (35). Processing of human milk does not significantly reduce the pre-biotic activity and pasteurized DHM has similar levels of HMOs compared to raw human milk and is an excellent source of pre-biotics (36) (Figure 1). Finally, human milk contains post-biotics, which are metabolites produced from microbial fermentation. Post-biotics in human milk consist of microbial cells, cell constituents and metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids (37). Presence of post-biotics may inhibit the growth of pathogens in the infant gut, enhance intestinal barrier function and mucosal immunity, and promote gene transcription (37). A consensus statement on the definition of post-biotics was only recently developed by the International Scientific Association of Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) in 2021 (38) and as such, rigorous research in this field is just emerging (37). However, it appears that processing of human milk has minimal impact on many post-biotic components and pasteurized DHM remains a good source (39).

Specific to antibiotic exposure, Dai et al. (40) found that any breastfeeding enriched *B. longum infantis* in the infant gut. This study determined that infants who were exposed to antibiotics and who were receiving any breastmilk at 3 months of age had a significantly reduced risk of developing asthma and that this relationship was mediated by *Bifidobacterium longum* Subspecies *infantis* (*Bifidobacterium infantis*) which is a bacterium that is dependent on human milk (40). They summarized that most species in the infant microbiome that were affected by antibiotics are responsive to breastfeeding and can be rescued to non-antibiotic levels in breastfed infants. This is one of the first studies to examine the reparative effects of breastfeeding on the microbiome of infants who are exposed to antibiotics. However, due to power limitations, they were not able to examine the effects of exclusive or direct breastfeeding on the infant microbiome.

Forms of breastfeeding - does it matter?

It is likely that the form of breastfeeding (exclusive breastfeeding compared to combo/mixed feeding or direct



breastfeeding compared to feeding expressed milk) may have varying impacts on the infant microbiome. Exclusive breastfeeding is defined as the infant only receiving breastmilk with no other fluids or complementary foods (1) and the WHO recommends exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life. Observational evidence indicates that exposure to small amounts of formula in the first days of life can significantly impact the composition of the microbiome at 3-months of age (18). Despite exclusive breastfeeding after leaving the hospital, infants who were fed formula in hospital had lower relative abundance of Bifidobacteriaceae in the gut microbiome at 3 months postpartum compared to infants who were exclusively breastfed throughout (18). Exclusive breastfeeding also appears to have a recovering effect on the microbiome of infants who are born via caesarean section. Liu et al. (41) found that infants born via caesarean section who were exclusively breastfed at 6 months of life had gut microbiomes that resembled infants who were born vaginally. This association was not observed for infants who received both formula and breastmilk. Unfortunately, Liu et al. (41) did not indicate if the infants who were exclusively breastfed at 6 months had ever received formula previously.

Duration of exclusive breastfeeding also appears to have an important impact on the developing infant gut microbiome. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated a pooled protective effect of longer duration of exclusive breastfeeding and reduced risk of developing asthma for children under 7 years of age (42). Infants who are exclusive breastfed for longer periods of time are 19% less likely to develop asthma compared to children who were exclusively breastfed for shorter periods of time. Further, comparing infants who were ever breastfed to never breastfed did not yield significant differences in asthma risk, indicating that exclusive breastfeeding, or lack of formula exposure is most impactful on infant health outcomes (42). This is an important distinction as it highlights the importance of breastfeeding exclusivity, but also the duration of exclusive breastfeeding as well. While research around exclusive breastfeeding is scant, plagued by poorly defined outcomes, and highly heterogenous, it is evident that a dose response for exclusivity and duration of exclusivity exists.

Mode of breastfeeding also appears to play an important role in infant health, likely mediated via the developing infant gut microbiome. Observational evidence from the CHILD study indicates that infants who are directly fed from the breast compared to infants who are fed their mother's expressed milk have significantly reduced risk of asthma diagnoses at 3 years of age (43). Further, milk from parents who express rather than directly breastfeed demonstrates lower bacterial richness and this richness also differs between milk that is pumped compared to milk that is manually expressed (44). It is likely that the varied richness of the milk microbiota directly informs the colonization of the infant gut, as up to 30% of the infant microbiome is derived from breastmilk intake (45). Despite mode of breastfeeding, it is important to note that both direct and expressed feeding of breastmilk confers a significant risk reduction of asthma diagnoses compared to formula feeding (43).

It is evident that gut microbiome signatures are heavily influenced by infant feeding type (28, 46) and breastfeeding can improve gut microbiota composition in infants who experience adverse early life exposures (47). It also appears that exclusive breastfeeding and direct breastfeeding may provide enhanced protection for infants who experience adverse early life disruptions to their microbiome such as antibiotic exposure. However, future research in child health needs to carefully measure exclusivity of breastfeeding, considering if there has been any previous formula exposure and how the breastmilk is being provided to the infant.

Clinical and research considerations

Promotion and protection of breastfeeding and exclusive human milk feeding is a public health intervention that is affordable and effective in improving child health outcomes on a global scale (2). However, there still exist some gaps in the evidence and many areas of healthcare lack evidence-based practice strategies to support breastfeeding families. Further, as evidence of breastfeeding benefits have started to accumulate over the past 20–30 years, public and health discourse around infant feeding has increasingly become very pro-breastfeeding and mothers are under intense social pressure to exclusively breastfeed their infants (48, 49). Yet, society provides minimal support or choice of supplementation when breastfeeding is not possible or does not go as planned.

Considerations for research

Breastfeeding and human milk intake has long been under reported and not accurately measured in child health research. Further, breastfeeding evidence is predominantly limited to observational studies exploring associations between breastfeeding and infant health outcomes, which have been critiqued for their risk of confounding (48). While the WHO and most healthcare agencies recommend exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life (1), rigorous evidence to support these guidelines is still lacking. Increasingly, we are observing the profound impact and protective effect that breastfeeding and human milk feeding has on infant development and child health outcomes (2). It is likely that this relationship is mediated by the role human milk has on the developing gut microbiome in infants (46). However, conclusive evidence about this relationship is lacking. Future research needs to include careful measurement of breastfeeding behaviors and human milk intake. Collecting data on exclusivity of breastfeeding, mode of breastfeeding, amount of supplementation, and type of supplementation will provide much stronger evidence around the relationship between infant feeding and infant health. In addition, prioritizing the relationship between infant feeding and the developing infant microbiome in research will help to provide a better understanding of the mechanism and dose response of human milk feeding on the developing infant microbiome.

Provider education

There have been many calls to action to further protect and promote breastfeeding. These have been relatively successful in increasing breastfeeding initiation rates to >90% in Canada (50), and to >85% in the United States (51). However, over 60% of mothers do not meet their breastfeeding goals (52) and exclusive breastfeeding rates fall well below the recommended guidelines (50, 51). The most common reasons for formula supplementation in the early days of life are related to medical indications, such as
hypoglycemia, weight loss, or jaundice; parental request or preference; and lactation management issues, such as poor latch or perceived insufficient milk supply (53). In addition, it is still common for healthcare providers to defer to formula without sufficient medical indication or providing adequate support to breastfeeding families (53, 54). Providing mandatory education for healthcare providers who work with families in the perinatal setting is an evidence-based strategy that helps to improve breastfeeding rates (2, 54, 55). Additionally, raising awareness among healthcare providers and families around the unethical marketing of breastmilk substitutes from formula companies may help to enhance critical thinking around unnecessary formula supplementation and increase capacity for informed decision making with infant feeding (56).

Supplementation options

Exclusive breastfeeding rates still lag far behind recommended guidelines (50, 51). It is estimated in Canada and the United States, 40-60% of full-term infants receive at least one bottle of formula supplementation in their first week of life (18, 19, 51). Not only does this disrupt the infant microbiome (18), but it also disrupts the establishment of breastfeeding and leads to lower breastfeeding exclusivity and duration rates (57, 58). Donor human milk (DHM) is likely a superior alternative to formula when supplementation is required because it allows infants who are supplemented to continue to be exclusively fed human milk. Through its various biotic properties, DHM minimizes perturbations to the gut microbiome in infants who experience adverse early-life exposures (59, 60). As such, there are likely profound differences in the impact of formula supplementation compared to DHM supplementation on the developing infant gut microbiome (36, 61). Additionally, evidence indicates that mothers who supplement with DHM compared to formula may be more likely to continue exclusively breastfeeding their infants at 6 months (62). However, there is minimal research on the impact of DHM as a supplementation option for the full-term population and on the full-term infant gut microbiome (63). While DHM is the accepted standard of practice for preterm infants when supplementation is indicated in clinical settings, little is known about DHM use in the full-term infant population. Research in this area is laden with opportunity to establish causal relationships between DHM supplementation (exclusive human milk feeding) compared to formula supplementation on the infant gut microbiome. Randomization of infants to receive DHM instead of formula is still an ethical practice because DHM supplementation is not standard practice in the full-term population. DHM is a viable and feasible alternative to formula supplementation that should be considered for full-term infants who experience early life perturbations to their microbiome.

Conclusion

The interplay between breastfeeding, early life antibiotic exposure, and infant gut microbiome development underscores the critical importance of promoting and protecting breastfeeding and human milk feeding for optimal child health outcomes. While lifesaving, unnecessary antibiotic exposure and overuse is a significant concern and may pose long-term risks to child health. Breastfeeding is associated with a myriad of benefits, including a healthier gut microbiome and reduced risks of infections and diseases and may help overcome some of the perturbations to the microbiome from antibiotic exposure. However, current breastfeeding rates lag behind WHO recommendations. Addressing these challenges requires a multi-faceted approach, including comprehensive research to elucidate the mechanisms underlying breastfeeding's protective effects and the impact of interventions like DHM supplementation. Additionally, healthcare providers must prioritize breastfeeding support and education to empower families in making informed decisions regarding infant feeding. By bridging research gaps, enhancing breastfeeding support mechanisms, and raising awareness about the advantages of exclusive breastfeeding and DHM supplementation, we can strive towards improving child health outcomes and fostering a healthier future generation. Ultimately, investing in breastfeeding promotion and support initiatives is a cost-effective public health intervention that deserves commitment and dedication from policymakers, healthcare providers, and society as a whole.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

MB: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author declares that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. MB holds a Canadian Institutes of Health Research – Canada Research Chair in Early Life Exposures and Child Health. MB is also funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council.

Conflict of interest

MB serves on the board of directors for the NorthernStar Mothers Milk Bank, for which she does not receive remuneration.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. World Health Organization. The Global strategy for infant and young child feeding. In: World Health Organization & United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). Geneva: World Health Organization (2002).

2. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, França GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. *Lancet*. (2016) 387:475–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7

3. Ballard O, Morrow AL. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. *Pediatr Clin N Am.* (2013) 60:49–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2012.10.002

4. Nyquist SK, Gao P, Haining TKJ, Retchin MR, Golan Y, Drake RS, et al. Cellular and transcriptional diversity over the course of human lactation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2022) 119:e2121720119. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2121720119

5. Carr LE, Virmani MD, Rosa F, Munblit D, Matazel KS, Elolimy AA, et al. Role of human milk boactives on ifants' gt and imune halth. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:604080. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.604080

6. Catassi G, Aloi M, Giorgio V, Gasbarrini A, Cammarota G, Ianiro G. The role of diet and nutritional interventions for the infant gut microbiome. *Nutrients.* (2024) 16:400. doi: 10.3390/nu16030400

7. Santos F, Oraichi D, Bérard A. Prevalence and predictors of anti-infective use during pregnancy. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2010) 19:418–27. doi: 10.1002/pds.1915

8. de Jonge L, Bos HJ, van Langen IM, LTW d J-v d B, Bakker MK. Antibiotics prescribed before, during and after pregnancy in the Netherlands: a drug utilization study. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2014) 23:60–8. doi: 10.1002/pds.3492

9. Hufnagel M, Versporten A, Bielicki J, Drapier N, Sharland M, Goossens H, et al. High rates of prescribing antimicrobials for prophylaxis in children and neonates: results from the antibiotic resistance and prescribing in European children point prevalence survey. *J Pediatr Infect Dis Soc.* (2019) 8:143–51. doi: 10.1093/jpids/piy019

10. Njotto LL, Simin J, Fornes R, Odsbu I, Mussche I, Callens S, et al. Maternal and early-life exposure to antibiotics and the risk of autism and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in childhood: a Swedish population-based cohort study. *Drug Saf.* (2023) 46:467–78. doi: 10.1007/s40264-023-01297-1

11. Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada. Pregnancy Info [Internet]. Available at: https://www.pregnancyinfo.ca/your-pregnancy/routine-tests/group-b-streptococcus-screening/ (2021).

12. Ruben B, Hannelore D, Nhung THT, Joseph F, Laure W, Stefan H, et al. Antibiotic use in ambulatory care for acutely ill children in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Dis Child.* (2022) 107:1088–94. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2022-324227

13. Patangia DV, Anthony Ryan C, Dempsey E, Paul Ross R, Stanton C. Impact of antibiotics on the human microbiome and consequences for host health. *Microbiologyopen*. (2022) 11:e1260. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.1260

14. Duong QA, Pittet LF, Curtis N, Zimmermann P. Antibiotic exposure and adverse long-term health outcomes in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Infect.* (2022) 85:213–300. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2022.01.005

15. Robertson R, Manges AR, Finlay B, Prendergast A. The human microbiome and child growth - first 1000 days and beyond. *Trends Microbiol.* (2019) 27:131–47. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2018.09.008

16. Tamburini S, Shen N, Wu HC, Clemente JC. The microbiome in early life: implications for health outcomes. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:713–22. doi: 10.1038/nm.4142

17. Betran AP, Ye J, Moller AB, Souza JP, Zhang J. Trends and projections of caesarean section rates: global and regional estimates. *BMJ Glob Health*. (2021) 6:e005671. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2021-005671

18. Forbes JD, Azad MB, Vehling L, Tun HM, Konya TB, Guttman DS, et al. Association of exposure to formula in the hospital and subsequent infant feeding practices with gut microbiota and risk of overweight in the first year of life. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2018) 172:e181161. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1161

19. Francis J, Mildon A, Stewart S, Underhill B, Ismail S, Di Ruggiero E, et al. Breastfeeding rates are high in a prenatal community support program targeting vulnerable women and offering enhanced postnatal lactation support: a prospective cohort study. *Int J Equity Health.* (2021) 20:71. doi: 10.1186/s12939-021-01386-6

20. Korpela K, de Vos WM. Infant gut microbiota restoration: state of the art. *Gut Microbes.* (2022) 14:2118811. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2022.2118811

21. Zimmermann P, Curtis N. Effect of intrapartum antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota of infants: a systematic review. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* (2020) 105:201–8. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2018-316659

22. DuPont HL, Salge MM. The importance of a healthy microbiome in pregnancy and infancy and microbiota treatment to reverse dysbiosis for improved health. *Antibiotics*. (2023) 12:1617. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics12111617

23. Morreale C, Giaroni C, Baj A, Folgori L, Barcellini L, Dhami A, et al. Effects of perinatal antibiotic exposure and neonatal gut microbiota. *Antibiotics*. (2023) 12:258. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics12020258

24. Zwittink RD, Renes IB, van Lingen RA, van Zoeren-Grobben D, Konstanti P, Norbruis OF, et al. Association between duration of intravenous antibiotic

administration and early-life microbiota development in late-preterm infants. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2018) 37:475-83. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3193-y

25. Princisval L, Rebelo F, Williams BL, Coimbra AC, Crovesy L, Ferreira AL, et al. Association between the mode of delivery and infant gut microbiota composition up to 6 months of age: a systematic literature review considering the role of breastfeeding. *Nutr Rev.* (2021) 80:113–27. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuab008

26. Stuivenberg GA, Burton JP, Bron PA, Reid G. Why are Bifidobacteria important for infants? *Microorganisms*. (2022) 10:278. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms10020278

27. Odiase E, Frank DN, Young BE, Robertson CE, Kofonow JM, Davis KN, et al. The gut microbiota differ in exclusively breastfed and formula-fed United States infants and are associated with growth status. *J Nutr.* (2023) 153:2612–21. doi: 10.1016/j. tjnut.2023.07.009

28. Ma J, Li Z, Zhang W, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Mei H, et al. Comparison of gut microbiota in exclusively breast-fed and formula-fed babies: a study of 91 term infants. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:15792. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-72635-x

29. Notarbartolo V, Giuffrè M, Montante C, Corsello G, Carta M. Composition of human breast milk microbiota and its role in children's health. *Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr.* (2022) 25:194–210. doi: 10.5223/pghn.2022.25.3.194

30. Selma-Royo M, Calvo Lerma J, Cortés-Macías E, Collado MC. Human milk microbiome: from actual knowledge to future perspective. *Semin Perinatol.* (2021) 45:151450. doi: 10.1016/j.semperi.2021.151450

31. Stinson LF, Trevenen ML, Geddes DT. Effect of cold storage on the viable and total bacterial populations in human milk. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1875. doi: 10.3390/ nu14091875

32. García-González I, Corona-Cervantes K, Hernández-Quiroz F, Villalobos-Flores LE, Galván-Rodríguez F, Romano MC, et al. The influence of holder pasteurization on the diversity of the human milk bacterial microbiota using high-throughput DNA sequencing. *J Hum Lact.* (2022) 38:118–30. doi: 10.1177/08903344211011946

33. Bode L. Human milk oligosaccharides: prebiotics and beyond. *Nutr Rev.* (2009) 67:S183–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00239.x

34. Bode L. The functional biology of human milk oligosaccharides. *Early Hum Dev.* (2015) 91:619–22. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.09.001

35. Corona L, Lussu A, Bosco A, Pintus R, Cesare Marincola F, Fanos V, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides: a comprehensive review towards metabolomics. *Children*. (2021) 8:804. doi: 10.3390/children8090804

36. Peila C, Moro GE, Bertino E, Cavallarin L, Giribaldi M, Giuliani F, et al. The effect of holder pasteurization on nutrients and biologically-active components in donor human milk: a review. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:477. doi: 10.3390/nu8080477

37. Wegh CAM, Geerlings SY, Knol J, Roeselers G, Belzer C. Postbiotics and their potential applications in early life nutrition and beyond. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:4673. doi: 10.3390/ijms20194673

38. Salminen S, Collado MC, Endo A, Hill C, Lebeer S, Quigley EMM, et al. The international scientific Association of Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) consensus statement on the definition and scope of postbiotics. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 18:649–67. doi: 10.1038/s41575-021-00440-6

39. Marousez L, Ichou F, Lesnik P, Tran LC, De Lamballerie M, Gottrand F, et al. Short-chain fatty acids levels in human milk are not affected by holder pasteurization and high hydrostatic pressure processing. *Front Pediatr.* (2023) 11:1120008. doi: 10.3389/ fped.2023.1120008

40. Dai DLY, Petersen C, Hoskinson C, Del Bel KL, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, et al. Breastfeeding enrichment of *B. longum* subsp. infantis mitigates the effect of antibiotics on the microbiota and childhood asthma risk. *Med.* (2022) 4:92–112. doi: 10.1016/j. medj.2022.12.002

41. Liu Y, Ma J, Zhu B, Liu F, Qin S, Lv N, et al. A health-promoting role of exclusive breastfeeding on infants through restoring delivery mode-induced gut microbiota perturbations. *Front Microbiol.* (2023) 14:1163269. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1163269

42. Xue M, Dehaas E, Chaudhary N, O'Byrne P, Satia I, Kurmi OP. Breastfeeding and risk of childhood asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *ERJ Open Res.* (2021) 7:00504–2021. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00504-2021

43. Klopp A, Vehling L, Becker AB, Subbarao P, Mandhane PJ, Turvey SE, et al. Modes of infant feeding and the risk of childhood asthma: a prospective birth cohort study. *J Pediatr.* (2017) 190:192–199.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.07.012

44. Moossavi S, Sepehri S, Robertson B, Bode L, Goruk S, Field CJ, et al. Composition and variation of the human milk microbiota are influenced by maternal and early-life factors. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2019) 25:324–35.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2019.01.011

45. Pannaraj PS, Li F, Cerini C, Bender JM, Yang S, Rollie A, et al. Association between breast Milk bacterial communities and establishment and development of the infant gut microbiome. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2017) 171:647–54. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0378

46. Ho NT, Li F, Lee-Sarwar KA, Tun HM, Brown BP, Pannaraj PS, et al. Meta-analysis of effects of exclusive breastfeeding on infant gut microbiota across populations. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:4169. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06473-x

47. Korpela K, Salonen A, Virta LJ, Kekkonen RA, de Vos WM. Association of earlylife antibiotic use and protective effects of breastfeeding: role of the intestinal microbiota. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2016) 170:750–7. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0585

48. Smyth D, Hyde A. Discourses and critiques of breastfeeding and their implications for midwives and health professionals. *Nurs Inq*. (2020) 27:e12339. doi: 10.1111/nin.12339

49. Jackson L, Fallon V, Harrold J, De Pascalis L. Maternal guilt and shame in the postpartum infant feeding context: a concept analysis. *Midwifery*. (2022) 105:103205. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2021.103205

50. Canada's Breastfeeding Dashboard. (2022). Available at: https://health-infobase. canada.ca/breastfeeding/

51. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Breastfeeding among U.S. children born 2013–2020, CDC national immunization survey-child 2021. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/data/nis_data/results.html

52. Odom EC, Li R, Scanlon KS, Perrine CG, Grummer-Strawn L. Reasons for earlier than desired cessation of breastfeeding. *Pediatrics*. (2013) 131:e726–32. doi: 10.1542/ peds.2012-1295

53. Bookhart LH, Anstey EH, Kramer MR, Perrine CG, Reis-Reilly H, Ramakrishnan U, et al. A nation-wide study on the common reasons for infant formula supplementation among healthy, term, breastfed infants in US hospitals. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2022) 18:e13294. doi: 10.1111/mcn.13294

54. Mulcahy H, Philpott LF, O'Driscoll M, Bradley R, Leahy-Warren P. Breastfeeding skills training for health care professionals: a systematic review. *Heliyon*. (2022) 8:e11747. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e11747

55. Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, et al. Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? *Lancet*. (2016) 387:491–504. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01044-2

56. Rollins N, Piwoz E, Baker P, Kingston G, Mabaso KM, McCoy D, et al. Marketing of commercial milk formula: a system to capture parents, communities, science, and policy. *Lancet.* (2023) 401:486–502. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01931-6

57. McCoy MB, Heggie P. In-hospital formula feeding and reastfeeding duration. *Pediatrics.* (2020) 146:e20192946. doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-2946

58. Chantry CJ, Dewey KG, Peerson JM, Wagner EA, Nommsen-Rivers LA. Inhospital formula use increases early breastfeeding cessation among first-time mothers intending to exclusively breastfeed. *J Pediatr.* (2014) 164:1339–45.e5. doi: 10.1016/j. jpeds.2013.12.035

59. Chong H-Y, Tan LT-H, Law JW-F, Hong K-W, Ratnasingam V, Ab Mutalib N-S, et al. Exploring the potential of human milk and formula milk on infants' gut and health. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:3554. doi: 10.3390/nu14173554

60. Ames SR, Lotoski LC, Azad MB. Comparing early life nutritional sources and human milk feeding practices: personalized and dynamic nutrition supports infant gut microbiome development and immune system maturation. *Gut Microbes.* (2023) 15:2190305. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2023.2190305

61. Yadav M, Kapoor A, Verma A, Ambatipudi K. Functional significance of different milk constituents in modulating the gut microbiome and infant health. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2022) 70:3929–47. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.2c00335

62. Merjaneh N, Williams P, Inman S, Schumacher M, Ciurte A, Smotherman C, et al. The impact on the exclusive breastfeeding rate at 6 months of life of introducing supplementary donor milk into the level 1 newborn nursery. *J Perinatol.* (2020) 40:1109–14. doi: 10.1038/s41372-020-0657-6

63. McCune S, Perrin MT. Donor human milk use in populations other than the preterm infant: a systematic scoping review. *Breastfeed Med.* (2021) 16:8–20. doi: 10.1089/bfm.2020.0286

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Remo Castro Russo, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Daniel P. Potaczek, University of Marburg, Germany Hontian Wang, Capital Medical University, China Jamille Souza Fernandes, Federal University of Western Bahia, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Abdullah Al Mamun 🖂 abdullah.mamun@ubc.ca

RECEIVED 27 June 2024 ACCEPTED 08 August 2024 PUBLISHED 27 August 2024

CITATION

Mamun A, Zou C, Lishman H, Stenlund S, Xie M, Chuang E and Patrick DM (2024) Association between antibiotic usage during infancy and asthma incidence among children: a population-level ecological study in British Columbia, Canada. Front. Allergy 5:1456077. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2024.1456077

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Al Mamun, Zou, Lishman, Stenlund, Xie, Chuang and Patrick. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Association between antibiotic usage during infancy and asthma incidence among children: a population-level ecological study in British Columbia, Canada

Abdullah Al Mamun^{1,2*}, Carl Zou², Hannah Lishman², Säde Stenlund^{1,2}, Max Xie², Erica Chuang² and David M. Patrick^{1,2}

¹School of Population and Public Health, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ²British Columbia Centre for Disease Control, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Background: This study follows published associations in BC to 2014 (updated in 2019) to model the predicted incidence of asthma in BC children attributable to antibiotic use within the context of reduced antibiotic use and increased breastfeeding in BC infants from 2000 to 2019.

Methods: A population-based ecological study was conducted in BC from 2000 to 2019, using outpatient antibiotic prescription data from BC PharmaNet and asthma diagnoses from the Chronic Disease Registry. Breastfeeding estimates were calculated using the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS). Population attributable risk (PAR) was calculated using a blended relative risk (RR) of asthma in antibiotic-exposed children who were and were not breastfed. PAR was used to calculate predicted vs. actual asthma incidence in 2019. Negative binomial regression was used to estimate the association between the average antibiotic prescription rate in infants under 1 and asthma incidence in 1–4 year olds, stratified by periods between 2000–2014 and 2015–2019.

Results: In BC, antibiotic prescribing decreased by 77% in infants under 1 and asthma incidence decreased by 41% in children 1–4 years from 2000 to 2019. BC breastfeeding rates increased from 46% in the 2005 CCHS to 71% in the 2017/18 CCHS. After calculating the PAR using a blended RR, the predicted asthma incidence in 2019 was 18.8/1,000 population. This was comparable to the observed asthma incidence in children 1–4 years of 16.6/1,000 population in 2019. During 2000–2014, adjusted incidence risk ratio (alRR) for children under Quintile 5 of average antibiotic prescribing was 1.75 (95% CI: 1.63–1.88, P < 0.0001) times higher than that for Quintile 1. However, between 2015 and 2019, this association weakened (as expected because of increasing prevalence of breastfeeding), with the expected asthma incidence for Quintile 5 only 11% (alRR 1.11, 95% CI: 0.78–1.57) higher than for Quintile 1.

Conclusion: We identified that over the past 20 years, antibiotic exposure in infants under 1 and asthma incidence in children 1–4 years has decreased significantly. Decreasing antibiotic exposure and increasing breastfeeding (which further mitigates risk associated with antibiotics) are of sufficient scale to explain much of this population trend. Changes in environmental, social and other exposures remain relevant to this complicated etiological pathway.

KEYWORDS

asthma, antibiotics, breastfeeding, incidence, Canada

Background/Introduction

A growing body of evidence shows an association between receiving antibiotics during infancy and developing asthma and other atopic diseases in childhood (1). One potential mechanism is disruption of the developing gut microbiota, and impairment of its role in training the developing immune system away from atopy (2). A reduction in gut microbial diversity and the absence of key bacterial taxa has been associated with an increased incidence of atopic disease with evidence continuing to accrue from longitudinal cohort studies (3). Given that antibiotics can significantly affect a child's developing microbiome (4), they have been investigated as potential contributors to childhood asthma (1). Alongside prospective birth cohort studies, population-level data have shown that a significant decline in childhood antibiotic use is associated with falling asthma incidence in some jurisdictions such as British Columbia (5). This may be relevant to the plateauing of asthma incidence trends in the UK and the US after a decade of rising trends (6-8) and to significant declines in childhood asthma diagnosis in England (9) and Germany (10) in recent years.

Although antibiotics are still among the most commonly used therapeutics for children, concerns about their adverse effects on health have shifted prescription trends in some countries (4). In the Nordic countries, for example, antibiotic prescriptions for children have decreased in the past decade driven by factors such as changed guidelines for otitis media treatment and the introduction of the pneumococcal vaccine (11). Survey data from 132 countries indicated an increase in the proportion of children receiving antibiotics from 36.8% to 43.1% between the years 2005 and 2017 (12). Of these countries, low-income countries showed the greatest relative increase but still showed the lowest rates (39.5%) in 2017. While the incidence of childhood and adult asthma have peaked in many high income jurisdictions, it is still on the rise in many middle and low-income countries (13). Furthermore, asthma incidence in children is still showing a rising trend in new global cohorts of children (14). Although hospital admissions and asthma rates have generally decreased since 2000 (15, 16), these changes are primarily due to shifts in population proportions (14, 17).

Influences on the ecology of the infant gut microbial environment are complex and antibiotics are not the only factor that may play a role in microbial diversity and subsequent atopic disease risk. Other factors associated with childhood asthma include maternal smoking, obesity, infections and antibiotic use during pregnancy, prematurity, caesarean delivery, air pollution, and respiratory infections (16), most of which influence the gut microbiome. A factor of particular interest, breastfeeding, has recently been shown to have protective effects against asthma in children exposed to antibiotics (18) and could mitigate antibiotic-mediated damage to the microbiota through enrichment of B. longum subsp. Infantis (19). In high income countries, the proportion of babies having exposure to breastmilk before 6 months has increased between 2000 and 2019. In low income countries, this rate has slightly decreased but exclusive breastfeeding rates have increased (20). Exposure to rich microbiological load in a farm environment has also been observed to decrease allergic outcomes and respiratory disease in children (21). Overall, the *hygiene hypothesis* states that societal changes in developed countries have led to reduced early-life microbial exposures, negatively impacting immunity and increasing the risk of atopic outcomes (2).

Our previous ecological study, conducted between 2000 and 2014 in BC, Canada, revealed an association between antibiotic use before the age of 1 and incidence of asthma diagnosis at 1–4 years old (5). The current study extends the analyses to 2019 at the Local Health Area (LHA) level in BC, aiming to explore if observed associations are the same in recent years and to model the simultaneous effects of changing rates of breastfeeding on asthma incidence.

Materials and methods

We conducted a population-based ecological study to examine the association between antibiotic use in the first year of life and asthma in children aged 1–4 years of age between 2000 and 2019. The ethics approval for this study was obtained from the University of British Columbia Clinical Research Ethics Board (H09-00650).

Population-level antibiotic prescribing and asthma incidence

We obtained anonymized antibiotic prescription data from BC PharmaNet; a database that captures information on all outpatient prescriptions dispensed by community pharmacies in the Canadian province of British Columbia (population 5.1 million), except for some drugs used for HIV and STI (22). We calculated the number of prescriptions by age group, year, sex, and local health area (LHA). We obtained population estimates for the 89 LHAs of British Columbia by age group (23). We calculated the mean percentage of children exposed to one or more courses of antibiotics during infancy, mean prescription rates, total number of prescriptions by year, and cumulative percent change in prescription rates over the study duration. We retrieved aggregate data on annual asthma incidence and prevalence from the British Columbia Ministry of Health Chronic Disease Dashboard using a standard case definition for asthma that integrates a combination of diagnostic codes and asthma-specific drug prescription data from BC PharmaNet (24, 25). Particulate matter metrics, indexed to postal codes, and material and social deprivation indices were provided by the Canadian Urban Environmental Health Research Consortium (sourced by the Atmospheric Composition Analysis Group at Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada) (26, 27).

Modeling expected fall in asthma incidence due to reduction in antibiotic use and changes in prevalence of breastfeeding using population attributable risk

To model the impact of decreasing exposure to antibiotics in children <1 year and increasing prevalence of breastfeeding on

asthma incidence in 1–4 year olds, we calculated the population attributable risk (PAR). PAR is the proportion of disease in a population that would not occur if a risk were removed. When relative risk for an exposure (RR_e) and the proportion exposed (P_e) are known, it is derived as follows:

$$PAR = Pe (RRe - 1) / [1 + Pe (RRe - 1)]$$

First, we modeled the expected asthma incidence rate (ages 1-4 years) in the BC population in 2019, given the observed reduction in Pe (proportion of the infant population <1year of age prescribed one or more courses of antibiotics) under various assumptions for the relative risk associated with antibiotic exposure. Because breastfeeding has been shown to reduce the RR associated with antibiotic exposure, we also modeled a blended relative risk which accounted for the prevalence of breastfeeding. To calculate the change in the proportion of mothers who partially breastfed their last child in BC, we used two different cycles from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS): 2005 and 2017/18 (28). Due to the unavailability of data, the breastfeeding rates for 2000 and 2019 were approximated using CCHS data from 2005 to 2018 respectively, which were the closest years for which data was available. The proportion of breastfeeding outcome from the 2017/ 18 cycle was determined by Chan et al. (29). The Public Use Microdata Files (PUMFs) were used from the CCHS Maternal Experiences (MEX) module to derive the breastfeeding outcome from the 2005 cycle, available from Statistics Canada through the Abacus Data Network (30). To calculate the proportion of mothers who exclusively or partially breastfed their last child for a duration of at least 6 months, the following equation was used (31): Total weighted number of women 15-55 years giving birth in past 5 years and who breastfed their child ≥6 months/Total weighted number of women 15–55 years giving birth in the past 5 years \times 100.

Dai et al. reported adjusted odds ratios of asthma incidence in children who were exposed to antibiotics with breastfeeding (adj. OR of asthma incidence = 1.31) and who were exposed to antibiotics without breastfeeding (adj. OR of asthma incidence = 3.53) in the first year of life (19). Using these estimates, we calculated the antibiotic exposure for each of the breastfeeding exposures considered in this study for calculating the PAR:

 $RR(abx) = Pe(BF) \times 1.31 + (1 - Pe(BF)) \times 3.53$

This formula is a weighted average of odds ratios for antibiotic exposure with and without breastfeeding, representing a blended relative risk (RR).

change in asthma incidence attributable to antibiotics

PAR(2000) × baseline incidence – PAR(2019)
× baseline incidence

predicted asthma incidence (2019)

= baseline incidence - change in asthma incidence attributable to antibiotics

Association between antibiotic exposure and asthma incidence using negative binomial modeling

To understand the association between antibiotic exposure in infancy and asthma in early childhood at a finer spatial scale and to account for geographical variability, we examined data segregated according to the 89 LHAs within British Columbia. Negative binomial models were used (as the equidispersion assumption was violated when exploring whether a Poisson regression model could be used). We built a multivariable negative binomial model to estimate the association between the rate of antibiotic prescribing at the LHA-level in infants <1 and asthma incidence at age 1-4 years. The primary independent variable was the antibiotic prescription rate quintile during the first year of life, calculated by categorizing prescription data into five equal-frequency groups based on distribution. The dependent variable was asthma incidence for children aged 1-4 years. Covariates were sex, material and social deprivation indices, and the mean concentration of fine particulate matter [<2.5 µm (PM2.5)] annually in each LHA. We incorporated the LHA as a random effect to account for unmeasured geographical variability. The data was merged from the British Columbia Ministry of Health Chronic Disease Dashboard, BC PharmaNet database, and population estimates data by year, LHA, and sex. Upon observing a changing pattern of antibiotic prescription rates over time, we stratified the data into older years (2000-2014, results of which are published) and recent years (2015-2019) to better capture the differences in the association between asthma incidence and antibiotic prescription quintiles in these periods. We fitted separate negative binomial models for each time period, enabling the analysis of the relationship between asthma incidence and antibiotic prescription quintiles within each timeframe. We performed statistical analysis using R software (version 3.5.2).

Results

At the population level in British Columbia, from 2000 to 2019, the annual incidence of asthma in children aged 1–4 years showed an absolute decrease of 11.6 new cases per 1,000 children, from 28.3 (27.4, 29.0) in 2000 to 16.6 (16.0, 17.2) per 1,000 children in 2019, a relative decrease of 41% (Figure 1). Between 2000 and 2014, there was an absolute decrease of 8.7 cases per 1,000 children, falling from 28.3 (95% CI 27.5–29.1) cases in 2000 to 19.5 (95% CI 18.9–20.2) cases in 2014, a relative decrease of 31%. However, after 2014, the rate of decrease in asthma incidence in children appears to be stabilising.

In 2000, for children 1–4 years of age, the corresponding 4-year mean annual antibiotic prescription for infants (aged <1 year) was 1,183.7 per 1,000 infants. This rate decreased to 276.74 in 2019, an absolute decrease of 906.96 per 1,000 infants and a relative decrease of 77% (Figure 1). The average proportion of infants exposed to one or more courses of antibiotics before the age of 1 year



decreased by 46%, from 66% in 2000 to 20% in 2019 (Figure 2), representing a cumulative relative decrease in annual antibiotic prescription rate of 76% (Figure 3). The average proportion of infants exposed to one or more courses of antibiotics before the age of 1 year decreased from 30% in 2014 to 20% in 2019 (Figure 2). While we observed a decrease in asthma incidence during the study period, we also observed a decrease in asthma prevalence during the same period (Supplementary Figure 1). However, similar to the incidence of asthma, the prevalence of asthma has also stabilised during the most recent years of the study. Asthma incidence in children (1-4 years of age) and antibiotic use in the first year of life were strongly correlated (Spearman's r = 0.9489, p < 0.001). Amoxicillin was the most frequently prescribed antibiotic for infants across all years of the study, making up 6,916 (68.5%) of 10,096 antibiotic prescriptions in 2019 (Supplementary Table 1).

Predicting asthma incidence with various levels of exposure to antibiotics and breastfeeding

Following the population attributable risk calculation and using a range of hypothetical relative risk scores, we modelled expected asthma incidence after observing the decrease in antibiotic exposure. With the reduction in antibiotic exposure and a relative risk (RR) of asthma of 2, we would predict an annual asthma incidence decrease between 2000 and 2019 from 28.3 per 1,000 children to 22.3 per 1,000 children. With a relative risk of asthma to be 3, we would predict an annual asthma incidence decrease between 2000 and 2019 from 28.3 per 1,000 children to 21.0 per 1,000 children. However, the actual observed asthma incidence in this study decreased to 16.6 per 1,000 children in 2019 (Figure 1).

In our final model to predict asthma incidence with the antibiotic exposure reduction, we included the modelled changes in breastmilk exposure. Using the equation outlined in the methods, the proportion of BC mothers who exclusively or partially breastfed their child for a duration of at least 6 months in the 2005 CCHS cycle was $386/831 \times 100 = 46\%$. And in the 2017/18 cycle of the CCHS, Chan et al. calculated 70.7% of respondents in BC reported breastfeeding their child born in the last 5 years (either exclusively or partially) for 6 months or more (29). We calculated the relative risk of asthma incidence associated with antibiotic exposure and the corresponding breastfeeding exposure using the method as described in the methods section. For breastfeeding exposure of 46% in 2005 (as a proxy for exposure in 2000) and the antibiotic exposure observed in 2000, the blended relative risk of asthma incidence was calculated as 2.53 (Table 1). For breastfeeding exposure of 71% in 2018 (as a proxy for exposure in 2019) and the antibiotic exposure observed in 2019, the blended relative risk of asthma incidence was calculated as 1.98. Using a decreased relative risk of asthma incidence from 2.53 in 2000 to 1.98 in 2019 and an increase in breastfeeding exposure from 0.46 in 2005 to 0.71 in 2018, we predicted the annual asthma incidence to decrease from 28.3 per 1,000 children in 2000 to 18.8 per 1,000 children in 2019. The above predicted annual asthma incidence was very close to the observed annual asthma incidence (16.6 per 1,000 children in 2019) when incorporating changes in both antibiotic and breastmilk exposures (Figure 1).

Association between antibiotic exposure and asthma incidence

Over the study period both the minimum and maximum average annual prescription rate per 1,000 children per year decreased, mostly observed during the latter years (Table 2). Using the negative binomial model, we calculated adjusted incidence rate ratios (aIRRs) predicting asthma incidence and observed a significant association between the quintiles of average annual antibiotic prescription rate and asthma incidence for the period from 2000 to 2014. Expected incidence of asthma for children under Quintile 5 (antibiotic prescription range 1,072.01-3,982.04 per 1,000 infants) was estimated to be 75% (aIRR 1.75, 95% CI: 1.63-1.88, P < 0.0001) higher than that for Quintile 1 (antibiotic prescription range 30.97-331.67 per 1,000 infants) (Figure 4). We observed a dose-response relationship when looking at asthma risk for the children under other Quintiles of prescribing compared to Quintile 1. However, during the period of 2015-2019, this association appeared to be weakened, with the expected asthma incidence for Quintile 5





Cumulative relative percent change in 4-year average antibiotic prescription rate (<1 year of age) and asthma incidence (1-4 year of age) in BC children, 2000-2019.

TABLE 1 Counterfactual model to demonstrate the effect of adding breastfeeding to the PAR model.

Scenario	P(antibiotics)	P(breastfed)	Blended RR	Asthma incidence
2000 baseline (observed)	66%	46%	2.53	28.3/1,000 pop
2019 counterfactual model	20%	46%	2.53	22.2/1,000 pop
2019 model (observed)	20%	71%	1.98	18.8/1,000 pop

TABLE 2 Four-year average prescription rate ranges of infants (<1 year) in BC, 2000–2019.

Year	Min	Max
2000	387.9	3,817.3
2001	327.5	3,696.2
2002	280.0	3,914.9
2003	187.3	3,982.0
2004	143.2	3,931.6
2005	161.7	3,790.1
2006	148.3	3,552.2
2007	128.3	3,184.0
2008	172.1	3,061.5
2009	154.2	2,864.2
2010	185.5	2,678.0
2011	135.7	2,833.9
2012	102.4	2,565.1
2013	130.4	2,646.6
2014	140.5	2,901.7
2015	111.5	2,881.1
2016	135.7	2,822.7
2017	115.9	2,240.8
2018	86.5	1,840.0
2019	31.0	1,781.3

only 11% (aIRR 1.11, 95% CI: 0.78-1.57) higher than for Quintile 1 (Figure 5), and this difference was not statistically significant. Moreover, we didn't observe a dose-response relationship for asthma risk as observed for the duration of 2000-2014. We initially hypothesized that the observed weakening association between antibiotic prescription rates and asthma incidence in recent years (2015-2019) might be attributed to a reduction in the highest rates of antibiotic prescriptions, particularly within Quintile 5. To test this hypothesis, we performed additional analyses controlling for extreme antibiotic prescription rates. Even after excluding prescription rates above a threshold of 2,881 per 1,000 infants (which represents the maximum prescription rate in the recent years, 2015-2019) (Table 2), the association between antibiotic prescription rates and asthma incidence in the older years (2000-2014) remained stronger than in the recent years (Data not shown). We found that boys had more than 50% higher risk of asthma in both time periods of this study (Figures 4, 5).

Discussion

In our population-based study of 5.1 million people in British Columbia, we noticed a 41% decrease in asthma incidence between 2000 and 2019 in children 1–4 years of age, which correlated with a 77% decrease in the corresponding antibiotic prescription rate in the first year of life. The observed time gap between the decrease in antibiotic exposure and decrease in asthma incidence is likely reflecting the 4 years required to gather data on a full cohort of children 1–4 years of age. Patrick et al. reported a 26% decrease in asthma incidence between 2000 and 2014 in a similar study in BC, Canada (5). Our study extended the study period and explored if the previously observed decline in asthma incidence in BC is consistent during the recent years (2015–2019). We observed that asthma incidence has stabilised between 2015 and 2019 with the exposure to one or more courses of antibiotics before the age of 1 year having decreased from 30% in 2014 to 20% in 2019. We also found a similar trend when looking at the asthma prevalence in BC for the same duration. However, there was a strong correlation between asthma incidence in children aged 1–4 years and antibiotic exposure during the first year of life.

In addition to a decrease in antibiotic exposure, other factors such as reductions in air pollution and an increase in breastfeeding exposure are likely to have contributed to the observed associations (5, 32). In this study, we modelled the expected incidence of asthma with a range of relative risk estimates. This method assumed the decrease in antibiotic exposure in infancy and increase in breastfeeding exposure were major independent predictors of asthma incidence at the population level. We couldn't explain most of the observed decrease in asthma incidence in this study, when the model included antibiotic exposure only. However, when modelled using both the observed decrease in antibiotic exposure and available data on breastfeeding exposure, we predicted the asthma incidence of 18.8 per 1,000 children in 2019, which is very close to the observed rate (16.6 per 1,000 children in 2019). Therefore, higher rates of breastfeeding in BC in recent years is likely another contributing factor to why the true asthma incidence rate was lower than the predicted asthma incidence when only antibiotic prescribing was considered. We used partial breastfeeding exposure without accounting for breastfeeding duration. Previously, Patrick et al. reported no significant association between breastfeeding duration and asthma risk. However, authors hypothesized that breastfeeding could act as a effect modulator and may regulate the gut during antibiotic disruption, restoring bacterial diversity and largely mitigating the risk of asthma (5). Moreover, Dai et al. reported clear protection from the risk of developing asthma when children are breastfed while exposed to antibiotics (19).

In our study, we calculated an aIRR predicting asthma incidence, and observed a significant association between the quintiles of average annual antibiotic prescription rate in the first year of life and asthma incidence in children 1–4 years of age. However, when the aIRRs was calculated for 2000–2014 and 2015–2019 separately, we observed that the aIRR is weaker





compared to that during 2000–2014. A lower relative risk associated with antibiotics is what we would predict in a population with more exposure to breast feeding. This finding along with the modelled expected asthma incidence may suggest that decreases in antibiotic exposure may not be the only major factor in decreasing asthma risk and that there are other factors

playing a role in reducing asthma risk, such as breastfeeding. Dai et al. reported that compared with children with no antibiotic exposure in the first year of life, antibiotic-exposed children who were not breastfed had 3-fold higher odds of developing asthma, whereas there was no such association in antibiotic-exposed children who were breastfed (19).

Limitations

This ecological study has several limitations. Due to unavailability, we were not able to use the breastfeeding exposure data for the same year as for the antibiotic exposure and the breastfeeding data that we used for predicting the asthma incidence was based on the Canadian Community Health Survey which has its own limitations. The actual breastfeeding exposure might be different during the years for which antibiotic exposures were included in the model of expected asthma risk. Moreover, we couldn't analyze the effect of various forms of breastfeeding such as exclusive or partial breastfeeding or pumped breast milk. We couldn't analyze the effect of individual antibiotic classes on asthma risk and our data didn't allow us to account for indications given for antibiotic use. For the asthma diagnoses, we relied on the BC chronic disease registry database which rely on clinical diagnostic codes which may lead to some misclassification. This study was designed to address some of the gaps identified in our previous ecological study and to observe if the previous finding is still consistent with the more recent years of data. However, there are many details or gaps which are not possible to address through the ecological analysis. Patient-level factors that were outlined in the introduction cannot be adjusted for using this design, of particular importance being the indication for antibiotic prescribing, and therefore inferences cannot be drawn at the patient-level. In recognition of this limitation, and to build upon this work, we have designed a population-based cohort study comprising all infants born in BC between 2001 and 2011, following up to age 7, with the aim of evaluating the effect of reducing antibiotic use on asthma, allergic rhinitis and atopic dermatitis (33). This will provide an opportunity to account for variations at the individual-level and offer insights into subpopulations receiving antibiotics for different indications to thoroughly investigate and adjust for potential confounding by indication. It will also allow for an investigation into whether different types of antibiotics confer differential risk of atopic outcomes.

Conclusion

We identified that over the past 20 years antibiotic exposure in infancy has decreased significantly in BC, as has asthma incidence in children 1–4 years of age, with asthma incidence stabilising in more recent years. Asthma risk might not be explained by only antibiotic exposure. Air pollution and other social and economic factors as well as breastfeeding during early childhood are important factors to account for when analysing asthma risk in children.

Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses restrictions: access to data provided by the Data Stewards is subject to approval but can be requested for research projects through the Data Stewards or their designated service providers. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to https://healthdataplatformbc.ca. The following data sets were used in this study: Chronic Disease Registry and Pharmanet. All

inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn in this publication are those of the author(s), and do not reflect the opinions or policies of the Data Steward(s). The following BC Ministry of Health datasets were used in this study: Chronic Disease Registry and Pharmanet. All inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn in this publication are those of the author(s), and do not reflect the opinions or policies of the Data Steward(s).

Ethics statement

The study was approved by the UBC Clinical Research Ethics Board (H09-00650). The study was conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

AM: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. CZ: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing original draft, Writing - review & editing. HL: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. SS: Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing review & editing. MX: Data curation, Software, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Formal Analysis. EC: Data curation, Software, Visualization, Writing original draft, Writing - review & editing, Formal Analysis. DP: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The population level analyses were made possible by funding (funding letters 1224499 and 1253861) from the British Columbia Ministry of Health - Clinical Services & Evaluation - Pharmaceutical, Laboratory and Blood Services Division (Victoria, BC, Canada).

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge Dr. Fawziah Marra for her input on the DINPIN list to define antibiotic utilization. Access to data provided by the Data Stewards is subject to approval but can be requested for research projects through the Data Stewards or their designated service providers. The following data sets were used in this study: Chronic Disease Registry, Pharmanet, BC Stats Population Estimates and CANUE. All inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn in this publication are those of the author(s), and do not reflect the opinions or policies of the Data Steward(s). PM2.5 metrics, indexed to DMTI Spatial Inc. postal codes, were provided by CANUE (Canadian Urban Environmental Health Research Consortium). The population level analyses were made possible by funding from the British Columbia Ministry of Health, Pharmaceutical Services Division (Victoria, BC, Canada).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Duong QA, Pittet LF, Curtis N, Zimmermann P. Antibiotic exposure and adverse long-term health outcomes in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Infect.* (2022) 85(3):213–300. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2022.01.005

2. Donald K, Finlay BB. Early-life interactions between the microbiota and immune system: impact on immune system development and atopic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2023) 23(11):735–48. doi: 10.1038/s41577-023-00874-w

3. Alcazar CGM, Paes VM, Shao Y, Oesser C, Miltz A, Lawley TD, et al. The association between early-life gut microbiota and childhood respiratory diseases: a systematic review. *The Lancet Microbe.* (2022) 3(11):e867–80. doi: 10.1016/S2666-5247(22)00184-7

4. Shekhar S, Petersen FC. The dark side of antibiotics: adverse effects on the infant immune defense against infection. *Front Pediatr.* (2020) 8:544460. doi: 10.3389/fped. 2020.544460

 Patrick DM, Sbihi H, Dai DLY, Al Mamun A, Rasali D, Rose C, et al. Decreasing antibiotic use, the gut microbiota, and asthma incidence in children: evidence from population-based and prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8 (11):1094–105. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30052-7

6. Saatchi A, Morris AM, Patrick DM, Mccormack J, Reyes RC, Morehouse P, et al. Outpatient antibiotic use in British Columbia, Canada: reviewing major trends since 2000. *JAC Antimicrobial Resist.* (2021) 3(3):1–9. doi: 10.1093/jacamr/dlab116

7. Anderson HR, Gupta R, Strachan DP, Limb ES. 50 years of asthma: UK trends from 1955 to 2004. *Thorax.* (2007) 62(1):85–90. doi: 10.1136/thx.2006.066407

8. Akinbami LJ, Simon AE, Rossen LM. Changing trends in asthma prevalence among children. *Pediatrics.* (2016) 137(1):1-7. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-2354

9. Kallis C, Maslova E, Morgan AD, Sinha I, Roberts G, van der Valk RJP, et al. Recent trends in asthma diagnosis, preschool wheeze diagnosis and asthma exacerbations in English children and adolescents: a SABINA Jr study. *Thorax.* (2023) 78(12):1175–80. doi: 10.1136/thorax-2022-219757

10. Kohring C, Akmatov MK, Dammertz L, Heuer J, Bätzing J, Holstiege J. Trends in incidence of atopic disorders in children and adolescents—analysis of German claims data. *World Allergy Organ J.* (2023) 16(7):100797. doi: 10.1016/j.waojou. 2023.100797

11. Skajaa N, Gehrt L, Nieminen H, Laake I, Englund H, Sönksen UW, et al. Trends in antibiotic use in Danish, Finnish, Norwegian and Swedish children. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2022) 14:937–47. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S362262

12. Allwell-Brown G, Hussain-Alkhateeb L, Kitutu FE, Strömdahl S, Mårtensson A, Johansson EW. Trends in reported antibiotic use among children under 5 years of age with fever, diarrhoea, or cough with fast or difficult breathing across low-income and middle-income countries in 2005–17: a systematic analysis of 132 national surveys from 73 countries. *Lancet Glob Heal.* (2020) 8(6):e799–807. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30079-6

13. Dharmage SC, Perret JL, Custovic A. Epidemiology of asthma in children and adults. *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:246. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00246

14. Russo D, Lizzi M, Di Filippo P, Di Pillo S, Chiarelli F, Attanasi M. Time-specific factors influencing the development of asthma in children. *Biomedicines*. (2022) 10 (4):758. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10040758

15. Global Asthma Network. The global asthma report 2022. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. (2022) 26(Supp 1):1–104. doi: 10.5588/ijtld.22.1010

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/falgy.2024. 1456077/full#supplementary-material

16. Cao Y, Chen S, Chen X, Zou W, Liu Z, Wu Y, et al. Global trends in the incidence and mortality of asthma from 1990 to 2019: an age-period-cohort analysis using the global burden of disease study 2019. *Front Public Heal*. (2022) 10:1036674. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1036674

17. Abbafati C, Machado DB, Cislaghi B, Salman OM, Karanikolos M, McKee M, et al. Global age-sex-specific fertility, mortality, healthy life expectancy (HALE), and population estimates in 204 countries and territories, 1950–2019: a comprehensive demographic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396(10258):1160–203. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30977-6

18. Xue M, Dehaas E, Chaudhary N, O'Byrne P, Satia I, Kurmi OP. Breastfeeding and risk of childhood asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *ERJ Open Res.* (2021) 7(4):00504–2021. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00504-2021

19. Dai DLY, Petersen C, Hoskinson C, Del Bel KL, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, et al. Breastfeeding enrichment of B. longum subsp. infantis mitigates the effect of antibiotics on the microbiota and childhood asthma risk. *Med.* (2023) 4 (2):92–112.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2022.12.002

20. Neves PAR, Vaz JS, Maia FS, Baker P, Gatica-Domínguez G, Piwoz E, et al. Rates and time trends in the consumption of breastmilk, formula, and animal milk by children younger than 2 years from 2000 to 2019: analysis of 113 countries. *Lancet Child Adolesc Heal.* (2021) 5(9):619–30. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(21)00163-2

21. Ludka-Gaulke T, Ghera P, Waring SC, Keifer M, Seroogy C, Gern JE, et al. Farm exposure in early childhood is associated with a lower risk of severe respiratory illnesses. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 141(1):454–6.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.07.032

22. BC Ministry of Health [creator]. (2019): Pharmanet. BC Ministry of Health [publisher]. Data Extract. Victoria, BC: MOH (2019). Available online at: https:// www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/conducting-health-research-evaluation/data-access-health-data-central

23. BC Stats. *Population Estimates, Province of British Columbia*. Victoria, BC: BC Stats, Province of British Columbia (2023). Available online at: www2.gov.bc.ca/ gov/content/data/statistics/people-population-community/population/population-estimates

24. Chronic Disease Information Working Group. BC Chronic Disease and Selected Procedure Case Definitions. Victoria, BC: British Columbia Ministry of Health (2018).

25. Public Health Agency of Canada. *Report from the Canadian chronic disease surveillance system: asthma and COPD in Canada* (2018). Available online at: https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/asthma-chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-canada-2018.html

26. van Donkelaar A, Hammer MS, Bindle L, Brauer M, Brook JR, Garay MJ, et al. Monthly global estimates of fine particulate matter and their uncertainty. *Environ Sci Technol.* (2021) 55(22):15287–300. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.1c05309

27. CanMap Postal Code Suite (various years). Computer Files. Markham, ON: DMTI Spatial Inc. (2023).

28. Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey—Annual Component (CCHS). Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada (2022). Available online at: https://www23. statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=3226 (Accessed March 31, 2023).

29. Chan K, Labonté JM, Francis J, Zora H, Sawchuk S, Whitfield KC. Breastfeeding in Canada: predictors of initiation, exclusivity, and continuation from the 2017–2018 Canadian community health survey. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* (2023) 48(3):256–69. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2022-0333

30. Statistics Canada. *Access to Microdata*. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada (2022). Available online at: https://abacus.library.ubc.ca/dataset.xhtml?persistentId=hdl:11272.1/AB2/GBVY6V (Accessed March 31, 2023).

31. Association of Public Health Epidemiologists of Ontario. *Core Indicators: Breastfeeding Initiation and Duration*. Ottawa, ON: Association of Public Health Epidemiologists of Ontario (2004). Available online at: http://core.apheo.ca/index. php?pid=152

32. Erickson AC, Christidis T, Pappin A, Brook JR, Crouse DL, Hystad P, et al. Disease assimilation: the mortality impacts of fine particulate matter on immigrants to Canada. *Health Rep.* (2020) 31(3):14–26. doi: 10.25318/82-003-x202000300002-eng

33. Lishman H, Nickel NC, Sbihi H, Xie M, Mamun A, Zhang BY, et al. Investigating the effect of early life antibiotic use on asthma and allergy risk in over 600 000 Canadian children: a protocol for a retrospective cohort study in British Columbia and Manitoba. *BMJ Open.* (2023) 13(4):e067271. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-067271

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Lisa A. Miller, University of California, Davis, United States

REVIEWED BY Priya Katari, Weill Cornell Medical Center, United States

José J. Leija-Martínez, Autonomous University of San Luis Potosí, Mexico

*CORRESPONDENCE Petra Zimmermann petra.zimmermann@unifr.ch

RECEIVED 03 July 2024 ACCEPTED 06 September 2024 PUBLISHED 07 October 2024

CITATION

Wurm J, Curtis N and Zimmermann P (2024) The effect of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota in children - a systematic review. Front. Allergy 5:1458688. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2024.1458688

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Wurm, Curtis and Zimmermann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The effect of antibiotics on the intestinal microbiota in children - a systematic review

Juliane Wurm^{1,2}, Nigel Curtis^{3,4,5} and Petra Zimmermann^{1,3,4,6}*

¹Department of Paediatrics, Fribourg Hospital, Fribourg, Switzerland, ²Department of Health Science and Medicine, University Lucerne, Lucerne, Switzerland, ³Department of Paediatrics, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁴Infectious Diseases Research Group, Murdoch Children's Research Institute, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁵Infectious Diseases Unit, The Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁶Department for Community Health, Faculty of Science and Medicine, University of Fribourg, Fribourg, Switzerland

Background: Children are the age group with the highest exposure to antibiotics (ABX). ABX treatment changes the composition of the intestinal microbiota. The first few years of life are crucial for the establishment of a healthy microbiota and consequently, disturbance of the microbiota during this critical period may have far-reaching consequences. In this review, we summarise studies that have investigated the effect of ABX on the composition of the intestinal microbiota in children.

Methods: According to the PRISMA guidelines, a systematic search was done using MEDLINE and Embase to identify original studies that have investigated the effect of systemic ABX on the composition of the intestinal microbiota in children. Results: We identified 89 studies investigating a total of 9,712 children (including 4,574 controls) and 14,845 samples. All ABX investigated resulted in a reduction in alpha diversity, either when comparing samples before and after ABX or children with ABX and controls. Following treatment with penicillins, the decrease in alpha diversity persisted for up to 6-12 months and with macrolides, up to the latest follow-up at 12-24 months. After ABX in the neonatal period, a decrease in alpha diversity was still found at 36 months. Treatment with penicillins, penicillins plus gentamicin, cephalosporins, carbapenems, macrolides, and aminoglycosides, but not trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole, was associated with decreased abundances of beneficial bacteria including Actinobacteria, Bifidobacteriales, Bifidobacteriaceae, and/or Bifidobacterium, and Lactobacillus. The direction of change in the abundance of Enterobacteriaceae varied with ABX classes, but an increase in Enterobacteriaceae other than Escherichia coli was frequently observed.

Conclusion: ABX have profound effects on the intestinal microbiota of children, with notable differences between ABX classes. Macrolides have the most substantial impact while trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole has the least pronounced effect.

KEYWORDS

microbiome, stool, intestine, sequencing, 16S rRNA, penicillin, cephalosporin, macrolide

Introduction

Children are the age group with the highest exposure to antibiotics (ABX). ABX are the second most prescribed drugs for children, surpassed only by analgesics (1–5). More than two-thirds of children receive ABX before reaching the age of two years (6) with exposure to an average of almost three ABX in the first year of life (7). Approximately one third of

hospitalised children (8) and nearly half of acutely ill children in outpatient settings receive ABX (9), often with inappropriate indications or drugs (10). While the widespread use of ABX has significantly reduced childhood morbidity and mortality during the last century (11), exposure to ABX is also associated with adverse long-term health effects. These include an increased risk for atopic dermatitis, allergies, wheezing and asthma, obesity, arthritis idiopathic disorder, psoriasis, and neurodevelopmental disorders (12). These adverse effects likely result from changes in the microbiota, particularly the intestinal microbiota, which undergoes significant development during the first two to three years of life (13-15). Children are highly susceptible to ABX-induced dysbiosis (an imbalance in the microbiota), whereas adults typically have a more stable and resilient microbiota that recovers more easily from such disturbances (16). The first years of life are critical for the development and stabilisation of the intestinal microbiota, coinciding with key milestones in the development of the immune system, metabolism and neurodevelopment (17-19). Consequently, any disturbances of the microbiota during this critical period may have long-lasting and far-reaching consequences.

In this review, we systematically summarise studies that have investigated the effect of ABX on the composition of the intestinal microbiota in children of all age groups.

Methods

In May 2024, MEDLINE (1946 to present) and Embase (1972 to present) were searched. Embase was searched using the OVID interface. The detailed search terms can be found in the supplementary data. No geographical limitations were used. References of retrieved articles were searched for additional publications.

Original studies which investigated effect of ABX on the composition of the bacterial intestinal microbiota in children less than 18 years of age were included, as well as studies involving mixed-age populations that provided separate data specifically for this age group. Exclusion criteria were studies which (i) included children with underlying diseases (e.g., oncological diseases, cystic fibrosis) and (ii) studies not published in English, German, French, Spanish, Portuguese or Italian.

The following variables were extracted from included studies: year of publication, country, study design, number and characteristics of included children, number of samples, ABX treatment (drug, dose, frequency, route of administration, duration), previous ABX, microbiota analysis method, timing of stool analysis and key findings (including changes in diversity, abundance of microbes, antibiotic resistance genes, ARGs).

Studies were identified, selected, appraised, and synthesised following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines for systematic reviews (20, 21). The level of evidence of each study was classified according to the 2011 Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine (OCEBM) Levels of Evidence (22). Risk of bias was assessed using the 2017 Joanna Briggs Institution (JBI) standardised critical appraisal checklist for case-control and cohort studies (23).

Results

The search identified 6,146 and 11,470 studies in MEDLINE and Embase, respectively. From the 17,616 studies, 2,183 duplicates were removed. 89 studies met the inclusion criteria (24–112). No additional relevant studies were found through citation searching. The selection of included studies is summarized in Figure 1.

The 89 studies investigated a total of 9,712 children (of these 4,574 were controls; mean 111 children per study, range 9 to 1,023) and 14,845 samples (mean 322 samples per study, range 20 to 1,247). Of the included studies, 47 were done in Europe (Denmark, Netherlands, Finland, Spain, France, Italy, Germany, Ireland, Estonia, United Kingdom, Sweden, Norway, Austria) (24, 26, 28, 29, 31, 32, 34, 35, 37-39, 43, 45, 48-52, 60, 61, 63, 64, 66, 67, 70, 71, 74, 75, 81-83, 88, 92, 93, 95, 98, 101, 102, 104-112), 21 on the American continent (USA, Chile, Canada) (25, 30, 41, 42, 44, 54-56, 58, 59, 69, 73, 76, 78, 84-86, 94, 96, 97, 99), 13 in Asia (China, India, Japan, Korea, Taiwan, Lebanon) (27, 40, 53, 57, 65, 68, 72, 77, 80, 87, 90, 91, 100), seven in Africa (Niger, Burkina Faso, Zimbabwe, South Africa) (36, 46, 47, 62, 79, 89, 103) and one in Australia (33). The age of participants ranged from preterm birth to 15 years. Of the included studies, 75 were observational studies, including 60 cohort studies (24, 25, 27, 28, 30-35, 37-42, 44, 45, 48-58, 61, 64-68, 70, 71, 73, 74, 76-78, 84, 87-92, 94, 97-102, 109-112), 12 cross-sectional studies (26, 29, 43, 72, 75, 82, 85, 93, 95, 99, 108, 113), three pre-post-intervention studies (35, 60, 96); and 13 (cluster) randomised controlled trials (36, 46, 47, 59, 62, 63, 69, 79-81, 83, 86, 103). In total, 42 studies used 16S rRNA gene sequencing (25-28, 40-46, 48, 51, 52, 55, 57, 58, 62, 64, 66, 68, 69, 71-73, 76, 77, 79, 80, 83-86, 91, 92, 98-103, 113), ten shotgun metagenomic sequencing (29, 30, 36, 47, 54, 75, 83, 89, 94, 98), seven polymerase chain reaction (PCR) or PCRtemperature gradient gel electrophoresis (PCR-TGGE) (39, 49, 50, 65, 67, 78, 82), one each fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) (104) and 16S-23S IS profiling (48), and 30 cultures (24, 31-35, 37-39, 49, 53, 56, 59-61, 63, 74, 81, 87, 88, 90, 93, 96, 105, 107-112).

Supplementary Table S1 provides a summary of the main findings of the 89 studies included in this review.

All included studies had an overall risk of bias score (JBI standardised critical appraisal checklist, yes%) over 60% (acceptable quality) and 49% (44/89) of studies had an overall score \geq 80% (good quality) (Supplementary Table S3). The most frequent risk of bias was attrition bias [present in 24% (21/89) studies].

Penicillins

The effect of penicillins on the intestinal microbiota was investigated in 13 studies including 1,311 children [one study did not specify the number of children investigated (70); for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3] (35, 55, 70, 71, 75, 78, 79, 87, 89, 90, 100, 107, 112).



Diversity

Two studies found a lower alpha diversity (a measure of the variety and abundance of bacterial taxa within a sample) of the intestinal microbiota during the treatment with amoxicillin compared to controls with recovery either immediately after stopping ABX (89) or six months after (71), respectively. However, compared to controls, the first study found a higher alpha diversity at the latest follow-up time point 24 months after ABX (89). In other studies, compared to controls, a lower richness was found to persist for less than two weeks after treatment with ampicillin and penicillin (75), and for up to 6–12 months (latest follow-up being after 12–24 months) in a study (which did not report separate results for treatment with

amoxicillin with or without clavulanate and penicillin V) (70) (Figure 2). One study found a lower alpha diversity at day seven of life compared to day three in preterm neonates after treatment with penicillin plus moxalactam or piperacillin-tazobactam, but no difference in diversity after ABX with the two treatment regimens (100). Another study found no difference in alpha diversity, at the latest follow-up point of the study, five days after treatment with amoxicillin (79). Three studies investigated beta diversity (a measure of the differences in bacterial taxa between different samples) by comparing the ABX group and controls and found a higher beta diversity after treatment with penicillin, amoxicillin/ampicillin, penicillin plus moxalactam and piperacillin-tazobactam, respectively (75, 89, 100).



FIGURE 2

Duration of decreased alpha diversity after ABX reported in different studies. Red bars depict duration of decreased alpha diversity in ABX group compared to controls (red bars); black bars depict the duration of follow-up after ABX. Studies specifying Shannon index, inverse Simpson index or richness for the ABX and control group were included. Studies which did not specify the time points when the alpha diversity was investigated were excluded.

Composition

When comparing the composition of the intestinal microbiota during or after oral administration of amoxicillin, compared to controls, increased abundances of Firmicutes (71),Enterobacteriales (71), Ruminococcaceae (71), Lachnospiraceae (71), Megasphaera (71), Coprococcus (71), Escherichia (89), Dialister (71), Weissela confusa (89), Prevotella sp. 885 (89), Prevotella stercorea (89), Holdemanella biformis (89), Lactobacillus animalis (89), Fusicatenibacter saccharivorans (89), Catenibacterium mitsuokai (89), Slackia isoflavoniconvertens (89), Weissella cibaria (89), Streptococcus macedonicus (89), Gemmiger formicilis (89), and Actinomyces odontolyticus (89), and decreased abundances of Coriobacteriaceae (71), Bacteroidaceae (71), Streptococcaceae (71), Lactobacillus (89), Bifidobacterium (71), Enterococcus (71), Streptococcus (87, 89), Klebsiella (89), Holdemanella (89), Dorea (89), Bifidobacterium bifidum (89), and Bifidobacterium longum (89) were observed.

When comparing the composition before and during treatment with penicillin V, ampicillin and methicillin, respectively, decreased bacterial counts of *Lactobacillus* (87), *Streptococcus* (87), and *Bifidobacterium* (87) were found. One

abundances study found increased of Bacteroidetes. Rikenellaceae, and Dialister and decreased abundances of Actinobacteria, Gemellales, Gemellaceae, Lactobacillus, and Collinsella in children who were given penicillin or amoxicillin with or without clavulanate, without reporting results for these ABX separately and without reporting the route of administration (70). Fluctuations in abundance over time were found for Veillonellaceae (71), Clostridiaceae (both being lower during treatment with amoxicillin and higher than in controls after treatment) (71) and Parabacteroides (being higher within less than 6 months after treatment with amoxicillin with or without clavulanic acid or penicillin (without separate analysis) compared with controls and then being lower 6 to 12 months after treatment compared with controls (70) (Figure 3). One study found no difference in bacterial abundance after treatment with penicillin (75).

ARGs

The effect of penicillins on the abundance of ARGs was studied in three studies. Two studies found an increased abundance of



ARGs after treatment with penicillin and ampicillin/amoxicillin, respectively, which returned to normal three to four weeks after treatment (75, 89). The other study found increased abundances of multiple ARGs, e.g., for β -lactamases (unknown), ABC efflux pumps, *araC*, and *emrD* (55). A higher abundance of plasmids after treatment with penicillin or ampicillin (without separate analysis) was reported in another study (75).

Penicillins plus aminoglycosides

13 studies investigated combinations of different penicillins plus gentamicin in 3,141 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3) (26, 37, 40, 52, 58, 63, 69, 81, 83, 85, 93, 94, 110).

Diversity

Compared with controls, three studies found a lower alpha diversity in children treated with penicillin, amoxicillin, or ampicillin plus gentamicin (52, 58, 83). The duration of treatment with ampicillin plus gentamicin positively correlated with the decrease in alpha diversity (58). One study found a lower alpha diversity in children treated for more than seven days with ampicillin plus gentamicin compared with these treated for a shorter duration (94). Another study found a lower richness in children treated with ampicillin plus gentamicin compared with controls two months after treatment (52) (Figure 2). In contrast, one study found no difference in alpha diversity at two weeks of life after treatment with ampicillin plus gentamicin (69), and another one, one year after treatment with penicillin plus tobramycin (26). Yet another study compared the alpha diversity one week after treatment with ampicillin plus tobramycin, ampicillin plus tobramycin plus metronidazole, and ampicillin plus cefotaxime and found no difference between these groups (85). Another study compared alpha and beta diversity after treatment with ampicillin plus gentamicin and ampicillin plus cefotaxime and found no differences at the latest follow up at 30 days of life (40).

Composition

Compared to controls, after treatment with ampicillin plus gentamicin increased abundances/colonisation rates of Proteobacteria (52), Bacilli (94), Clostridiales (94), Bacteroidales (94), Enterobacteriaceae (52), Peptostreptococcaceae (52), Clostridium (52), Klebsiella (37, 83, 94), Enterobacter (58, 93), Klebsiella/Enterobacter (93), Veillonella (80), Streptococcus (80), and Enterococcus faecalis (37), and decreased abundances of Bifidobacteriacea (52), Bifidobacterium (52, 83), Escherichia (83), Staphylococcus (58, 83), and Lactobacillus (52); after treatment with penicillin plus gentamicin increased abundances of Acinetobacter (83), and Klebsiella (83), and decreased abundances of Bifidobacterium (83), Escherichia (83), Staphylococcus (83), and *Escherichia coli* (83); after treatment with penicillin plus netilmicin decreased abundance of *Clostridum difficile* (63); and after treatment with penicillin plus tobramycin decreased abundances of Bacteroidetes were found (26). Conflicting results were reported for the abundance of Actinobacteria (52, 69), *Enterococcus* (52, 58, 83) and *Bacteroides* (83, 94), and *Escherichia coli* (37, 93, 94) (Figure 4).

ARGs

One study reported that changes in the ARG profile persisted for up to four months after treatment with amoxicillin/ clavulanate plus gentamicin with 10 of 31 ARGs being more abundant, while after penicillin plus gentamicin five of 10 ARGs were found to be more abundant (83). One study found resistance to ampicillin in *E. coli, Klebsiella,* and *Enterobacter* after ampicillin plus gentamicin treatment (93).

Penicillins plus cephalosporins

Five studies investigated combinations of penicillins plus cephalosporins, including 1,123 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3) (34, 40, 83, 85, 101).

Diversity

One study found a lower alpha diversity in children treated with amoxicillin plus cefotaxime compared with controls (83). The same study also found a high beta diversity with a dissimilar composition between children treated with amoxicillin plus cefotaxime and controls, which was still present four months after stopping ABX (83). One study compared alpha diversity one week after treatment with ampicillin plus tobramycin, ampicillin plus tobramycin plus metronidazole, and ampicillin plus cefotaxime and found no difference between these groups (85). Another study compared alpha and beta diversity after treatment with ampicillin plus gentamicin and ampicillin plus cefotaxime and found no differences at the latest follow-up at 30 days of life (40).

Composition

Increased abundances of *Enterococcus* (101), *Clostridium* (101), and *Acinetobacter* (83), and decreased abundances of *Bifidobacterium* (101), *Akkermansia* (83), and *Escherichia coli* (83) were found in children after treatment amoxicillin plus cefotaxime or ceftazidime compared to controls. One study compared abundances after treatment with ampicillin plus tobramycin, ampicillin plus tobramycin plus metronidazole, and ampicillin plus cefotaxime and found no difference between groups (85). One



study did not provide *p*-values for their analysis of colonisation rates (34).

ARGs

One study reported changes in the ARG profile with 10 of 31 ARGs being more abundant after treatment with amoxicillin plus cefotaxime. Compared to penicillin plus gentamicin (five of 10 ARGs being more abundant), amoxicillin plus cefotaxime was found to have a higher impact on ARG abundance (83).

Cephalosporins

The effect of cephalosporins on the intestinal microbiota in children was investigated in nine studies including 916 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3) (55, 57, 60, 63, 87, 88, 90, 91, 93).

Diversity

One study found a lower alpha diversity in infants treated with cefalexin compared with controls at two months of life (91). Another study found a lower richness immediately after treatment with cefotaxime and cefazoline compared to before ABX (55). One study found no difference in alpha diversity in neonates at ten days of life between the ABX group and controls after treatment with cefotaxime (57). Three studies did not analyse alpha diversity or richness (60, 87, 93).

Composition

The administration of cefalexin was associated with increased abundances of Enterobacteriaceae (91), Enterococcus (91), and decreased abundances of Bifidobacterium (91) compared to controls. The administration of cefuroxime was associated with a decreased abundance of Escherichia coli (93). When comparing before and after treatment with cefaclor decreased bacterial counts of Enterobacteriaceae (87), and Bifidobacterium (87), were found, while when comparing before and after treatment with ceftazidime decreased bacterial counts of Enterobacteriaceae (87), Lactobacillus (87), and Bifidobacterium (87), were found. After treatment with cefotaxime, compared to controls, increased abundances of Enterobacteriaceae (57) and Parabacteroides (57), and decreased abundances of Bifidobacterium (57), Clostridium difficile (63) and Escherichia coli (55) were found. After treatment with ceftriaxone, abundances of Enterobacteriaceae and Lactobacillus increased compared to before ABX (88). When comparing before and after treatment with cefpiramide decreased counts of Enterobacteriaceae (87), Bacteroidaceae (87), Bifidobacterium (87), Lactobacillus (87), and Staphylococcus (87) were found.

ARGs

After treatment with ceftriaxone, one study found *Klebsiella/ Enterobacter, Citrobacter, Serratia* and *E. coli* to be resistant to cefoperazone and ceftriaxone and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to ceftriaxone (60). One study found increased abundances of multiple ARGs after treatment with cefotaxime, e.g., β -lactamase (CMY-LAT-MOX), MFS efflux, ABC efflux, and robA (55).

Carbapenems

The effect of carbapenems on the intestinal microbiota was investigated in three studies including 67 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3) (55, 96, 105).

Diversity

One study found a reduced richness comparing before and two days after treatment with meropenem (55). Two studies did not analyse alpha or beta diversity (96, 105).

Composition

The studies reported an increased bacterial count of *Enterococcus* (96), *Proteus* (96), *Pseudomonas* (96), *Enterobacter* (96), and *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (55), and a decreased abundance of *Klebsiella* (96), *Lactobacillus* (96), and *Streptococcus* (96) comparing before and after treatment with imipenemcilastatin, while the second study did not find changes in the abundance of different bacteria (105).

ARGs

The first study did not identify bacteria with resistance to imipenem (96), while in the second study, in one child *P. aeruginosa* resistant to imipenem was found after treatment. This child was previously also treated with aztreonam (105). One study found increased abundances of multiple ARGs after treatment with meropenem, e.g., *mecA*, *norA*, *dfrC*, *gyrA*, and *qacA* (55).

Macrolides

The effect of macrolides on the intestinal microbiota was investigated in 13 studies including 802 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3) (38, 46, 62, 70, 71, 75, 79, 80, 87, 95, 103, 111, 112).

Diversity

Four studies found a lower alpha diversity (46, 79, 95, 103) and three a lower richness (70, 75, 80) between five days and 12-24 months after treatment with macrolides. One study reported a decrease in alpha diversity after 14 days but no further changes between 13 and 39 months after treatment with azithromycin (95). After treatment with azithromycin, one study found a difference in richness between children with ABX and controls, but no difference in alpha diversity (80) (Figure 2). Three studies analysed beta diversity and found a high beta diversity between ABX group and controls up to 14 days after treatment with azithromycin (80, 95) and a distinct composition on phylum and genus level in the ABX group up until six months after treatment with either azithromycin or clarithromycin without reporting results separately (70). One study did not detect a difference in beta diversity five days after treatment with azithromycin (46).

Composition

Compared to controls, after treatment with azithromycin increased abundances/bacterial counts of Clostridium (95), and Blautia (46), and decreased abundances/bacterial counts of Actinobacteria (95), Verrucomicrobia (80), Betaproteobacteria (80), Verrucomicrobiae (80), Bifidobacteriales (95), Bifidobacteriaceae (95), Clostridiacea (95), Bifidobacterium (95), Anaerovibrio (46), Peptoniphilus (46), Succinivibrio (46), Megasphaera (46), Escherichia (80), Akkermansia (80), Peptostreptococcus (80), Campylobacter hominis (62), Campylobacter ureolyticus (62), and Campylobacter jejuni (62) were found. Two studies did not report separate results for changes in abundances after treatment with different macrolides and found compared to controls, increased abundances of Bacteroidetes (70), Alphaproteobacteria (71), Bacteroidales (70), Lactobacillales (70), Rikenellaceae (70), Subdoligranulum (71), Salmonella (71), Eggerthella (70), Bacteroides (70), Parabacteroides (70), Eubacterium (70), and Clostridium (70), and decreased abundances of Actinobacteria (70), Bifidobacteriales (70), Coriobacteriales (70), Clostridiales (70), Gemellaceae (70), Collinsella (70), and Bifidobacterium (70, 71). Conflicting results were reported for abundances of Proteobacteria (70, 80), Bacillales/Gemellales (70, 71), and Dialister (70, 95) (Figure 3). Two studies found no difference in bacterial abundance between children with ABX and controls (38, 75). Three studies did report p-values for abundances (38, 79, 111). One study did not investigate bacterial abundances (103) (Figure 5).

ARGs

ARGs were investigated in two studies (70, 114). One study found increased macrolide resistance after treatment with azithromycin or clarithromycin (without separate analysis), which declined linearly until going back to baseline 6 to 12 months after ABX. The study also found that the abundance of *ermF* and *ermB* genes correlated negatively with time since the last macrolide treatment, while the abundance of the *bsh* gene correlated positively with time since the last macrolide treatment (70). One study found a higher abundance of ARGs and plasmids in the ABX group compared with controls, without performing a separate analysis for different macrolides (75).

Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole

The effect of trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole on the intestinal microbiota was investigated in six studies, including 254 children (27, 36, 47, 53, 55, 79).

Diversity

Two studies detected no difference in alpha diversity between the ABX group and the control group within the first week after ABX and after seven and eight years of continuous prophylactic treatment (Figure 2) (36, 79). Another study found a longitudinal increase in alpha diversity between six weeks and six months after the ABX in the ABX group (47). Another study found a decrease in diversity two weeks after the start of prophylactic treatment compared to before treatment, which recovered within one to two months (27). Another study found a decreased richness comparing before and two days after ABX (55). One study found no difference in bacterial counts between the two groups (53). Two studies analysed beta diversity, of which one did not detect a difference in between the ABX group and controls (36) and the other one found a lower beta diversity in the ABX group compared to controls (47). Comparing before to after treatment with trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole decreased bacterial counts of Enterobacter (53) and Veillonella (53) were found.

Composition

Comparing the ABX group to controls increased abundances of Enterobacteriales (27), Alistipes onderdonkii (36), Eggerthella lenta (36), Clostridium bartlettii (36). Haemophilus parainfluenzae (36), Streptococcus mutans (36), Streptococcus parasanguinis (36), and Streptococcus vestibularis (36), and decreased abundances of Enterobacteriaceae (36) were found after ABX. One study detected no differences in bacterial abundance after treatment with trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole (47) and another study did not provide *p*-values for changes in abundances (79).

ARGs

ARGs were studied in one study, *dfr* and *sul* genes were found to be more abundant in the ABX group after the ABX compared to before (47).



compare ABX group to controls and studies not providing *p*-values were excluded.

Aminoglycosides

The effect of aminoglycosides on the intestinal microbiota was investigated in three studies, including 52 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3) (55, 87, 112).

Diversity

The first study found no difference in alpha diversity three days after treatment with gentamicin (55) and the second did not analyse alpha diversity (87). Both studies did not analyse beta diversity.

Composition

One study observed decreased bacterial counts of *Enterobacteriaceae* (87), *Streptococcus* (87), *Clostridium* (87), and *Lactobacillus* (87) comparing before and three to six days after treatment with gentamicin.

ARGs

One study found increased abundances of multiple ARGs after treatment with gentamicin, e.g., *evgA* and *emrK* (55).

Glycopeptides

The effect of glycopeptides on the intestinal microbiota was investigated in three studies, including 48 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3) (45, 55, 84).

Diversity

One study found a lower alpha diversity seven days after treatment with vancomycin compared to before ABX, but no difference between the ABX group and controls (45). Another study found a lower richness two days after treatment with vancomycin compared to before ABX (55). One study found no difference in alpha diversity after treatment with vancomycin at 25 days of life (84).

Composition

One study found increased abundances of *Staphylococcus* and decreased abundances of *Commamonadaceae*, *Pseudomonas*, *Bifidobacterium* when comparing before and after ABX (45). Another study reported increased abundances of *Staphylococcus* (in intestinal tissue but not in stool) when comparing children treated with vancomycin to other ABX (84).

One study found an increase in ARGs after treatment with vancomycin, e.g., *evgA*, *emrK* (55).

Mixed and not specified ABX

Various ABX without reporting separate results were investigated in 19 studies (24, 31–33, 44, 48, 49, 54, 59, 64–66, 72–74, 77, 86, 92, 97), while another 20 did not specify which ABX were investigated (28–30, 38, 42, 43, 50, 51, 56, 61, 67, 68, 76, 82, 98, 99, 104, 106, 109, 115). These studies included a total of 5,139 children (for detailed information see Supplementary Table S3).

Diversity

A decreased alpha diversity in ABX compared to controls was found in seven studies (29, 54, 72, 74, 77, 97, 98) and lower richness in two studies (66, 99). One study found a decrease in alpha diversity during ABX and an increase afterwards (64). One study found a lower alpha diversity in children treated for two days compared to seven days or more (44). Two studies reported that alpha diversity inversely correlated with increase in number of ABX courses (54, 74). One study found a decrease in diversity and in richness with each additional day of ABX (76) and another study found a lower diversity within the Bacteroidetes phylum in the ABX group than in controls (48). Other studies found no difference in alpha diversity between birth and hospital discharge (86), at ten days of life (43), or up to six month of life, when comparing children after ABX to controls (92). One study found no difference in alpha diversity comparing before, during, and after ABX (25). Twelve studies did not analyse alpha diversity or richness (28, 31-33, 39, 42, 49, 56, 61, 67, 73, 82, 104). Five studies found a high beta diversity with a dissimilar bacterial composition between the ABX group and controls (54, 72, 92, 98, 25). One study found a dissimilar composition in children with two days of ABX compared to seven or more days (44). One study found a dissimilar composition between neonates receiving ABX in the first week of life only and neonates receiving ABX in the first week of life plus after the first week of life (54). Samples collected in controls showed more similarity to each other than samples from the period when children were starting or stopping ABX (30). One study found no effect of ABX on beta diversity at one year of life (51). Another study found a decrease in beta diversity in neonates from week one to week three of life in the ABX group compared to controls (97).

Composition

When comparing ABX groups and controls, after ABX, increased abundances/colonisation rates/bacterial counts for Proteobacteria (28), *Gammaproteobacteria* (73),

Enterobacteriaceae (29, 54), Veillonella (54), Klebsiella (56), Escherichia/Shigella Enterobacter (56), (72), Klebsiella/ Enterobacter (31), Sphingomonas (97), Acidovorax (97), Proteus (42), Bacteroides vulgatus (74), Bifidobacterium bifidum (74), Staphylococcus epidermidis (54), Veillonella parvula (54), Veillonella unspecified (54), Klebsiella oxytoca (54), Escherichia coli (54), Bifidobacterium breve (54), and decreased abundances for Bacteroidetes (48, 72, 76, 92), Clostridiales (54), Bifidobacteraceae (54), Prevotella (54), Bacteroides (29, 65, 72, 77, 82), Parabacteroides (29), Ruminococcus (25), Haemophilus (97), Blautia (97), Erysipelatoclostridium (97), Gemella (97), Rothia (97), Streptococcus (97), Clostridium perfringens (33), Eubacterium rectale (98), Akkermansia muciniphila (80), Lactobacillus mucosae (80), Bacteroides fragilis (80), Actinomyces odontolyticus (74), Bifidobacterium longum (50, 54, 74), Bifidobacterium bifidum (50, 54) Bifidobacterium lactis (50), Escherichia coli (30, 31) Escherichia coli 8711 (80), and Escherichia coli 17709 (80) were found. Conflicting results were found for Actinobacteria (28, 72), Firmicutes (28, 72, 92), Clostridium (29, 65, 73, 76, 98), Enterococcus (54, 77, 97), Lactobacillus (32, 33, 61, 65, 92), Bifidobacterium (29, 32, 54, 72, 82), Citrobacter (42, 56), Staphylococcus (54, 97), Clostridium difficile (33, 67), Clostridium butyricum (33, 49), Enterococcus faecialis (31, 54), and Bifidobacterium breve (50, 54, 74) (Figure 6). One study found Clostridium perfringens abundance decreased compared to controls 3-4 weeks after ABX and increased 5-6 weeks after ABX (42). One study found a lower abundance of Bacteroides and a higher abundance of Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes in children treated for more than seven days compared to these treated for two days (44). Another study found lower abundances of Lactobacillus and Enterococcus after more than seven days of treatment compared to less than seven days of treatment (68). Three studies did not compare bacterial abundances (66, 99, 104). One study, only investigating Bifidobacterium abundance, found no difference in abundance between the ABX group and controls (39).

ARGs

ARGs were studied in two studies, which found a higher abundance of ARGs in ABX group including resistance to ABX rarely/never used in neonates and to multidrug-resistant organisms (MDROs) (54), higher abundance of ARGs and episomally encoded genes in the ABX group (98).

Discussion

The first three years of life are pivotal for the development of the intestinal microbiota (14, 25), which, in turn, plays a crucial role in shaping the immune system. Moreover, early colonization of the intestine significantly impacts later microbial communities, so changes in this early period will have long-lasting consequences (115). A lower diversity of the intestinal microbiota has been associated with an increased risk of developing allergic diseases, type 1 diabetes, and rheumatic diseases (116–118). It is therefore concerning that all the ABX investigated in the studies in our review had profound effects on the intestinal microbiota in children associated with a decrease in alpha diversity. In some studies, this decrease was positively associated with duration of ABX. This effect was prolonged, persisting up to 12–24 months after stopping ABX for macrolides, and up to 36 months for ABX in the neonatal period.

In our review, we found that exposure to certain ABX (penicillins, penicillins plus gentamicin, cephalosporins, carbapenems, macrolides, and aminoglycosides, but not trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole) is associated with decreased abundances of Actinobacteria (52, 70, 95), Bifidobacteriales (70, 95), Bifidobacteriaceae (52, 54, 95), and/or Bifidobacterium (52, 57, 70, 83, 87), and Lactobacillus (52, 70, 87, 88, 96). The direction of change in the abundance of Enterobacteriaceae depends on the ABX class but often an increase in Enterobacteriaceae other than E. coli is observed. These findings are in accordance with findings from a similar review in adults, which, after ABX, along with a decrease in alpha diversity, also found decreased abundances of Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus and increased abundances of Enterobacteriaceae, other than E. coli (e.g., Klebsiella, Citrobacter and Enterobacter) (16). The results from our review, also align with results from a large in vitro study, which tested the effect of 144 ABX on 38 common human intestinal microbiota species (119). The study found that macrolides strongly inhibit the growth of most tested intestinal microbes, while beta-lactams have strain specific effects. This strain-specific effect of ABX might lead to large community composition disturbances with "killing-sensitive" strains more readily being eliminated from communities.

As mentioned above, almost all ABX are associated with a reduction in bacteria which have been identified as being beneficial. Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus contribute to maintaining the gut barrier by producing high concentrations of short chain fatty acids (SCFA) such as acetate, propionate, and butyrate (120). However, SCFA not only serve as energy sources for the interstitial epithelium, but also have diverse effects on host physiology and immunity. In children, a decreased abundance of Actinobacteria has been associated with type 1 diabetes (121), while lower abundances of Lactobacillaceae and Bifidobacteriaceae have been associated with the development of allergic sensitization, eczema, or asthma (116). Reduced Bifidobacterium abundance has also been linked to childhood obesity (122, 123). Furthermore, it has been shown that peptidoglycans from Bifidobacterium can cross the blood-brain barrier and enhance neuronal maturation by influencing cytokine production by microglia (124). However, it's important to note that most of the studies investigating associations between variations in the intestinal microbiota composition and diseases are cross-sectional and therefore, it cannot be determined whether factors like ABX use, which may transiently decrease the abundance of different beneficial taxa, impact the development of these diseases. Nevertheless, a large meta-analysis has shown that ABX exposure in the first years of life is associated with an increased risk of developing atopic dermatitis, allergies, wheezing

Wurm et al.



FIGURE 6

Differences in bacterial abundance or colonisation rate between ABX groups and controls of studies investigating various ABX without separate analysis of individual ABX. Included studies investigated: ampicillin, nafcillin, gentamicin, tobramycin, others (97), penicillin (plus aminoglycoside), others (92), ampicillin/sulbactam, cefotaxime (72), penicillin plus gentamicin, amoxicillin plus gentamicin, amoxicillin plus ceftazidime, others (48), ampicillin and cefotaxime, amikacin, vancomycin, others (65), ampicillin, cefotaxime, gentamicin, others (54), cephalosporin, penicillin, others (113), penicillin, macroides, cephalosporins, others (115), beta-lactams, aminoglycosides, vancomycin, others (73), benzylpenicillin, cloxacillin, flucloxacillin, others (31), penicillin plus gentamicin, others (33), or did not specify which ABX they investigated (28, 29, 42, 56, 61, 82, 98). Studies which did not compare ABX group to controls and studies not providing p-values were excluded.

and asthma, obesity, rheumatological and neurodevelopmental diseases (12) and it is very likely that the mechanism behind this are changes in the microbiota (125).

The exact mechanism by which different intestinal bacteria influence the developing immune system is not yet clear but dysbiosis has been associated with a pro-inflammatory state (e.g., increased T-helper 17 cells (126). A decreased abundance of Bacteroides uniformis has been associated with increased production of interleukin (IL)-17, which is associated with increased neutrophil extracellular trap (NET) formation (114). These web-like structures are composed of DNA, histones, and antimicrobial proteins and released by activated neutrophils in response to infection or inflammation. NETs play an important role in fighting pathogens. In critically ill patients, progressive intestinal dysbiosis characterised by a high abundance of Enterobacteriaceae has been associated with a shift towards immature neutrophil populations with reduced NET formation (127). In contrast, dysregulated NET formation has been associated with various inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, e.g., rheumatological diseases (128). Other studies showed that the abundance of Klebsiella pneumoniae and Streptococcus mitis in the intestine positively correlates with the amount of natural killer cells in blood, the abundance of B. uniformis with immunoglobulin M levels as well as the erythrocyte sedimentation rate, and the abundance Eubacterium eligens with IL-4 and CD3 + CD8+ T cells levels (129).

Antimicrobial resistance is an increasing problem; it is estimated that by the year 2050, 10 million people will die annually because of infections with ABX-resistant bacteria (130). Therefore, another important finding in our review is the increase in ARG following ABX with all ABX classes, which persisted for as short as three weeks for some ABX, but up to four months after treatment for others. This is particularly important for ABX, such as amoxicillin and trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole, which are often given for long-term prophylaxis. Even a transient increase in ARGs can have significant clinical implications, especially if a child develops a new infection during this period, as it may lead to infections that are harder to treat, requiring ABX with more side effects or which have broader spectrum activity, further exacerbating the problem of antimicrobial resistance.

The impact of ABX on the intestinal microbiota is multifaceted, influenced by both their spectrum of activity, and whether ABX are administered orally or intravenously. Formulation is also a factor: for example bacampicillin syrup alters bacterial abundance but tablets do not (131). ABX with a broad spectrum of activity and selective killing are the most dangerous to the intestinal microbiota

and it is important to find drugs with a narrow spectrum of activity that inhibit pathogens but not intestinal commensals.

Other factors can mitigate ABX-induced dysbiosis. In infants, this includes breastfeeding and administration of pre-, pro- and postbiotics (132). Breastfeeding has been associated with an increased abundance of Bifidobacterium, Staphylococcus, and Streptococcus and lower abundances of Enterococcus and Enterobacteriaceae (133). Breast milk itself is an important source of pre-, pro- and postbiotics. A recent study showed that breastfeeding reduced the decrease in B. infantis which was seen after ABX and protected from ABX-associated increased asthma risk (134). The European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition recommends probiotics for the prevention of ABX-associated diarrhoea (132, 135), particularly Saccharomyces boulardii and Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG (136). In an RCT involving healthy children, the administration of Bacillus subtilis DE111 increased alpha diversity (137). Similarly, an observational study in preterm neonates showed an increase in alpha diversity, higher abundances of Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus, and lower abundances of Streptococcus after the administration of a probiotic containing Lactobacillus acidophilus and Bifidobacterium bifidum (138). These findings, which contrast with the ABX-induced microbial disturbances observed in our systematic review, suggest that probiotics might help restore gut microbiota balance after ABX. A Cochrane review including 33 RCTs concluded that the administration of probiotics led to a reduction of ABX-associated diarrhoea from 19 to 8% with a number needed to treat of nine (132). However, many important questions remain open, such as the ideal timing, dosage, duration and strain selection for probiotics, as well as the benefit of co-administration with pre- and postbiotics.

Strengths and limitations

A strength of this study is the comprehensive literature search, including children of all age groups and various ABX classes. However, the study is also subject to some limitations: First, most of the included studies were observational studies and only few RCTs were identified. Second, although most studies used longitudinal designs, the variability in follow-up periods, ranging from days to years, complicates inter-study comparisons. The timing of stool sampling is crucial, as changes in the bacterial composition of the intestinal microbiota can be transient or fluctuant. Third, a significant portion of the studies did not differentiate between various ABX or did not specify ABX. This may introduce bias into the results, as

different ABX classes have been shown to have different effects. Therefore, the results of these studies have been pooled for this review. Even within an ABX class, the spectrum of activity differs and the effect on the intestinal microbiota will therefore be different. Fourth, except for five studies, all included participants had (suspected) infections, potentially introducing infections as a confounding factor. Furthermore, the analysis encompassed diverse age groups, though the impact of ABX on the microbiota is likely most pronounced in younger children, particularly neonates or infants. Lastly, microbiota research is largely influenced by the used analysis techniques. Molecular diagnostics are influenced by DNA extraction and library preparation method, used sequencing platforms and protocols and bioinformatic pipelines and tools. Culture-based diagnostics are influenced by the choice of culture media and incubation conditions and techniques for assessing ABX resistance.

In summary, ABX have profound effects on the intestinal microbiota, with notable differences between ABX classes. The duration of ABX likely influences the magnitude of these changes. Among those studied, macrolides have the most substantial impact while trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole has the least pronounced effect. Important remaining questions include how long ABX-induced changes in the composition of the intestinal microbiota persist and the long-term effect of transient changes on health outcomes, particularly if they are given beyond the critical period of microbiota development in the first two to three years of life. Additionally, it is crucial to investigate whether ABX-resistant strains persist in the absence of selective pressure from ABX. Another area for further research is the development of remedies which can selectively protect intestinal microbiomes.

Author contributions

JW: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. NC: Writing – review & editing. PZ: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

References

1. Bénard-Laribière A, Jové J, Lassalle R, Robinson P, Droz-Perroteau C, Noize P. Drug use in French children: a population-based study. *Arch Dis Child.* (2015) 100 (10):960–5. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-307224

2. Hellman J, Grape M, Ternhag A. Antibiotic consumption among a Swedish cohort of children born in 2006. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104(10):1035-8. doi: 10. 1111/apa.13097

3. Masarwa R, Lefebvre C, Platt RW, Filion KB. General practitioner prescribing trends among pediatric patients in the United Kingdom: 1998–2018. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2022) 31(3):302–13. doi: 10.1002/pds.5377

4. Tomlin AM, Woods DJ, Lloyd HS, Tilyard MW. Trends in outpatient prescription medicine use in New Zealand children 2010–2015: a national population-based study. *Pediatric Drugs.* (2018) 20:465–74. doi: 10.1007/s40272-018-0303-3

5. Vernacchio L, Kelly JP, Kaufman DW, Mitchell AA. Medication use among children <12 years of age in the United States: results from the Slone survey. *Pediatrics.* (2009) 124(2):446-54. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-2869

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. PZ is supported by an Ambizione Grant from the Swiss National Science Foundation (PZPGP3_193140).

Acknowledgments

Poh Chua provided valuable assistance in defining the search terms.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/falgy.2024. 1458688/full#supplementary-material

6. Aversa Z, Atkinson EJ, Schafer MJ, Theiler RN, Rocca WA, Blaser MJ, et al. Association of infant antibiotic exposure with childhood health outcomes. In: Mayo Clinic Proceedings. Elsevier (2021). p. 66–77.

7. Hicks LA, Jr THT, Hunkler RJ. US outpatient antibiotic prescribing, 2010. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368(15):1461–2. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1212055

8. Tribble AC, Lee BR, Flett KB, Handy LK, Gerber JS, Hersh AL, et al. Appropriateness of antibiotic prescribing in United States children's hospitals: a national point prevalence survey. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 71(8):e226–34. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa036

9. Burvenich R, Dillen H, Trinh NTH, Freer J, Wynants L, Heytens S, et al. Antibiotic use in ambulatory care for acutely ill children in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Dis Child.* (2022) 107(12):1088–94. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2022-324227

10. Nasso C, Scarfone A, Pirrotta I, Rottura M, Giorgi DA, Pallio G, et al. Appropriateness of antibiotic prescribing in hospitalized children: a focus on the real-world scenario of the different paediatric subspecialties. *Front Pharmacol.* (2022) 13:890398. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.890398

11. Shulman ST. The history of pediatric infectious diseases. *Pediatr Res.* (2004) 55 (1):163–76. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000101756.93542.09

12. Duong QA, Pittet LF, Curtis N, Zimmermann P. Antibiotic exposure and adverse long-term health outcomes in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Infect. (2022) 85(3):213–300. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2022.01.005

13. Bergström A, Skov TH, Bahl MI, Roager HM, Christensen LB, Ejlerskov KT, et al. Establishment of intestinal microbiota during early life: a longitudinal, explorative study of a large cohort of Danish infants. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2014) 80(9):2889–900. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00342-14

14. Zimmermann P, Curtis N. Factors influencing the intestinal microbiome during the first year of life. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* (2018) 37(12):e315–35. doi: 10.1097/INF. 00000000002103

15. Park H, Park NY, Koh A. Scarring the early-life microbiome: its potential lifelong effects on human health and diseases. *BMB Rep.* (2023) 56(9):469. doi: 10. 5483/BMBRep.2023-0114

16. Zimmermann P, Curtis N. The effect of antibiotics on the composition of the intestinal microbiota-a systematic review. *J Infect.* (2019) 79(6):471–89. doi: 10. 1016/j.jinf.2019.10.008

17. Jain N. The early life education of the immune system: moms, microbes and (missed) opportunities. *Gut Microbes*. (2020) 12(1):1824564. doi: 10.1080/19490976. 2020.1824564

18. van Beijsterveldt IA, Snowden SG, Myers PN, de Fluiter KS, van de Heijning B, Brix S, et al. Metabolomics in early life and the association with body composition at age 2 years. *Pediatr Obes.* (2022) 17(3):e12859. doi: 10.1111/ijp0.12859

19. Gilmore JH, Shi F, Woolson SL, Knickmeyer RC, Short SJ, Lin W, et al. Longitudinal development of cortical and subcortical gray matter from birth to 2 years. *Cerebral cortex.* (2012) 22(11):2478-85. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr327

20. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med.* (2009) 6 (7):e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097

21. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Int J Surg.* (2021) 88:105906. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2021.105906

22. Phillips B. Oxford Center for Evidence-based Medicine. Levels of Evidence. Available online at: http://www.cebm.net/index.aspx?o=1025.2009

23. Institute JB. JBI Critical appraisal checklist for analytical cross sectional studies. (2017) Available online at: https://jbi.global/sites/default/files/2019-05/JBI_Critical_Appraisal-Checklist_for_Analytical_Cross_Sectional_Studies2017_0.pdf (Accessed April 1, 2024).

24. Mathieu H, Lambert-Zechovsky N, Beaufils F, Blum C, Bingen E, Guillot M. Amikacine chez l'enfant: efficacité, tolérance, effets sur l'écosystème microbien intestinal. (1978).

25. Bokulich NA, Chung J, Battaglia T, Henderson N, Jay M, Li H, et al. Antibiotics, birth mode, and diet shape microbiome maturation during early life. *Sci Transl Med.* (2016) 8(343):343ra82. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad7121

26. Ainonen S, Tejesvi MV, Mahmud MR, Paalanne N, Pokka T, Li W, et al. Antibiotics at birth and later antibiotic courses: effects on gut microbiota. *Pediatr Res.* (2022) 91(1):154–62. doi: 10.1038/s41390-021-01494-7

27. Akagawa Y, Kimata T, Akagawa S, Yamaguchi T, Kato S, Yamanouchi S, et al. Impact of long-term low dose antibiotic prophylaxis on gut microbiota in children. *J Urol.* (2020) 204(6):1320–5. doi: 10.1097/JU.000000000001227

28. Arboleya S, Sánchez B, Solís G, Fernández N, Suárez M, Hernández-Barranco AM, et al. Impact of prematurity and perinatal antibiotics on the developing intestinal microbiota: a functional inference study. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17(5):649. doi: 10.3390/ijms17050649

29. Barnett DJM, Endika MF, Klostermann CE, Gu F, Thijs C, Nauta A, et al. Human milk oligosaccharides, antimicrobial drugs, and the gut microbiota of term neonates: observations from the KOALA birth cohort study. *Gut Microbes.* (2023) 15(1). doi: 10.1080/19490976.2022.2164152

30. Bender JM, Li F, Purswani H, Capretz T, Cerini C, Zabih S, et al. Early exposure to antibiotics in the neonatal intensive care unit alters the taxonomic and functional infant gut microbiome. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2021) 34(20):3335–43. doi: 10. 1080/14767058.2019.1684466

31. Bennet R, Eriksson M, Nord C, Zetterström R. Fecal bacterial microflora of newborn infants during intensive care management and treatment with five antibiotic regimens. *Pediatr Infect Dis.* (1986) 5(5):533–9. doi: 10.1097/00006454-198609000-00009

32. Bennet R, Nord CE. Development of the faecal anaerobic microflora after caesarean section and treatment with antibiotics in newborn infants. *Infection*. (1987) 15(5):332-6. doi: 10.1007/BF01647733

33. Blakey J, Lubitz L, Barnes GL, Bishop RF, Campbell NT, Gillam GL. Development of gut colonisation in pre-term neonates. *J Med Microbiol.* (1982) 15 (4):519–29. doi: 10.1099/00222615-15-4-519

34. Bonnemaison E, Lanotte PH, Cantagrel S, Thionois S, Quentin R, Chamboux C, et al. Comparison of fecal flora following administration of two antibiotic protocols for

suspected maternofetal infection. Biol Neonate. (2003) 84(4):304–10. doi: 10.1159/000073639

35. Borderon JC, Rastegar A, Rolland JC, Laugier J. Effect of an amoxicillinclavulanic acid combination on the aerobic fecal flora in children. *Pathol Biol.* (1985) 33(5 Pt 2):569–72.

36. Bourke CD, Gough EK, Pimundu G, Shonhai A, Berejena C, Terry L, et al. Cotrimoxazole reduces systemic inflammation in HIV infection by altering the gut microbiome and immune activation. *Sci Transl Med.* (2019) 11(486):eaav0537. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aav0537

37. Bourrillon A, Lambert-Zechovsky N, Beaufils F, Lejeune C, Bingen E, Blum C, et al. Antibiotic therapy, intestinal microbial pullulation and risk of infection in children. *Arch Fr Pediatr.* (1978) 35(10 Suppl):23–37.

38. Butel MJ, Boussougnant Y. Influence de lérythromycine sur la flore fécale de lenfant de moins de un an. *Pathol Biol.* (1986) 34(5):591–5.

39. Butel MJ, Suau A, Campeotto F, Magne F, Aires J, Ferraris L, et al. Conditions of Bifidobacterial Colonization in Preterm Infants: A Prospective Analysis (2007). Available online at: http://journals.lww.com/jpgn

40. Chang HY, Chiau JSC, Ho YH, Chang JH, Tsai KN, Liu CY, et al. Impact of early empiric antibiotic regimens on the gut microbiota in very low birth weight preterm infants: an observational study. *Front Pediatr.* (2021) 9:651713. doi: 10.3389/fped. 2021.651713

41. Chernikova DA, Koestler DC, Hoen AG, Housman ML, Hibberd PL, Moore JH, et al. Fetal exposures and perinatal influences on the stool microbiota of premature infants. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2016) 29(1):99–105. doi: 10.3109/14767058. 2014.987748

42. D'Agata AL, Wu J, Welandawe MKV, Dutra SVO, Kane B, Groer MW. Effects of early life NICU stress on the developing gut microbiome. In: *Developmental Psychobiology*. John Wiley and Sons Inc. (2019) p. 650–60.

43. Dahl C, Stigum H, Valeur J, Iszatt N, Lenters V, Peddada S, et al. Preterm infants have distinct microbiomes not explained by mode of delivery, breastfeeding duration or antibiotic exposure. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2018) 47(5):1658–69. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyy064

44. Dardas M, Gill SR, Grier A, Pryhuber GS, Gill AL, Lee YH, et al. The impact of postnatal antibiotics on the preterm intestinal microbiome. *Pediatr Res.* (2014) 76 (2):150-8. doi: 10.1038/pr.2014.69

45. d'Haens EJ, Zwittink RD, Belzer C, Hemels MAC, van Lingen RA, Renes IB, et al. Short-term changes of intestinal microbiota composition in preterm infants after two prophylactic doses of vancomycin. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr.* (2019) 108(10):1919–20. doi: 10.1111/apa.14915

46. Doan T, Arzika AM, Ray KJ, Cotter SY, Kim J, Maliki R, et al. Gut microbial diversity in antibiotic-naive children after systemic antibiotic exposure: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2017) 64(9):1147–53. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix141

47. D'Souza AW, Moodley-Govender E, Berla B, Kelkar T, Wang B, Sun X, et al. Cotrimoxazole prophylaxis increases resistance gene prevalence and α -diversity but decreases β -diversity in the gut microbiome of human immunodeficiency virus-exposed, uninfected infants. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 71(11):2858–68. doi: 10.1093/ cid/ciz1186

48. Eck A, Rutten NBMM, Singendonk MMJ, Rijkers GT, Savelkoul PHM, Meijssen CB, et al. Neonatal microbiota development and the effect of early life antibiotics are determined by two distinct settler types. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15(2):e0228133. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0228133

49. Ferraris L, Butel MJ, Campeotto F, Vodovar M, Rozé JC, Aires J. Clostridia in premature neonates' gut: incidence, antibiotic susceptibility, and perinatal determinants influencing colonization. *PLoS One*. (2012) 7(1):e30594. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030594

50. Forsgren M, Isolauri E, Salminen S, Rautava S. Late preterm birth has direct and indirect effects on infant gut microbiota development during the first six months of life. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr* (2017) 106(7):1103–9. doi: 10.1111/apa.13837

51. Fouhy F, Watkins C, Hill CJ, O'Shea CA, Nagle B, Dempsey EM, et al. Perinatal factors affect the gut microbiota up to four years after birth. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10 (1):1517. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09252-4

52. Fouhy F, Guinane CM, Hussey S, Wall R, Ryan CA, Dempsey EM, et al. High-throughput sequencing reveals the incomplete, short-term recovery of infant gut microbiota following parenteral antibiotic treatment with ampicillin and gentamicin. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2012) 56(11):5811–20. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00789-12

53. Fujita K, Sakata H, Yoshioka H. Selective inhibition of enterobacteriaceae in fecal flora of children by oral trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole. *Pediatr Infect Dis.* (1984) 3 (6):530–3. doi: 10.1097/00006454-198411000-00010

54. Gasparrini AJ, Wang B, Sun X, Kennedy EA, Hernandez-Leyva A, Ndao IM, et al. Persistent metagenomic signatures of early-life hospitalization and antibiotic treatment in the infant gut microbiota and resistome. *Nat Microbiol.* (2019) 4 (12):2285–97. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0550-2

55. Gibson MK, Wang B, Ahmadi S, Burnham CAD, Tarr PI, Warner BB, et al. Developmental dynamics of the preterm infant gut microbiota and antibiotic resistome. *Nat Microbiol.* (2016) 1(4):1–10. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.24

56. Goldmann DA, Leclair J, Macone A. Bacterial colonization of neonates admitted to an intensive care environment. *J Pediatr*. (1978) 93(2):288–93. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(78)80523-X

57. Gong C, Yang L, Liu K, Shen S, Zhang Q, Li H, et al. Effects of antibiotic treatment and probiotics on the gut microbiome of 40 infants delivered before term by cesarean section analysed by using 16s rRNA quantitative polymerase chain reaction sequencing. *Med Sci Monit.* (2021) 27:e928467-1. doi: 10.12659/MSM.928467

58. Greenwood C, Morrow AL, Lagomarcino AJ, Altaye M, Taft DH, Yu Z, et al. Early empiric antibiotic use in preterm infants is associated with lower bacterial diversity and higher relative abundance of enterobacter. *J Pediatr.* (2014) 165 (1):23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2014.01.010

59. Grylack L, Neugebauer D, Scanlon JW. Effects of oral antibiotics on stool Flora and overall sensitivity patterns in an intensive care nursery. *Pediatr Res.* (1982) 16:509–51. doi: 10.1203/00006450-198207000-00001

60. Guggenbichler JP, Koflerj J. Influence of third-generation cephalosporins on aerobic intestinal flora. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (1984) 14:67–70. doi: 10.1093/jac/14.suppl_B.67

61. Hall MA, Cole CB, Smith SL, Fuller R, Rolles CJ. Factors influencing the presence of faecal lactobacilli in early infancy. *Arch Dis Child.* (1990) 65(2):185. doi: 10.1136/adc.65.2.185

62. Hinterwirth A, Sié A, Coulibaly B, Ouermi L, Dah C, Tapsoba C, et al. Rapid reduction of campylobacter species in the gut microbiome of preschool children after oral azithromycin: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2020) 103(3):1266–9. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.19-0940

63. Holton AF, Hall MA, Lowes JA. Antibiotic exposure delays intestinal colonization by Clostridium difficile in the newborn. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (1989) 24(5):811–7. doi: 10.1093/jac/24.5.811

64. Hutchinson RA, Costeloe KL, Wade WG, Millar MR, Ansbro K, Stacey F, et al. Intravenous antibiotics in preterm infants have a negative effect upon microbiome development throughout preterm life. *Gut Pathog.* (2023) 15(1):18. doi: 10.1186/s13099-023-00544-1

65. Itani T, Moubareck CA, Melki I, Rousseau C, Mangin I, Butel MJ, et al. Establishment and development of the intestinal microbiota of preterm infants in a Lebanese tertiary hospital. *Anaerobe*. (2017) 43:4–14. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2016.11.001

66. Jacquot A, Neveu D, Aujoulat F, Mercier G, Marchandin H, Jumas-Bilak E, et al. Dynamics and clinical evolution of bacterial gut microflora in extremely premature patients. *J Pediatr.* (2011) 158(3):390–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.09.007

67. Jenke AC, Postberg J, Mariel B, Hensel K, Foell D, Däbritz J, et al. S100a12 and HBD2 correlate with the composition of the fecal microflora in ELBW infants and expansion of E. COLI is associated with NEC. *BioMed Res Int.* (2013) 2013:150372. doi: 10.1155/2013/150372

68. Jia J, Xun P, Wang X, He K, Tang Q, Zhang T, et al. Impact of postnatal antibiotics and parenteral nutrition on the gut microbiota in preterm infants during early life. *J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2020) 44(4):639–54. doi: 10.1002/jpen.1695

69. Kim CS, Grady N, Derrick M, Yu Y, Oliphant K, Lu J, et al. Effect of antibiotic use within first 48 hours of life on the preterm infant microbiome: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2021) 175:303–5. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.4916

70. Korpela K, Salonen A, Virta LJ, Kekkonen RA, Forslund K, Bork P, et al. Intestinal microbiome is related to lifetime antibiotic use in Finnish pre-school children. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10410. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10410

71. Korpela K, Salonen A, Saxen H, Nikkonen A, Peltola V, Jaakkola T, et al. Antibiotics in early life associate with specific gut microbiota signatures in a prospective longitudinal infant cohort. *Pediatr Res.* (2020) 88(3):438–43. doi: 10. 1038/s41390-020-0761-5

72. Kwon Y, Cho YS, Lee YM, Kim SJ, Bae J, Jeong SJ. Changes to gut microbiota following systemic antibiotic administration in infants. *Antibiotics*. (2022) 11(4):470. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11040470

73. Rosa PSL, Warner BB, Zhou Y, Weinstock GM, Sodergren E, Hall-Moore CM, et al. Patterned progression of bacterial populations in the premature infant gut. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2014) 111(34):12522–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1409497111

74. Lebeaux RM, Madan JC, Nguyen QP, Coker MO, Dade EF, Moroishi Y, et al. Impact of antibiotics on off-target infant gut microbiota and resistance genes in cohort studies. *Pediatr Res.* (2022) 92(6):1757–66. doi: 10.1038/s41390-022-02104-w

75. Li X, Brejnrod A, Thorsen J, Zachariasen T, Trivedi U, Russel J, et al. Differential responses of the gut microbiome and resistome to antibiotic exposures in infants and adults. *Nat Commun.* (2023) 14(1):8526. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-44289-6

76. Lindberg TP, Caimano MJ, Hagadorn JI, Bennett EM, Maas K, Brownell EA, et al. Preterm infant gut microbial patterns related to the development of necrotizing enterocolitis. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2020) 33(3):349–58. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2018.1490719

77. Lu S, Huang Q, Wei B, Chen Y. Effects of β -lactam antibiotics on gut microbiota colonization and metabolites in late preterm infants. *Curr Microbiol.* (2020) 77 (12):3888–96. doi: 10.1007/s00284-020-02198-7

78. Mangin I, Suau A, Gotteland M, Brunser O, Pochart P. Amoxicillin treatment modifies the composition of bifidobacterium species in infant intestinal microbiota. *Anaerobe.* (2010) 16(4):433-8. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2010.06.005

79. Oldenburg CE, Sié A, Coulibaly B, Ouermi L, Dah C, Tapsoba C, et al. Effect of commonly used pediatric antibiotics on gut microbial diversity in preschool children in Burkina Faso: a randomized clinical trial. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* (2018) 5(11): ofy289. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofy289

80. Parker EPK, Praharaj I, John J, Kaliappan SP, Kampmann B, Kang G, et al. Changes in the intestinal microbiota following the administration of azithromycin in a randomised placebo-controlled trial among infants in south India. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7(1):9168. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06862-0

81. Parm Ü, Metsvaht T, Sepp E, Ilmoja ML, Pisarev H, Pauskar M, et al. Impact of empiric antibiotic regimen on bowel colonization in neonates with suspected early onset sepsis. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2010) 29:807–16. doi: 10.1007/s10096-010-0931-1

82. Penders J, Thijs C, Vink C, Stelma FF, Snijders B, Kummeling I, et al. Factors influencing the composition of the intestinal microbiota in early infancy. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 118(2):511–21. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2824

83. Reyman M, van Houten MA, Watson RL, Chu MLJN, Arp K, de Waal WJ, et al. Effects of early-life antibiotics on the developing infant gut microbiome and resistome: a randomized trial. *Nat Commun.* (2022) 13(1):893. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-28525-z

84. Romano-Keeler J, Shilts MH, Tovchigrechko A, Wang C, Brucker RM, Moore DJ, et al. Distinct mucosal microbial communities in infants with surgical necrotizing enterocolitis correlate with age and antibiotic exposure. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13(10):e0206366. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206366

85. Rooney AM, Timberlake K, Brown KA, Bansal S, Tomlinson C, Lee KS, et al. Each additional day of antibiotics is associated with lower gut anaerobes in neonatal intensive care unit patients. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 70(12):2553–60. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciz698

86. Russell JT, Ruoss JL, de la Cruz D, Li N, Bazacliu C, Patton L, et al. Antibiotics and the developing intestinal microbiome, metabolome and inflammatory environment in a randomized trial of preterm infants. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11(1):1943. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-80982-6

87. Sakata H, Fujiia K, Yoshioka H. The effect of antimicrobial agents on fecal Flora of children. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (1986) 29:225–9. doi: 10.1128/AAC.29.2. 225

88. Savino F, Roana J, Mandras N, Tarasco V, Locatelli E, Tullio V. Faecal microbiota in breast-fed infants after antibiotic therapy. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr.* (2011) 100(1):75–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2010.01988.x

89. Schwartz DJ, Langdon A, Sun X, Langendorf C, Berthé F, Grais RF, et al. Effect of amoxicillin on the gut microbiome of children with severe acute malnutrition in Madarounfa, Niger: a retrospective metagenomic analysis of a placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Microbe*. (2023) 4(11):e931–42. doi: 10.1016/S2666-5247(23)00213-6

90. Sunakawa K, Akitaf H, Iwataf S, Satof Y. The influence of cefotaxime on intestinal flora and bleeding diathesis in infants and neonates, compared with other/mactams. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (1984) 14:317–24. doi: 10.1093/jac/14. suppl_B.317

91. Tanaka S, Kobayashi T, Songjinda P, Tateyama A, Tsubouchi M, Kiyohara C, et al. Influence of antibiotic exposure in the early postnatal period on the development of intestinal microbiota. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol.* (2009) 56 (1):80–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.2009.00553.x

92. Tapiainen T, Koivusaari P, Brinkac L, Lorenzi HA, Salo J, Renko M, et al. Impact of intrapartum and postnatal antibiotics on the gut microbiome and emergence of antimicrobial resistance in infants. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9(1):10635. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46964-5

93. Tullus K, Berglund B, Fryklund B, Kühn I, Burman LG. Influence of antibiotic therapy on faecal carriage of P-fimbriated Escherichia coli and other gram-negative bacteria in neonates. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (1988) 22(4):563–8. doi: 10.1093/jac/ 22.4.563

94. Ward DV, Scholz M, Zolfo M, Taft DH, Schibler KR, Tett A, et al. Metagenomic sequencing with strain-level resolution implicates uropathogenic E. coli in necrotizing enterocolitis and mortality in preterm infants. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 14(12):2912–24. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.03.015

95. Wei S, Mortensen MS, Stokholm J, Brejnrod AD, Thorsen J, Rasmussen MA, et al. Short- and long-term impacts of azithromycin treatment on the gut microbiota in children: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *EBioMedicine*. (2018) 38:265–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.11.035

96. Welkon CJ, Long SS, Gilligan PH. Effect of imipenem-cilastatin therapy on fecal Flora. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. (1986) 29:741–3. doi: 10.1128/AAC.29.5.741

97. Xu Y, Milburn O, Beiersdorfer T, Du L, Akinbi H, Haslam DB. Antibiotic exposure prevents acquisition of beneficial metabolic functions in the preterm infant gut microbiome. *Microbiome*. (2022) 10(1):103. doi: 10.1186/s40168-022-01300-4

98. Yassour M, Vatanen T, Siljander H, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Ryhänen SJ, et al. Natural history of the infant gut microbiome and impact of antibiotic treatment on bacterial strain diversity and stability. Available online at: https://www. ScienceTranslationalMedicine.org (Accessed 15 May, 2024).

99. Zhou Y, Shan G, Sodergren E, Weinstock G, Walker WA, Gregory KE. Longitudinal analysis of the premature infant intestinal microbiome prior to necrotizing enterocolitis: a case-control study. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10(3):e0118632. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118632

100. Zhu D, Xiao S, Yu J, Ai Q, He Y, Cheng C, et al. Effects of one-week empirical antibiotic therapy on the early development of gut microbiota and metabolites in preterm infants. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7(1):8025. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08530-9

101. Zwittink RD, Renes IB, van Lingen RA, van Zoeren-Grobben D, Konstanti P, Norbruis OF, et al. Association between duration of intravenous antibiotic administration and early-life microbiota development in late-preterm infants. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2018) 37(3):475–83. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3193-y

102. Zwittink RD, Zoeren-Grobben DV, Renes IB, Lingen RAV, Norbruis OF, Martin R, et al. Dynamics of the bacterial gut microbiota in preterm and term infants after intravenous amoxicillin/ceftazidime treatment. *BMC Pediatr.* (2020) 20(1):1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12887-020-02067-z

103. Doan T, Hinterwirth A, Arzika AM, Cotter SY, Ray KJ, O'Brien KS, et al. Mass azithromycin distribution and community microbiome: a cluster-randomized trial. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* (2018) 5(8):ofy182. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofy182

104. Westerbeek E, Slump R, Lafeber H, Knol J, Georgi G, Fetter W, et al. The effect of enteral supplementation of specific neutral and acidic oligosaccharides on the faecal microbiota and intestinal microenvironment in preterm infants. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2013) 32:269–76. doi: 10.1007/s10096-012-1739-y

105. Borderon JC, Rastegar A, Laugier J, Gold F. The effect of imipenem/cilastatin on the aerobic faecal flora of children. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (1986) 18:121–5. doi: 10.1093/jac/18.Supplement_E.121

106. Lambert-Zechovsky N, Bingen E, Proux M, Aujard Y, Mathieu H. Influence of cefoperazone on the fecal flora in children. *Pathol Biol.* (1984) 32(5):439-42.

107. Lambert-Zechovsky N, Bingen E, Proux MC, Aujard Y, Mathieu H. Influence de l'amoxicilline associée à l'acide clavulanique sur la flore fécale de l'enfant. *Pathol Biol.* (1984) 32(5):436–8.

108. Lambert-Zechovsky N, Bingen E, Beaufils F, Bourrilon A, Mathieu H. Etude de lécosystème intestinal de lenfant - influence de la colistine. *Pathol Biol.* (1981) 29 (5):293–7.

109. Lambert-Zechovsky N, Bingen E, Proux MC, Aufrant C, Mathieu H. Effet du céfotaxime sur lécosystème bactérien intestinal de lenfant. La Nouvelle Presse Médicale. (1981) 10(8):553-5.

110. Bingen E, Leluan G, Desvignes A. Influence de l'ampicilline associée aux aminosides sur l'ecosystème bactérien intestinal de l'enfant (1982).

111. Brignoli C, Vassena E. Effect of spiramycin on intestinal flora in infants. Minerva Pediatr. (1958) 10(29-30):757-62. doi: 10.1097/NNR.000000000000133

112. Moustardier G, Bentegeat J, Le Noc P. Changes in aerobic intestinal flora of infants and young children caused by antibiotics. *Ann Inst Pasteur*. (1956) 10–21.

113. Bai L, Zhou P, Li D, Ju X. Changes in the gastrointestinal microbiota of children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and its association with antibiotics in the short term. *J Med Microbiol.* (2017) 66(9):1297–307. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.000568

114. Li G, Liu L, Lu T, Sui Y, Zhang C, Wang Y, et al. Gut microbiota aggravates neutrophil extracellular traps-induced pancreatic injury in hypertriglyceridemic pancreatitis. *Nat Commun.* (2023) 14(1):6179. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-41950-y

115. Wampach L, Heintz-Buschart A, Hogan A, Muller EEL, Narayanasamy S, Laczny CC, et al. Colonization and succession within the human gut microbiome by archaea, bacteria, and microeukaryotes during the first year of life. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:738. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00738

116. Zimmermann P, Messina N, Mohn WW, Finlay BB, Curtis N. Association between the intestinal microbiota and allergic sensitization, eczema, and asthma: a systematic review. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2019) 143(2):467–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2018.09.025

117. Mokhtari P, Metos J, Babu PVA. Impact of type 1 diabetes on the composition and functional potential of gut microbiome in children and adolescents: possible mechanisms, current knowledge, and challenges. *Gut Microbes*. (2021) 13 (1):1926841. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2021.1926841

118. Wang Y, Wei J, Zhang W, Doherty M, Zhang Y, Xie H, et al. Gut dysbiosis in rheumatic diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 92 observational studies. *EBioMedicine*. (2022) 80. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.104055

119. Maier L, Goemans CV, Wirbel J, Kuhn M, Eberl C, Pruteanu M, et al. Unravelling the collateral damage of antibiotics on gut bacteria. *Nature*. (2021) 599 (7883):120–4. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03986-2

120. LeBlanc JG, Chain F, Martín R, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Courau S, Langella P. Beneficial effects on host energy metabolism of short-chain fatty acids and vitamins produced by commensal and probiotic bacteria. *Microb Cell Fact.* (2017) 16:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12934-017-0691-z

121. Murri M, Leiva I, Gomez-Zumaquero JM, Tinahones FJ, Cardona F, Soriguer F, et al. Gut microbiota in children with type 1 diabetes differs from that in healthy children: a case-control study. *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:1–12. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-46

122. Gao X, Jia R, Xie L, Kuang L, Feng L, Wan C. Obesity in school-aged children and its correlation with gut E. coli and bifidobacteria: a case-control study. *BMC Pediatr.* (2015) 15:1-4. doi: 10.1186/s12887-015-0318-7

123. Pihl AF, Fonvig CE, Stjernholm T, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Holm JC. The role of the gut microbiota in childhood obesity. *Childhood Obes*. (2016) 12(4):292–9. doi: 10. 1089/chi.2015.0220

124. Parker A, Fonseca S, Carding SR. Gut microbes and metabolites as modulators of blood-brain barrier integrity and brain health. *Gut Microbes*. (2020) 11(2):135–57. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2019.1638722

125. Laforest-Lapointe I, Arrieta MC. Patterns of early-life gut microbial colonization during human immune development: an ecological perspective. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:276727. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00788

126. Shao L, Li M, Zhang B, Chang P. Bacterial dysbiosis incites Th17 cell revolt in irradiated gut. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2020) 131:110674. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020. 110674

127. Schlechte J, Zucoloto AZ, Yu J, Doig CJ, Dunbar MJ, McCoy KD, et al. Dysbiosis of a microbiota-immune metasystem in critical illness is associated with nosocomial infections. *Nat Med.* (2023) 29(4):1017–27. doi: 10.1038/s41591-023-02243-5

128. Apel F, Zychlinsky A, Kenny EF. The role of neutrophil extracellular traps in rheumatic diseases. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2018) 14:467–75. doi: 10.1038/s41584-018-0039-z

129. Lin X, Abdalla M, Yang J, Liu L, Fu Y, Zhang Y, et al. Relationship between gut microbiota dysbiosis and immune indicator in children with sepsis. *BMC Pediatr.* (2023) 23(1):516. doi: 10.1186/s12887-023-04349-8

130. O'Neill J. Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally: Final Report and Recommendations. Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. Wellcome Trust and HM Government. (2016). Available online at: https://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/ 160525_Final%20paper_with%20cover.pdf (Accessed September 17, 2024).

131. Heimdahl A, Nord CE, Weilander K. Effect of bacampicillin on human mouth, throat and colon flora. *Infection*. (1979) 7(Suppl 5):S446–51. doi: 10.1007/BF01659768

132. Guo Q, Goldenberg JZ, Humphrey C, El Dib R, Johnston BC. Probiotics for the prevention of pediatric antibiotic-associated diarrhea. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2019) 4. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004827.pub5

133. Leo S, Cetiner OF, Pittet LF, Messina NL, Jakob W, Falquet L, et al. The association between the composition of the early-life intestinal microbiome and eczema in the first year of life. *Front Microbiomes*. (2023) 2:1147082. doi: 10.3389/ frmbi.2023.1147082

134. Dai DLY, Petersen C, Hoskinson C, Bel KLD, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, et al. Breastfeeding enrichment of B. longum subsp. infantis mitigates the effect of antibiotics on the microbiota and childhood asthma risk. *Med (New York, NY).* (2023) 4(2):92–112.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2022.12.002

135. Szajewska H, Canani RB, Domellöf M, Guarino A, Hojsak I, Indrio F, et al. Probiotics for the management of pediatric gastrointestinal disorders: position paper of the ESPGHAN special interest group on gut Microbiota and modifications. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2023) 76(2):232–47. doi: 10.1097/MPG.000000000003633

136. Szajewska H, Kołodziej M. Systematic review with meta-analysis: saccharomyces boulardii in the prevention of antibiotic-associated diarrhoea. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2015) 42(7):793–801. doi: 10.1111/apt.13344

137. Paytuví-Gallart A, Sanseverino W, Winger A. Daily intake of probiotic strain Bacillus subtilis DE111 supports a healthy microbiome in children attending daycare. *Benefic Microbes*. (2020) 11(7):611–20. doi: 10.3920/BM2020.0022

138. Westaway JA, Huerlimann R, Kandasamy Y, Miller CM, Norton R, Watson D, et al. To probiotic or not to probiotic: a metagenomic comparison of the discharge gut microbiome of infants supplemented with probiotics in NICU and those who are not. *Front Pediatr.* (2022) 10:838559. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.838559

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Angela Dramowski, Stellenbosch University, South Africa

REVIEWED BY Cristina Benito-Villalvilla, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE B. Brett Finlay Shinlay@msl.ubc.ca

RECEIVED 23 July 2024 ACCEPTED 28 August 2024 PUBLISHED 14 October 2024

CITATION

Donald K and Finlay BB (2024) Mechanisms of microbe-mediated immune development in the context of antibiotics and asthma. Front. Allergy 5:1469426. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2024.1469426

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Donald and Finlay. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with

distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mechanisms of microbemediated immune development in the context of antibiotics and asthma

Katherine Donald^{1,2} and B. Brett Finlay^{1,2,3*}

¹Michael Smith Laboratories, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ²Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ³Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

The gut houses 70%–80% of the body's immune cells and represents the main point of contact between the immune system and the outside world. Immune maturation occurs largely after birth and is guided by the gut microbiota. In addition to the many human clinical studies that have identified relationships between gut microbiota composition and disease outcomes, experimental research has demonstrated a plethora of mechanisms by which specific microbes and microbial metabolites train the developing immune system. The healthy maturation of the gut microbiota has been well-characterized and discreet stages marked by changes in abundance of specific microbes have been identified. Building on Chapter 8, which discusses experimental models used to study the relationship between the gut microbiota and asthma, the present review aims to dive deeper into the specific microbes and metabolites that drive key processes in immune development. The implications of microbiota maturation patterns in the context of asthma and allergies, as well as the effects of antibiotics on microbe-immune crosstalk, will also be discussed.

KEYWORDS

asthma, allergies, microbial metabolites, microbe-mediated immune imprinting, antibiotics

1 Introduction

1.1 The infant gut microbiota: general patterns in colonization

The gut microbiota is highly dynamic during the neonatal period, and does not reach stability until 3–5 years of age (1). Although there is a basic trajectory of colonization common to most infants, numerous environmental and host factors shape the progression of microbiota establishment. At birth, the infant gut is colonized by aerobic and facultative anaerobic bacteria largely belonging to the Proteobacteria phylum, including *Enterobacteriaceae* species such as *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiella*. These microbes consume oxygen and establish an anaerobic niche within the gut, enabling colonization of primarily Actinobacteria (including *Bifidobacteria* species), along with members of the Firmicutes and Bacteroides phyla over the first months of life (2, 3). Birth mode is the major determinant of microbiota composition in the first weeks of life (4).

The "Bifidobacterium peak", a period during which *Bifidobacteria* species dominate in the infant gut, is established as aerobic bacteria rapidly drop in numbers, and persists for the first few months of life. Feeding practice replaces birth mode as the major determinant

of gut microbiota composition. Breastmilk contains human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), complex prebiotic sugars which directly promote *Bifidobacteria* species and cannot be digested by the infant (5). Breastfed infants thus display a stronger and more persistent Bifidobacterium peak than formula-fed infants. Around the time of solid food introduction (4–6 months), Bifidobacteria species decline and are replaced gradually by Clostridia and some Bacteroides species (6, 7).

The maturation patterns of the infant gut microbiota have been well-characterized through mathematical models, which are designed predict age based on gut microbiota composition (8, 9). Using these models, researchers have found that slow diversification and a strong and persistent Bifidobacterium peak are the hallmarks of healthy microbiota maturation, and that premature diversification is associated with poor health outcomes (7, 10).

1.2 Infant immune development: key features

The period between birth and 3-5 years of age represents a critical period of microbe-mediated immune imprinting that affect life-long systemic health (Figure 1) (11, 12). However, some compartments of the immune system develop in utero, and may be affected by the maternal microbiota. Although the placenta is devoid of bacteria, cytokines and bacterial metabolites can cross the placenta, enabling cross-talk between maternal immune responses to the gut microbiota and fetal development (13). De Agüero et al. were able to transiently colonize otherwise germ-free pregnant mice with Escherichia coli, such that pups would only experience the effects of the microbe in utero (14). They found that pups born to transiently colonized dams displayed increases in several immune compartments important for recognizing and responding to the colonizing microbiota, and that transfer of maternal antibodies across the placenta was responsible for this. This indicates that the influence of the microbiota on immune maturation begins even before birth.

The neonatal immune system is uniquely suited to face the influx of antigenic stimulation that occurs at birth. Newborn T cell responses that are prone toward regulatory and Th2 phenotypes, limiting Th1-mediated inflammation that would typically be induced by foreign bacterial antigens (15). Newborns also display reduced blood neutrophil and monocyte levels, and impaired Toll-like receptor-mediated microbial recognition (16-18). Regulatory cytokines IL-10 and IL-27, which limit inflammation, are elevated in infant blood. Although B cell and dendritic cell (DC) responses converge with maternal phenotypes by 3 months, T cell responses take longer to fully develop, and inflammatory Th1 cell levels increase only after 1 month of age (19). These results come from studies of human peripheral and cord blood samples taken in the first moments or days of life, and illustrate that neonatal systemic immune system is poised to tolerate the colonization and establishment of the gut microbiota.

The gut harbors 70%–80% of the body's immune cells, and analyses of human blood fail to capture immune development occurring at this important mucosal barrier (20). Due to the difficulty in obtaining intestinal tissue samples from human infants, most of our knowledge of gut mucosal immune development comes from animal studies. While the specific timing and order of immune maturation differ between species, the role of microbes and the general patterns of gut development are similar. In both mouse and human neonates, mucous secretion, cell proliferation, antimicrobial peptide production, and immune cell numbers are reduced (21). Over the course of the first few weeks in mice and months in humans, microbial expansion drives the development of an intact mucosal barrier. The interactions that occur during this period not only affect local processes such as oral tolerance and defense against intestinal pathogens and pathobionts, but also systemic immunity and allergy susceptibility (22). The following sections will highlight the major microbes and metabolites that affect specific immune cell populations at both the mucosal and systemic level, with a focus specifically on T cell populations that affect asthma and allergy outcomes. The progression of infant gut microbiota and T cell development is summarized in Figure 1.

2 Short chain fatty acids

Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) are the most well-characterized bacterial products that affect systemic immunity. Acetate, propionate, and butyrate, the most common SCFAs, are produced in the breakdown of prebiotics such as dietary fiber (23). They are taken up by colonocytes and released into circulation to affect a variety of cell types. They primarily bind to either G protein coupled receptors, affecting intracellular pathways, or histone deacetylases, turning on gene expression (24). Among countless other functions throughout the body, SCFAs promote regulatory and anti-inflammatory immune responses.

Acetate alone rescues the altered thymic T cell development observed in germ-free mice (25), and is anti-inflammatory in cultured human-derived organoids (26). All 3 major SCFAs can promote IL-10 production and regulatory T cell (Treg) phenotypes, contributing to immune tolerance and limiting inflammation. This is achieved through direct binding to G protein coupled receptors, affecting downstream pathways in immune cells or by direct inhibition of histone deacetylases that act on *Foxp3*, the gene that encodes the Treg defining transcription factor in the gut (27). Butyrate can also promote gut barrier integrity and limit gut permeability by inducing tight junction expression and mucous production (28).

During the first few months of life, *Bifidobacteria* species, which make up the majority of the gut microbiota in breastfed infants, produce high levels of acetate in the breakdown of HMOs (Figure 1) (29). Changes in diet and environmental exposure, along with cross-feeding of acetate, promote the slow rise of butyrate and propionate producing bacteria mainly belonging to the Firmicutes phylum. While some *Prevotellaceae* species in the Bacteroides phylum produce SCFAs, the *Lachnospiraceae* family includes the most butyrate and propionate producing the the most butyrate and propionate produces (30). Dietary fiber replaces HMOs as the



primary substrate for SCFA production, contributing to a stable and healthy gut community.

The anti-inflammatory effects of SCFAs have been shown to directly limit allergic phenotypes in animal studies. Feeding mice a high fiber diet promotes SCFA producers and limits inflammatory responses in asthma models by increasing Treg responses (31, 32). The weaning reaction to the colonizing microbiota, discussed in Chapter 8, involves SCFA-induced Treg development which protects against later development of Th2-mediated disease (33). Importantly, microbial exposure after weaning is not sufficient to rescue the phenotype, implicating the early-life window as an essential period of SCFA-mediated immune imprinting. SCFAs can even cross the placenta, and acetate has been shown to promote Treg development in the fetal lung and protect against later development of asthma when produced at high levels by the maternal microbiota (34).

The role of SCFAs in allergy protection is also supported by human data. Levels of acetate-producing Bifidobacteria before 6 months are inversely correlated with allergic outcomes (35–37). The abundance of several SCFA producing *Lachnospiraceae* species are also thought to be protective against allergies (38). Levels of butyrate producers are reduced in 1 year old infants that develop allergies (37), and plasma levels of SCFAs are reduced in infants who go on to develop atopic disease (39). Additionally, infants born to mothers who carry the acetate-producer *Prevotella copri* during pregnancy were found to be significantly less likely to develop food allergies (40). This relationship did not depend on whether the infant also carried *P. copri*, potentially implicating trans-placental acetate in the protective effect.

3 Microbial stimulation of regulatory pathways

SCFAs are not the only anti-inflammatory metabolites produced by bacteria in the gut. Indole-3-lactic acid, produced by *Bifidobacterium infantis* in tryptophan catabolism, promotes expression of the negative regulator galectin-1 in Th2 and Th17 cells, contributing to tolerance and limiting inflammation in human infants (41). This was cleverly demonstrated by exposing naïve CD4 + T cells to fecal water extracted from infants supplemented with a *B. infantis* probiotic. Other tryptophan metabolites, produced by a variety of bacteria, including *Lactobacillus reuteri*, also promote Treg responses by binding to Aryl Hydrocarbon receptors (AhR) expressed by intestinal epithelial and immune cells (42, 43).

As mentioned above, the neonatal immune system is alternatively programmed compared to that of adults. The alterations have been described in detail previously, but can be generally summarized as a proneness toward regulatory responses (7). Thus, some antigens that typically induce inflammation actually drive anti-inflammatory responses in infants. For example, newborn DCs produce the regulatory cytokine IL10 in response to the endotoxin LPS (16). Between shifts in the microbiota and the altered immune state of infants, there are numerous mechanisms in place to prioritize Treg development, and for good evolutionary reason: Treg levels seem to be imprinted in early life, as indicated by the "weaning reaction" and the fact that germ-free mice lack intestinal Tregs, a phenotype that can only be restored by colonization during the neonatal period (44). Therefore, sufficient host-microbe interactions specifically during the first months of life are vital to developing tolerance and a strong Treg pool.

4 Microbial stimulation of inflammatory pathways

One of the original theories to explain the hygiene hypothesis was the Th1/Th2 paradigm: the idea that Th1 cells and Th2 cells reciprocally regulate each other, and that sufficient stimulation of Th1 responses was required to dampen Th2 responses involved in allergy (45, 46). Although cytokines produced by Th1 and Th2 cells do limit one another, T cells display a high level of plasticity, and alternative T cell types have emerged. Thus, the idea that the adaptive immune system exists simply as a "balance" between Th1 and Th2 cells has been largely debunked (47). However, there is ample evidence that in addition to promoting regulatory and anti-inflammatory responses, the gut microbiota must be sufficiently diverse and immunostimulatory in order to favor non-Th2 responses and promote proper immune development.

Endotoxin, a pro-inflammatory molecule released by gramnegative bacteria, is a potent stimulator of Th1 responses. In addition to promoting Treg responses, as mentioned above, endotoxin contributes to a slow maturation of Th1 responses (48). As the gut epithelium matures and becomes more proliferative, intracellular endotoxin levels shift, which slowly trains Th1 cells to respond appropriately. Oral endotoxin was also shown to dampen Th2-mediated inflammation in a murine asthma model, likely by limiting Th2-skewed DC recruitment to the lung (49, 50). Polysaccharide A (PSA), produced by Bacteroides fragilis, is taken up by intestinal DCs and carried to lymphoid organs to induce Th1 cells, limiting Th2 inflammation (51). Strains of Lactobacillus, commonly implemented as probiotics, also promote Th1-inducing cytokines by binding and stimulating innate Toll-like receptors expressed by intestinal epithelial cells (52). This has been shown to ameliorate inflammation in the OVA model of allergic asthma (53).

More recently, Th17 cells have emerged as an abundant and important T cell type particularly in the gut. Th17 cells promote barrier integrity, mucous production, and pathogen responses (54). These cells are completely lacking in GF mice, a phenotype that can be rescued by transplantation of a diverse microbiota or colonization with specific tissue-adherent microbes (44). Th17 cell responses in humans are also likely stimulated by microbes that adhere closely to the epithelial lining, rather than production of a specific metabolite (55). Although Th17 cells are protective in the context of pathogens and oral tolerance, overstimulation of Th17 pathways can contribute to allergic asthma phenotypes in humans and mouse models (56– 58). A balance between Th17 and Treg pathways is thus essential for protecting against both pathogens and allergies. Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells, a type of innate-like lymphocyte that develop during the neonatal period, have also recently been recognized as important players in the microbiotaimmune axis and asthma. Similar to Th17 cells, MAIT cells contribute to inflammation and pathogen resistance, but are thought to actually limit Th2 responses and asthma (59, 60). MAIT cells are missing in GF mice, a phenotype that can only be rescued during early life by colonization with *Enterobacteriaceae* capable of metabolizing riboflavin into MAIT-inducing antigens (61). As mentioned above, *Enterobacteriaceae* are the first colonizers of human infants, and the relationship between this family and MAIT cells may provide an evolutionary reason for this (62).

5 Antibiotics and mechanisms of microbe-immune crosstalk

There is extensive evidence that a loss of SCFAs and Tregs partially mediate the detrimental immunological effects of early life antibiotic exposure. In mice, vancomycin-induced dysbiosis in early life led to a reduction in butyrate-producing Clostridia and more severe allergic lung inflammation (63, 64). SCFA supplementation was sufficient to rescue the antibioticsassociated allergic phenotype. Cefoperazone treatment also significantly reduced SCFA levels in mice (65). Antibiotics also completely disrupt the weaning reaction, permanently reducing the levels of allergy-protective Tregs (33). In humans, antibiotic treatment disrupts the Bifidobacterium peak permanently, and transiently alters *Lachnospiraceae* levels, both of which are important contributors of SCFAs in infancy (66).

In addition to weakening the Bifidobacterium peak, antibiotics limit Bacteroides species and overall diversity in infants, which could limit Th1 induction by the microbiota and contribute to Th2skewing and allergies (67). Recovery from antibiotics involves an early emergence of Clostridia species, and a faster diversification of the gut microbiota. While Clostridia have beneficial roles in immune activation, through SCFA production and Treg induction, some members of this class promote Th17 responses (66). Therefore, premature Clostridia colonization and general diversification in replacement of the Bifidobacterium peak may promote early and elevated Th17 responses and limit Treg induction by *Bifidobacteria*, contributing to allergic disease susceptibility. Antibiotics have also been shown to limit MAIT cell development by targeting riboflavin metabolizing microbes (68). As expected, this altered phenotype was specific to antibiotic exposure during the early-life period.

6 Conculsions

As communicated in this review, early life is a key period of immune maturation that is guided by the gut microbiota. The immune system of infants is uniquely prepared to face and respond to microbial stimulation, and the timing of antigenic exposure shapes the delicate balance of immune populations that affect lifelong systemic health. There are several key stages of gut microbiota maturation that occur alongside mucosal and immune development: Initial colonization with *Enterobacteriaceae* species contributes to MAIT cell development, a strong and prolonged "Bifidobacterium" peak drives Treg development through SCFAs and other metabolites, and a slow diversification and emergence of new SCFA producers promote barrier integrity, appropriately trained Th1 responses, and continued tolerance. Antibiotic administration during infancy significantly disrupts many of these key processes, and the studies described above demonstrate some of the many mechanistic explanations for the long-term detrimental effects of antibiotics on host health and allergic disease susceptibility.

Microbiota composition is summarized over the course of the first few years of life in blue. *Enterobcateriaceae* species seed the intestine first. The "bifidobacteria peak" occurs shortly after, and is defined by the breastfeeding period. Lactobacillus are also more abundant during the first months of life. Clostridia levels rise next, and overall diversity increases over the course of the first few years of life. The most well-studied metabolites produced by these microbes, and the T cell types they primarily stimulate, are displayed above the microbes that generally produce them.

Author contributions

KD: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BF: Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

References

1. Roswall J, Olsson LM, Kovatcheva-datchary P. Developmental trajectory of the healthy human gut microbiota during the first 5 years of life. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2021) 29(5):1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2021.02.021

2. Bäckhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and stabilization of the human gut microbiome during the first year of life. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2015) 17:690–703. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.004

3. Reyman M, van Houten MA, van Baarle D, Bosch AATM, Man WH, Chu MLJN, et al. Impact of delivery mode-associated gut microbiota dynamics on health in the first year of life. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-13014-7

4. Wampach L, Heintz-Buschart A, Fritz JV, Ramiro-Garcia J, Habier J, Herold M, et al. Birth mode is associated with earliest strain-conferred gut microbiome functions and immunostimulatory potential. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:5091. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07631-x

5. Boudry G, Charton E, Le Huerou-Luron I, Ferret-Bernard S, Le Gall S, Even S, et al. The relationship between breast milk components and the infant gut Microbiota. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:1–21. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.629740

6. Yang R, Gao R, Cui S, Zhong H, Zhang X, Chen Y, et al. Dynamic signatures of gut microbiota and influences of delivery and feeding modes during the first 6 months of life. *Physiol Genet.* (2019) 51:368–78. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00026.2019

7. Donald K, Finlay BB. Early-life interactions between the microbiota and immune system: impact on immune system development and atopic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2023) 23:735–48. doi: 10.1038/s41577-023-00874-w

8. Subramanian S, Huq S, Yatsunenko T, Haque R, Mahfuz M, Alam MA, et al. Persistent gut microbiota immaturity in malnourished Bangladeshi children. *Nature*. (2014) 510:417-21. doi: 10.1038/nature13421

9. Kau AL, Planer JD, Liu J, Rao S, Yatsunenko T, Trehan I, et al. Functional characterization of IgA-targeted bacterial taxa from undernourished Malawian children that produce diet-dependent enteropathy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7 (276):276ra24. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa4877

10. Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, Brien JLO, Hutchinson DS, Daniel P, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. *Nature.* (2018) 562:583–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0617-x

11. Kaplan JL, Shi HN, Walker WA. The role of microbes in developmental immunologic programming. *Pediatr Res.* (2011) 69:465–72. doi: 10.1203/PDR. 0b013e318217638a

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. KD is supported by the Four Year Fellowship Tuition Award, President's Academic Excellence Initiative PhD Award and International Tuition Award at the University of British Columbia.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. Popescu DM, Botting RA, Stephenson E, Green K, Webb S, Jardine L, et al. Decoding human fetal liver haematopoiesis. *Nature*. (2019) 574:365-71. doi: 10. 1038/s41586-019-1652-y

13. Van De Pavert SA, Ferreira M, Domingues RG, Ribeiro H, Molenaar R, Moreira-Santos L, et al. Maternal retinoids control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and set the offspring immunity. *Nature*. (2014) 508:123-7. doi: 10.1038/ nature13158

14. De Agüero MG, Ganal-Vonarburg SC, Fuhrer T, Rupp S, Uchimura Y, Li H, et al. The maternal microbiota drives early postnatal innate immune development. *Science*. (2016) 351(80-.):1296-302. doi: 10.1126/science. aad2571

15. Rudd BD. Neonatal T cells: a reinterpretation. Annu Rev Immunol. (2020) 38:229-47. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-091319-083608

16. Langrish CL, Buddle JC, Thrasher AJ, Molecular DG, Unit I. Neonatal dendritic cells are intrinsically biased against th-1 immune responses. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2002) 128:118–23. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2002.01817.x

17. Corbett NP, Blimkie D, Ho KC, Cai B, Sutherland DP, Kallos A, et al. Ontogeny of toll-like receptor mediated cytokine responses of human blood mononuclear cells. *PLoS One.* (2010) 5:e15041. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015041

18. Elahi S, Ertelt JM, Kinder JM, Jiang TT, Zhang X, Xin L, et al. Immunosuppressive CD71+erythroid cells compromise neonatal host defence against infection. *Nature*. (2013) 504:158–62. doi: 10.1038/nature12675

19. Olin A, Henckel E, Chen Y, Olin A, Henckel E, Chen Y, et al. Stereotypic immune system development in newborn children article stereotypic immune system development in newborn children. *Cell.* (2018) 174:1277–1292.e14. doi: 10. 1016/j.cell.2018.06.045

20. Wiertsema SP, van Bergenhenegouwen J, Garssen J, Knippels LMJ. The interplay between the gut microbiome and the immune system in the context of infectious diseases throughout life and the role of nutrition in optimizing treatment strategies. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:1–14. doi: 10.3390/nu13030886

21. Torow N, Marsland BJ, Hornef MW, Gollwitzer ES. Neonatal mucosal immunology. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2017) 10:5–17. doi: 10.1038/mi.2016.81

22. Belkaid Y, Hand TW. Role of the microbiota in immunity and inflammation. *Cell.* (2014) 157:121-41. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.011

23. Mansuy-Aubert V, Ravussin Y. Short chain fatty acids: the messengers from down below. *Front Neurosci.* (2023) 17:1–7. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2023.1197759
24. Kim CH. Complex regulatory effects of gut microbial short-chain fatty acids on immune tolerance and autoimmunity. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2023) 20:341–50. doi: 10. 1038/s41423-023-00987-1

25. Hu M, Eviston D, Hsu P, Mariño E, Chidgey A, Santner-Nanan B, et al. Decreased maternal serum acetate and impaired fetal thymic and regulatory T cell development in preeclampsia. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10703-1

26. Deleu S, Arnauts K, Deprez L, Machiels K, Ferrante M, Huys GRB, et al. High acetate concentration protects intestinal barrier and exerts anti-inflammatory effects in organoid-derived epithelial monolayer cultures from patients with ulcerative colitis. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2023) 24(1):768. doi: 10.3390/ijms24010768

27. Luu M, Visekruna A. Short-chain fatty acids: bacterial messengers modulating the immunometabolism of T cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2019) 49:842–8. doi: 10.1002/eji.201848009

28. Ney LM, Wipplinger M, Grossmann M, Engert N, Wegner VD, Mosig AS. Short chain fatty acids: key regulators of the local and systemic immune response in inflammatory diseases and infections. *Open Biol.* (2023) 3(3):230014. doi: 10.1098/ rsob.230014

29. O'Callaghan A, van Sinderen D. Bifidobacteria and their role as members of the human gut microbiota. *Front Microbiol.* (2016) 7:925. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00925

30. Fusco W, Lorenzo MB, Cintoni M, Porcari S, Rinninella E, Kaitsas F, et al. Shortchain fatty-acid-producing bacteria: key components of the human gut Microbiota. *Nutrients.* (2023) 15(9):2211. doi: 10.3390/nu15092211

31. Trompette A, Gollwitzer ES, Yadava K, Sichelstiel AK, Sprenger N, Ngom-Bru C, et al. Gut microbiota metabolism of dietary fiber influences allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:159–66. doi: 10.1038/nm.3444

32. Huang MT, Chiu CJ, Tsai CY, Lee YR, Liu WL, Chuang HL, et al. Short-chain fatty acids ameliorate allergic airway inflammation via sequential induction of PMN-MDSCs and treg cells. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Glob.* (2023) 2:100163. doi: 10.1016/j. jacig.2023.100163

33. Al Nabhani Z, Dulauroy S, Marques R, Cousu C, Al Bounny S, Déjardin F, et al. A weaning reaction to microbiota is required for resistance to immunopathologies in the adult. *Immunity.* (2019) 50:1276–1288.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.02.014

34. Thorburn AN, Mckenzie CI, Shen S, Stanley D, Macia L, Mason LJ, et al. Evidence that asthma is a developmental origin disease influenced by maternal diet and bacterial metabolites. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:1–13. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8320

35. Kuitunen M, Kukkonen K, Juntunen-backman K, Korpela R. Probiotics prevent IgE-associated allergy until age 5 years in cesarean-delivered children but not in the total cohort. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2009) 123:335–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008. 11.019

36. Cukrowska B, Bierła JB, Zakrzewska M, Klukowski M, Maciorkowska E. The relationship between the infant gut microbiota and allergy. The role of Bifidobacterium breve and prebiotic oligosaccharides in the activation of anti-allergic mechanisms in early life. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12(4):946. doi: 10.3390/nu12040946

37. Korpela K, Hurley S, Ford SA, Franklin R, Byrne S, Lunjani N, et al. Association between gut microbiota development and allergy in infants born during pandemic-related social distancing restrictions. *Allergy Eur J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2024) 79 (7):1938–51. doi: 10.1111/all.16069

38. Boutin RCT, Sbihi H, Dsouza M, Malhotra R, Petersen C, Dai D, et al. Mining the infant gut microbiota for therapeutic targets against atopic disease. *Allergy Eur J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2020) 75:1–4. doi: 10.1111/all.14244

39. Barman M, Gio-Batta M, Andrieux L, Stråvik M, Saalman R, Fristedt R, et al. Short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) in infants' plasma and corresponding mother's milk and plasma in relation to subsequent sensitisation and atopic disease. *eBioMedicine*. (2024) 101:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2024.104999

40. Vuillermin PJ, Hely MO, Collier F, Allen KJ, Tang MLK, Harrison LC, et al. Maternal carriage of Prevotella during pregnancy in the offspring. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:1-7. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-14552-1

41. Henrick BM, Rodriguez L, Lakshmikanth T, Pou C, Henckel E, Arzoomand A, et al. Bifidobacteria-mediated immune system imprinting early in life. *Cell.* (2021) 184:3884–3898.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.05.030

42. Roager HM, Licht TR. Microbial tryptophan catabolites in health and disease. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1-10. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05470-4

43. Rothhammer V, Quintana FJ. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: an environmental sensor integrating immune responses in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2019) 19:184–97. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0125-8

44. Gensollen T, Iyer SS, Kasper DL, Blumberg RS. How colonization by microbiota in early life shapes the immune system. *Science*. (2016) 352(80-.):539-44. doi: 10.1126/ science.aad9378.How

45. Sironi M, Clerici M. The hygiene hypothesis: an evolutionary perspective. *Microbes Infect.* (2010) 12:421-7. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2010.02.002 46. Garn H, Potaczek DP, Pfefferle PI. The hygiene hypothesis and new perspectives —current challenges meeting an old postulate. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:1–7. doi: 10. 3389/fimmu.2021.637087

47. Rogozynski NP, Dixon B. The Th1/Th2 paradigm: a misrepresentation of helper T cell plasticity. *Immunol Lett.* (2024) 268:106870. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2024.106870

48. Chassin C, Kocur M, Pott J, Duerr CU, Gütle D, Lotz M, et al. MiR-146a mediates protective innate immune tolerance in the neonate intestine. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2010) 8:358–68. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010.09.005

49. Wang J, Ouyang Y, Guner Y, Ford HR, Grishin AV. Ubiquitin-editing enzyme A20 promotes tolerance to lipopolysaccharide in enterocytes. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:1384–92. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0803987

50. Schuijs MJ, Willart MA, Vergote K, Gras D, Deswarte K, Ege MJ, et al. Farm dust and endotoxin protect against allergy through A20 induction in lung epithelial cells. *Science*. (2015) 349(80-.):1106–10. doi: 10.1126/science.aac6623

51. Mazmanian SK, Cui HL, Tzianabos AO, Kasper DL. An immunomodulatory molecule of symbiotic bacteria directs maturation of the host immune system. *Cell.* (2005) 122:107–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.007

52. Ren D, Wang D, Liu H, Shen M, Yu H. Two strains of probiotic Lactobacillus enhance immune response and promote naive T cell polarization to Th1. *Food Agric Immunol.* (2019) 30:281–95. doi: 10.1080/09540105.2019.1579785

53. Cheng SH, Yang TY, Hsu CC, Wei YH, Wu CC, Tsai YC. Lactobacillus paragasseri BBM171 ameliorates allergic airway inflammation induced by ovalbumin in mice via modulating the Th1/Th2 balance. *Microorganisms*. (2022) 10 (10):2041. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms10102041

54. Cheng H, Guan X, Chen D, Ma W. The th17/treg cell balance: a gut microbiotamodulated story. *Microorganisms*. (2019) 7(12):583. doi: 10.3390/ microorganisms7120583

55. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Ando M, Kamada N, Nagano Y, Narushima S, et al. Th17 cell induction by adhesion of microbes to intestinal epithelial cells. *Cell*. (2015) 163:367–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.058

56. Zhao Y, Yang J, Gao YD, Guo W. Th17 immunity in patients with allergic asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. (2010) 151:297-307. doi: 10.1159/000250438

57. Burgess S, Wills-Karp M. Segmented filamentous Bacteria exacerbate experimental murine asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2011) 127:AB165-AB165. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.12.654

58. Margelidon-Cozzolino V, Tsicopoulos A, Chenivesse C, de Nadai P. Role of Th17 cytokines in airway remodeling in asthma and therapy perspectives. Front. *Allergy.* (2022) 3:806391. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2022.806391

59. Shimizu Y, Horigane-Konakai Y, Ishii Y, Sugimoto C, Wakao H. Mucosalassociated invariant T cells repress group 2 innate lymphoid cells in alternaria alternata-induced model of allergic airway inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:1–13. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1005226

60. Shimizu Y, Sugimoto C, Wakao H. Potential of MAIT cells to modulate asthma. *Allergol Int.* (2024) 73:40–7. doi: 10.1016/j.alit.2023.07.006

61. Constantinides MG, Link VM, Tamoutounour S, Wong AC, Perez-chaparro PJ, Han S, et al. MAIT Cells are imprinted by the microbiota in early life and promote tissue repair. *Science*. (2019) 366(80-.):1–30. doi: 10.1126/science.aax6624.MAIT

62. Robertson RC, Manges AR, Finlay BB, Prendergast AJ. The human microbiome and child growth – first 1000 days and beyond. *Trends Microbiol.* (2019) 27:131–47. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2018.09.008

63. Russell SL, Gold MJ, Hartmann M, Willing BP, Thorson L, Wlodarska M, et al. Early life antibiotic-driven changes in microbiota enhance susceptibility to allergic asthma. *EMBO Rep.* (2012) 13:440–7. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.32

64. Cait A, Hughes MR, Antignano F, Cait J, Dimitriu PA, Maas KR, et al. Microbiome-driven allergic lung inflammation is ameliorated by short-chain fatty acids. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2018) 11:785–95. doi: 10.1038/mi.2017.75

65. Guinan J, Wang S, Hazbun TR, Yadav H, Thangamani S. Antibiotic-induced decreases in the levels of microbial-derived short-chain fatty acids correlate with increased gastrointestinal colonization of Candida albicans. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45467-7

66. Korpela K, Salonen A, Saxen H, Nikkonen A, Peltola V, Jaakkola T, et al. Antibiotics in early life associate with specific gut microbiota signatures in a prospective longitudinal infant cohort. *Pediatr Res.* (2020) 88(3):438–43. doi: 10. 1038/s41390-020-0761-5

67. Reyman M, Van Houten MA, Watson RL, Chu MLJN, Arp K, De Waal WJ, et al. Effects of early-life antibiotics on the developing infant gut microbiome and resistome: a randomized trial. *Nat Commun.* (2022) 13:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-28525-z

68. Sobel A, Melamed J, Haas D, LeBlanc G, Cirone A, Constantinides M. Antibiotic use in early life subsequently impairs MAIT cell-mediated immunity. *bioRxiv* [Preprint]. (2024). doi: 10.1101/2024.05.10.593643

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jaime Díaz-Zúñiga, University of Chile, Chile

REVIEWED BY Laura Weyrich, The Pennsylvania State University (PSU), United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Stuart E. Turvey ⊠ sturvey@bcchr.ca

RECEIVED 27 June 2024 ACCEPTED 02 October 2024 PUBLISHED 23 October 2024

CITATION

Dai DL, Petersen C and Turvey SE (2024) Reduce, reinforce, and replenish: safeguarding the early-life microbiota to reduce intergenerational health disparities. *Front. Public Health* 12:1455503. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1455503

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Dai, Petersen and Turvey. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Reduce, reinforce, and replenish: safeguarding the early-life microbiota to reduce intergenerational health disparities

Darlene L. Y. Dai, Charisse Petersen and Stuart E. Turvey*

Department of Pediatrics, BC Children's Hospital, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Socioeconomic (SE) disparity and health inequity are closely intertwined and associated with cross-generational increases in the rates of multiple chronic non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in North America and beyond. Coinciding with this social trend is an observed loss of biodiversity within the community of colonizing microbes that live in and on our bodies. Researchers have rightfully pointed to the microbiota as a key modifiable factor with the potential to ease existing health inequities. Although a number of studies have connected the adult microbiome to socioeconomic determinants and health outcomes, few studies have investigated the role of the infant microbiome in perpetuating these outcomes across generations. It is an essential and important question as the infant microbiota is highly sensitive to external forces, and observed shifts during this critical window often portend long-term outcomes of health and disease. While this is often studied in the context of direct modulators, such as delivery mode, family size, antibiotic exposure, and breastfeeding, many of these factors are tied to underlying socioeconomic and/or cross-generational factors. Exploring cross-generational socioeconomic and health inequities through the lens of the infant microbiome may provide valuable avenues to break these intergenerational cycles. In this review, we will focus on the impact of social inequality in infant microbiome development and discuss the benefits of prioritizing and restoring early-life microbiota maturation for reducing intergenerational health disparities.

KEYWORDS

socioeconomic status, health disparity, SES inequity, early-life exposures, intergenerational factors, microbiota

Introduction

Socioeconomic disparities are correlated with significant health inequities, as a lower socioeconomic status (SES) increases the likelihood of NCDs, such as chronic respiratory diseases, cardiometabolic diseases, oral diseases, and mental illnesses (1–5). Although researchers have identified environmental mediators, the mechanisms through which SE inequity becomes physiologically embedded remain unclear, especially regarding cross-generational health disparities that can be observed at a very young age (6–8). The observation that children from lower SES families are more likely to experience risk factors for NCDs such as obesity, cardiovascular risk, and behavioral difficulties, is alarming, as many of these diseases are associated with comorbidities that can significantly alter their lifelong health trajectories (1, 8). Thus, research into the biological underpinnings linking lower SES to greater

disease risk, with a specific focus on perinatal and early-life risk factors, is increasingly needed.

Our microbiota is a significant factor bridging environmental exposures with host physiology or the microbial community that lives in/on our bodies. In this review, we examine the gut microbiota, which has the greatest bacterial abundance and diversity in the body (9). Immediately after birth, the gut microbiota starts to assemble alongside infant development, eventually forming a stable community. During this early stage, the developing microbiota is highly sensitive to external influences, with changes impacting long-term immune regulation, metabolism, and behavior (10–13). Therefore, infancy is a critical period of microbial and childhood development that has far-reaching impacts on later childhood health and disease.

Interest surrounding the impact of SES on the infant and childhood gut microbiota has grown in recent years, and many factors known to disrupt infant gut microbial communities (e.g., elevated cesarean-sections (C-sections), difficulty maintaining breastfeeding, reduced access to fresh foods, increased antibiotic exposure, and reduced proximity to greenspace) are also encountered by SES-disadvantaged populations and communities (14–19). As such, the role the microbiota plays in observed SES-mediated childhood health inequities is gradually gaining recognition. In this review, we will highlight findings linking SES-associated factors to the infant's gut microbiota (Table 1). We will also explore accessible strategies for safeguarding and restoring the early-life microbiota in our society, with the goal of reducing health disparities for future generations (Figure 1).

Infant microbiome development

Before exploring the links between social inequity and the infant microbiome, it is important to discuss our current understanding of microbiota development. The primary seeding point for the gut microbiota is at birth, which is significantly influenced by the delivery mode, maternal microbiota, and maternally-derived metabolites and immune components (20-25). Initial colonization is primarily dominated by aerobes and facultative anaerobes, such as *Staphylococcus* and y-Proteobacteria, which gradually reduce oxygen to support anaerobic colonizers, such as Bifidobacterium, Bacteroides, and multiple Clostridia genera (26). Within the first few months of life, species diversity is limited and composition is primarily dictated by type of milk diet (27). Later, as infants experience more varied environments and diets, their microbiota diversity increases. As such, prior to reaching a stable community, the microbiota matures in the first 1-3 years through patterned temporal shifts in species abundances that can be commonly detected across studies (11, 28, 29). Supporting the importance of this maturation process, microbiota disruptions during infancy-but not later-are broadly associated with a higher likelihood of allergic disease, obesity, and behavioral disorders (11, 12, 29, 30). Therefore, prioritizing normative microbiota maturation by limiting disruptions or implementing restorative interventions during this sensitive window can yield lifelong health benefits.

Potential pathways for social inequity to influence the infant microbiome

Effects of early-life exposures

Delivery mode

The mode of delivery is a primary driver of the initial compositional variance in the infant gut microbiota. However, multiple independent studies within developed nations have shown that women from lower SE backgrounds have a higher likelihood of undergoing C-section deliveries (31-34). Compared to infants born vaginally, infants born via C-sections harbor fewer maternal bacterial strains, display reduced diversity, and tend to have fewer Bacteroides and Bifidobacterium; and these alterations are independent of additional exposures, such as antibiotic use during delivery and a reduced ability to initiate breastfeeding (24, 25, 27, 35-40). However, the impact of this on later health is still unclear. Although a C-section delivery within some studies has been implicated in an elevated risk of childhood obesity, asthma and immune disorders (41-43), others have not observed any correlation (44, 45). This likely underscores a compounding effect of risk factors and implies that the negative outcomes associated with C-section deliveries could be outweighed by subsequent early-life experiences.

Breastfeeding

Immediately after birth, the diverse array of human milk components is crucial for shaping the infant's gut microbiota and supporting infant development (36, 39, 46, 47). These include secretory IgA (sIgA) (48), the milk microbiota, which serves as a significant seeding source (25, 49), and metabolites such as human milk oligosaccharides (HMOs), which serves as the third most abundant milk metabolite yet primarily serve to nourish 'infant-type' bacteria (50). As a constant force on the infant microbiome, breastfeeding can mitigate disruptions caused by both C-sections and antibiotic exposure (51-53). However, lower-income families often report difficulty initiating breastfeeding and shorter overall breastfeeding durations (54, 55). This has the potential to profoundly impact the infant microbiota, as formula-fed babies experience premature microbiota maturation, reduced abundance of Bifidobacterium, and more opportunistic pathogens compared to their breastfed counterparts (24, 27, 36, 37, 39, 52, 56, 57). These differences are potentially associated with child health consequences, as evidenced by a large, nationally representative longitudinal study in the United States (n = 8,030 participants), which identified infant feeding practices as a significant mediator between SES and early childhood obesity (58). Thus, greater support is needed for mothers and families who would otherwise breastfeed their infants, but are unable to do so.

Antibiotics

Antibiotics are a potent medical intervention that reduces or depletes pathogenic microbes and has considerably reduced human mortality since their discovery. However, antibiotics, especially broadspectrum ones, commonly target both pathogenic and beneficial commensal bacteria indiscriminately; and extensive evidence exists for their off-target disruption of infant gut microbiota homeostasis. The detrimental effects include a reduction in species diversity, an enrichment of antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs), the loss of

Early life and cross-generational exposures			Associated change in infant microbiota		Reference	
Category	Factor	Diversity	Maturation	Composition		
Delivery mode	C-section	ţ	Ļ	↓Bacteroides, Bifidobacterium, Parabacteroides, Escherichia ^c ↑Clostridiales, Enterobacteriaceae ^c Fewer maternal microbes ^c	(24, 25, 27, 35-39)	
Breastfeeding	Human milk fed	ţ	ţ	↑Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus ^c ↓Clostridiales, Enterobacteriaceae, Staphyloccoccaceae ^c Cessation of BF drives the maturation of the infant gut, as marked by the phylum Firmicutes ^c	(24, 27, 36, 37, 39, 52, 56, 57)	
Antibiotics	Amoxicillin, penicillins, combination antibiotics, etc.	Ļ	Ļ	↓ Bifidobacterium , Clostridiales , <i>Bacteroides fragilis</i> ^C ↑ γ-Proteobacteria , Enterobacteriaceae, ARGs ^C	(35, 37, 38, 52, 59–61)	
	Penicillin, vancomycin or combination	Ļ	n/a	↓Bacteroidetes ^M ↑Firmicutes ^M	(62, 63)	
	Streptomycin	NS	n/a	↑Bacteroidetes (Porphyromonadaceae and Bacteroidaceae) ^M ↓Clostridiales ^M		
Malnutrition	Kwashiorkor/severe acute malnutrition	Ţ	ţ	↓Methanobrevibacter smithii, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Bifidobacterium longum and Lactobacillus mucosae ^C ↑Streptococcus gallolyticus, Proteobacteria and Fusobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Desulfovibrio genus and Campylobacterales order ^C ↑B. wadsworthia (related to Desulfovibrio) and members of the order Clostridiales ^{C&M}	(78, 81–84)	
	Malnourished diet (low protein & fat) vs. control	¢	n/a	†Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria ^M ↓Lactobacillaceae ^M	(79)	
	Low micronutrient diet (low vitamins, zinc and iron) vs. control	¢	n/a	↓Firmicutes and Erysipelotrichaceae ^M ↑Proteobacteria and Enterobacteriaceae ^M	(80)	
Environment	Older sibling	1	ſ	1 m: \uparrow Bifidobacterium , Hungatella, Pediococcus and \downarrow Clostridium ^C 6 m-1 y: \downarrow Escherichia/Shigella, other Enterobacteriaceae, Veillonella, and \uparrow Prevotella, Eisenbergiella ^C	(27, 37, 56, 93)	
	Pets (dog, cat)	NS	¢	<i>↑Ruminococcus, Oscillospira</i> ^c ↓Streptococcaceae ^c	(27, 94)	
	Farm or farm-like	NS	n/a	↑Bifidobacteriaceae (B. infantis), Clostridiaceae, Aerococcaceae ^C	(95)	
	Air pollution (PM ₁₀ , PM _{2.5} , NO ₂)	NS	n/a	\uparrow Actinomyces (Actinobacteria), Clostridium, Enterococcus, Eubacterium (Firmicutes), and Haemophilus (Proteobacteria) \downarrow Alistipes, Phascolarctobacterium (Proteobacteria) ^C	(96)	

(Continued)

Dai et al.

Early life and cross-generational exposures		Associated change in infant microbiota			Reference
Category	Factor	Diversity	Maturation	Composition	
Maternal diet	Diet intake based on FFQ	n/a	n/a	aMED score: <i>†</i> Clostridiaceae spp. and <i>↓</i> Bacteroides uniformis, Escherichia coli, [Ruminococcus] gnavus ^C Fruit intake: <i>†</i> Clostridiaceae and <i>↓</i> Bifidobacterium ^C Fish intake: <i>†</i> Streptococcus agalactiae and <i>↓</i> Bacteroides uniformis ^C Dairy intake: <i>†</i> Clostridium neonatale, C. butyricum, Staphylococcus spp. and <i>↓</i> Lachnospiraceae spp. ^C	(40)
	High fat intake vs. control (DSQ)	n/a	n/a	$\uparrow Enterococcus$ and $\downarrow Bacteroides^{C}$	(104)
	Low-MAC	Ļ	n/a	↓Bacteroidales ^M	(105)
Prenatal antibiotics	Ampicillin, penicillin	ţ	n/a	↓ Bifidobacterium, Bacteroides , Blautia, Roseburia, Ruminococcus, Streptococcus ↑ Proteobacteria , Escherichia, Oscillospora, Pseudobacter, Veillonella dispar, ARGs ^C	(114, 115)
Prenatal distress	OASIS, PSS, PHQ	ţ	n/a	↓Bifidobacterium dentium, Bifidobacterium longum, Streptococcus salivarius, Lactobacillus rhamnosus ^C	(120)
	EPDS, SCL, PRAQ	NS	n/a	↓Akkermansia, Lactobacillus ^c ↑γ-Proteobacteria ^c	(121)
	Receive stress vs. control	Ļ	n/a	\downarrow Lactobacillus, Streptococcus ^M	(122)
	Stress & delivery mode	NS	n/a	$\downarrow E.$ coli, Streptococcus acidominimus, Streptococcus thoraltensis DSM12221, Lactobacillus murinus ASF361 and \uparrow Peptococcaceae ^M	(123)
Maternal smoke exposure	Prenatal and postnatal smoking	î	n/a	1 m: \uparrow <i>Ruminococcus</i> and <i>Akkermansia</i> ^C 3 m: \uparrow Firmicutes richness and diversity ^C 6 m: \uparrow <i>Bacteroides</i> and <i>Staphylococcus</i> ^C	(128, 129)

This table describes how early-life exposures and intergenerational transmission factors affect the infant gut microbiome. Results with multiple pieces of evidence are highlighted in bold. NS, not significant; n/a, not available; C, clinical; M, mouse; ARG, antimicrobial resistance genes; aMED, alternative Mediterranean diet; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; DSQ, Dietary Screener Questionnaire; MAC, microbiota-accessible carbohydrates (dietary fiber); OASIS, Overall Anxiety Severity and Impairment Scale; PHQ, Patient Health Questionnaire; PSS, Perceived Stress Scale; EPDS, Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale; SCL-90, Symptom Checklist-90; PRAQ-R, The 10-item Pregnancy-Related Anxiety Questionnaire–Revised.



beneficial bystanders such as Bifidobacterium and Clostridia members, and elevated γ -Proteobacteria during recovery (35, 37, 38, 52, 59–61). In addition, a number of animal studies provide evidence of the causal impact of early-life antibiotic-induced microbiota disruptions on long-term host health (62, 63). Infancy is particularly sensitive to the disruptions of early-life antibiotic exposure, which is widely associated with subsequent risk of inflammatory bowel disease, atopy, asthma, and obesity (61, 64-68). Despite being intrinsically linked to medical care access, lower SES in wealthy countries is paradoxically associated with higher early-life antibiotic exposure (69-71). Indeed, a large US study found that children from lower SES families, particularly in high-poverty areas, received more antibiotics in the first month of life despite receiving fewer antibiotic prescriptions over their lifetime (72). More alarming trends are seen from children in low- and middleincome countries, who are prescribed an average of 25 antibiotic prescriptions during their first 5 years of life. This is a remarkable amount considering that two antibiotic prescriptions per year are considered excessive in many high-income countries (73). Antibiotic stewardship initiatives, which primarily aim at reducing the spread of antimicrobial resistance, may therefore possess the additional benefit of preserving the healthy infant microbiota (60, 71, 74, 75).

Malnutrition

Malnutrition can be characterized by the over- or underbioavailability of both macro- and micronutrients, and is commonly observed in low SES and minoritized populations (2, 76, 77). Due to its capacity to regulate nutritional harvest, the gut microbiota is an important nexus between diet and health outcomes (30). This is evidenced by a longitudinal study of Malawian twins, which found that poorly matured gut microbiota was associated with malnutrition and the causal relationship between microbiota and malnutrition is supported by multiple independent mouse studies (78–80). Malnutrition is associated with reduced obligate anaerobic species and an increase in potentially pathogenic microbes in the infant gut microbiome (78, 81–84). Furthermore, this phenomenon is widespread, as multiple studies in low-SES countries have consistently demonstrated decreased bacterial diversity in malnourished children, reduced beneficial microbes and increased pathogen enrichment (82, 84, 85). Recent randomized clinical trials have established that microbiota-directed foods, but not caloric intake alone, successfully support growth recovery in malnourished children (86, 87). These findings confirm the microbiota's role in malnutrition and emphasize the need for microbiota-informed interventions in its management.

Environment

The environment to which humans are exposed throughout their lives is a complex and important determinant of microbiota composition, with broad implications for NCDs (88–92). The infant microbiota is particularly reflective of its surroundings, with exposures from air pollution, older siblings, pets, and farms all linked to differences in composition (27, 37, 56, 93–96). Furthermore, these have enduring impacts on both the microbiota community and our health. For instance, a comprehensive Dutch study found that childhood living environments were significantly associated with adult microbiota composition despite only a weak association between childhood and adult urbanicity (97). Similarly, research has shown that children who lived on farms or near farm-like environments during the perinatal period had a lower risk of asthma later in life (98, 99). Given that an increase in SES in urban environments is positively linked to surrounding greenspace and biodiversity, and that SES-disadvantaged neighborhoods exhibit measurably reduced microbiota diversity (92), efforts to 'rewild' our cities and expanding public access to greenspaces could be incredibly effective ways to facilitate these vital health-promoting microbial exposures.

Intergenerational transmission

Maternal diet

The quality of the maternal diet is heavily influenced by the resources afforded by SES (100-102). Not only do mothers' dietary patterns influence their own microbiota, they are also determinants of health outcomes during and after pregnancy (102, 103). As such, maternal diet can significantly influence the infant microbiota via impacting breastfeeding outcomes, altering breastmilk components, or influencing maternal microbes that seed the infant (40, 104). Importantly, these effects can persist or even compound over generations (105). The exact impacts that maternal diet has on health outcomes of offspring are best measured in well controlled animal models. For instance, after researchers in China found that maternal obesity affected child neurodevelopment, they were able to mirror the phenomenon in mice by maternal fecal microbial transplantation (FMT) and reverse the phenotype by feeding the dams high-fiber diets (106). Similarly, a maternal low-fiber diet in mice predisposed offspring to severe lower respiratory tract infections and asthma, and milk microbes from dams fed a high-fiber diet were able to rescue this effect (107). Therefore, prioritizing access to nutritiously complete maternal diets may mitigate detrimental cross-generational impacts of low SES on infant and child health.

Prenatal antibiotics

The relationship between SES and prenatal antibiotic use remains unclear, with results being largely dependent on the specific SES measures, study cohort demographics, and economic status of the origin country (108-110). However, we mention it because, despite birth being a crucial seeding point for the microbiota, the rates of antibiotic prescription during pregnancy and birth are markedly high. Indeed, in Western countries, between 30 and 40% of women receive antibiotics either prenatally or during birth, with the majority prescribed for prophylactic reasons (111-113). This has real consequences on the neonatal microbiota. Infants with mothers exposed to antibiotics during pregnancy are reported to have reduced microbial diversity, less abundant Bacteriodetes and Bifidobacteria, and expanded γ -Proteobacteria (114, 115). Importantly, while the risks associated with antibiotic disruptions can be mitigated with breastfeeding, this may be less available to mothers of lower SES, particularly in countries with reduced access to paid maternity leave (52, 116).

Prenatal distress

The strong link between lower SES and prenatal distress is associated with several adverse health outcomes in offspring, such as preterm birth, low birth weight, and negative neurodevelopmental outcomes (117–119). Various changes have been reported between infant microbiota and different indicators of prenatal stress (e.g., subjective distress, cortisol level, precarity, prenatal anxiety, depression, and perceived stress), the most consistent being enrichment of γ -Proteobacteria and reduction in *Bifidobacterium*. Although reductions in species diversity have been reported, they have not been as consistent and appear to vary depending on the measure and timing of distress, as well as the age of the offspring (120, 121). These effects may be partially explained by altering gut microbial composition during pregnancy and transmission of disrupted vaginal microbiome at birth based on mouse models (122, 123).

Maternal smoke exposure

Low SES is a risk factor for smoking, and maternal smoking during pregnancy is associated with increased incidence of premature birth, childhood obesity, developmental delays, respiratory disease, and long-term morbidity among offspring (124-127). Evidence connecting maternal smoke exposure to the infant gut microbiota is limited, but consistent. A review of three studies found that infants exposed to maternal smoke had an increased Firmicutes richness, which was associated with an elevated risk of childhood overweight and obesity (128). Similar findings were independently observed in a recent study using the cohort data from the Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) study, Canada, which revealed that maternal smoking during pregnancy increases the risk of being overweight at 1 and 3 years, and this was mediated by an increase in Firmicutes diversity (129). Interestingly, although smoking cessation during pregnancy does not reduce the risk of offspring being overweight, exclusive breastfeeding does.

Utilizing the gut microbiome to tackle disparities in health

Given the impact SES-linked factors have on the infant microbiota and long-term health, prioritizing healthy microbiota development during infancy may alleviate health inequities for future generations. Considerable attention has been given in other reviews to highlight specific avenues that reduce disruptions, reinforce health-promoting microbial interactions, and replenish important species when they are lost (10, 130–132). We will highlight methods that can be broadly integrated into public health efforts to inclusively bolster infant microbiota development throughout our society.

Reduce: promote antibiotic stewardship

An increasing number of antibiotic stewardship programs (ASPs) have been successfully implemented worldwide, leading to reduced antibiotic use, improved clinical and microbiological outcomes and economic benefits, indicating the effectiveness of this public health intervention (133–136). While the public focus on antibiotic stewardship has been aimed at limiting antimicrobial resistance, an unintended benefit may be protecting vital microbial species within the infant microbiota, which reduce instances of childhood NCDs. Supporting this, our own findings linked recent declines in antibiotic prescriptions within British Columbia, Canada to lower rates of pediatric asthma, with the infant microbiota demonstrated to be the

likely mediator of this relationship (60). As additional public health ASPs are launched, it will be interesting to observe if these trends are recapitulated across communities.

Reinforce: support breastfeeding and access to donor milk

Despite the clear benefits of breastfeeding and recommendations to initiate within the first hour of life and exclusively breastfeed for the first 6 months, SES-disadvantaged families often have lower breastfeeding initiation and duration rates (137). This can be attributed to barriers such as a lack of breastfeeding educational resources, an absence of breastfeeding experience within previous generations, and employment and financial limitations (132, 138, 139). Some of these can be addressed at the individual or community level, as evidenced by randomized controlled trials that have successfully increased breastfeeding motivation and success (140, 141). However, societallevel policy and fiscal support, such as generous, universally paid parental leave, are needed to decrease the chasm between low- and high-SES families (132, 142). Furthermore, when breastfeeding is just not an option, regardless of support, standard care that includes access to donor breast milk or prioritized research into formulas that mimic human milk is needed to support the infant microbiota (143, 144). All of these in parallel are necessary to improve long-lasting crossgenerational health outcomes and reduce health disparity.

Replenish: restore and boost exposure to missing microbes

Many researchers now believe that our society's intergenerational loss of microbiota biodiversity has paralleled the rise in NCDs (145, 146). This indicates that reinforcements, such as breastfeeding, alone may be insufficient and will need to be complemented by reintroducing key species to infants. Despite the efficacy of full microbiota replacement through FMT for severe diseases such as Clostridioides difficile in older populations, it is unlikely to serve as a preventative measure in infants (147). Even randomized controlled trials that effectively swabbed C-section born neonates with maternal vaginal microbes faced significant opposition from the medical community (148, 149). More feasible are live biotherapeutic products (LBPs) that contain rigorously controlled and tested microbial species to replenish key missing microbes. One excellent example is B. infantis, a crucial HMO-utilizing microbe that has declined in North America (95, 150-152). To combat this, community-based stool testing during checkups could identify infants who would benefit from a B. infantis LBP, which has been shown to successfully colonize infants to reduce gut dysbiosis and shape immune development (151, 153-155). Beyond B. infantis, Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus contain a number of secure and effective species that can colonize both breastmilk and neonate gut microbiota when administered to mothers during pregnancy or lactation (156, 157). However, studies supporting their utility for long-term colonization and health benefits are still lacking (158, 159). In addition to targeted microbial restoration, a broader "rewilding" of urban environments could provide widespread and lasting benefits to counter biodiversity loss. Indeed, the soil microbiota found in revegetated urban spaces mimics that of natural vegetation, supporting the feasibility of reintroducing wild microbes into urban environments. Naturalized greenspaces can boost microbial biodiversity in young children, with measurable impacts benefitting tolerant immune responses (160, 161). In addition, there is more work to be done in public health policy to mitigate SES-associated microbiota and health inequity, such as making healthcare more affordable, providing education to the general public (i.e., hygiene hypothesis), and increasing access to fresh foods. Collectively, public health initiatives may be able to equitably restore necessary early-life microbiota interactions at the community level, thereby reducing or preventing microbiota-associated SES disparities and ensuring equitable health outcomes.

Conclusion

Over the past several decades, growing evidence has demonstrated the impact of early-life and cross-generational factors on infant microbiota development. These factors include delivery mode, breastfeeding, maternal stress, diet, and urbanization, all of which are commonly associated with SES. Since microbiota composition is modifiable and associated with infant immune development and longterm health, it represents an important opportunity to mitigate the impact of SES inequity on health disparity. In this context, broadly integrated biomedical and policy interventions aimed at reducing, reinforcing, and replenishing the disrupted microbiota should be adopted and provided at equalizing access. In addition, further studies aimed at understanding SES-associated microbiota diversity, composition, and functions in large-scale, diverse, and longitudinal settings are needed to better understand the variations in gut microbiota across diverse geographies, ethnicities, lifestyles, and ages.

Author contributions

DD: Conceptualization, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. CP: Conceptualization, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. ST: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. S.E.T. holds a Tier 1 Canada Research Chair in Pediatric Precision Health and the Aubrey J. Tingle Professor of Pediatric Immunology. For this research, support was provided by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR; EC1-144621), the Allergy, Genes and Environment Network of Centres of Excellence (AllerGen NCE) (12CHILD) and Genome Canada/Genome BC (274CHI). D.L.Y.D. is supported by a Canadian Institute of Health Research Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship Doctoral Award (CIHR CGS-D) and the University of British Columbia Four Year Doctoral Fellowship (4YF).

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the value of ongoing conversations with members of the Turvey lab and the CHILD study in refining the concepts developed in this review. The authors acknowledge the support of Courtney Hoskinson in finalizing the article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Braveman PA, Cubbin C, Egerter S, Williams DR, Pamuk E. Socioeconomic disparities in health in the United States: what the patterns tell us. *Am J Public Health*. (2010) 100 Suppl 1:S186–96. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.166082

2. Ismail SU, Asamane EA, Osei-Kwasi HA, Boateng D. Socioeconomic determinants of cardiovascular diseases, obesity, and diabetes among migrants in the United Kingdom: a systematic review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:3070. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph19053070

3. Reiss F, Meyrose AK, Otto C, Lampert T, Klasen F, Ravens-Sieberer U. Socioeconomic status, stressful life situations and mental health problems in children and adolescents: results of the German BELLA cohort-study. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0213700. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0213700

4. Ellison-Loschmann L, Sunyer J, Plana E, Pearce N, Zock JP, Jarvis D, et al. Socioeconomic status, asthma and chronic bronchitis in a large community-based study. *Eur Respir J*. (2007) 29:897–905. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00101606

5. de Lucena EHG, da Silva RO, Barbosa ML, de Araújo ECF, Pereira AC, Cavalcanti YW. Influence of socioeconomic status on oral disease burden: a population-based study. BMC Oral Health. (2021) 21:608. doi: 10.1186/s12903-021-01970-w

6. Moor I, Spallek J, Richter M. Explaining socioeconomic inequalities in self-rated health: a systematic review of the relative contribution of material, psychosocial and behavioural factors. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. (2017) 71:565–75. doi: 10.1136/ jech-2016-207589

7. Bradley RH, Corwyn RF. Socioeconomic status and child development. Annu Rev Psychol. (2002) 53:371–99. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135233

8. Poulain T, Vogel M, Kiess W. Review on the role of socioeconomic status in child health and development. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2020) 32:308–14. doi: 10.1097/MOP.000000000000876

9. Deo PN, Deshmukh R. Oral microbiome: unveiling the fundamentals. J Oral Maxillofac Pathol. (2019) 23:122-8. doi: 10.4103/jomfp.JOMFP_304_18

10. Petersen C, Turvey SE. Can we prevent allergic disease? Understanding the links between the early life microbiome and allergic diseases of childhood. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2020) 32:790–7. doi: 10.1097/mop.000000000000956

11. Donald K, Finlay BB. Early-life interactions between the microbiota and immune system: impact on immune system development and atopic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2023) 23:735–48. doi: 10.1038/s41577-023-00874-w

12. Dominguez-Bello MG, Godoy-Vitorino F, Knight R, Blaser MJ. Role of the microbiome in human development. *Gut.* (2019) 68:1108–14. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-317503

13. Arrieta MC, Stiemsma LT, Dimitriu PA, Thorson L, Russell S, Yurist-Doutsch S, et al. Investigators: early infancy microbial and metabolic alterations affect risk of childhood asthma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:307ra152. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aab2271

14. Amaruddin AI, Hamid F, Koopman JPR, Muhammad M, Brienen EA, van Lieshout L, et al. The bacterial gut microbiota of schoolchildren from high and low socioeconomic status: a study in an urban area of Makassar, Indonesia. *Microorganisms*. (2020) 8:961. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8060961

15. Lewis CR, Bonham KS, McCann SH, Volpe AR, D'Sa V, Naymik M, et al. Family SES is associated with the gut microbiome in infants and children. *Microorganisms*. (2021) 9:1608. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms9081608

16. Lapidot Y, Reshef L, Maya M, Cohen D, Gophna U, Muhsen K. Socioeconomic disparities and household crowding in association with the fecal microbiome of school-age children. *NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes*. (2022) 8:10. doi: 10.1038/s41522-022-00271-6

17. Gschwendtner S, Kang H, Thiering E, Kublik S, Fösel B, Schulz H, et al. Early life determinants induce sustainable changes in the gut microbiome of six-year-old children. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:12675. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49160-7

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

18. Francis J, Mildon A, Stewart S, Underhill B, Tarasuk V, Di Ruggiero E, et al. Vulnerable mothers' experiences breastfeeding with an enhanced community lactation support program. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2020) 16:e12957. doi: 10.1111/mcn.12957

19. Christian VJ, Miller KR, Martindale RG. Food insecurity, malnutrition, and the microbiome. Curr Nutr Rep. (2020) 9:356–60. doi: 10.1007/s13668-020-00342-0

20. Rackaityte E, Halkias J, Fukui EM, Mendoza VF, Hayzelden C, Crawford ED, et al. Viable bacterial colonization is highly limited in the human intestine in utero. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:599–607. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0761-3

21. de Goffau MC, Lager S, Sovio U, Gaccioli F, Cook E, Peacock SJ, et al. Human placenta has no microbiome but can contain potential pathogens. *Nature.* (2019) 572:329–34. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1451-5

22. Mishra A, Lai GC, Yao LJ, Aung TT, Shental N, Rotter-Maskowitz A, et al. Microbial exposure during early human development primes fetal immune cells. *Cell*. (2021) 184:3394–3409.e20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.04.039

23. Kennedy KM, de Goffau MC, Perez-Muñoz ME, Arrieta MC, Bäckhed F, Bork P, et al. Questioning the fetal microbiome illustrates pitfalls of low-biomass microbial studies. *Nature*. (2023) 613:639–49. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-05546-8

24. Bäckhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and stabilization of the human gut microbiome during the first year of life. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2015) 17:690–703. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.004

25. Bogaert D, van Beveren GJ, de Koff EM, Lusarreta Parga P, Balcazar Lopez CE, Koppensteiner L, et al. Mother-to-infant microbiota transmission and infant microbiota development across multiple body sites. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2023) 31:447–460.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2023.01.018

26. Robertson RC, Manges AR, Finlay BB, Prendergast AJ. The human microbiome and child growth - first 1000 days and beyond. *Trends Microbiol.* (2019) 27:131–47. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2018.09.008

27. Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, O'Brien JL, Hutchinson DS, Smith DP, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. *Nature*. (2018) 562:583–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0617-x

28. Petersen C, Dai DLY, Boutin RCT, Sbihi H, Sears MR, Moraes TJ, et al. A rich meconium metabolome in human infants is associated with early-life gut microbiota composition and reduced allergic sensitization. *Cell Rep Med.* (2021) 2:100260. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100260

29. Hoskinson C, Dai DLY, Del Bel KL, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, Mandhane PJ, et al. Delayed gut microbiota maturation in the first year of life is a hallmark of pediatric allergic disease. *Nat Commun.* (2023) 14:4785. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-40336-4

30. Reyna ME, Petersen C, Dai DLY, Dai R, Becker AB, Azad MB, et al. Longitudinal body mass index trajectories at preschool age: children with rapid growth have differential composition of the gut microbiota in the first year of life. *Int J Obes*. (2022) 46:1351–8. doi: 10.1038/s41366-022-01117-z

31. Kottwitz A. Mode of birth and social inequalities in health: the effect of maternal education and access to hospital care on cesarean delivery. *Health Place*. (2014) 27:9–21. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.01.005

32. Linton A, Peterson MR, Williams TV. Effects of maternal characteristics on cesarean delivery rates among U.S. Department of Defense healthcare beneficiaries, 1996-2002. *Birth.* (2004) 31:3–11. doi: 10.1111/j.0730-7659.2004.0268.x

33. Joseph KS, Dodds L, Allen AC, Jones DV, Monterrosa L, Robinson H, et al. Socioeconomic status and receipt of obstetric services in Canada. *Obstet Gynecol*. (2006) 107:641–50. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG.0000201977.45284.3c

34. Milcent C, Zbiri S. Prenatal care and socioeconomic status: effect on cesarean delivery. *Health Econ Rev.* (2018) 8:7. doi: 10.1186/s13561-018-0190-x

35. Bokulich NA, Chung J, Battaglia T, Henderson N, Jay M, Li H, et al. Antibiotics, birth mode, and diet shape microbiome maturation during early life. *Sci Transl Med.* (2016) 8:343ra82. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad7121

36. Fehr K, Moossavi S, Sbihi H, Boutin RCT, Bode L, Robertson B, et al. Breastmilk feeding practices are associated with the co-occurrence of Bacteria in Mothers' Milk and the infant gut: the CHILD cohort study. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2020) 28:285–297.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.06.009

37. Penders J, Thijs C, Vink C, Stelma FF, Snijders B, Kummeling I, et al. Factors influencing the composition of the intestinal microbiota in early infancy. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 118:511–21. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2824

38. Yassour M, Vatanen T, Siljander H, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Ryhänen SJ, et al. Natural history of the infant gut microbiome and impact of antibiotic treatment on bacterial strain diversity and stability. *Sci Transl Med.* (2016) 8:343ra81. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aad0917

39. Reyman M, van Houten MA, van Baarle D, Bosch AATM, Man WH, Chu MLJN, et al. Impact of delivery mode-associated gut microbiota dynamics on health in the first year of life. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:4997. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-13014-7

40. Lundgren SN, Madan JC, Emond JA, Morrison HG, Christensen BC, Karagas MR, et al. Maternal diet during pregnancy is related with the infant stool microbiome in a delivery mode-dependent manner. *Microbiome.* (2018) 6:109. doi: 10.1186/ s40168-018-0490-8

41. Sevelsted A, Stokholm J, Bønnelykke K, Bisgaard H. Cesarean section and chronic immune disorders. *Pediatrics*. (2015) 135:e92–8. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-0596

42. Darmasseelane K, Hyde MJ, Santhakumaran S, Gale C, Modi N. Mode of delivery and offspring body mass index, overweight and obesity in adult life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*. (2014) 9:e87896. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087896

43. Kristensen K, Henriksen L. Cesarean section and disease associated with immune function. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2016) 137:587–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.07.040

44. Pyrhönen K, Näyhä S, Hiltunen L, Läärä E. Caesarean section and allergic manifestations: insufficient evidence of association found in population-based study of children aged 1 to 4 years. *Acta Paediatr.* (2013) 102:982–9. doi: 10.1111/apa.12342

45. Ahlqvist VH, Persson M, Magnusson C, Berglind D. Elective and nonelective cesarean section and obesity among young adult male offspring: a Swedish populationbased cohort study. *PLoS Med.* (2019) 16:e1002996. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002996

46. Yang R, Gao R, Cui S, Zhong H, Zhang X, Chen Y, et al. Dynamic signatures of gut microbiota and influences of delivery and feeding modes during the first 6 months of life. *Physiol Genomics*. (2019) 51:368–78. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00026.2019

47. Ballard O, Morrow AL. Human milk composition: nutrients and bioactive factors. *Pediatr Clin N Am.* (2013) 60:49–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2012.10.002

48. Donald K, Petersen C, Turvey SE, Finlay BB, Azad MB. Secretory IgA: linking microbes, maternal health, and infant health through human milk. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2022) 30:650–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2022.02.005

49. Yassour M, Jason E, Hogstrom LJ, Arthur TD, Tripathi S, Siljander H, et al. Strainlevel analysis of mother-to-child bacterial transmission during the first few months of life. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2018) 24:146–154.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.06.007

50. Lin C, Lin Y, Zhang H, Wang G, Zhao J, Chen W. Intestinal 'Infant-Type' Bifidobacteria mediate immune system development in the first 1000 days of life. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1498. doi: 10.3390/nu14071498

51. Korpela K, Salonen A, Hickman B, Kunz C, Sprenger N, Kukkonen K, et al. Fucosylated oligosaccharides in mother's milk alleviate the effects of caesarean birth on infant gut microbiota. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:13757. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-32037-6

52. Dai DLY, Petersen C, Hoskinson C, Del Bel KL, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, et al. Breastfeeding enrichment of *B. longum* subsp. infantis mitigates the effect of antibiotics on the microbiota and childhood asthma risk. *Med.* (2023) 4:92–112.e5. doi: 10.1016/j. medj.2022.12.002

53. Pärnänen KMM, Hultman J, Markkanen M, Satokari R, Rautava S, Lamendella R, et al. Early-life formula feeding is associated with infant gut microbiota alterations and an increased antibiotic resistance load. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2022) 115:407–21. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqab353

54. Foster SF, Vazquez C, Cubbin C, Nichols AR, Rickman RR, Widen EM. Breastfeeding, socioeconomic status, and long-term postpartum weight retention. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2023) 18:1. doi: 10.1186/s13006-022-00534-0

55. Carpay NC, Kakaroukas A, Embleton ND, van Elburg RM. Barriers and facilitators to breastfeeding in moderate and late preterm infants: a systematic review. *Breastfeed Med.* (2021) 16:370–84. doi: 10.1089/bfm.2020.0379

56. Ma J, Li Z, Zhang W, Zhang C, Zhang Y, Mei H, et al. Comparison of gut microbiota in exclusively breast-fed and formula-fed babies: a study of 91 term infants. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:15792. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-72635-x

57. Depner M, Taft DH, Kirjavainen PV, Kalanetra KM, Karvonen AM, Peschel S, et al. Maturation of the gut microbiome during the first year of life contributes to the protective farm effect on childhood asthma. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:1766–75. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1095-x

58. Gibbs BG, Forste R. Socioeconomic status, infant feeding practices and early childhood obesity. *Pediatr Obes.* (2014) 9:135–46. doi: 10.1111/j.2047-6310.2013.00155.x

59. Reyman M, van Houten MA, Watson RL, Chu MLJN, Arp K, de Waal WJ, et al. Effects of early-life antibiotics on the developing infant gut microbiome and resistome: a randomized trial. *Nat Commun.* (2022) 13:893. doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-28525-z

60. Patrick DM, Sbihi H, Dai DLY, Al Mamun A, Rasali D, Rose C, et al. Decreasing antibiotic use, the gut microbiota, and asthma incidence in children: evidence from population-based and prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:1094–105. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30052-7

61. Hoskinson C, Medeleanu MV, Reyna ME, Dai DLY, Chowdhury B, Moraes TJ, et al. Antibiotics taken within the first year of life are linked to infant gut microbiome disruption and elevated atopic dermatitis risk. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2024) 154:131-42. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2024.03.025

62. Cho I, Yamanishi S, Cox L, Methé BA, Zavadil J, Li K, et al. Antibiotics in early life alter the murine colonic microbiome and adiposity. *Nature*. (2012) 488:621–6. doi: 10.1038/nature11400

63. Russell SL, Gold MJ, Reynolds LA, Willing BP, Dimitriu P, Thorson L, et al. Perinatal antibiotic-induced shifts in gut microbiota have differential effects on inflammatory lung diseases. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2015) 135:100–109.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.06.027

64. Zhang Z, Wang J, Wang H, Li Y, Jia Y, Yi M, et al. Association of infant antibiotic exposure and risk of childhood asthma: a meta-analysis. *World Allergy Organ J.* (2021) 14:100607. doi: 10.1016/j.waojou.2021.100607

65. Virta L, Auvinen A, Helenius H, Huovinen P, Kolho KL. Association of repeated exposure to antibiotics with the development of pediatric Crohn's disease--a nationwide, register-based Finnish case-control study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2012) 175:775–84. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr400

66. Korpela K, Salonen A, Virta LJ, Kekkonen RA, Forslund K, Bork P, et al. Intestinal microbiome is related to lifetime antibiotic use in Finnish pre-school children. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10410. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10410

67. Ahmadizar F, Vijverberg SJH, Arets HGM, de Boer A, Lang JE, Garssen J, et al. Early-life antibiotic exposure increases the risk of developing allergic symptoms later in life: a meta-analysis. *Allergy.* (2018) 73:971–86. doi: 10.1111/all.13332

68. Miller SA, Wu RKS, Oremus M. The association between antibiotic use in infancy and childhood overweight or obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev.* (2018) 19:1463–75. doi: 10.1111/obr.12717

69. Mangrio E, Wremp A, Moghaddassi M, Merlo J, Bramhagen AC, Rosvall M. Antibiotic use among 8-month-old children in Malmö, Sweden--in relation to child characteristics and parental sociodemographic, psychosocial and lifestyle factors. *BMC Pediatr.* (2009) 9:31. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-9-31

70. Jensen JN, Bjerrum L, Boel J, Jarløv JO, Arpi M. Parents' socioeconomic factors related to high antibiotic prescribing in primary health care among children aged 0-6 years in the Capital Region of Denmark. *Scand J Prim Health Care*. (2016) 34:274–81. doi: 10.1080/02813432.2016.1207145

71. Larsen SB, Jensen MLV, Bjerrum L, Siersma V, Bang CW, Jensen JN. Trend in antibiotic prescription to children aged 0-6 years old in the capital region of Denmark between 2009 and 2018: differences between municipalities and association with socioeconomic composition. *Eur J Gen Pract.* (2021) 27:257–63. doi: 10.1080/13814788.2021.1965121

72. McGurn A, Watchmaker B, Adam K, Ni J, Babinski P, Friedman H, et al. Socioeconomic status and determinants of pediatric antibiotic use. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*. (2021) 60:32–41. doi: 10.1177/0009922820941629

73. Fink G, D'Acremont V, Leslie HH, Cohen J. Antibiotic exposure among children younger than 5 years in low-income and middle-income countries: a cross-sectional study of nationally representative facility-based and household-based surveys. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:179–87. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30572-9

74. Lee GC, Reveles KR, Attridge RT, Lawson KA, Mansi IA, Lewis JS, et al. Outpatient antibiotic prescribing in the United States: 2000 to 2010. *BMC Med.* (2014) 12:96. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-12-96

75. King LM, Bartoces M, Fleming-Dutra KE, Roberts RM, Hicks LA. Changes in US outpatient antibiotic prescriptions from 2011-2016. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 70:370–7. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciz225

76. Ekholuenetale M, Tudeme G, Onikan A, Ekholuenetale CE. Socioeconomic inequalities in hidden hunger, undernutrition, and overweight among under-five children in 35 sub-Saharan Africa countries. *J Egypt Public Health Assoc.* (2020) 95:9. doi: 10.1186/s42506-019-0034-5

77. Barazzoni R, Gortan Cappellari G. Double burden of malnutrition in persons with obesity. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. (2020) 21:307–13. doi: 10.1007/s11154-020-09578-1

78. Smith MI, Yatsunenko T, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Mkakosya R, Cheng J, et al. Gut microbiomes of Malawian twin pairs discordant for kwashiorkor. *Science*. (2013) 339:548–54. doi: 10.1126/science.1229000

79. Brown EM, Włodarska M, Willing BP, Vonaesch P, Han J, Reynolds LA, et al. Diet and specific microbial exposure trigger features of environmental enteropathy in a novel murine model. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:7806. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8806

80. Littlejohn PT, Metcalfe-Roach A, Cardenas Poire E, Holani R, Bar-Yoseph H, Fan YM, et al. Multiple micronutrient deficiencies in early life cause multi-kingdom alterations in the gut microbiome and intrinsic antibiotic resistance genes in mice. *Nat Microbiol.* (2023) 8:2392–405. doi: 10.1038/s41564-023-01519-3

81. Camara A, Konate S, Tidjani Alou M, Kodio A, Togo AH, Cortaredona S, et al. Clinical evidence of the role of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* in severe acute malnutrition. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:5426. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-84641-8

82. Tidjani Alou M, Million M, Traore SI, Mouelhi D, Khelaifia S, Bachar D, et al. Gut bacteria missing in severe acute malnutrition, can we identify potential probiotics by Culturomics? *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:899. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00899

83. Dinh DM, Ramadass B, Kattula D, Sarkar R, Braunstein P, Tai A, et al. Longitudinal analysis of the intestinal microbiota in persistently stunted young children in South India. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0155405. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155405

84. Subramanian S, Huq S, Yatsunenko T, Haque R, Mahfuz M, Alam MA, et al. Persistent gut microbiota immaturity in malnourished Bangladeshi children. *Nature*. (2014) 510:417–21. doi: 10.1038/nature13421

85. Raman AS, Gehrig JL, Venkatesh S, Chang HW, Hibberd MC, Subramanian S, et al. A sparse covarying unit that describes healthy and impaired human gut microbiota development. *Science*. (2019) 365:eaau4735. doi: 10.1126/science.aau4735

86. Gehrig JL, Venkatesh S, Chang HW, Hibberd MC, Kung VL, Cheng J, et al. Effects of microbiota-directed foods in gnotobiotic animals and undernourished children. *Science*. (2019) 365:eaau4732. doi: 10.1126/science.aau4732

87. Chen RY, Mostafa I, Hibberd MC, Das S, Mahfuz M, Naila NN, et al. A microbiotadirected food intervention for undernourished children. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 384:1517–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2023294

 Mills JG, Brookes JD, Gellie NJC, Liddicoat C, Lowe AJ, Sydnor HR, et al. Relating urban biodiversity to human health with the 'Holobiont' concept. *Front Microbiol*. (2019) 10:550. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00550

89. McCall LI, Callewaert C, Zhu Q, Song SJ, Bouslimani A, Minich JJ, et al. Home chemical and microbial transitions across urbanization. *Nat Microbiol.* (2020) 5:108–15. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0593-4

90. Rook GA. Regulation of the immune system by biodiversity from the natural environment: an ecosystem service essential to health. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:18360–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1313731110

91. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. *BMJ*. (1989) 299:1259–60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.299.6710.1259

92. Zuniga-Chaves I, Eggers S, Kates AE, Safdar N, Suen G, Malecki KMC. Neighborhood socioeconomic status is associated with low diversity gut microbiomes and multi-drug resistant microorganism colonization. *NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes*. (2023) 9:61. doi: 10.1038/s41522-023-00430-3

93. Christensen ED, Hjelmsø MH, Thorsen J, Shah S, Redgwell T, Poulsen CE, et al. The developing airway and gut microbiota in early life is influenced by age of older siblings. *Microbiome*. (2022) 10:106. doi: 10.1186/s40168-022-01305-z

94. Tun HM, Konya T, Takaro TK, Brook JR, Chari R, Field CJ, et al. Exposure to household furry pets influences the gut microbiota of infant at 3-4 months following various birth scenarios. *Microbiome*. (2017) 5:40. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0254-x

95. Seppo AE, Bu K, Jumabaeva M, Thakar J, Choudhury RA, Yonemitsu C, et al. Infant gut microbiome is enriched with *Bifidobacterium longum* ssp. infantis in old order Mennonites with traditional farming lifestyle. *Allergy*. (2021) 76:3489–503. doi: 10.1111/ all.14877

96. Bailey MJ, Holzhausen EA, Morgan ZEM, Naik N, Shaffer JP, Liang D, et al. Postnatal exposure to ambient air pollutants is associated with the composition of the infant gut microbiota at 6-months of age. *Gut Microbes.* (2022) 14:2105096. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2022.2105096

97. Gacesa R, Kurilshikov A, Vich Vila A, Sinha T, Klaassen MAY, Bolte LA, et al. Environmental factors shaping the gut microbiome in a Dutch population. *Nature*. (2022) 604:732-9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-04567-7

98. Ege MJ, Mayer M, Normand AC, Genuneit J, Cookson WO, Braun-Fahrländer C, et al. Exposure to environmental microorganisms and childhood asthma. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:701–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1007302

99. Kirjavainen PV, Karvonen AM, Adams RI, Täubel M, Roponen M, Tuoresmäki P, et al. Farm-like indoor microbiota in non-farm homes protects children from asthma development. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1089–95. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0469-4

100. Spielau U, Vogel M, Körner A, Kiess W, Poulain T. Composition and culture of eating (CoCu) pregnancy: a new short questionnaire to evaluate diet composition and culture of eating during pregnancy. *Public Health Nutr.* (2021) 24:6227–35. doi: 10.1017/S1368980021002445

101. Savard C, Lemieux S, Carbonneau É, Provencher V, Gagnon C, Robitaille J, et al. Trimester-specific assessment of diet quality in a sample of Canadian pregnant women. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:311. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16030311

102. Li M, Grewal J, Hinkle SN, Yisahak SF, Grobman WA, Newman RB, et al. Healthy dietary patterns and common pregnancy complications: a prospective and longitudinal study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2021) 114:1229–37. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqab145

103. Tian M, Li Q, Zheng T, Yang S, Chen F, Guan W, et al. Maternal microbe-specific modulation of the offspring microbiome and development during pregnancy and lactation. *Gut Microbes.* (2023) 15:2206505. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2023.2206505

104. Chu DM, Antony KM, Ma J, Prince AL, Showalter L, Moller M, et al. The early infant gut microbiome varies in association with a maternal high-fat diet. *Genome Med*. (2016) 8:77. doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0330-z

105. Sonnenburg ED, Smits SA, Tikhonov M, Higginbottom SK, Wingreen NS, Sonnenburg JL. Diet-induced extinctions in the gut microbiota compound over generations. *Nature*. (2016) 529:212–5. doi: 10.1038/nature16504

106. Liu X, Li X, Xia B, Jin X, Zou Q, Zeng Z, et al. High-fiber diet mitigates maternal obesity-induced cognitive and social dysfunction in the offspring via gut-brain axis. *Cell Metab.* (2021) 33:923–938.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.02.002

107. Sikder MAA, Rashid RB, Ahmed T, Sebina I, Howard DR, Ullah MA, et al. Maternal diet modulates the infant microbiome and intestinal Flt3L necessary for dendritic cell development and immunity to respiratory infection. *Immunity*. (2023) 56:1098–1114.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2023.03.002

108. Stokholm J, Schjørring S, Pedersen L, Bischoff AL, Følsgaard N, Carson CG, et al. Prevalence and predictors of antibiotic administration during pregnancy and birth. *PLoS One*. (2013) 8:e82932. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082932

109. Pisa FE, Casetta A, Clagnan E, Michelesio E, Vecchi Brumatti L, Barbone F. Medication use during pregnancy, gestational age and date of delivery: agreement between maternal self-reports and health database information in a cohort. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2015) 15:310. doi: 10.1186/s12884-015-0745-3

110. Schmiege D, Evers M, Kistemann T, Falkenberg T. What drives antibiotic use in the community? A systematic review of determinants in the human outpatient sector. *Int J Hyg Environ Health.* (2020) 226:113497. doi: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113497

111. Huang H, Jiang J, Wang X, Jiang K, Cao H. Exposure to prescribed medication in early life and impacts on gut microbiota and disease development. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2024) 68:102428. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2024.102428

112. Gardemeister S, Skogberg K, Saisto T, Salonen A, de Vos WM, Korpela K, et al. Crosssectional study of the proportion of antibiotic use during childbirth in full-term deliveries in Finland. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2023) 23:50. doi: 10.1186/s12884-023-05368-0

113. Petersen I, Gilbert R, Evans S, Ridolfi A, Nazareth I. Oral antibiotic prescribing during pregnancy in primary care: UK population-based study. *J Antimicrob Chemother.* (2010) 65:2238–46. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkq307

114. Dierikx TH, Visser DH, Benninga MA, van Kaam AHLC, de Boer NKH, de Vries R, et al. The influence of prenatal and intrapartum antibiotics on intestinal microbiota colonisation in infants: a systematic review. *J Infect*. (2020) 81:190–204. doi: 10.1016/j. jinf.2020.05.002

115. Nogacka A, Salazar N, Suárez M, Milani C, Arboleya S, Solís G, et al. Impact of intrapartum antimicrobial prophylaxis upon the intestinal microbiota and the prevalence of antibiotic resistance genes in vaginally delivered full-term neonates. *Microbiome.* (2017) 5:93. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0313-3

116. Navarro-Rosenblatt D, Garmendia ML. Maternity leave and its impact on breastfeeding: a review of the literature. *Breastfeed Med.* (2018) 13:589–97. doi: 10.1089/bfm.2018.0132

117. Katz J, Crean HF, Cerulli C, Poleshuck EL. Material hardship and mental health symptoms among a predominantly low income sample of pregnant women seeking prenatal care. *Matern Child Health J*. (2018) 22:1360–7. doi: 10.1007/s10995-018-2518-x

118. Demers CH, Bagonis MM, Al-Ali K, Garcia SE, Styner MA, Gilmore JH, et al. Exposure to prenatal maternal distress and infant white matter neurodevelopment. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2021) 33:1526–38. doi: 10.1017/s0954579421000742

119. Van den Bergh BRH, van den Heuvel MI, Lahti M, Braeken M, de Rooij SR, Entringer S, et al. Prenatal developmental origins of behavior and mental health: the influence of maternal stress in pregnancy. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020) 117:26–64. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.07.003

120. Galley JD, Mashburn-Warren L, Blalock LC, Lauber CL, Carroll JE, Ross KM, et al. Maternal anxiety, depression and stress affects offspring gut microbiome diversity and bifidobacterial abundances. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2023) 107:253–64. doi: 10.1016/j. bbi.2022.10.005

121. Aatsinki AK, Keskitalo A, Laitinen V, Munukka E, Uusitupa HM, Lahti L, et al. Maternal prenatal psychological distress and hair cortisol levels associate with infant fecal microbiota composition at 2.5 months of age. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2020) 119:104754. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2020.104754

122. Jašarević E, Howard CD, Misic AM, Beiting DP, Bale TL. Stress during pregnancy alters temporal and spatial dynamics of the maternal and offspring microbiome in a sex-specific manner. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:44182. doi: 10.1038/srep44182

123. Jašarević E, Howard CD, Morrison K, Misic A, Weinkopff T, Scott P, et al. The maternal vaginal microbiome partially mediates the effects of prenatal stress on offspring gut and hypothalamus. *Nat Neurosci.* (2018) 21:1061–71. doi: 10.1038/ s41593-018-0182-5

124. Hiscock R, Bauld L, Amos A, Fidler JA, Munafò M. Socioeconomic status and smoking: a review. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2012) 1248:107–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06202.x

125. Adibelli D, Kirca N. The relationship between gestational active and passive smoking and early postpartum complications. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2020) 33:2473–9. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2020.1763294

126. Philips EM, Santos S, Trasande L, Aurrekoetxea JJ, Barros H, von Berg A, et al. Changes in parental smoking during pregnancy and risks of adverse birth outcomes and childhood overweight in Europe and North America: an individual participant data meta-analysis of 229,000 singleton births. *PLoS Med.* (2020) 17:e1003182. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003182

127. AM AS, Tan PT, Soh SE, Goh A, Shek LP, van Bever HP, et al. Tobacco smoke exposure and respiratory morbidity in young children. *Tob Control.* (2016) 25:e75–82. doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2015-052383

128. McLean C, Jun S, Kozyrskyj A. Impact of maternal smoking on the infant gut microbiota and its association with child overweight: a scoping review. *World J Pediatr.* (2019) 15:341–9. doi: 10.1007/s12519-019-00278-8

129. Peng Y, Tun HM, Ng SC, Wai HK, Zhang X, Parks J, et al. Maternal smoking during pregnancy increases the risk of gut microbiome-associated childhood overweight and obesity. *Gut Microbes*. (2024) 16:2323234. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2024.2323234

130. Dowd JB, Renson A. "Under the skin" and into the gut: social epidemiology of the microbiome. *Curr Epidemiol Rep.* (2018) 5:432–41. doi: 10.1007/s40471-018-0167-7

131. Ishaq SL, Rapp M, Byerly R, McClellan LS, O'Boyle MR, Nykanen A, et al. Framing the discussion of microorganisms as a facet of social equity in human health. *PLoS Biol.* (2019) 17:e3000536. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000536

132. Amato KR, Arrieta MC, Azad MB, Bailey MT, Broussard JL, Bruggeling CE, et al. The human gut microbiome and health inequities. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2021) 118:e2017947118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2017947118

133. Mendelson M, Matsoso MP. The World Health Organization global action plan for antimicrobial resistance. S Afr Med J. (2015) 105:325. doi: 10.7196/samj.9644

134. Park M, Deo D, Tan SPP, Bahtigur N, Lwin N. The effectiveness of an antimicrobial stewardship program in an Australian rural hospital. *Aust J Rural Health.* (2023) 31:522–31. doi: 10.1111/ajr.12979

135. Alawi MM, Tashkandi WA, Basheikh MA, Warshan FM, Ghobara HA, Ramos RB, et al. Effectiveness of antimicrobial stewardship program in long-term care: A fiveyear prospective single-center study. *Interdiscip Perspect Infect Dis.* (2022) 2022:8140429–12. doi: 10.1155/2022/8140429

136. Harun MGD, Sumon SA, Hasan I, Akther FM, Islam MS, Anwar MMU. Barriers, facilitators, perceptions and impact of interventions in implementing antimicrobial stewardship programs in hospitals of low-middle and middle countries: a scoping review. *Antimicrob Resist Infect Control*. (2024) 13:8. doi: 10.1186/s13756-024-01369-6

137. Nixarlidou E, Margioula-Siarkou C, Almperis A, Vavoulidis E, Laganà AS, Dinas K, et al. Clinical significance and main parameters promoting the breast-feeding strategy (review). *Med Int (Lond)*. (2024) 4:14. doi: 10.3892/mi.2024.138

138. Kopp SJ, Kelly EA, DeFranco EA. Influence of social determinants of health on breastfeeding intent in the United States. *Birth.* (2023) 50:858–67. doi: 10.1111/birt.12740

139. Wagner S, Kersuzan C, Gojard S, Tichit C, Nicklaus S, Thierry X, et al. Breastfeeding initiation and duration in France: the importance of intergenerational and previous maternal breastfeeding experiences - results from the nationwide ELFE study. *Midwifery*. (2019) 69:67–75. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2018.10.020

140. Çerçer Z, Nazik E. The effects of the breastfeeding problems management model on breastfeeding problems, breastfeeding motivation and breastfeeding success: a randomized controlled trial. *J Pediatr Nurs.* (2023) 73:e116–24. doi: 10.1016/j. pedn.2023.07.021

141. Gonzalez-Darias A, Diaz-Gomez NM, Rodriguez-Martin S, Hernandez-Perez C, Aguirre-Jaime A. 'Supporting a first-time mother': assessment of success of a breastfeeding promotion programme. *Midwifery*. (2020) 85:102687. doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2020.102687

142. Brown A. Breastfeeding as a public health responsibility: a review of the evidence. *J Hum Nutr Diet.* (2017) 30:759–70. doi: 10.1111/jhn.12496

143. Borewicz K, Suarez-Diez M, Hechler C, Beijers R, de Weerth C, Arts I, et al. The effect of prebiotic fortified infant formulas on microbiota composition and dynamics in early life. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:2434. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38268-x

144. Estorninos E, Lawenko RB, Palestroque E, Sprenger N, Benyacoub J, Kortman GAM, et al. Term infant formula supplemented with milk-derived oligosaccharides shifts the gut microbiota closer to that of human milk-fed infants and improves intestinal immune defense: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2022) 115:142–53. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqab336

145. Vangay P, Johnson AJ, Ward TL, Al-Ghalith GA, Shields-Cutler RR, Hillmann BM, et al. US immigration westernizes the human gut microbiome. *Cell.* (2018) 175:962–972.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.029

146. Prescott SL. A butterfly flaps its wings: extinction of biological experience and the origins of allergy. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2020) 125:528–34. doi: 10.1016/j. anai.2020.05.025

147. Chen CC, Chiu CH. Current and future applications of fecal microbiota transplantation for children. *Biom J.* (2022) 45:11–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2021.11.004

148. Korpela K, Helve O, Kolho KL, Saisto T, Skogberg K, Dikareva E, et al. Maternal fecal microbiota transplantation in cesarean-born infants rapidly restores Normal gut microbial development: a proof-of-concept study. *Cell.* (2020) 183:324–334.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.08.047

149. Wharton KR, Birsner ML. Committee opinion no. 725 summary: vaginal seeding. Obstet Gynecol. (2017) 130:1178–9. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000002396

150. Casaburi G, Duar RM, Brown H, Mitchell RD, Kazi S, Chew S, et al. Metagenomic insights of the infant microbiome community structure and function across multiple sites in the United States. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1472. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-80583-9

151. Chichlowski M, Shah N, Wampler JL, Wu SS, Vanderhoof JA. *Bifidobacterium longum* subspecies infantis (*B. infantis*) in pediatric nutrition: current state of knowledge. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:6. doi: 10.3390/nu12061581

152. Sakanaka M, Hansen ME, Gotoh A, Katoh T, Yoshida K, Odamaki T, et al. Evolutionary adaptation in fucosyllactose uptake systems supports bifidobacteria-infant symbiosis. *Sci Adv*. (2019) 5:eaaw7696. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aaw7696

153. Batta VK, Rao SC, Patole SK. *Bifidobacterium infantis* as a probiotic in preterm infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatr Res.* (2023) 94:1887–905. doi: 10.1038/s41390-023-02716-w

154. Mills J, Bissett A, Gellie N, Lowe A, Selway C, Thomas T, et al. Revegetation of urban green space rewilds soil microbiotas with implications for human health and urban design. *Restor Ecol.* (2020) 28:S322–S334. doi: 10.1111/rec.13175

155. Henrick BM, Rodriguez L, Lakshmikanth T, Pou C, Henckel E, Arzoomand A, et al. Bifidobacteria-mediated immune system imprinting early in life. *Cell.* (2021) 184:3884–3898.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.05.030

156. Zaidi AZ, Moore SE, Okala SG. Impact of maternal nutritional supplementation during pregnancy and lactation on the infant gut or breastmilk microbiota: a systematic review. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:1137. doi: 10.3390/nu13041137

157. Murphy R, Morgan XC, Wang XY, Wickens K, Purdie G, Fitzharris P, et al. Eczemaprotective probiotic alters infant gut microbiome functional capacity but not composition: sub-sample analysis from a RCT. *Benef Microbes*. (2019) 10:5–17. doi: 10.3920/BM2017.0191

158. Dotterud CK, Avershina E, Sekelja M, Simpson MR, Rudi K, Storrø O, et al. Does maternal perinatal probiotic supplementation Alter the intestinal microbiota of mother and child? *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2015) 61:200–7. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000781

159. Singh A, Sarangi AN, Goel A, Srivastava R, Bhargava R, Gaur P, et al. Effect of administration of a probiotic preparation on gut microbiota and immune response in healthy women in India: an open-label, single-arm pilot study. *BMC Gastroenterol.* (2018) 18:85. doi: 10.1186/s12876-018-0819-6

160. Roslund MI, Parajuli A, Hui N, Puhakka R, Grönroos M, Soininen L, et al. A placebo-controlled double-blinded test of the biodiversity hypothesis of immunemediated diseases: environmental microbial diversity elicits changes in cytokines and increase in T regulatory cells in young children. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* (2022) 242:113900. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113900

161. Roslund MI, Puhakka R, Grönroos M, Nurminen N, Oikarinen S, Gazali AM, et al. Biodiversity intervention enhances immune regulation and health-associated commensal microbiota among daycare children. *Sci Adv.* (2020) 6:eaba2578. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aba2578

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Petra Zimmermann, Université de Fribourg, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Hontian Wang, Capital Medical University, China Mwenya Mubanga, Centre for Infectious Disease Research in Zambia. Zambia

*CORRESPONDENCE B. Brett Finlay ⊠ bfinlay@msl.ubc.ca

RECEIVED 26 June 2024 ACCEPTED 07 October 2024 PUBLISHED 25 October 2024

CITATION

Donald K and Finlay BB (2024) Experimental models of antibiotic exposure and atopic disease. Front. Allergy 5:1455438.

doi: 10.3389/falgy.2024.1455438

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Donald and Finlay. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Experimental models of antibiotic exposure and atopic disease

Katherine Donald^{1,2} and B. Brett Finlay^{1,2,3*}

¹Michael Smith Laboratories, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ²Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ³Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

In addition to numerous clinical studies, research using experimental models have contributed extensive evidence to the link between antibiotic exposure and atopic disease. A number of mouse models of allergy have been developed and used to uncover the specific effects of various microbiota members and perturbations on allergy development. Studies in mice that lack microbes entirely have also demonstrated the various components of the immune system that require microbial exposure. The importance of the early-life period and the mechanisms by which atopy "protective" species identified in human cohorts promote immune development have been elucidated in mice. Finally, non-animal models involving human-derived cells shed light on specific effects of bacteria on human epithelial and immune responses. When considered alongside clinical cohort studies, experimental model systems have provided crucial evidence for the link between the neonatal gut microbiota and allergic disease, immensely supporting the stewardship of antibiotic administration in infants. The following review aims to describe the range of experimental models used for studying factors that affect the relationship between the gut microbiota and allergic disease and summarize key findings that have come from research in animal and in vitro models.

KEYWORDS

allergies, atopy & microbiome, gut microbiota, antibiotics – immune effect, animal models, cell culture models

Introduction

Experimental models enable the characterization of complex host responses ranging from cellular to systemic, contributing vitally to major advancements in immunology. Mice have long been the model of choice when studying host immunity and infection responses. The murine genome overlaps substantially with that of humans, and many key immune pathways are conserved. However, human and mouse immune systems are not identical, and findings in mouse models do not always translate directly to human application (1, 2). Non-animal models using cultured intestinal epithelial and immune cells, or miniature organ-like structures, have also been developed to determine specific effects of bacteria on various cell types (3, 4). Although this enables the study of cells derived specifically from humans, the response of cells grown in culture does not always reflect what occurs in the complex environment of a mammalian host. However, when used in conjunction with clinical human studies, both animal and *in vitro* models are critical to defining the mechanisms of host-microbiota interactions that affect immune development and atopic disease.

Mouse models for studying the gut microbiota

Mouse models enable the manipulation of a microbial community growing within the complex environment of a mammalian host. Standard laboratory mice are considered "specific-pathogen free" or SPF, because they have tested negative for a set of disease-causing pathogens. These mice are raised in clean laboratory conditions and have a microbiota that is lower in diversity than that of humans, but complex enough to simulate a stable gut community with some colonization resistance capacity (5). Microbiota composition differs depending on the mouse vendor and housing conditions, which can lead to differences in baseline immunity and response to treatments (6). Additionally, it can be difficult to tease apart direct effects of microbes on the host from indirect effects that act through the existing microbiota when studying SPF mice. Pretreatment with antibiotics is often required to promote stable colonization with a newly introduced microbe, which can confound results. Despite these caveats, SPF mice are used extensively to demonstrate the effects of antibiotics and microbiota alterations on immune development and disease (7-11).

As the microbiome field has grown, a variety of animal models have been developed to combat the issues faced with SPF mice (Figure 1). Germ-free (GF) mice, which are completely sterile, do not have a microbiota and can be more easily colonized than SPF mice (12). Mono-colonization of germ-free mice is commonly used to study the effects of one bacterial species at a time, independent of any confounding effects of other microbes in the environment. GF mice can also be colonized with a defined consortia of microbes to study

simplified, specific communities and microbe-microbe interactions within the gut environment (5, 13, 14). Humanized mice, which are created by transferring human feces to GF mice, display a microbiota that is more diverse and complex than that of SPF mice and more similar to that of humans, facilitating the study of clinically relevant humancolonizing microbes *in vivo* (15, 16). However, some microbes found in humans require a host-specific niche and fail to colonize mice, limiting the utility of humanized mice (17). Lastly, transient colonization of mice with microbes that decline and disappear demonstrate the lasting effects of microbial exposure at specific developmental stages (18).

Mouse models of allergic disease

Several mouse models have been developed to study the atopic immune response, with allergic asthma and food allergy being most common (Figure 1). Since all atopic diseases involve the same key pathways (Th2 cell activation, IgE production, mast cell degranulation, basophil hyperplasia), the basic process of allergy induction is similar between models: mice are first sensitized and then challenged with an allergen to initiate and then stimulate a Th2-mediated response (19–21).

There are two popular models of allergic asthma. The OVA model involves intraperitoneal injection, followed by intratracheal or intranasal administration, of ovalbumin derived from chicken egg (22). The house dust mite (HDM) model involves a series of intranasal exposures to protein from a common HDM species such as *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* (23). Both models stimulate a Th2-mediated response and lung histopathology (22, 24).



Food allergy models are difficult to develop because oral exposure to even concentrated allergenic food proteins results in oral tolerance and fails to induce a response (25). For oral induction, food allergens must be administered with adjuvants to induce a Th2-mediated response (26). For example, concentrated peanut extract can be administered orally with cholera toxin, resulting in elevated IgE production and anaphylaxis (27). Peanut allergens can also be administered epicutaneously to mice to induce Th2-mediated responses which can be further stimulated orally in the absence of an adjuvant, which may be explained by the link between skin barrier function and food allergy (28–30). Although peanut proteins show the highest allergenicity in mice, egg and milk allergies have been induced using adjuvants as well (26).

There are also models of atopic dermatitis and allergic rhinitis, the common forms of which also involve sensitization and challenge with ovalbumin, but are less common (31, 32). In humans, atopic dermatitis often precedes the development of food allergy and asthma in a sequential pattern termed the "atopic march" (33). The atopic march has been demonstrated in the NC/Nga mouse, commonly used to study atopic dermatitis (34). Epicutaneous OVA or peanut protein sensitization can also induce allergic manifestations at other sites (35). Our understanding of the microbiota's role in the atopic march is lacking, and murine models that display multiple allergies initiated via the skin should be utilized to further investigate factors that affect the progression of disease.

Studies of the microbiota and antibiotics using allergy models will be highlighted below.

Atopic disease—insights from germ-free mice

GF mice, which lack a microbiota entirely, display a dramatically altered immune system (12). Intestinal and systemic immune compartments are largely underdeveloped or missing in GF mice. While some of these phenotypes can be rescued by colonization of germ-free mice at any age, others require colonization within the critical early-life window.

As in newborns, the immune systems of GF mice are skewed toward Th2 responses. Th1 and Th2 cells reciprocally regulate each other, and in the absence of microbial stimulation of Th1 pathways, Th2 responses go uncontrolled (36). This phenomenon supports the hygiene hypothesis, which posits that increased Th2 responses can be attributed to reduced microbial exposure and Th1 stimulation in modern, more hygienic environments (37, 38). Although mono-colonization of germ-free mice with certain commensals can reduce Th2 skewing, full restoration of normal T cell proportions requires colonization with a diverse microbiota (39).

Germ-free mice also display increased invariant natural killer T (iNKT) cells in the lung and colon. iNKT cells are found in higher proportions in individuals with severe and uncontrolled asthma (40). Concordantly, germ-free mice display increased iNKT-mediated inflammation in response to asthma models (41). Exposure to a specific antigen produced by the common commensal *Bacteroides fragilis* within the first two weeks of life

is sufficient to rescue iNKT cell levels (42). iNKT cell levels cannot be restored in adult mice, implicating the preweaning period as an important moment in immune imprinting by the colonizing microbiota (12).

Serum IgE titers are also elevated in germ-free mice (43). This contributes to more severe anaphylaxis in food allergy models, and can only be rescued by colonization in the first few weeks of life (12, 43). Regulatory T cell development also requires antigenic exposure specifically during the early life period (44, 45). Many studies have demonstrated that these immunological features make GF mice more susceptible to asthma models (46–48). However, others have shown that certain aspects of the GF mouse allergy response are dampened (49), and that colonization of certain species can worsen allergy symptoms of germ-free mice (50). Together, studies in germ-free mice have shed light on the numerous pathways by which microbes in the gut can protect against or contribute to asthma and allergy development.

The weaning reaction in mice

While colonization of GF mice at any age can rescue some of their immune alterations, exposure to microbes during the earlylife window is required for complete restoration of proper immune function. Recently, this window has been well-defined in mice to be the first 3 weeks of life. At weaning, mice undergo a dramatic immune reaction to the influx of microbes and loss of passive immune factors in milk, which imprints their immune systems and susceptibility to disease for life (51). Although it is not clear whether the "weaning reaction" occurs in humans, the associations of breastfeeding and microbiota maturation in infancy with immune health later in life suggest that the human weaning period is also critical for microbiota and immune development (52, 53).

At weaning, the mouse microbiota diversifies and expands, displaying a bloom in Clostridia and Bacteroides which replace gamma-Proteobacteria and Lactobacillus species. This is similar to the microbiota shifts observed in humans from birth until 6 months of age (21, 54, 55). Milk contains several anti-inflammatory molecules, which gradually decline in concentration over time post-gestation. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) in milk delays the opening of Goblet-cell-associated antigen passages (GAPs) in the gut. As EGF levels decrease over the course of the first few weeks of life, GAPs open and allow for microbes to interact with and stimulate the immune system. In response to the developing microbiota and mucosa, GAPs close shortly after weaning. Antigenic exposure through GAPs drives regulatory T cell development, promoting tolerance of the gut microbiota and imprinting the immune system. This process is unique to the early-life period and cannot be induced in adult mice. Importantly, the weaning reaction protects against allergic inflammation later in life, and antibiotic exposure before but not after weaning significantly disrupts immune programming and contributes to worsened health outcomes (51).

The weaning reaction has not been demonstrated in humans, and while the exact mechanism may not be the same, the

weaning reaction theory provides a potential explanation for the relationship between neonatal microbiota disruption and adverse health outcomes that is well-observed in humans. Accessing human neonatal tissue and blood to define a human weaning reaction would be immensely difficult. However, the deep characterization of this response in mice along with ample evidence of long-term effects of early-life antibiotics in infants provide clues to the process of microbe-mediated immune imprinting that occurs in humans.

Antibiotics, the microbiota, and mouse models of asthma

Prompted by associations observed in human cohorts, the relationship between the gut microbiota and asthma has been studied and characterized extensively through colonization of GF mice or supplementation of SPF mice with different combinations of bacteria.

Numerous animal studies have identified specific immunomodulatory bacteria that protect against allergies. As mentioned above, colonization of germ-free mice with allergic infants is sufficient to increase anaphylaxis susceptibility (56). Through sequencing and host gene expression analysis, this effect was explained by protective effects of the Lachnospiraceae species, Anaerostipes caccae. Mono-colonization experiments confirmed that this species alone, which is elevated in healthy infants, contributes to oral tolerance and protects against anaphylactic responses. In another study, four genera of bacteria inversely associated with allergies in human infants were administered to mice and shown to ameliorate OVA-induced asthma (57). This was linked to the effects of specific bacterial metabolites on immune development.

Species of Bifidobacteria and Lactobacillus, which are known to be promoted by breastmilk and are inversely associated with allergies, have also been tested in animal models (58–60). Supplementation with *Bifidobacterium longum* and *Bifidobacterium breve* have been shown numerous times to limit allergic responses to various models by inducing regulatory T cells and dampening Th2 responses (48, 61–63). Lactobacillus species have also been shown to improve intestinal barrier integrity and promote Th1 responses, which limit allergic phenotypes (64, 65).

In all of these studies, bacteria known to be associated with health in humans were investigated and causally linked to allergy protection. Animal models have been key to moving from correlation to causation in our understanding of the multiple roles of the microbiota in immune development and have helped identify the specific bacteria and pathways that should not be disrupted during the neonatal period. In addition to providing insight into protective and beneficial bacteria, animal studies have demonstrated the effects of early-life antibiotic exposure on asthma.

Vancomycin treatment during neonatal but not adult life increases susceptibility to OVA-induced asthma in mice (8). This is linked to alterations in gut microbiota composition and diversity, and reduced colonic Treg cell levels. Both of these phenotypes were more drastic in neonatal than adult vancomycin-treated mice, and the period between birth and weaning was identified as the window during which antibiotic induced dysbiosis was found to significantly affect adult asthma outcomes (66). Similarly, Azithromycin treatment in early life increased IgE and Th2 responses to HDM-induced asthma (67). Interestingly, in this study, transfer of the azithromycin perturbed microbiota to adult germ-free mice did not transfer the phenotype. However, the offspring of these mice displayed worsened asthma outcomes, indicating that the effects of microbiota alterations on immune development must occur in early life. Dysbiosis induced by a combination of antibiotics has also been shown to impair oral tolerance by disrupting dendritic cell development in the gut (68).

Exposure to a single course of macrolide antibiotics at a clinically relevant dose during neonatal life is sufficient to reduce microbial diversity and shift community composition, which persists into adulthood. This was accompanied by permanent dampening effects on local and systemic immunity (69). In contrast, adult mice treated with the same antibiotic course displayed rapid microbiota recovery and did not show immune aberrations. Microbiota transfer from antibiotic-treated mice to germ-free mice conferred the altered immune phenotype in this study, demonstrating that the perturbed microbiota is sufficient to drive immune alterations associated with antibiotic exposure. Lynn et al. treated mice with ampicillin and neomycin until weaning and then aged them to 700 days (70). They found that early-life antibiotic exposure affects immune status, longevity, and metabolism even long after antibiotic exposure.

The studies highlighted above demonstrate the multitude of detrimental effects that antibiotic exposure in early life have on long-term health. Mouse studies have been vital in our understanding of both the specific effects of "protective" microbes and antibiotics on different facets of immune development, and the uniqueness of the infancy period in these processes. They provide strong support for limiting antibiotic administration in infants whenever possible.

Non-animal models for studying antibiotics and allergic asthma

In addition to animal models, cultured human cells are frequently used to investigate the microbiota and allergic responses. Epithelial responses to microbial products can by studied by monoculture of human intestinal or lung epithelial cells. For example, Bifidobacteria species grown on human milk oligosaccharides induce anti-inflammatory responses in humanderived intestinal cells (71). Some commensal species and their metabolites have also affect barrier integrity of intestinal cell monolayers (72–75), either promoting or impairing barrier function, which has implications for allergy and asthma susceptibility (76, 77). However, allergic disease involves communication between the epithelium, the mucosal immune system, and systemic circulation, and it is difficult to define the mechanisms and effects of microbe-immune crosstalk using only one cell type. Co-culture systems involving epithelial cells grown with dendritic cells, macrophages, and lymphocytes have been developed to combat this issue.

In one study, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from atopic or non-atopic individuals and co-cultured with epithelial cells exposed to microbial antigenic stimulation to demonstrate that commensal microbe exposure limits the allergic response (78). Co-culture of PBMCs with intestinal epithelial cells has also been used to mechanistically link Bifidobacteria and other commensal species to regulatory T cell responses (79, 80). In another study, human-derived naïve T cells were exposed to fecal water from infants that received Bifidobacterium infantis supplementation or fecal water from control infants. This enabled the identification of a specific microbial metabolite produced by B. infantis in the infant gut that skews T cell phenotypes away from allergic (Th2 and Th17) and towards Th1 phenotypes (81). More recently, co-culture systems involving many cell types have been developed. Zuurveld et al. designed a model involving epithelial cells, dendritic cells, T and B cells, and mast cells and were able to simulate the entire allergic pathway from epithelial cell allergen exposure to mast cell degranulation and IgE production in vitro (4).

Finally, in addition to mono- and co-culture systems, 3D structures that better simulate organ-level biology can model microbe-immune communication. Organoids and gut-on-a-chip devices are derived from human intestinal stem cells and morphologically mimic 3D intestinal tissue, displaying crypts, villi, Paneth cells, mucous production, and distinct apical and basolateral compartments (3, 82). These models are only beginning to be used to study microbe-host interactions that influence systemic health but offer a promising physiologically relevant alternative to animal models (83, 84).

Conclusions

Experimental models have characterized the complex and dynamic processes of microbe-mediated immune development that occurs in early-life and validated key taxa that drive protective and beneficial immune processes. They have provided ample evidence that antibiotics have detrimental effects on gut microbiota composition, long-term health, and allergy in a

References

1. Mestas J, Hughes CCW. Of mice and not men: differences between mouse and human immunology. J Immunol. (2004) 172:2731–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.5.2731

2. Masopust D, Sivula CP, Jameson SC. Of mice, dirty mice, and men: using mice to understand human immunology. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:383–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700453

3. Valiei A, Aminian-dehkordi J, Mofrad MRK. Gut-on-a-chip models for dissecting the gut microbiology and physiology. *APL Bioeng.* (2023) 7(1):011502. doi: 10.1063/5.0126541

4. Zuurveld M, Díaz CB, Redegeld F, Folkerts G, Garssen J, van't Land B, et al. An advanced *in vitro* human mucosal immune model to predict food sensitizing allergenicity risk: a proof of concept using ovalbumin as model allergen. *Front Immunol.* (2023) 13:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1073034

5. Thomson CA, Morgan SC, Ohland C, McCoy KD. From germ-free to wild: modulating microbiome complexity to understand mucosal immunology. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2022) 15:1085–94. doi: 10.1038/s41385-022-00562-3

controlled setting. They have also defined the features of immunologic development that occur during the critical early-life window, and illustrated the imprinting effects of the microbiota during this period. While lab rodents and cultured cells do not replicate the human gut and immune system identically, the findings highlighted above strengthen and complement conclusions from human association studies, drawing clear mechanistic links between antibiotic exposure, reduced microbiota diversity, and allergic outcomes.

Author contributions

KD: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BF: Writing – original draft, Funding acquisition, Supervision.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. KD is supported by the Four Year Fellowship Tuition Award, President's Academic Excellence Initiative PhD Award and International Tuition Award at the University of British Columbia.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Ivanov II, Atarashi K, Manel N, Brodie EL, Shima T, Karaoz U, et al. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous Bacteria. *Cell.* (2009) 139:485–98. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.033

7. Willing BP, Russell SL, Finlay BB. Shifting the balance: antibiotic effects on hostmicrobiota mutualism. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2011) 9:233–43. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2536

8. Russell SL, Gold MJ, Hartmann M, Willing BP, Thorson L, Wlodarska M, et al. Early life antibiotic-driven changes in microbiota enhance susceptibility to allergic asthma. *EMBO Rep.* (2012) 13:440–7. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.32

9. Jin Y, Wu Y, Zeng Z, Jin C, Wu S, Wang Y, et al. Exposure to oral antibiotics induces gut microbiota dysbiosis associated with lipid metabolism dysfunction and low-grade inflammation in mice. *Toxicol Sci.* (2016) 154:140–52. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfw150

10. Leclercq S, Mian FM, Stanisz AM, Bindels LB, Cambier E, Ben-Amram H, et al. Low-dose penicillin in early life induces long-term changes in murine gut microbiota,

brain cytokines and behavior. Nat Commun. (2017) 8:15062. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms15062

11. Adami AJ, Bracken SJ, Guernsey LA, Rafti E, Maas KR, Graf J, et al. Early-life antibiotics attenuate regulatory T cell generation and increase the severity of murine house dust mite-induced asthma. *Pediatr Res.* (2018) 84:426–34. doi: 10. 1038/s41390-018-0031-y

12. Gensollen T, Iyer SS, Kasper DL, Blumberg RS. How colonization by microbiota in early life shapes the immune system. *Science*. (2016) 352:539–44. doi: 10.1126/ science.aad9378

13. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Shima T, Imaoka A, Kuwahara T, Momose Y, et al. Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous Clostridium species. *Science*. (2011) 331:337-41. doi: 10.1126/science.1198469

14. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Oshima K, Suda W, Nagano Y, Nishikawa H, et al. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of Clostridia strains from the human microbiota. *Nature*. (2013) 500:232–5. doi: 10.1038/nature12331

15. Marcobal A, Kashyap PC, Nelson TA, Aronov PA, Donia MS, Spormann A. A metabolomic view of how the human gut microbiota impacts the host metabolome using humanized and gnotobiotic mice. *ISME J.* (2013) 7:1933–43. doi: 10.1038/ ismej.2013.89

16. Arrieta M, Sadarangani M, Brown EM, Russell SL, Nimmo M, Dean J, et al. A humanized microbiota mouse model of ovalbumin-induced lung inflammation. *Gut Microbes.* (2016) 7:342–52. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1182293

17. Chung H, Pamp J, Hill JA, Surana NK, Edelman SM, Troy EB, et al. Gut immune maturation Depends on colonization with a host-specific Microbiota. *Cell.* (2012) 149:1578–93. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.04.037

18. De Agüero MG, Ganal-Vonarburg SC, Fuhrer T, Rupp S, Uchimura Y, Li H, et al. The maternal microbiota drives early postnatal innate immune development. *Science*. (2016) 351:1296–302. doi: 10.1126/science.aad2571

19. Barcik W, Boutin RCT, Sokolowska M, Finlay BB. The role of lung and gut microbiota in the pathology of asthma. *Immunity*. (2020) 52:241–55. doi: 10.1016/j. immuni.2020.01.007

20. Luu M, Monning H, Visekruna A. Exploring the molecular mechanisms underlying the protective effects of microbial SCFAs on intestinal tolerance and food allergy. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:16–21. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020. 01225

21. Donald K, Finlay BB. Early-life interactions between the microbiota and immune system: impact on immune system development and atopic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2023) 23:735–48. doi: 10.1038/s41577-023-00874-w

22. Kim DI, Song M, Lee K. Comparison of asthma phenotypes in OVA- induced mice challenged via inhaled and intranasal routes. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2019) 19:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12890-019-1001-9

23. Foray AP, Dietrich C, Pecquet C, Machavoine F, Chatenoud L, Leite-de-Moraes M. IL-4 and IL-17 are required for house dust mite-driven airway hyperresponsiveness in autoimmune diabetes-prone non-obese diabetic mice. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 11:1-8. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.595003

24. Woo LN, Guo WY, Wang X, Young A, Salehi S, Hin A, et al. A 4-week model of house dust Mite (HDM) induced allergic airways inflammation with airway remodeling. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-24574-x

25. Kanagaratham C, Sallis BF, Fiebiger E. Experimental models for studying food allergy. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2018) 6:356–69.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh. 2018.05.010

26. Smeekens JM, Kulis MD. Mouse models of food allergy in the pursuit of novel treatment modalities. *Front Allergy*. (2021) 2:1–7. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2021.810067

27. Orgel K, Kulis M. A mouse model of peanut allergy induced by sensitization through the gastrointestinal tract. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2018) 1799:39-47. doi: 10. 1007/978-1-4939-7896-0_4

28. Strid J, Hourihane J, Kimber I, Callard R, Strobel S. Epicutaneous exposure to peanut protein prevents oral tolerance and enhances allergic sensitization. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2005) 35:757–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2005.02260.x

29. Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. Food allergy: epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 133:291–307.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2013.11.020

30. Walker M, Green J, Ferrie R, Queener A, Kaplan MH, Cook-mills JM. Mechanism for initiation of food allergy: dependence on skin barrier mutations and environmental allergen co-stimulation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2018) 141:1711–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.02.003

31. Jin H, He R, Oyoshi M, Geha R. Animal models of atopic dermatitis. J Invest Deratol. (2009) 129:31-40. doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.106.Animal

32. Zhu Y, Yu J, Zhu X, Yuan J, Dai M, Bao Y, et al. Experimental observation of the effect of immunotherapy on CD4+T cells and Th1/Th2 cytokines in mice with allergic rhinitis. *Sci Rep.* (2023) 13:4–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-023-32507-6

33. Tran MM, Lefebvre DL, Dharma C, Dai D, Lou WYW, Subbarao P, et al. Atopic dermatitis and inflammatory skin disease predicting the atopic march: results from the Canadian healthy infant longitudinal development study study population. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2018) 141(2):601–7.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.08.024

34. Lee HJ, Lee NR, Jung M, Kim DH, Choi EH. Atopic march from atopic dermatitis to asthma-like lesions in NC/nga mice is accelerated or aggravated by neutralization of stratum corneum but partially inhibited by acidification. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2015) 135:3025–33. doi: 10.1038/jid.2015.333

35. Han H, Roan F, Ziegler SF. The atopic march: current insights into skin barrier dysfunction and epithelial cell-derived cytokines. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 278:116–30. doi: 10.1111/imr.12546

36. Mazmanian SK, Cui HL, Tzianabos AO, Kasper DL. An immunomodulatory molecule of symbiotic bacteria directs maturation of the host immune system. *Cell.* (2005) 122:107–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.007

37. Okada H, Kuhn C, Feillet H, Bach J-F. The "hygiene hypothesis" for autoimmune and allergic diseases: an update. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2010) 160(1):1–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04139.x

38. Garn H, Potaczek DP, Pfefferle PI. The hygiene hypothesis and new perspectives —current challenges meeting an old postulate. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:1–7. doi: 10. 3389/fimmu.2021.637087

39. Gaboriau-Routhiau V, Rakotobe S, Emelyne L, Mulder I, Bridonneau C, Rochet V, et al. The key role of segmented filamentous bacteria in the coordinated maturation of gut helper T cell responses. *Immunity*. (2009) 31:677–89. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2009.08.020

40. Matangkasombut P, Pichavant M, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Natural killer T cells and the regulation of asthma. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2009) 2:383–92. doi: 10. 1038/mi.2009.96

41. Olszak T, An D, Zeissig S, Vera MP, Richter J, Franke A, et al. Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer T cell function. *Science*. (2012) 23:1–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1219328

42. An D, Oh SF, Olszak T, Neves JF, Avci FY, Erturk-Hasdemir D, et al. Sphingolipids from a symbiotic microbe regulate homeostasis of host intestinal natural killer T cells. *Cell.* (2014) 156:123–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.042

43. Cahenzli J, Köller Y, Wyss M, Geuking MB, McCoy KD. Intestinal microbial diversity during early-life colonization shapes long-term IgE levels. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2013) 14:559–70. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.10.004

44. Gollwitzer ES, Saglani S, Trompette A, Yadava K, Sherburn R, McCoy KD, et al. Lung microbiota promotes tolerance to allergens in neonates via PD-L1. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:642–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.3568

45. Reynolds HM, Bettini ML. Early-life microbiota-immune homeostasis. Front Immunol. (2023) 14:1–8. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1266876

46. Herbst T, Sichelstiel A, Schär C, Yadava K, Bürki K, Cahenzli J, et al. Dysregulation of allergic airway inflammation in the absence of microbial colonization. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 184:198–205. doi: 10.1164/rccm. 201010-1574OC

47. Balzola F, Cullen G, Ho GT, Russell RK, Wehkamp J. Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer T cell function. *Inflamm Bowel Dis Monit.* (2012) 13:29–30. doi: 10.1126/science.1219328

48. Schwarzer M, Srutkova D, Schabussova I, Hudcovic T, Akgün J, Wiedermann U, et al. Neonatal colonization of germ-free mice with *Bifidobacterium longum* prevents allergic sensitization to major birch pollen allergen bet v 1. *Vaccine.* (2013) 31:5405–12. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.09.014

49. Schwarzer M, Hermanova P, Srutkova D, Golias J, Hudcovic T, Zwicker C, et al. Germ-free mice exhibit mast cells with impaired functionality and gut homing and do not develop food allergy. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00205

50. Parrish A, Boudaud M, Grant ET, Willieme S, Neumann M, Wolter M, et al. Akkermansia muciniphila exacerbates food allergy in fibre-deprived mice. *Nat Microbiol.* (2023) 8:1863–79. doi: 10.1038/s41564-023-01464-1

51. Al Nabhani Z, Dulauroy S, Marques R, Cousu C, Al Bounny S, Déjardin F, et al. A weaning reaction to microbiota is required for resistance to immunopathologies in the adult. *Immunity.* (2019) 50:1276–88.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.02.014

52. Nuzzi G, Elisa M, Cicco D, Peroni DG. Breastfeeding and allergic diseases: what's new? J Funct Foods. (2021) 8(5):330. doi: 10.3390/children8050330

53. Hoskinson C, Dai DLY, Del Bel KL, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, Mandhane PJ, et al. Delayed gut microbiota maturation in the first year of life is a hallmark of pediatric allergic disease. *Nat Commun.* (2023):1-14. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-40336-4

54. Bäckhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and stabilization of the human gut microbiome during the first year of life. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2015) 17:690–703. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.04.004

55. Jain N. The early life education of the immune system: moms, microbes and (missed) opportunities. *Gut Microbes*. (2020) 12:1–20. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2020. 1824564

56. Feehley T, Plunkett CH, Bao R, Choi Hong SM, Culleen E, Belda-Ferre P, et al. Healthy infants harbor intestinal bacteria that protect against food allergy. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:448–53. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0324-z

57. Arrieta MC, Stiemsma LT, Dimitriu PA, Thorson L, Russell S, Yurist-Doutsch S, et al. Early infancy microbial and metabolic alterations affect risk of childhood asthma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7(307):307ra152. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aab2271

58. Galazzo G, van Best N, Bervoets L, Dapaah IO, Savelkoul PH, Hornef MW, et al. Development of the microbiota and associations with birth mode, diet, and atopic disorders in a longitudinal analysis of stool samples, collected from infancy through early childhood. *Gastroenterology*. (2020) 158:1584–96. doi: 10.1053/j. gastro.2020.01.024

59. Vandenplas Y, Carnielli VP, Ksiazyk J, Luna MS, Migacheva N, Mosselmans JM, et al. Factors affecting early-life intestinal microbiota development. *Nutrition*. (2020) 78:110812. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2020.110812

60. Boudry G, Charton E, Le Huerou-Luron I, Ferret-Bernard S, Le Gall S, Even S, et al. The relationship between breast milk components and the infant gut microbiota. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:1–21. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.629740

61. Inoue Y, Iwabuchi N, Xiao JZ, Yaeshima T, Iwatsuki K. Suppressive effects of *Bifidobacterium breve* strain M-16 V on T-helper type 2 immune responses in a murine model. *Biol Pharm Bull*. (2009) 32:760–3. doi: 10.1248/bpb.32.760

62. Hougee S, Vriesema AJM, Wijering SC, Knippels LMJ, Folkerts G, Nijkamp FP, et al. Oral treatment with probiotics reduces allergic symptoms in ovalbuminsensitized mice: a bacterial strain comparative study. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 151:107–17. doi: 10.1159/000236000

63. Lyons A, O'Mahony D, O'Brien F, MacSharry J, Sheil B, Ceddia M, et al. Bacterial strain-specific induction of Foxp3+ T regulatory cells is protective in murine allergy models. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2010) 40:811–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222. 2009.03437.x

64. Schwarzer M, Repa A, Daniel C, Schabussova I, Hrncir T, Pot B, et al. Neonatal colonization of mice with *Lactobacillus plantarum* producing the aeroallergen bet v 1 biases towards Th1 and T-regulatory responses upon systemic sensitization. *Allergy Eur J Allergy Clin. Immunol.* (2011) 66:368–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2010. 02488.x

65. Kozakova H, Schwarzer M, Tuckova L, Srutkova D, Czarnowska E, Rosiak I, et al. Colonization of germ-free mice with a mixture of three lactobacillus strains enhances the integrity of gut mucosa and ameliorates allergic sensitization. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2016) 13:251–62. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.09

66. Russell SL, Gold MJ, Willing BP, Thorson L, McNagny KM, Finlay BB. Perinatal antibiotic treatment affects murine microbiota, immune responses and allergic asthma. *Gut Microbes.* (2013) 4:158–64. doi: 10.4161/gmic.23567

67. Borbet TC, Pawline MB, Zhang X, Wipperman MF, Reuter S, Maher T, et al. Influence of the early-life gut microbiota on the immune responses to an inhaled allergen. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2022) 15:1000–11. doi: 10.1038/s41385-022-00544-5

68. Fukaya T, Uto T, Mitoma S, Takagi H, Nishikawa Y, Tominaga M, et al. Gut dysbiosis promotes the breakdown of oral tolerance mediated through dysfunction of mucosal dendritic cells. *Cell Rep.* (2023) 42:112431. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2023.112431

69. Ruiz VE, Battaglia T, Kurtz ZD, Bijnens L, Ou A, Engstrand I, et al. A single earlyin-life macrolide course has lasting effects on murine microbial network topology and immunity. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:518. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00531-6

70. Lynn MA, Eden G, Ryan FJ, Bensalem J, Wang X, Blake SJ, et al. The composition of the gut microbiota following early-life antibiotic exposure affects host health and longevity in later life. *Cell Rep.* (2021) 36:109564. doi: 10.1016/j. celrep.2021.109564

71. Chichlowski M, De Lartigue G, German BJ, Raybould HE, Mills DA. Bifidobacteria isolated from infants and cultured on human milk oligosaccharides. *J Pediatr Gastroenerol Nutr.* (2012) 55:321–7. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31824fb899. Bifidobacteria

72. Guo S, Al-Sadi R, Said HM, Ma TY. Lipopolysaccharide causes an increase in intestinal tight junction permeability *in vitro* and *in vivo* by inducing enterocyte membrane expression and localization of TLR-4 and CD14. *Am J Pathol.* (2013) 182:375–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.10.014

73. Zheng L, Kelly CJ, Battista KD, Schaefer R, Lanis JM, Alexeev EE, et al. Microbial-derived butyrate promotes epithelial barrier function through IL-10 receptor-dependent repression of claudin-2. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:2976–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700105

74. Nielsen DSG, Jensen BB, Theil PK, Nielsen TS, Knudsen KEB, Purup S. Effect of butyrate and fermentation products on epithelial integrity in a mucus-secreting human colon cell line. *J Funct Foods*. (2018) 40:9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2017.10.023

75. Mohebali N, Ekat K, Kreikemeyer B, Breitrück A. Barrier protection and recovery effects of gut commensal bacteria on differentiated intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro*. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1–23. doi: 10.3390/nu12082251

76. Price DB, Ackland ML, Burks W, Knight MI, Suphioglu C. Peanut allergens alter intestinal barrier permeability and tight junction localisation in caco-2 cell cultures. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2014) 33:1758–77. doi: 10.1159/000362956

77. Losol P, Sokolowska M, Hwang YK, Ogulur I, Mitamura Y, Yazici D, et al. Epithelial barrier theory: the role of exposome, microbiome, and barrier function in allergic diseases. *Allergy Asthma Immunol Res.* (2023) 15:705–24. doi: 10.4168/aair. 2023.15.6.705

78. de Kivit S, Tobin MC, DeMeo MT, Fox S, Garssen J, Forsyth CB, et al. *In vitro* evaluation of intestinal epithelial TLR activation in preventing food allergic responses. *Clin Immunol.* (2014) 154:91–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2014.07.002

 López P, González-Rodríguez I, Sánchez B, Ruas-Madiedo P, Suárez A, Margolles A, et al. Interaction of *Bifidobacterium bifidum* LMG13195 with HT29 cells influences regulatory-T-cell-associated chemokine receptor expression. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2012) 78:2850–7. doi: 10.1128/AEM.07581-11

80. Kleniewska P, Kopa-Stojak PN, Hoffmann A, Pawliczak R. The potential immunomodulatory role of the gut microbiota in the pathogenesis of asthma: an *in vitro* study. *Sci Rep.* (2023) 13:1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41598-023-47003-0

81. Henrick BM, Rodriguez L, Lakshmikanth T, Pou C, Henckel E, Arzoomand A, et al. Bifidobacteria-mediated immune system imprinting early in life. *Cell.* (2021) 184:3884–98.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.05.030

82. Bozzetti V, Senger S. Organoids technologies for the study of intestinal microbiota-host interactions. *Trends Mol Med.* (2022) 28:290–303. doi: 10.1016/j. molmed.2022.02.001.Organoids

83. Gómez DP, Boudreau F. Organoids and their use in modeling gut epithelial cell lineage differentiation and barrier properties during intestinal diseases. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2021) 9:1–8. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.732137

84. Janssen R, de Kleer JWM, Heming B, Bastiaan-Net S, Garssen J, Willemsen LEM, et al. Food allergen sensitization on a chip: the gut-immune-skin axis. *Trends Biotechnol.* (2024) 42:119-34. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2023.07.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Angela Dramowski, Stellenbosch University, South Africa

REVIEWED BY Emeline Rougeaux, University College London, United Kingdom Lisanne Du Plessis, Stellenbosch University, South Africa

*CORRESPONDENCE Miranda G. Loutet 🖾 miranda.loutet@mail.utoronto.ca

RECEIVED 26 July 2024 ACCEPTED 16 September 2024 PUBLISHED 06 November 2024

CITATION Loutet MG (2024) Individual- and system-level determinants of breastfeeding in a low-resource setting. *Front. Public Health* 12:1471252. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1471252

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Loutet. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Individual- and system-level determinants of breastfeeding in a low-resource setting

Miranda G. Loutet*

Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

The benefits of breastfeeding are widely established and therefore the World Health Organization recommends that every child be exclusively breastfed for the first 6months of life and continue breastfeeding up to 2years of age or beyond. However, the rate of exclusive breastfeeding is low globally and has declined in Bangladesh in recent years. In this review, Bangladesh is used as an example to demonstrate the complex individual- and system-level determinants of breastfeeding in a low-resource setting. Mothers face barriers to breastfeeding within the context of marketing by commercial milk formula companies, limited safe alternatives to breastfeeding directly from the breast, and insufficient resources to support breastfeeding in the hospital, community, and workplace setting. Future research and implementation science is required to investigate the overlapping effects between breastfeeding and the high antibiotic use and Caesarean section rates in Bangladesh, along with public health efforts to promote breastfeeding based on robust evidence.

KEYWORDS

breastfeeding, Bangladesh, low- and middle-income country, public health, individual-level determinants, system-level determinants

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends every child be exclusively breastfed for the first 6 months and continue to breastfeed up to two years of age or beyond, while introducing complementary foods starting at 6 months. However, rates of exclusive breastfeeding to 6 months of age remain low globally, with only 48% of infants ever exclusively breastfed below 6 months of age in 2022 (1). In Bangladesh, 53% of infants below 6 months of age were exclusively breastfed based on the 2022 Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) and the rate of exclusive breastfeeding has remained relatively stable between 53 and 65% over the past decade (2, 3). However, rates of infants exclusively breastfed up to 6 months of age are likely even lower than these estimates because the DHS collects data on infant feeding practices using a single (cross-sectional) 24-hour recall from caregivers of infants below 6 months of age, which does not capture the dynamic nature of early-infant feeding with periods of time when an infant may be breastfeeding, formula-feeding, or being given other liquids that is common in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (4). An observational study conducted in 8 LMICs showed that using the WHO indicator (which uses DHS data) the proportion of infants 0-5. 9 months who exclusively breastfed was 71% among Bangladeshi infants compared to only 10% of infants were exclusively breastfed up to 6 months of age (i.e., met the WHO recommendation) using longitudinally collected 24-hour recalls of infant feeding practices biweekly from shortly after birth to 6 months of age (4).

It is widely established that breast milk contains multiple components that support infant's growth and development of their immune system and gut microbiome (5–7). Exclusive breastfeeding in particular is important in LMICs because exclusive breastfeeding prevents

infections through consumption of contaminated non-human milk feeds and suboptimal breastfeeding causes an estimated 600,000 annual child deaths from pneumonia and diarrhea alone (8, 9).

Recent evidence suggests that breastfeeding may mitigate the effect of antibiotics on the infant gut microbiome, and thereby confer a protective effect against antibiotic-associated risk of asthma (10, 11). This is especially important in a context such as Bangladesh where antibiotic-use and the prevalence of atopic dermatitis and asthma among infants are high (12–15). In a study of longitudinal birth cohorts from 8 LMICs, the average antimicrobial courses per childyear up to 2 years of age was double in the Dhaka, Bangladesh birth cohort compared to the global cohort, 10.3 and 4.9, respectively (13). By 6 months of age, over 98% of infants in the Dhaka birth cohort had received antibiotics. Furthermore, a study of inpatient antimicrobial prescribing among infants 0-12 months in Dhaka found that antimicrobials were prescribed in 73% of admissions (14). The study also assessed if the use of antimicrobials was appropriate based on the use of 'access' (should be widely available, affordable and quality assured), 'watch' (high resistance potential and should be limited) and 'reserve' (last resort in highly specific patients to preserve effectiveness) antimicrobials. Overall, 58% of antibiotics that were prescribed were classified as 'access', 38% as 'watch' and 1% as 'reserve; with 'watch' antimicrobials used in 26% of neonatal sepsis cases and 76% of lower respiratory tract infection admissions. Antimicrobials were also used in 51% of gastroenteritis and 28% of neonatal jaundice admissions, which were likely viral illnesses or conditions for which antibiotics do not usually confer benefit. Finally, among infants aged 2-6 months brought to a hospital in Dhaka for management of diarrhoeal illnesses, 52% had received antibiotics before hospital admission to treat the diarrhoeal disease for which they were seeking medical attention, possibly due to the fact that medicines are available from diversified sources and antimicrobials may be obtained without physician prescription (15). However, this phenomenon is not unique to Bangladesh, as a study of over 3,000 hospitalized infants less than 60 days of age from 11 countries (mainly Asia and Africa), showed that 98% received antibiotics, with the majority considered 'watch' (66%) (16).

This highlights the need for research efforts to focus on promotion and support for breastfeeding based on robust evidence of associations with modifiable risk factors. Although there are known biological determinants of breastfeeding such as gestational age, birthweight, and other maternal and infant health conditions, this paper will focus on structural—both at the individual- and system-level—determinants of breastfeeding in Bangladesh and the main settings that are influenced by these determinants: health systems, communities, workplaces, governments, and commercial. These determinants and settings are the focus of this paper due to their modifiable—although complex—nature and potential for intervention. These challenges are present in many LMICs (17), but Bangladesh is presented in this paper as an example.

Hospital-level determinants

Bangladesh has the highest rate of live births by Caesarean section (C-section) within health institutions among countries where less than 60% of births were institutional births (18) and in 2022, 45% of live births in the 2 years preceding the DHS-2022 were delivered via

C-section (3). C-sections have been shown to be associated with lower rates of mother-infant skin-to-skin contact immediately after birth (19–22), which further significantly reduces rates of breastfeeding initiation (23, 24) and exclusive breastfeeding at 3 and 6 months (25). Although C-sections provide an important life-saving intervention to mothers and newborns, they also result in an increased risk of complications, with 62% of mothers experiencing severe acute morbidity resulting from a C-section in LMICs compared to less than 1% in HICs, and long-term consequences for mother and child (26–30). For instance, being born vaginally has been associated with a lower risk of atopic disease in infants compared to those born by C-section (31). Therefore, C-sections should only be used when medically indicated (32).

Rates of C-section use have increased greatly in LMICs, which may reflect an increase in the number of women giving birth in medical institutions, an increase in access to C-sections, but also possibly a change in the distribution of reasons for C-sections. There is a dearth of evidence on the reasons for C-sections in Bangladesh, but risk factor analyses using the Bangladesh DHS from 2017 to 2018 reported that C-section delivery was higher among women with higher education, from wealthier households, urban areas, and those with access to media (33, 34). Looking to other LMICs, a study among nulliparous women in Argentina found that mode of delivery preferences were most strongly influenced by a doctor or midwife, and that sociodemographic factors such as socioeconomic status and age played a strong role in determining the extent of their influence (35).

Pregnant people and new mothers in Bangladesh receive breastfeeding support while attending health facilities during antenatal care and within 2 days of giving birth; however, access is far from universal (36-38). In 2001, WHO and UNICEF launched the Baby-Friendly Hospital Initiative (BFHI) so that hospitals could be accredited for their commitment to protect, promote, and support breastfeeding (39). An influential cluster-randomized trial called Probit, conducted in Belarus from 1996 to 1998, modelled the intervention on the BFHI and found a large significant effect on any breastfeeding at 12 months (20% vs. 11% in controls) and exclusive breastfeeding at 3-months (43 vs. 6% in controls) and 6-months (8% vs. 0.6% in controls) (40). Even though Bangladesh has made strides in implementing BFHI, the latest report in 2016 showed only 1.5% of hospitals had the designation and reported challenges with training and funding (41, 42). In 2012, the Bangladesh Ministry of Health and Family Welfare established a partnership with the Bangladesh Breastfeeding Foundation (BBF), a non-governmental organization (NGO), to provide technical support to the BFHI programme through capacity building, training, and monitoring (43, 44).

A promising approach to improve breastfeeding support in facilities is increasing the midwife workforce, which is a critical part of Bangladesh's sexual, reproductive, maternal, newborn, and adolescent health (SRMNAH) strategy (45). In 2008, Bangladesh upgraded its midwifery workforce to meet global standards, with 8,000 registered midwives deployed to government hospitals, NGOs in humanitarian settings, and in private facilities (46). A 2019 qualitative evaluation of interviews with maternity ward staff from government sub-district hospitals in Bangladesh where midwives had been deployed compared to hospitals without midwives indicated that midwives improved quality of care through interventions including skin-to-skin contact, breastfeeding, and obstetric emergency and post-partum management (47). By 2023, midwives in public hospitals were

in charge of labour wards and attended up to 85% of births, which led to significant increases in positive birth practices, including use of antenatal card and partograph, upright birth positioning, and mother-infant skin-to-skin contact (46, 48).

Community-level determinants

Bangladeshi mothers receive support for breastfeeding within the community from a variety of formal (i.e., through funded programmes) and informal (i.e, family and other community members) sources. Formal programmes have been informed by evidence; however, sustainability, standardization and scale-up remain a challenge nationally (49, 50). For instance, a 2-year follow-up to Alive & Thrive's intensive community-based infant and young child feeding (IYCF) intervention implemented by the local NGO BRAC in rural Bangladesh showed that exposure to some aspects of the intervention had decreased significantly after external funding support from the initial donor agency ended (51). Although there was a sustained impact on early initiation and exclusive breastfeeding along with other IYCF practices and knowledge in areas that received the intervention compared to those that did not, there had been no major scale-up of the intervention to areas that did not receive the initial intervention. Another example is the BBF-led program to implement Mother Support Groups to improve maternal and child nutrition at the community level (52), which is supported with evidence from studies using peer support for lactating women in Bangladesh to effectively improve exclusive breastfeeding to 6 months of age in both urban (53) and rural (54) settings, and specifically among factory workers (55).

Similar to hospital-based breastfeeding support, the increase in the midwife workforce in Bangladesh poses an opportunity for communitylevel support because midwives can work in the community providing information and breastfeeding support. This is currently being done by midwife students, but overall qualitative evidence from midwives shows that the midwifery centre care model is inaccessible to communities due to challenges of traditional practices and the need for wider acceptance of the midwifery-led care model (56). A study using the Lives Saved Tool modelled the effect of scaling-up the coverage of health interventions delivered by professional midwives on a number of maternal and health outcomes including mortality and exclusive breastfeeding and found that increasing the target coverage of breastfeeding promotion as part of midwives scope of work would have a significant effect on the proportion of children aged 1-5 months who are exclusively breastfed (an increase from 37 to 55% in the lowest human development index (HDI) countries) (57). To note, Bangladesh was categorized as a low-to-medium HDI country and data on exclusive breastfeeding was not presented in the paper on all country groups, but substantial scale-up of midwife interventions had the greatest impact on maternal and neonatal death in the low-to-medium HDI countries, which account for a large proportion of the worlds populations and have high baseline mortality rates.

In Bangladesh, social factors within the community such as family structure and gender norms also impact the breastfeeding journey. A systematic review of facilitators and barriers to early initiation of breastfeeding in South Asia reported that influence of a mother-in-law on maternal and newborn care and lack of the mother's involvement in decision-making were barriers to early initiation of breastfeeding in Bangladesh (58). Qualitative evidence from interviews with Bangladeshi mothers also identified pressure from older adult family members to feed their infants commercial milk formula (CMF), water and semolina and to prioritise other household chores as barriers to exclusive breastfeeding (59, 60). There is some qualitative evidence that mothers in Bangladesh consider the sex of the infant when deciding to continue to breastfeed due to differences in infant behaviour (59); however, this is not supported by large quantitative national surveys that show no difference in breastfeeding practices by infant sex (3, 61, 62). Importantly, in a study of parents with a child 0-6 months of age from a nationally-representative sample in Bangladesh, fathers' knowledge about exclusive breastfeeding and support to mothers to practice exclusive breastfeeding had a significant positive impact on maternal exclusive breastfeeding knowledge and attitude (63). Consideration of these cultural and social factors is essential to designing breastfeeding promotion interventions because for instance, male engagement does not consistently improve rates of exclusive breastfeeding across all LMICs with different gender norms (64). In Bangladesh, Alive & Thrive's intensive IYCF intervention that successfully increased early initiation and exclusive breastfeeding included mass media campaigns targeted at mothers, fathers, and community leaders (65, 66).

Female labour force participation

Returning to work is one of the top reasons for not breastfeeding reported by new mothers in LMICs (67). In LMICs, where a high proportion of work is in the informal sector, underpaid and unprotected, many women face the challenge of competing priorities between the time required to breastfeed and other care and incomeearning responsibilities (68). Workplace support for breastfeeding includes low-cost strategies that are cost-effective, especially given the high value of breastfeeding such that in 2020 the global monetary value of women's milk production among infants 0-36 months was approximately \$US 3.6 trillion (68-70). To create an enabling workplace environment for breastfeeding, a study in South Africa developed a comprehensive practice model based on critical review of the literature, mixed-methods data collection and consensus from experts, which was centered on time, space and support inputs by the employer, measurable outputs, and short to long-term outcomes (71). The methodology, and possibly even the practice model itself, has the potential to be applicable in other LMIC settings.

In Bangladesh, female labour force participation has been increasing (26% in 2003 to 36% in 2016) (72) and 85% of the estimated 4 million garment factory workers are women of reproductive age (73). However, these women lack information and support to continue breastfeeding when they return to work. In a pooled analysis of the Bangladesh DHS from 2011 to 2018, employed mothers had 24% lower odds of any exclusive breastfeeding between 0-5.9 months (adjusted odds ratio=0.76, 95%CI: 0.59-0.96) (74). A survey in two factories in Dhaka, Bangladesh found that only 17% of female factory workers with infants aged below 2 years exclusively breastfed their infants up to 6 months of age (75). Furthermore, qualitative research among garment factory workers who were mothers of 0-12 month old infants showed that mothers introduce CMF as early as 2 months postpartum because they had very little knowledge about the use of expressed breast milk, did not have access to breast pumps or refrigeration at work or home, and were concerned about pathogenic contamination of expressed human milk due to this lack of refrigeration (76). Additionally, these mothers faced barriers to breastfeeding due to excessive workload without scheduled breaks, inadequate child-care facilities at work, and caregivers at home who, understandably, were unable to bring the infants to the factories for feeding.

There have been a number of promising interventions to support Bangladeshi mothers returning to work. In a two-group longitudinal mixed-methods study comparing the effectiveness of a home-based peer support programme from 6 months of pregnancy until 6 months postpartum among pregnant and lactating factory workers compared to their unemployed female neighbors in Bangladesh, exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months was high among both groups (86% in employed group and 95% in unemployed group) (54). Peer counsellors in that study educated mothers on safe expression, storage and feeding of breast milk, which enabled employed mothers to feed infants their breast milk exclusively when returning to work and encouraged family members to trust and help throughout the process. However, employed mothers still described challenges with finding the time and space in the workplace to express their breastmilk. Recently, there has been more organizational commitment to support working mothers in Bangladesh. In 2016, UNICEF and the Bangladeshi government including the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare and Ministry of Labour and Employment convened a task force to improve maternity protection and infant and child care in Bangladeshi businesses (75, 77). UNICEF also supported the establishment of an advocacy programme to strengthen maternity rights and protect breastfeeding in the workplace called Mothers@Work. This initiative partnered with two factories in Bangladesh to act as pilot projects to support breastfeeding in the workplace (78). Most recently, the UNICEF-led Mothers@Work initiative partnered with Bangladeshi factory associations to support factories to provide breastfeeding spaces and breaks, childcare facilities, paid maternity leave, and a safe work environment for working mothers and pregnant women (79).

Commercial milk formula use

Overall, due to the high expense of CMF, breastfeeding is more prevalent in LMICs than high-income countries (5), and within LMICs, CMF-use is positively associated with household wealth (80). In Bangladesh, rates of CMF use are highest among the wealthiest households (17.4% from DHS-2014), but rates are still high among the poorest (9.5% from DHS-2014) (81) for which the risk and consequences from unsterile bottles and/or contaminated water supply is greatest (5, 9). The rate of CMF use is also increasing in Bangladesh, with 22% of infants aged between 0 and 5 months received mixed milk feeding (breast milk and CMF and/or fresh, packaged, or powdered animal milk) based on the DHS-2022, which was highest among the wealthiest households (24%) and lower among households in the lowest wealth quintile (13%) (3). Furthermore, a recent report by WHO and UNICEF from 2022 showed that 27% of women surveyed in Bangladesh were exposed to CMF marketing and 57% received recommendations from health professionals to use CMF products (82).

In 1981, the WHO developed the International Code for the Marketing of Breast-milk Substitutes and called on countries to enact individual laws and regulations to limit the marketing methods for CMF and related products (83). However, as of 2023, only 32 countries have legal measures substantially aligned to the Code and there has been an

increase in advertising expenditure by CMF manufacturers by 164% in the past decade (84, 85). Violations of the WHO International Code are a global challenge and there is a substantial gap in multilevel and multicomponent interventions to address them (17, 68, 84–86). LMICs that have made progress against CMF markets, such as the Philippines, have done so through political commitment including an official database of reported violations of the Code and coalitions to resist the CMF industry (17, 68, 85). Although the Bangladesh Breastmilk Substitutes Act was developed and adopted by the Bangladeshi Parliament in 2017, the rates of exposure to CMF marketing and use of CMF highlight the need for robust implementation, stronger enforcement, and monitoring of the Act to protect families at all socioeconomic levels from unsubstantiated claims about CMF (87).

Conclusion

Factors affecting breastfeeding practices are often structural, socioeconomic, cultural, biological, and medical; and therefore, breastfeeding promotion requires multifaceted public health efforts to target these factors (17, 68, 69). Breastfeeding rates are impacted by all of these factors in Bangladesh within the context of marketing by CMF companies, limited safe alternatives to breastfeeding directly from the breast, and insufficient resources to support breastfeeding in the hospital, community, and workplace setting. The WHO cautions against the use of feeding bottles and breast-milk substitutes, especially in LMICs, due to the high risk of introducing contamination that can lead to lifethreatening infections in young infants (88), so the fears expressed by Bangladeshi mothers of returning to work and risk among low-income households (81) are warranted. Encouragingly, the rate of exclusive breastfeeding is higher in Bangladesh compared to other countries worldwide. The overlapping effects of high antibiotic use and C-section rates may have even larger negative effects on infant health outcomes such as atopic disease if it were not for the protective effect of breastfeeding in this context; however, more research on these interrelated factors is required.

Author contributions

ML: Writing - review & editing, Writing - original draft, Methodology, Investigation, Conceptualization.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The Author is a PhD candidate and receives support for her doctoral studies from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship Doctoral Award.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. World Health Organization, UNICEF. (2023). Global breastfeeding scorecard 2023: rates of breastfeeding increase around the world through improved protection and support.

2. National Institute of Population Research and Training, ICF. (2020). Bangladesh demographic and health survey 2017–18. Dhaka, Bangladesh, and Rockville, Maryland, USA.

3. National Institute of Population Research and Training, ICF. (2024). Bangladesh demographic and health survey 2022: Final report. Dhaka, Bangladesh, and Rockville, Maryland, USA: NIPORT and ICF.

4. Ambikapathi R, Kosek MN, Lee GO, Mahopo C, Patil CL, Maciel BL, et al. How multiple episodes of exclusive breastfeeding impact estimates of exclusive breastfeeding duration: report from the eight-site MAL-ED birth cohort study. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2016) 12:740–56. doi: 10.1111/mcn.12352

5. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, França GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. *Lancet*. (2016) 387:475–90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7

6. Horta BL, Loret de Mola C, Victora CG. Long-term consequences of breastfeeding on cholesterol, obesity, systolic blood pressure and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:30–7. doi: 10.1111/apa.13133

7. Bode L, Raman AS, Murch SH, Rollins NC, Gordon JI. Understanding the motherbreastmilk-infant "triad". *Science*. (2020) 367:1070–2. doi: 10.1126/science.aaw6147

8. Sankar MJ, Sinha B, Chowdhury R, Bhandari N, Taneja S, Martines J, et al. Optimal breastfeeding practices and infant and child mortality: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:3–13. doi: 10.1111/apa.13147

9. Walters DD, Phan LTH, Mathisen R. The cost of not breastfeeding: global results from a new tool. *Health Policy Plan*. (2019) 34:407–17. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czz050

10. Dai DLY, Petersen C, Hoskinson C, Del Bel KL, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, et al. Breastfeeding enrichment of B. longum subsp. infantis mitigates the effect of antibiotics on the microbiota and childhood asthma risk. *Medicine*. (2023) 4:92–112.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2022.12.002

11. Brockway M. The role of antibiotic exposure and the effects of breastmilk and human milk feeding on the developing infant gut microbiome. *Front Public Health.* (2024) 12:1408246. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1408246

12. Pedersen CJ, Uddin MJ, Saha SK, Darmstadt GL. Prevalence of atopic dermatitis, asthma and rhinitis from infancy through adulthood in rural Bangladesh: a populationbased, cross-sectional survey. *BMJ Open.* (2020) 10:e042380. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-042380

13. Rogawski ET, Platts-Mills JA, Seidman JC, John S, Mahfuz M, Ulak M, et al. Use of antibiotics in children younger than two years in eight countries: a prospective cohort study. *Bull World Health Organ.* (2017) 95:49–61. doi: 10.2471/BLT.16.176123

14. Boone K, Morris SK, Doshi S, Black J, Mohsin M, Ahmed T, et al. Antimicrobial prescribing during infant hospital admissions in a birth cohort in Dhaka, Bangladesh. J Trop Pediat Environ Child Health. (2021) 67:fmaa093. doi: 10.1093/tropej/fmaa093

15. Islam MR, Nuzhat S, Fahim SM, Palit P, Flannery RL, Kyle DJ, et al. Antibiotic exposure among young infants suffering from diarrhoea in Bangladesh. *J Paediatr Child Health*. (2021) 57:395–402. doi: 10.1111/jpc.15233

16. Russell NJ, Stöhr W, Plakkal N, Cook A, Berkley JA, Adhisivam B, et al. Patterns of antibiotic use, pathogens, and prediction of mortality in hospitalized neonates and young infants with sepsis: A global neonatal sepsis observational cohort study (NeoOBS). *PLoS Med.* (2023) 20:e1004179. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed. 1004179

17. Pérez-Escamilla R, Tomori C, Hernández-Cordero S, Baker P, Barros AJD, Bégin F, et al. Breastfeeding: crucially important, but increasingly challenged in a marketdriven world. *Lancet.* (2023) 401:472–85. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01932-8

18. Boerma T, Ronsmans C, Melesse DY, Barros AJD, Barros FC, Juan L, et al. Global epidemiology of use of and disparities in caesarean sections. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1341–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31928-7

19. Nissen E, Uvnäs-Moberg K, Svensson K, Stock S, Widström A-M, Winberg J. Different patterns of oxytocin, prolactin but not cortisol release during breastfeeding in women delivered by caesarean section or by the vaginal route. *Early Hum Dev.* (1996) 45:103–18. doi: 10.1016/0378-3782(96)01725-2

20. Dasgupta A, Bhattacharya S, Das M, Chowdhury KM, Saha S. Breast feeding practices in a teaching hospital of Calcutta before and after the adoption of BFHI (baby friendly hospital initiative). *J Indian Med Assoc.* (1997) 95:169–71, 195.

21. Cakmak H, Kuguoglu S. Comparison of the breastfeeding patterns of mothers who delivered their babies per vagina and via cesarean section: an observational study using

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

the LATCH breastfeeding charting system. Int J Nurs Stud. (2007) 44:1128-37. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2006.04.018

22. Nakao Y, Moji K, Honda S, Oishi K. Initiation of breastfeeding within 120 minutes after birth is associated with breastfeeding at four months among Japanese women: a self-administered questionnaire survey. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2008) 3:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1746-4358-3-1

23. Hobbs AJ, Mannion CA, McDonald SW, Brockway M, Tough SC. The impact of caesarean section on breastfeeding initiation, duration and difficulties in the first four months postpartum. *BMC Preg Childbirth.* (2016) 16:90–9. doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0876-1

24. Prior E, Santhakumaran S, Gale C, Philipps LH, Modi N, Hyde MJ. Breastfeeding after cesarean delivery: a systematic review and meta-analysis of world literature. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 95:1113–35. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.030254

25. Karimi FZ, Miri HH, Khadivzadeh T, Maleki-Saghooni N. The effect of motherinfant skin-to-skin contact immediately after birth on exclusive breastfeeding: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc.* (2020) 21:46–56. doi: 10.4274/jtgga.galenos.2019.2018.0138

26. Sandall J, Tribe RM, Avery L, Mola G, Visser GHA, Homer CSE, et al. Short-term and long-term effects of caesarean section on the health of women and children. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1349–57. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31930-5

27. Sobhy S, Arroyo-Manzano D, Murugesu N, Karthikeyan G, Kumar V, Kaur I, et al. Maternal and perinatal mortality and complications associated with caesarean section in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2019) 393:1973–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32386-9

28. Souza JP, Gülmezoglu AM, Vogel J, Carroli G, Lumbiganon P, Qureshi Z, et al. Moving beyond essential interventions for reduction of maternal mortality (the WHO multicountry survey on maternal and newborn health): a cross-sectional study. *Lancet*. (2013) 381:1747–55. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60686-8

29. Liu S, Liston RM, Joseph KS, Heaman M, Sauve R, Kramer MS, et al. Maternal mortality and severe morbidity associated with low-risk planned cesarean delivery versus planned vaginal delivery at term. *CMAJ*. (2007) 176:455–60. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.060870

30. Tita ATN, Landon MB, Spong CY, Lai Y, Leveno KJ, Varner MW, et al. Timing of elective repeat cesarean delivery at term and neonatal outcomes. *N Engl J Med.* (2009) 360:111–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0803267

31. Liu X, Zhou J, Chen J, Li L, Yuan L, Li S, et al. Risk of asthma and allergies in children delivered by cesarean section: A comprehensive systematic review. *Practice*. (2024). doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2024.06.022

32. Price R, Makasa E, Hollands M. World health assembly resolution WHA68.15: "strengthening emergency and essential surgical care and anesthesia as a component of universal health coverage"—addressing the public health gaps arising from lack of safe, affordable and accessible surgical and anesthetic services. *World J Surg.* (2015) 39:2115–25. doi: 10.1007/s00268-015-3153-y

33. Akhtarul Islam M, Tanmin Nahar M, Ashfikur Rahman M, Dey Barna S, Farhad ibn Anik SM. Factors associated with cesarean delivery in Bangladesh: A multilevel modeling. *Sex Reprod Healthc.* (2022) 34:100792. doi: 10.1016/j.srhc.2022.100792

34. Ahmed MS, Islam M, Jahan I, Shaon IF. Multilevel analysis to identify the factors associated with caesarean section in Bangladesh: evidence from a nationally representative survey. *Int Health*. (2023) 15:30–6. doi: 10.1093/inthealth/ihac006

35. Amyx M, Gibbons L, Xiong X, Mazzoni A, Althabe F, Buekens P, et al. Sources of influence on pregnant women's preferred mode of delivery in Buenos Aires, Argentina. *Birth.* (2018) 45:71–8. doi: 10.1111/birt.12307

36. Akter E, Hossain AT, Rahman AE, Ahmed A, Tahsina T, Tanwi TS, et al. Levels and determinants of quality antenatal care in Bangladesh: evidence from the Bangladesh demographic and health survey. *PLoS One*. (2023) 18:e0269767. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0269767

37. Rahman MA, Khan MN, Akter S, Rahman A, Alam MM, Khan MA, et al. Determinants of exclusive breastfeeding practice in Bangladesh: evidence from nationally representative survey data. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0236080. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236080

38. Aziz S, Basit A, Sultana S, Homer CSE, Vogel JP. Inequalities in women's utilization of postnatal care services in Bangladesh from 2004 to 2017. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:2747. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-06672-z

39. World Health Organization U (2006). Baby-friendly hospital initiative: Revised, updated and expanded for integrated care. Geneva.

40. Kramer MS, Chalmers B, Hodnett ED, Sevkovskaya Z, Dzikovich I, Shapiro S, et al. Promotion of breastfeeding intervention trial (PROBIT). *JAMA*. (2001) 285:413–20. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.4.413 41. World Health Organization (2017). National implementation of the baby-friendly hospital initiative.

42. Bank TW. South Asia - baby-friendly hospital initiative in South Asia: implementing ten steps to successful breastfeeding - India, Nepal, and Bangladesh challenges and opportunities. Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group (2019).

43. Roy SK. Project completion report: Revitalization of baby friendly hospital initiatives. Dhaka, Bangladesh: Bangladesh Breastfeeding Foundation (2016).

44. Roy SKMI, A.B.M (2016). World breastfeeding week - 2016: Breastfeeding a key to sustainable development report. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare Institute of Public Health and Nutrition & Bangladesh Breastfeeding Foundation.

45. World Health Organization (2019). Strengthening quality midwifery education for universal health coverage 2030: Framework for action. Geneva: World Health Organization. Report No.: 9241515848.

46. Begum F, Ara R, Islam A, Marriott S, Williams A, Anderson R. Health system strengthening through professional midwives in Bangladesh: best practices, challenges, and successes. *Glob Health Sci Pract.* (2023) 11:e2300081. doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-23-00081

47. Anderson R, Williams A, Jess N, Read JM, Limmer M. The impact of professional midwives and mentoring on the quality and availability of maternity care in government sub-district hospitals in Bangladesh: a mixed-methods observational study. *BMC Pregancy Childbirth*. (2022) 22:827. doi: 10.1186/s12884-022-05096-x

48. Anderson R, Williams A, Emdadul Hoque DM, Jess N, Shahjahan F, Hossain A, et al. Implementing midwifery services in public tertiary medical college hospitals in Bangladesh: a longitudinal study. *Women Birth.* (2023) 36:299–304. doi: 10.1016/j. wombi.2022.09.006

49. Bhutta ZA, Labbok M. Scaling up breastfeeding in developing countries. *The Lancet.* (2011) 378:378–80.

50. Pérez-Escamilla R, Curry L, Minhas D, Taylor L, Bradley E. Scaling up of breastfeeding promotion programs in low-and middle-income countries: the "breastfeeding gear" model. *Advances in nutrition*. (2012) 3:790–800.

51. Kim SS, Nguyen PH, Tran LM, Sanghvi T, Mahmud Z, Haque MR, et al. Largescale social and behavior change communication interventions have sustained impacts on infant and young child feeding knowledge and practices: results of a 2-year follow-up study in Bangladesh. *J Nutr.* (2018) 148:1605–14.

52. Bangladesh Breastfeeding Foundation (2018). Activity-3 improvement of maternal and child nutrition through formation of MSGs at community level. Available at: https://bbf.org.bd/mother-support-group-msg-2017-2018/ (Accessed June 20, 2024).

53. Ara G, Khanam M, Papri N, Nahar B, Haque MA, Kabir I, et al. Peer counselling improves breastfeeding practices: A cluster randomized controlled trial in urban Bangladesh. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2018) 14:e12605. doi: 10.1111/mcn.12605

54. Younes L, Houweling TAJ, Azad K, Kuddus A, Shaha S, Haq B, et al. The effect of participatory women's groups on infant feeding and child health knowledge, behaviour and outcomes in rural Bangladesh: a controlled before-and-after study. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2015) 69:374–81. doi: 10.1136/jech-2014-204271

55. Haider R, Thorley V. Supporting exclusive breastfeeding among factory workers and their unemployed neighbors: peer counseling in Bangladesh. J Hum Lact. (2020) 36:414–25. doi: 10.1177/0890334419871229

56. Pappu NI, Öberg I, Byrskog U, Raha P, Moni R, Akhtar S, et al. The commitment to a midwifery Centre care model in Bangladesh: an interview study with midwives, educators and students. *PLoS One*. (2023) 18:e0271867. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0271867

57. Nove A, Friberg IK, de Bernis L, McConville F, Moran AC, Najjemba M, et al. Potential impact of midwives in preventing and reducing maternal and neonatal mortality and stillbirths: a lives saved tool modelling study. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2021) 9:e24–32. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30397-1

58. Sharma IK, Byrne A. Early initiation of breastfeeding: a systematic literature review of factors and barriers in South Asia. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2016) 11:17–2. doi: 10.1186/s13006-016-0076-7

59. Uddin MF, Jabeen I, Islam MA, Rahman M, Chisti MJ, Ahmed T, et al. Barriers to breastfeeding are shaped by sociocultural context: an exploratory qualitative study in Bangladesh. *J Health Popul Nutr.* (2022) 41:34. doi: 10.1186/s41043-022-00312-y

60. Haider R, Rasheed S, Sanghvi TG, Hassan N, Pachon H, Islam S, et al. Breastfeeding in infancy: identifying the program-relevant issues in Bangladesh. *Int Breastfeed J*. (2010) 5:21–12. doi: 10.1186/1746-4358-5-21

61. Sen KK, Mallick TS, Bari W. Gender inequality in early initiation of breastfeeding in Bangladesh: a trend analysis. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2020) 15:18–1. doi: 10.1186/s13006-020-00259-y

62. Ayesha U, Mamun A, Sayem MA, Hossain MG. Factors associated with duration of breastfeeding in Bangladesh: evidence from Bangladesh demographic and health survey 2014. *BMC Public Health*. (2021) 21:1758–9. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11804-7

63. Ouyang Y-Q, Nasrin L (2021). editors. Father's knowledge, attitude and support to mother's exclusive breastfeeding practices in Bangladesh: A multi-group structural equations model analysis: MDPI.

64. Yourkavitch JM, Alvey JL, Prosnitz DM, Thomas JC. Engaging men to promote and support exclusive breastfeeding: a descriptive review of 28 projects in 20 low- and

middle-income countries from 2003 to 2013. J Health Popul Nutr. (2017) 36:43. doi: 10.1186/s41043-017-0127-8

65. Sanghvi T, Haque R, Roy S, Afsana K, Seidel R, Islam S, et al. Achieving behaviour change at scale: Alive & Thrive's infant and young child feeding programme in Bangladesh. *Matern Child Nutr.* (2016) 12:141–54. doi: 10.1111/mcn.12277

66. Menon P, Nguyen PH, Saha KK, Khaled A, Kennedy A, Tran LM, et al. Impacts on breastfeeding practices of at-scale strategies that combine intensive interpersonal counseling, mass media, and community mobilization: results of cluster-randomized program evaluations in Bangladesh and Viet Nam. *PLoS Med.* (2016) 13:e1002159. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002159

67. Chai Y, Nandi A, Heymann J. Does extending the duration of legislated paid maternity leave improve breastfeeding practices? Evidence from 38 low-income and middle-income countries. *BMJ Glob Health*. (2018) 3:e001032. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2018-001032

68. Baker P, Smith JP, Garde A, Grummer-Strawn LM, Wood B, Sen G, et al. The political economy of infant and young child feeding: confronting corporate power, overcoming structural barriers, and accelerating progress. *Lancet*. (2023) 401:503–24. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01933-X

69. Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, et al. Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? *Lancet*. (2016) 387:491–504. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01044-2

70. The Mothers Milk Tool (2022). The value of nourishing newborns and nations [press release]. Retrieved from: https://eujournal.org/index.php/esj/article/view/5341

71. Daniels LC, Mbhenyane XG, Du Plessis LM. Development of a workplace breastfeeding support practice model in South Africa. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2024) 19:32. doi: 10.1186/s13006-024-00638-9

72. Nora LA, Reyes HN, Jahan F, Livani T, Lonnberg T. Women's participation, constraints, and opportunities for trade in Bangladesh. SARTFP Gender Platform Knowledge Series, Washington, DC: World Bank Group (2021).

73. Farhana K, Syduzzaman M, Munir MS. Present status of workers in ready-made garments industry in Bangladesh. *Eur Sci J.* (2015) 11.

74. Ahmmed F, Hossain MJ, Sutopa TS, al-Mamun M, Alam M, Islam MR, et al. The trend in exclusive breastfeeding practice and its association with maternal employment in Bangladesh: A multilevel analysis. *Front Public Health*. (2022) 10:988016. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.988016

75. UNICEF. Let's make it work!: Breastfeeding in the workplace – Using communication for development to make breastfeeding possible among working mothers. New York: UNICEF (2018).

76. Hasan AMR, Smith G, Selim MA, Akter S, Khan NUZ, Sharmin T, et al. Work and breast milk feeding: a qualitative exploration of the experience of lactating mothers working in ready made garments factories in urban Bangladesh. *Int Breastfeed J.* (2020) 15:93. doi: 10.1186/s13006-020-00338-0

77. UNICEF. Breastfeeding support in the workplace: A global guide for employers. New York, NY, USA: UNICEF (2020).

78. BetterWork ILO (2022). International finance Corporation of the World Bank Group. Mothers@Work: a qualitative assessment.

79. UNICEF (2022). Partners with the Bangladesh garment industry to support mothers at work [press release].

80. Neves PAR, Barros AJD, Baker P, Piwoz E, Santos TM, Gatica-Domínguez G, et al. Consumption of breast milk, formula and other non-human milk by children aged under 2 years: analysis of eighty-six low- and middle-income countries. *Public Health Nutr.* (2022) 25:680–8. doi: 10.1017/S1368980020004061

81. Neves PAR, Gatica-Domínguez G, Rollins NC, Piwoz E, Baker P, Barros AJD, et al. Infant formula consumption is positively correlated with wealth, within and between countries: a multi-country study. *J Nutr.* (2020) 150:910–7. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxz327

82. UNICEF. How the marketing of formula milk influences our decisions on infant feeding. Geneva: World Health Organization and the United Nations Children's Fund (2022).

83. World Health Organization. International code of marketing of breast-milk substitutes. Geneva: World Health Organization (1981).

84. The Lancet. Unveiling the predatory tactics of the formula milk industry. *Lancet.* (2023) 401:409. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00118-6

85. Rollins N, Piwoz E, Baker P, Kingston G, Mabaso KM, McCoy D, et al. Marketing of commercial milk formula: a system to capture parents, communities, science, and policy. *Lancet*. (2023) 401:486–502. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01931-6

86. Doherty T, Horwood C, Pereira-Kotze C, du Plessis L, Witten C. Stemming commercial milk formula marketing: now is the time for radical transformation to build resilience for breastfeeding. *Lancet*. (2023) 401:415–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00095-8

87. Alive and Thrive (2019). The Bangladesh breastmilk substitutes (BMS) act: protecting, promoting, and supporting breastfeeding by ending the unethical marketing of BMS. Alive and Thrive. Available at: https://www.aliveandthrive.org/sites/default/files/attachments/BD-BreastmilkSubstitutesAct.pdf

88. World Health Organization. The international code of marketing of breast-milk substitutes: Frequently asked questions World Health Organization (2017).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Abdelilah Soussi Gounni, University of Manitoba, Canada

REVIEWED BY Cristina Benito-Villalvilla, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain Luis Garcia-Marcos, University of Murcia, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Tae Yoon Lee Marrytyl@stanford.edu

RECEIVED 05 September 2024 ACCEPTED 03 December 2024 PUBLISHED 23 December 2024

CITATION

Lee TY, Petkau J, Saatchi A, Marra F, Turvey SE, Lishman H, Patrick DM, Cragg JJ, Johnson KM and Sadatsafavi M (2024) Impact analysis of infant antibiotic exposure on the burden of asthma: a simulation modeling study. Front. Allergy 5:1491985. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2024.1491985

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Lee, Petkau, Saatchi, Marra, Turvey, Lishman, Patrick, Cragg, Johnson and Sadatsafavi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impact analysis of infant antibiotic exposure on the burden of asthma: a simulation modeling study

Tae Yoon Lee^{1,2*}, John Petkau³, Ariana Saatchi², Fawziah Marra², Stuart E. Turvey⁴, Hannah Lishman⁵, David M. Patrick⁶, Jacquelyn J. Cragg², Kate M. Johnson^{1,2,7} and Mohsen Sadatsafavi^{1,2}

¹Respiratory Evaluation Sciences Program, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ²Collaboration for Outcomes Research and Evaluation, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ³Department of Statistics, Faculty of Science, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁴Division of Allergy and Immunology, Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia and British Columbia's Children's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁵Community Antimicrobial Stewardship, BC Centre for Disease Control, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁶School of Population and Public Health, University of British Columbia and BC Centre for Disease Control, Vancouver, BC, Canada, Respiratory Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Background: Infant antibiotic use is associated with increased risk of asthma. We examined the population impact of antibiotic exposure in the first year of life on the burden of pediatric asthma in British Columbia, Canada, using simulation modeling. **Methods:** We performed a Bayesian meta-analysis of empirical studies to construct dose-response equations between antibiotic exposure in the first year of life and pediatric (<19 years of age) asthma. We used administrative health data to document trends in infant (<1 year of age) antibiotic use in British Columbia during 2001 and 2018 (the study period). An independently developed microsimulation model of asthma was utilized to estimate asthma-related outcomes under three scenarios pertaining to the trends in antibiotic use during the study period: (1) observed trends, (2) flat trend in which the prescription rate remained at the 2001 value, and (3) intermediate trends midway between these two. We reported cumulative person-years with asthma, cumulative asthma incidence, and cumulative asthma exacerbations among the pediatric population during the study period.

Results: There were 773,160 live births during the study period, with an average antibiotic prescription rate of 523 per 1,000 infants in the first year of life. The prescription rate decreased by 71.5% during the study period. In Scenario 1, there were 1,982,861 person-years with asthma, 183,392 asthma incident cases, and 383,072 exacerbations. Had the antibiotic exposure remained at the 2001 values (Scenario 2), there would have been additional 37,213 person-years with asthma, 10,053 asthma incident cases, and 23,280 exacerbations. Had the decline been half of the observed trend (Scenario 3), there would have been additional 20,318 person-years with asthma, 5,486 asthma incident cases, and 12,728 exacerbations. At least 80% of the excess burden in each outcome was attributable to the younger pediatric population of <10 years of age.

Conclusions: The decline in infant antibiotic exposure has resulted in a substantial reduction in the burden of asthma in British Columbia. Such benefits should be considered when evaluating the value proposition of initiatives aimed at reducing unnecessary antibiotic exposure in early life.

KEYWORDS

asthma, antibiotics, early life, projection, simulation modeling

1 Introduction

Overuse of antibiotics is a global health problem, with approximately 30% of outpatient antibiotic prescriptions estimated to be unnecessary (1). Many health jurisdictions across the world have undertaken initiatives, such as launching antimicrobial stewardship programs, to reduce unnecessary use of antibiotics. A recent systematic review of 52 studies reporting on such stewardship programs found an overall 10% attributable reduction in antibiotic prescriptions (2). However, it is not clear to what extent such a reduction will impact the health of the population. Understanding the population and policy implications of interventions is necessary for evidence-informed and efficient decision-making (3).

A prime example of the benefit of reduced antibiotic exposure is the potential reduction in the burden of asthma. Asthma is a common chronic inflammatory airway condition characterized by airflow restriction, heightened airway responsiveness, and structural alterations in the air passages (4). Asthma continues to present a public health challenge, affecting over 262 million people globally (5, 6). Numerous studies have shown asthma to result in premature mortality, diminished quality of life, and substantial economic burden (7).

Growing evidence shows a link between infant antibiotic use and childhood asthma development (8). This link can be attributed to the deleterious impact of antibiotics on the maturation of the infant gut microbiome, the composition of which plays a crucial role in healthy immunological development. Disruption of this process can lead to hyperinflammatory immune responses later in childhood and the development of allergic diseases such as asthma in later life (9-11). Therefore, it is plausible that the concomitant reduction in antibiotic use and the incidence of asthma observed in many jurisdictions may be related (11-14). For example, a 73% reduction (from 868 to 236 prescriptions per 1,000 population) in antibiotic use among infants was paralleled with a 41% reduction in asthma incidence (from 29 to 17 incident cases per 1,000 population) among children aged 1-4 years between 2000 and 2018 in British Columbia (15, 16). A concern about such associations is potential confounding by indication or reverse causation due to respiratory infection since antibiotics are indicated for respiratory infections, and respiratory infections are a risk factor for asthma (17). However, the association with asthma remains significant after adjusting for respiratory infections, and is also observed when restricting the outcome to non-respiratory indications (11). Moreover, at the ecological level, dramatic falls in childhood asthma rates following reductions in antibiotic use were not preceded by concomitant changes in the population prevalence of respiratory infections (11). The established pathway through missing taxa, altered metabolites and T cell development adds biologic plausibility for a causal association (18). Putting these together, preventing the early steps in asthma pathogenesis during infancy through reduction in antibiotic exposure presents a unique opportunity for asthma prevention (19).

Given the strength of evidence towards the causal association between antibiotic exposure and risk of childhood asthma, we sought to investigate the policy implications of reducing unnecessary antibiotic use. Focusing on British Columbia (BC), a Canadian province with a 2022 population of 5.4 million (20), our study aimed to address the question: "What would the burden of asthma have been, had infant antibiotic exposure been different than observed?" Specifically, the objective of our study was to project population-level asthma-related outcomes under different counter-factual scenarios related to recent declining trends in antibiotic exposure among infants in BC and then to estimate the concomitant changes in the burden of asthma that can be attributed to such trends.

2 Materials and methods

This study comprised of three major steps to achieve the objective: (1) ecological trend analysis of infant antibiotic exposure in BC, (2) meta-analysis of the dose-response relationship between infant antibiotic use and risk of childhood asthma, and (3) simulation modeling to quantify asthma burden under counterfactual scenarios regarding infant antibiotic exposure. The study period for which antibiotic exposure was quantified and asthma outcomes were modeled was 2001–2018.

All the analyses were conducted using R (version: 4.3.0) (21), Julia (version: 1.9.0) (22), and Stan (2.21) (23). The aggregated data and code used for the analyses are available in the GitHub repository: https://github.com/tyhlee/ImpactInfantAbxAsthma. This study was approved by the institutional review board of the University of British Columbia, Vancouver (H09–00650).

2.1 Ecological trend analysis of antibiotic exposure among infants in BC

We analyzed antibiotic use among infants (<1 year of age) using the population-based administrative health databases of BC from January 2001 (earliest year allowed in the simulation model) to December 2018 (last year of data availability for this study). In particular, the PharmaNet database contains dispensed medication records across community pharmacies and hospital outpatient pharmacies for all residents of the province (24). Medications dispensed to inpatients within hospitals or emergency departments are not included within this database. However, such prescriptions are less likely to be misused (and thus are unlikely to be affected by any policy targeting antibiotic exposure reduction), and are typically short-term. Data were extracted, anonymized, and made available to researchers by the BCCDC [Do Bugs Need Drugs? (H09-00650)]. All inferences, opinions and conclusions drawn in this study are those of the authors and do not reflect the opinions or policies of the Data Steward(s).

We computed the rate of infant antibiotic prescriptions per 1,000 infants using the population estimates from Statistics British Columbia (20). To estimate sex-specific trends, we fitted a negative binomial regression model for the log of the prescription rate, with calendar time and biological sex as covariates. An earlier study indicated a distinct decline in antibiotic use in 2005, coinciding with the introduction of a provincial antibiotic stewardship program (25). To account for

this non-linearity, we also included main-effect and interactioneffect terms between time and an indicator for whether the year was after 2005. We measured the goodness-of-fit of the model with the percentage deviance explained (the higher deviance explained the better, analogous to R^2 in an ordinary linear model, with values close to 100% justifying the use of regressionsmoothed values instead of raw frequencies) (26).

2.2 Meta-analysis of the dose-response relationship between infant antibiotic use and childhood asthma prevalence

The analysis aimed to generate an equation that would map antibiotic exposure to asthma prevalence based on published information. We started with 63 studies that were identified in the systematic review by Duong et al. (8) which reported on the relationship between antibiotic use in early life and childhood asthma during the publication period between 1998 and 2021. We performed a further literature review (January 2021– September 2023) to identify any relevant studies published afterwards (details of the search are provided in Supplementary Materials Section 1; 13 studies were identified).

Using the 76 identified studies, we estimated the dose-response relationship between infant antibiotic use and childhood asthma prevalence (in terms of odds ratio). We applied the following inclusion criteria to the identified studies: (i) the dose-response relationship was investigated as part of an original research (not synthesized from other studies), (ii) the timing of antibiotic use was in the first year of life, (iii) the age range for asthma diagnosis was narrower than 6 years (if asthma diagnosis is made in children of ages between 3 and 6, then the age range is 4 years) and (iv) the risk of bias score was low [the overall risk of bias less than 2 based on the risk of bias domains of ROBINS-I (27) following the guidelines by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (28)].

We made several assumptions and simplifications to enable the quantitative pooling of results. Specifically, some studies reported the association for a single year of age, while others documented the association over an age bracket. Based on dedicated simulation studies (see Supplementary Materials Section 2), we concluded that the effect size reported across an age range of less than 6 years would provide a good approximation for the single-year effect at the mid-point of the age range [studies reporting on longer ranges were thus excluded, see criterion (iii) above]. Second, we treated hazard ratios and odds ratios interchangeably, which is an acceptable approximation when event prevalence is low (29). Further, we assumed that the dose-response association was proportional on the logit scale (this assumption was qualitatively evaluated based on comparing the predicted vs. observed association for each study). Next, we classified the number of antibiotic prescriptions (of any days supply) as 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5+. As some studies reported the associations for the number of antibiotic prescriptions as a range, we used the following categorization by taking the lower bound of the range: 1-2 prescriptions were recategorized as 1, and 3-4 prescriptions were recategorized as 3. Lastly, the included studies did not report on the interaction effect with sex, and existing evidence on this topic is weak (30); correspondingly, we assumed that the effect of infant antibiotic use was not different between males and females.

We fitted a random-effects meta-regression model with age of asthma diagnosis and infant antibiotic use as covariates in a Bayesian framework (31) (details on the model, implementation in Stan, and prior specification are provided in Supplementary Materials Section 3). The final equation was of the form:

Logit(asthma prevalence|age, dose)
=
$$\beta_0 + \beta_{Canada} + \beta_{age} * age + \beta_{dose} * dose,$$
 (1)

where age is the age of asthma diagnosis in years, dose is the number of antibiotic prescripts (0, 1, ..., 4, 5+), β_0 , β_{age} , β_{dose} are the fixed effects estimated by the meta-regression and β_{Canada} is the random effect corresponding to the single Canadian study in that analysis. This model specification enables pooling of all available evidence while also putting more weight on the single Canadian study.

2.3 Asthma policy simulation model

We used the Lifetime Exposures and Asthma outcomes Projection (LEAP) model, an asthma policy simulation model for Canada, to simulate counterfactual scenarios. Following the best practice recommendations in policy modeling (32), the LEAP model was developed, independently of this study, in collaboration with a steering committee of economic modelers, allergists, and respirologists across Canada. Model design, including important risk factors and the pathway of asthma, was informed from multiple rounds of Delphi processes to achieve consensus.

Details of this process and the model are reported elsewhere (33, 34). In brief, the LEAP model is an open-population discrete-time microsimulation platform that simulates a virtual Canadian population and follows it from birth or immigration to emigration, death, or the end of the pre-specified time horizon. After initializing the population in the starting year (2001 in our case), simulated individuals enter the model by birth or immigration in subsequent years. In each year, the actions and behaviors of the individual are simulated based on pre-defined mathematical equations, and the attributes and disease characteristics of the individual are updated accordingly. LEAP models a multitude of population outcomes including asthma incidence, prevalence, and exacerbations.

The LEAP model has been calibrated to the Canadian population, mimicking the demographic and disease characteristics of the Canadian population. Asthma incidence and prevalence were modeled and calibrated using the Chronic Disease Registry (35), and asthma exacerbations were calibrated using the Hospital Morbidity Database (36). Further, we incorporated the equations for antibiotic exposure among infants and the effect of infant antibiotic exposure on asthma prevalence (developed in the previous sections) into the LEAP model and then calibrated the LEAP model. Of note, LEAP does not model the disease course of asthma for children under 3 years of age due to difficulty in reliably diagnosing asthma in this age group. Further details of the LEAP model are provided elsewhere (34).

2.4 Evaluation of counterfactual scenarios

To investigate the impact of the observed decline in antibiotic use in BC between 2001 and 2018, we compared the following "what-if" scenarios. Scenario 1 was the base (factual) scenario using the smoothed trends (from the negative binomial regression) fitted to the observed data. Scenario 2 was a counterfactual scenario that modeled flat trends where the antibiotic prescription rate remained the same as the smoothed values in 2001. Scenario 3 was another counterfactual scenario that modeled a decline in the antibiotic prescription rate that was half of the smoothed trends (i.e., for any given year, the antibiotic prescription rate was the average of those in Scenarios 1 and 2).

The model was run separately for each scenario for the entire pediatric population (<19 years of age) of BC (approximately 1 million people in 2018) for 100 times. For each scenario, the following outcomes were recorded: total person-years with asthma (accounting for both the number of individuals with asthma and the amount of time each person with asthma spends during the study period), cumulative asthma incidence, and cumulative asthma exacerbations. We reported the average values of these measures across the 100 runs along with Monte Carlo (MC) standard deviations (SD). The results were provided by the following age groups (in years) as well: 3-4, 5-9, 10-14, and 15-18. Additionally, for each counterfactual scenario (Scenarios 2 and 3), differences and relative changes in each of the outcomes compared with the base scenario (Scenario 1) were recorded.

3 Results

3.1 Trends in antibiotic use

Over the period from 2001 to 2018, there were 773,160 infants born in BC. During the same period, 404,675 prescriptions of antibiotics for infants were recorded, corresponding to 523 prescriptions per 1,000 infants. Male infants received more prescriptions (586 per 1,000) than female infants (457 per 1,000). From 2001 to 2018, the number of female and male infants grew by 10.2% and 8.1%, respectively, whereas the prescription rate decreased by 71.2% for females and 71.6% for males, indicating a substantial decline in antibiotic exposure, as depicted in Figure 1.



2018 in British Columbia. The error bars indicate the 95% confidence intervals of the model-based values

The negative binomial regression model fitted the data well with a goodness-of-fit of 99.3% deviance explained.

3.2 Dose-response relationship between infant antibiotic use and childhood asthma development

After examining the systematic review by Duong et al. (8) and the literature review of subsequent studies (Supplementary Materials Section 1), we found 6 studies that met our inclusion criteria [Figure 2 (37) and Supplementary Materials Section 3]. The studies were from Canada, Japan, Poland, South Korea, and the United States of America (11, 38–42). Publication years ranged from 2004 to 2020. The most recently published study reported on a prospective cohort in which asthma diagnosis was confirmed by a physician (11). One study reported on a cross-sectional cohort in which asthma diagnosis was based on self-report (41). The remaining four studies reported on retrospective cohorts in which asthma diagnosis was ascertained by international classification of disease (ICD-9 and ICD-10) codes (38–40, 42).

Figure 3 illustrates a dose-response relationship between the number of courses of antibiotics prescribed in the first year of life and asthma prevalence at different ages (3 years was the minimum age, as LEAP does not assign asthma attributes to children below this age) from the Bayesian meta-analysis (parameter estimates are provided in Table 1). There was a clear

dose-response pattern, with the effect being higher with higher levels of antibiotic exposure (adjusted odds ratio of the dose effect: 1.05; 95% CI: 1.03–1.07) but attenuating over time (adjusted odds ratio of the ageing effect: 0.79; 95% CI: 0.77–0.82). Given the substantial attenuation at 7 years of age, we conservatively assumed the association is completely diminished beyond 7 years of age.

3.3 Population impact of counterfactual infant antibiotic exposure scenarios

The modeled antibiotic exposure trends by sex are presented for each scenario in Figure 4. The model produced asthma incidence and prevalence rates as expected under the base (factual) scenario (see Supplementary Materials Section 4). Furthermore, the decrease of 26.4% (MC SD: 0.2%) in asthma incidence among children of 1–4 years of age under the base scenario between 2001 and 2014 closely matched the reported value (26.0%) in the same age group in a similar period between 2000 and 2014 in BC in another independent study (11).

In Scenario 1 (base scenario), the model simulated an average (across 100 runs) of 1,982,861 (MC SD: 4,161) person-years with asthma, an average of 183,392 (MC SD: 417) cumulative asthma incident cases, and an average of 383,072 (MC SD: 1,129) cumulative exacerbations for the pediatric population (Table 2). In comparison, Scenario 2 resulted in estimated 1.9%–6.1%, depending on the outcome, relative increases in asthma outcomes





TABLE 1 Parameter estimates from the meta-regression of asthma prevalence.

Parameter	Estimate	95% credible interval			
β_0	1.71	(0.77, 2.54)			
β_{Canada}	0.12	(-0.69,1.06)			
β_{age}	-0.23	(-0.26, -0.20)			
$\beta_{\rm dose}$	0.05	(0.03, 0.07)			
σ_u^{2a}	0.93	(0.48, 1.99)			

 ${}^{a}\sigma_{u}^{2}$ refers to the study-to-study variance component (see Supplementary Materials Section 3 for details).

during the study period. In absolute terms, if no decline in antibiotic exposure had happened, there would have been an additional 37,213 (MC SD: 5,370) person-years with asthma, 10,053 (MC SD: 558) asthma incident cases, and 23,280 (MC SD:1,455) pediatric exacerbations between 2001 and 2018 (Figure 5). The younger age groups (3–4 and 5–9) were responsible for the majority of the excess burden: 85.4% for cumulative person-years with asthma, 100.0% for cumulative asthma incident cases, and 98.2% for cumulative asthma exacerbations.

As expected, the relative increase in asthma outcomes (1.0%–3.3% depending on the outcome) was smaller for Scenario 2. In absolute terms, there were an additional 20,318 (MC SD: 5,119) person-years with asthma, 5,486 (MC SD: 515) asthma incident cases, and 12,728 (MC SD: 1,504) exacerbations during

the study period compared to the base scenario (Table 2 and Figure 5). Similarly, the younger age groups (3–4 and 5–9) were mainly responsible for the excess burden: 84.3% for cumulative person-years with asthma, 100.0% for cumulative asthma incident cases, and 98.2% for cumulative asthma exacerbations.

4 Discussion

In this counterfactual population-level impact analysis, we used real-world trends from population-based data, quantitative evidence synthesis, Bayesian meta-analysis, and simulation modeling to quantify the population-level impact of changes in infant antibiotic exposure on the burden of asthma in a welldefined population over an eighteen-year period (2001-2018). The observed decline in antibiotic use was juxtaposed to two counterfactual scenarios, modeling the trends in antibiotic exposure in the first year of life that were different than the sustained decline observed during this period. We found that our projected results based on observed exposure trends closely matched the decrease in asthma incidence among children of 1-4 years of age between 2000 and 2014 in BC reported from a separate study (11), further validating the use of the policy model in our study. We estimated that if infant antibiotic use had not been reduced from 2001 levels, there would have been



trend in the prescription rate if it declined by half of the smoothed trend.

excess 37,213 person-years with asthma in the pediatric population in this period. Putting this number in perspective, assuming annual direct medical costs of \$550 (in 2024 Canadian dollars) for each person with asthma (43), BC has saved approximately \$20 million on the burden of asthma in the pediatric population alone by reducing unnecessary use of antibiotics among infants during the study period (of note, the savings will higher if we include costs of antibiotic prescriptions).

These results can be seen as a prime example of far-reaching implications of reduction in antibiotic exposure in infants. Asthma is one of the manifestations of allergic diseases, whose risk is postulated to be affected by changes in gut microbiota (10). Considering the broader allergic conditions is likely to result in higher estimated benefit from reducing unnecessary antibiotic exposure. As well, the maximum age within which asthma outcomes were modeled in this study was 18 years (for infants born in 2001). For infants born later during the study period this time was shorter. A prevented case of asthma averts asthma-related burden throughout the life of the individual, translating to avoided exacerbations, reduction in quality of life due to symptoms, missed school days among children, and work productivity loss among adults for many years. As such, following the infant cohorts born within the study period into the future is likely to substantially increase the estimated benefits of antibiotic exposure reduction.

Already, without accounting for such benefits, interventions and policies aimed at reducing antibiotic exposure are found to be effective and most likely cost-saving (2, 44). A systematic review of 52 studies on the evaluation of antimicrobial stewardship programs revealed that they were associated with a 10% reduction in antibiotic prescriptions. The association was stronger for the low- and middle-income countries (an average decrease of 30%) and for pediatric patients (an average decrease of 21%), implying antimicrobial stewardship programs can be an effective intervention to deal with overuse of antibiotics. However, effectiveness alone, without considering costs, cannot guide decision-making. The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development recently evaluated antimicrobial resistance control policies, including antimicrobial stewardship programs, across all its member countries (44). They used a microsimulation model that incorporated the impact of antibiotics on antimicrobial-resistant infections and modeled counterfactual scenarios to compare with a "no intervention" base scenario. They found that the stewardship programs would be cost-saving with a probability of at least 70%, cost-effective (at a threshold of US\$50,000 per quality-adjusted life year) with a

TABLE 2 Evaluation of different trends in infant antibiotic use on asthma-related outcomes for the entire pediatric population (3–18 years of age) and by the age groups between 2001 and 2018.

Age group (years)	Estimated values*			Difference compared to Scenario 1		Relative change compared to Scenario 1 (%)		
	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	
Cumulative person-years with asthma								
3-4	115,339 (436)	128,577 (442)	122,560 (429)	13,238 (568)	7,220 (544)	11.5 (0.5)	6.3 (0.5)	
5-9	526,680 (1,484)	545,222 (1,383)	536,593 (1,339)	18,542 (1,908)	9,913 (1,844)	3.5 (0.4)	1.9 (0.4)	
10-14	729,025 (1,668)	734,116 (1,494)	731,875 (1,552)	5,091 (2,203)	2,851 (2,164)	0.7 (0.3)	0.4 (0.3)	
15-18	611,817 (1,429)	612,159 (1,322)	612,150 (1,327)	343 (1,644)	334 (1,651)	0.06 (0.3)	0.1 (0.3)	
Overall	1,982,861 (4,161)	2,020,074 (3,785)	2,003,178 (3,718)	37,213 (5,370)	20,318 (5,119)	1.9 (0.3)	1.0 (0.3)	
Cumulative asthma inci	dent cases							
3-4	79,976 (304)	89,362 (279)	85,110 (306)	9,387 (392)	5,134 (383)	11.7 (0.5)	6.4 (0.5)	
5-9	62,621 (234)	63,301 (226)	62,983 (242)	680 (314)	362 (325)	1.1 (0.5)	0.6 (0.5)	
10-14	24,914 (143)	24,897 (148)	24,896 (164)	-17 (187)	-18 (199)	-0.1 (0.8)	-0.1 (0.8)	
15-18	15,882 (113)	15,885 (130)	15,889 (134)	3 (164)	8 (121)	0.0 (1.0)	0.1 (0.8)	
Overall	183,392 (417)	193,445 (411)	188,878 (425)	10,053 (558)	5,486 (515)	5.5 (0.3)	3.0 (0.3)	
Asthma exacerbations								
3-4	142,426 (659)	158,505 (608)	151,285 (715)	16,078 (886)	8,858 (887)	11.3 (0.7)	6.2 (0.6)	
5-9	157,404 (601)	164,192 (634)	161,045 (651)	6,788 (845)	3,641 (877)	4.3 (0.6)	2.3 (0.6)	
10-14	55,877 (300)	56,252 (270)	56,081 (276)	375 (360)	204 (387)	0.7 (0.7)	0.4 (0.7)	
15-18	27,365 (176)	27,404 (157)	27,389 (192)	39 (216)	25 (256)	0.2 (0.8)	0.1 (0.9)	
Overall	383,072 (1,129)	406,352 (1,130)	395,800 (1,172)	23,280 (1,455)	12,728 (1,504)	6.1 (0.4)	3.3 (0.4)	

The values in the brackets are the Monte Carlo SD (across 100 runs).

*Average across 100 runs.

**Scenario 1 (base): fitted observed trends in the antibiotic prescription rate in British Columbia.

**Scenario 2 (flat): trends in the prescription rate that remained as observed in 2001.

**Scenario 3 (mid): trends in the prescription rate that declined by half of the fitted observed.

probability of at least 20%, and there was a <10% change of being not cost-effective. The chance of being cost-effective and cost-saving was likely underestimated, as the above-mentioned analysis did not consider the impact of antibiotic exposure on the burden of other diseases, such as asthma.

Ours was a simulation study on the benefit of reducing unnecessary antibiotic use on asthma-related outcomes based on the latest available evidence linking the two. In Canada, BC has the lowest antibiotic prescription rate among children. While this does not imply that BC has the lowest rate of unnecessary antibiotic prescriptions, the decrease in antibiotic use is attributed in part to an antimicrobial stewardship program in BC (25, 45). As such, this potentially indicates more room for improvement in other provinces and territories (46). This will help Canada break stagnant trends in asthma prevalence and severe asthma exacerbations requiring inpatient care (47, 48). Higher benefits are expected for many other jurisdictions, including low- and middleincome countries, many of which are observing an upward trend in antibiotic use among children under 5 years of age (49). Urgent initiatives involving collaboration among healthcare professionals, researchers, and policymakers are required to change the course of this trend and cope with a high proportion of overuse of antibiotics in both low- and middle-income countries and high-income countries (50, 51).

This study was not an analysis of any specific intervention for the reduction of antibiotic exposure. Instead, we focused on quantifying the current evidence on the association between antibiotic exposure and the population-level burden of asthma. Evaluating the outcomes of a specific intervention (e.g., implementing an antibiotic stewardship program in a jurisdiction) requires evidence on its resource implication, the effectiveness of the intervention on antibiotic use, as well as the multifaceted downstream implication of such change in the exposure. Dimensions of benefit from reducing unnecessary antibiotic use should be first studied in detail, as was done here for asthma, based on systematic and quantitative evidence synthesis and outcome modeling. Studies like ours, conducted for other conditions that might be affected by changes in antibiotic exposure, will provide evidence for a future meta-modeling study, collating all facets of the benefits and harms of exposure reduction initiatives. This will provide a complete picture of the effects of a specific intervention.

Our study has several strengths. Our estimation of infant antibiotic exposure was obtained from comprehensive, populationbased data from the entire target population of a well-defined geographic area and health jurisdiction, without uncertainty due to sampling or bias due to representativeness. We used Bayesian meta-analysis to quantify high quality evidence from multiple different studies on the nuances of the dose-response association of primary interest. This is in contrast with a data-driven counterfactual analysis (which would have used the same data for both trend analysis of antibiotic exposure and estimation of doseresponse association). The latter would restrict the evidence to one dataset. Further, given the nature of the data (administrative), controlling for potential confounding variables would have been difficult. Instead, we reconciled evidence on the trends observed from the population-based data with quantitative meta-analysis of all available evidence, and used computer modeling techniques to



FIGURE 5

Excess number of asthma person-years (top), asthma incident cases (middle), and exacerbations (bottom) in the counterfactual scenarios (flat and mid) compared with the base scenario for the pediatric population (3–18 years of age). *Scenario 1 (base): smoothed trend fitted to observed data in the antibiotic prescription rate in British Columbia. *Scenario 2 (flat): trend in the prescription rate if it remained as the smoothed values in 2001. *Scenario 3 (mid): trend in the prescription rate if it declined by half of the smoothed trend.

propagate such evidence to change in asthma-related outcomes. Thus, simulation modeling allows for addressing the limitations of a single, static population-based study through evidence synthesis and various "what-if" scenarios (52). Of note, the policy model for asthma used in this work has been developed independently of this study (as a multi-purpose platform for policy analysis of asthma-related interventions in Canada) and has undergone rigorous analysis and independent validation studies (34).

The limitations of this study should also be acknowledged. A critical piece of evidence underlying the asthma model is the doseresponse relationship between infant antibiotic use and childhood asthma prevalence that we estimated through the meta-analysis. We found a negative association that decayed over time (Figure 3). While the overall risk of bias was low in the included studies, the extent to which this association can be interpreted causally depends on the degree to which the included studies successfully controlled for confounding effects. In particular, potential biases due to confounding by indication or reverse causation were directly addressed in two of the included studies by excluding children who received antibiotics for respiratory symptoms or were diagnosed with asthma in the first year of life (11, 40). The remaining four studies could not fully account for confounding by indication or reverse causation (38, 39, 41, 42). We note that in our case, the original dose-response association of the Canadian study (11) was slightly attenuated after pooling evidence from other studies through the meta-analysis. Moreover, due to a lack of evidence in the literature, examining whether the dose-response relationship holds for antibiotic exposure beyond the first year of life is difficult. Evidence from mechanistic studies suggests that the critical window for gut microbiome maturation appears to be within the first 100 days of life (53, 54). Not modeling any effect beyond one year therefore seems justified. This conservative assumption means any effect beyond the first year of life will increase the benefits observed in this study. However, in general, more robust evidence is needed to better understand the causal relationship on early life antibiotic exposure and the risk of asthma, and the impact this relationship has when scaled up to large populations (55).

Another limitation is the difficulty in confirming asthma diagnosis in children under 6 years of age (56). Our decision to model asthma cases in that age group (specifically 3 years or older) was to reflect and incorporate current labeling of health utilization related to asthma by healthcare systems. In Canada, asthma cases in the administrative health databases are identified based on a validated case definition (57). Of note, misdiagnosis and remission are accounted for in the LEAP model in order to match asthma prevalence, which rises in early childhood and declines during adolescence (see Supplementary Figure 3). Regarding the meta-analysis, three included studies examined the asthma diagnosis in children under 6 years of age (11, 38, 42). Yoshida et al. used a conservative approach based on a typical diagnostic code case definition combined with confirmed use of ICS and controller medications, likely underestimating asthma cases (38). In contrast, in the studies by Patrick et al. (11) and Celedon et al. (42), asthma diagnosis was confirmed by physicians [which is the recommended approach by the Canadian Thoracic Society (58)]. These studies acknowledged the difficulty and potential misclassification of asthma diagnosis in young children despite their efforts. Last but not least, the LEAP model in its current implementation does not consider uncertainty in the evidence. Further, we did not evaluate costs for this study. It is obvious from our results that costs associated with antibiotic use and asthma will both decrease with reduced unnecessary antibiotic exposure (whereas costs will increase if necessary antibiotics are wrongly reduced).

There are several areas for future research. Modeling studies are required for other conditions that might be affected by antibiotic exposure. Specific programs and interventions aimed at reducing unnecessary antibiotic exposure should be evaluated in dedicated analyses, which should also incorporate costs to guide policymaking. Further, there is now robust evidence indicating that the effect of antibiotic use on allergic disease is mediated via the gut microbiota (10, 11). We note that another modifier of gut microbiota is breastmilk exposure (59, 60). Recent evidence suggests that breastmilk works as an effect-modifier between prenatal and infant antibiotic use and childhood asthma development (18, 61). Specifically, breastmilk exposure has been shown to largely mitigate the elevated risk of asthma posed by antibiotic exposure through enrichment with Bifidobacterium longum subsp. infantis (18). Subsequent modelling work in BC has shown that observed and expected childhood asthma incidences are very similar when taking both reduced population-level antibiotic exposure in infancy and increased breastfeeding rates into account (62). Therefore, a joint intervention targeting infant antibiotic overuse and promoting breastfeeding (particularly where antibiotic exposure is necessary in infancy) can lead to more effective prevention against childhood asthma development. The outcome of such policies should be investigated in the future.

In summary, this study quantified the far-reaching benefits of reducing unnecessary antibiotic use on the burden of asthma. Our findings present compelling evidence to urge jurisdictions with overuse of antibiotics in infants and high prevalence of childhood asthma to implement antimicrobial stewardship initiatives. Incorporating the life-long impact on the burden of asthma and potentially other diseases will increase the value of interventions addressing the overuse of antibiotics in infancy. Future work should incorporate utility and costs to provide a measure on the value-for-money potential of such interventions.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the institutional review board of the University of British Columbia,

Vancouver (H09–00650). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

TL: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Methodology, Software, Visualization, Writing – original draft. JP: Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision. AS: Writing – review & editing, Data curation. FM: Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Data curation. ST: Writing – review & editing. HL: Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization. DP: Writing – review & editing. JC: Writing – review & editing. KJ: Writing – review & editing. MS: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Funding acquisition.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was funded by a research grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and Genome Canada (274CHI). The funders had no role in any aspect of this study and were not aware of the results.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the Community Antimicrobial Stewardship research team at BC CDC (http://www.bccdc.ca/ourservices/programs/community-antimicrobial-stewardship) for their

References

1. Hersh AL, King LM, Shapiro DJ, Hicks LA, Fleming-Dutra KE. Unnecessary antibiotic prescribing in US ambulatory care settings, 2010–2015. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2021) 72(1):133–7. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa667

2. Ya KZ, Win PTN, Bielicki J, Lambiris M, Fink G. Association between antimicrobial stewardship programs and antibiotic use globally: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2023) 6(2):e2253806. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.53806

3. Brownson RC, Chriqui JF, Stamatakis KA. Understanding evidence-based public health policy. Am J Public Health. (2009) 99(9):1576–83. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2008.156224

4. King-Biggs MB. Asthma. Ann Intern Med. (2019) 171(7):ITC49-64. doi: 10.7326/ AITC201910010

5. Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abbasi M, Abbasifard M, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396 (10258):1204–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9

6. Global Initiative for Asthma. Global strategy for asthma management and prevention. Updated 2023 (2023). Available online at: https://www.ginasthma.org/ reports (cited July 10, 2023).

7. Sadatsafavi M, Rousseau R, Chen W, Zhang W, Lynd L, FitzGerald JM. The preventable burden of productivity loss due to suboptimal asthma control: a population-based study. *Chest.* (2014) 145(4):787–93. doi: 10.1378/chest.13-1619

8. Duong QA, Pittet LF, Curtis N, Zimmermann P. Antibiotic exposure and adverse long-term health outcomes in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Infect.* (2022) 85(3):213–300. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2022.01.005

feedback and assistance with access to the data on antibiotic prescriptions. Access to data provided by the Data Stewards is subject to approval but can be requested for research projects through the Data Stewards or their designated service providers. The following data sets were used in this study: Chronic Disease Registry and Pharmanet. All inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn in this publication are those of the author(s), and do not reflect the opinions or policies of the Data Steward(s).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/falgy.2024. 1491985/full#supplementary-material

9. Patangia DV, Anthony Ryan C, Dempsey E, Paul Ross R, Stanton C. Impact of antibiotics on the human microbiome and consequences for host health. *MicrobiologyOpen*. (2022) 11(1):e1260. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.1260

10. Hoskinson C, Dai DLY, Del Bel KL, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, Mandhane PJ, et al. Delayed gut microbiota maturation in the first year of life is a hallmark of pediatric allergic disease. *Nat Commun.* (2023) 14(1):4785. doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-40336-4

11. Patrick DM, Sbihi H, Dai DLY, Al Mamun A, Rasali D, Rose C, et al. Decreasing antibiotic use, the gut microbiota, and asthma incidence in children: evidence from population-based and prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8 (11):1094–105. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30052-7

12. Ruth C, Fanella S, Raymond C, Dragan R, Prior H, Dik N, et al. *Outpatient Antibiotic Prescribing by Manitoba Clinicians*. Winnipeg, Manitoba: Manitoba Centre for Health Policy (2021).

13. Skajaa N, Gehrt L, Nieminen H, Laake I, Englund H, Sönksen UW, et al. Trends in antibiotic use in Danish, Finnish, Norwegian and Swedish children. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2022) 14:937–47. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S362262

14. Kivistö JE, Protudjer JLP, Karjalainen J, Bergström A, Huhtala H, Korppi M, et al. Paediatric asthma hospitalisations continue to decrease in Finland and Sweden between 2015 and 2020. *Thorax.* (2023) 78(3):313–5. doi: 10.1136/thorax-2022-219539

15. British Columbia Centre For Disease Control. Chronic Disease Dashboard (2020). Available online at: http://www.bccdc.ca/health-professionals/data-reports/ chronic-disease-dashboard#Dashboard (cited November 28, 2024).
16. British Columbia Centre For Disease Control. Antimicrobial utilization dashboard: executive summary (2019). Available online at: http://www.bccdc.ca/ health-professionals/data-reports/antimicrobial-resistance-utilization/antimicrobial-utilization-dashboard (cited October 3, 2021).

17. Belachew AB, Rantala AK, Jaakkola MS, Hugg TT, Jaakkola JJK. Asthma and respiratory infections from birth to young adulthood: the Espoo Cohort Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2023) 192(3):408–19. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwac210

18. Dai DLY, Petersen C, Hoskinson C, Bel KLD, Becker AB, Moraes TJ, et al. Breastfeeding enrichment of B. longum subsp. infantis mitigates the effect of antibiotics on the microbiota and childhood asthma risk. *Med.* (2023) 4 (2):92–112.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2022.12.002

19. Maciag MC, Phipatanakul W. Prevention of asthma: targets for intervention. Chest. (2020) 158(3):913–22. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.04.011

20. BC Stats. Population Estimates, Province of British Columbia. Available online at: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/data/statistics/people-population-community/ population/population-estimates (cited October 10, 2023).

21. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2023). Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/

22. Bezanson J, Edelman A, Karpinski S, Shah VB. Julia: a fresh approach to numerical computing. SIAM Rev. (2017) 59(1):65–98. doi: 10.1137/141000671

23. Stan Development Team. Stan Modeling Language Users Guide and Reference Manual, 2.21 (2023). Available online at: https://mc-stan.org (accessed June, 2024).

24. British Columbia Ministry of Health [Creator] (2017). PharmaNet. V2. Population Data BC [publisher]. Data Extract. Data Stewardship Committee (2011). Available online at: http://www.popdata.bc.ca/data (accessed June, 2024).

25. Mamun A, Zhao B, McCabe M, Dreher K, Otterstatter M, Smith N, et al. Costbenefit analysis of a population-based education program on the wise use of antibiotics. *Can J Public Health Rev Can Sante Publique*. (2019) 110(6):732–40. doi: 10.17269/s41997-019-00245-w

26. McCullagh P, Nelder J. Generalized Linear Models. 2nd ed. New York: Routledge (2019).

27. Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *Br Med J.* (2016) 355:i4919. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i4919

28. Viswanathan M, Ansari MT, Berkman ND, Chang S, Hartling L, McPheeters M, et al. Assessing the Risk of Bias of Individual Studies in Systematic Reviews of Health Care Interventions. In: Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. AHRQ Publication No. 12-EHC047-EF. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Methods Guide for Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. (AHRQ Methods for Effective Health Care) (2012). Available online at: https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/ (cited October 11, 2023).

29. VanderWeele TJ. Optimal approximate conversions of odds ratios and hazard ratios to risk ratios. *Biometrics*. (2020) 76(3):746–52. doi: 10.1111/biom.13197

30. Fong I, Zhu J, Finkelstein Y, To T. Antibiotic use in children and youths with asthma: a population-based case-control study. *ERJ Open Res.* (2021) 7 (1):00944–2020. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00944-2020

31. Carpenter B, Gelman A, Hoffman MD, Lee D, Goodrich B, Betancourt M, et al. Stan: a probabilistic programming language. *J Stat Softw.* (2017) 76(1):1–32. doi: 10. 18637/jss.v076.i01

32. Caro JJ, Briggs AH, Siebert U, Kuntz KM, ISPOR-SMDM Modeling Good Research Practices Task Force. Modeling good research practices–overview: a report of the ISPOR-SMDM modeling good research practices task force–1. Value Health J Int Soc Pharmacoeconomics Outcomes Res. (2012) 15(6):796–803. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2012.06.012

33. Adibi A, Turvey SE, Lee TY, Sears MR, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, et al. Development of a conceptual model of childhood asthma to inform asthma prevention policies. *BMJ Open Respir Res.* (2021) 8(1):e000881. doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2021-000881

34. Lee TY, Petkau J, Johnson KM, Turvey SE, Adibi A, Subbarao P, et al. Development and Validation of an Asthma Policy Model for Canada: Lifetime Exposures and Asthma outcomes Projection (LEAP). medRxiv. p. 2024.03.11.24304122 (2024). Available online at: https://www.medrxiv.org/ content/10.1101/2024.03.11.24304122v1 (cited July 21, 2024).

35. British Columbia Ministry of Health [creator] (2017). Chronic Disease Registry. Health Data Platform BC [publisher]. Data Extract. Data Stewardship Committee (2011). Available online at: https://healthdataplatformbc.ca/hdpbc-data (accessed June, 2024).

36. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Hospital morbidity database. Available online at: https://www.cihi.ca/en/hospital-morbidity-database (cited August 12, 2021).

37. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Br Med J.* (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

38. Yoshida S, Ide K, Takeuchi M, Kawakami K. Prenatal and early-life antibiotic use and risk of childhood asthma: a retrospective cohort study. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2018) 29(5):490–5. doi: 10.1111/pai.12902

39. Raciborski F, Tomaszewska A, Komorowski J, Samel-Kowalik P, Białoszewski AZ, Walkiewicz A, et al. The relationship between antibiotic therapy in early

childhood and the symptoms of allergy in children aged 6-8 years—the questionnaire study results. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health.* (2012) 25(4):470-80. doi: 10.2478/s13382-012-0056-0

40. Kozyrskyj AL, Ernst P, Becker AB. Increased risk of childhood asthma from antibiotic use in early life. Chest. (2007) 131(6):1753-9. doi: 10.1378/chest.06-3008

41. Ahn KM, Lee MS, Hong SJ, Lim DH, Ahn YM, Lee HR, et al. Fever, use of antibiotics, and acute gastroenteritis during infancy as risk factors for the development of asthma in Korean school-age children. J Asthma. (2005) 42 (9):745–50. doi: 10.1080/02770900500308023

42. Celedón JC, Fuhlbrigge A, Rifas-Shiman S, Weiss ST, Finkelstein JA. Antibiotic use in the first year of life and asthma in early childhood. *Clin Exp Allergy.* (2004) 34 (7):1011–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2004.01994.x

43. Sadatsafavi M, Lynd L, Marra C, Carleton B, Tan WC, Sullivan S, et al. Direct health care costs associated with asthma in British Columbia. *Can Respir J.* (2010) 17(2):74–80. doi: 10.1155/2010/361071

44. OECD. OECD Health Policy Studies: Stemming the Superbug Tide Just a Few Dollars More. Paris: OECD Publishing (2018).

45. Saatchi A, Morris AM, Patrick DM, Mccormack J, Reyes RC, Morehouse P, et al. Outpatient antibiotic use in British Columbia, Canada: reviewing major trends since 2000. *JAC-Antimicrob Resist.* (2021) 3(3):dlab116. doi: 10.1093/jacamr/dlab116

46. Crosby M, von den Baumen TR, Chu C, Gomes T, Schwartz KL, Tadrous M. Interprovincial variation in antibiotic use in Canada, 2019: a retrospective crosssectional study. *CMAJ Open*. (2022) 10(1):E262–8. doi: 10.9778/cmajo.20210095

47. Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey—Annual Component (CCHS). Ottawa: Statistics Canada (2022).

48. Lee TY, Petkau J, Mangat N, Safari A, Cragg JJ, Lynd LD, et al. 16-year trends in asthma hospital admissions in Canada. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2022) 129 (4):475–80.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2022.06.022

49. Allwell-Brown G, Hussain-Alkhateeb L, Sewe MO, Kitutu FE, Strömdahl S, Mårtensson A, et al. Determinants of trends in reported antibiotic use among sick children under five years of age across low-income and middle-income countries in 2005–17: a systematic analysis of user characteristics based on 132 national surveys from 73 countries. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 108:473–82. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2021.05.058

50. Sulis G, Sayood S, Gandra S. How can we tackle the overuse of antibiotics in lowand middle-income countries? *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther.* (2023) 21(11):1189–201. doi: 10.1080/14787210.2023.2263643

51. Sulis G, Adam P, Nafade V, Gore G, Daniels B, Daftary A, et al. Antibiotic prescription practices in primary care in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2020) 17(6):e1003139. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pmed.1003139

52. Sculpher MJ, Claxton K, Drummond M, McCabe C. Whither trial-based economic evaluation for health care decision making? *Health Econ.* (2006) 15 (7):677–87. doi: 10.1002/hec.1093

53. Stiemsma LT, Turvey SE. Asthma and the microbiome: defining the critical window in early life. *Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol.* (2017) 13(3):1–9. doi: 10.1186/s13223-016-0173-6

54. Walker RW, Clemente JC, Peter I, Loos RJ. The prenatal gut microbiome: are we colonized with bacteria in utero? *Pediatr Obes.* (2017) 12(Suppl 1):3–17. doi: 10.1111/ ijpo.12217

55. Lishman H, Nickel NC, Sbihi H, Xie M, Mamun A, Zhang BY, et al. Investigating the effect of early life antibiotic use on asthma and allergy risk in over 600 000 Canadian children: a protocol for a retrospective cohort study in British Columbia and Manitoba. *BMJ Open.* (2023) 13(4):e067271. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-067271

56. Martin J, Townshend J, Brodlie M. Diagnosis and management of asthma in children. *BMJ Paediatr Open*. (2022) 6(1):e001277. doi: 10.1136/bmjpo-2021-001277

57. To T, Dell S, Dick PT, Cicutto L, Harris JK, MacLusky IB, et al. Case verification of children with asthma in Ontario. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2006) 17(1):69–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038.2005.00346.x

58. Yang CL, Hicks EA, Mitchell P, Reisman J, Podgers D, Hayward KM, et al. Canadian Thoracic Society 2021 guideline update: diagnosis and management of asthma in preschoolers, children and adults. *Can J Respir Crit Care Sleep Med.* (2021) 5(6):348–61. doi: 10.1080/24745332.2021.1945887

59. Wilson K, Gebretsadik T, Adgent MA, Loftus C, Karr C, Moore PE, et al. The association between duration of breastfeeding and childhood asthma outcomes. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2022) 129(2):205–11. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2022.04.034

60. Xue M, Dehaas E, Chaudhary N, O'Byrne P, Satia I, Kurmi OP. Breastfeeding and risk of childhood asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *ERJ Open Res.* (2021) 7(4):00504–2021. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00504-2021

61. Huo X, Chu S, Hua L, Bao Y, Du L, Xu J, et al. The effect of breastfeeding on the risk of asthma in high-risk children: a case-control study in Shanghai, China. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2018) 18(1):341. doi: 10.1186/s12884-018-1936-5

62. Mamun AA, Zou C, Lishman H, Stenlund S, Xie M, Chuang E, et al. Association between antibiotic usage during infancy and asthma incidence among children: a population-level ecological study in British Columbia, Canada. *Front Allergy*. (2024) 5:1456077. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2024.1456077

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Luis Garcia-Marcos, University of Murcia, Spain

REVIEWED BY

Sarah Brandt, Copenhagen Prospective Studies on Asthma in Childhood (COPSAC), Denmark Javier Mallol, University of Santiago de Chile (USACH), Chile

frontiers Frontiers in Allergy

*CORRESPONDENCE Padmaja Subbarao ⊠ padmaja.subbarao@sickkids.ca

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share senior authorship

RECEIVED 12 July 2024 ACCEPTED 26 December 2024 PUBLISHED 21 January 2025

CITATION

Medeleanu MV, Reyna ME, Dai DLY, Winsor GL, Brinkman FSL, Verma R, Nugent E, Riaz N, Simons E, Mandhane PJ, Azad MB, Turvey SE, Moraes TJ and Subbarao P (2025) Exploring the potential mediating role of systemic antibiotics in the association between earlylife lower respiratory tract infections and asthma at age 5 in the CHILD study. Front. Allergy 5:1463867. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2024.1463867

COPYRIGHT

© 2025 Medeleanu, Reyna, Dai, Winsor, Brinkman, Verma, Nugent, Riaz, Simons, Mandhane, Azad, Turvey, Moraes and Subbarao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Exploring the potential mediating role of systemic antibiotics in the association between early-life lower respiratory tract infections and asthma at age 5 in the CHILD study

Maria V. Medeleanu^{1,2}, Myrtha E. Reyna^{1,3}, Darlene L. Y. Dai⁴, Geoffrey L. Winsor⁵, Fiona S. L. Brinkman⁵, Rahul Verma⁶, Ella Nugent¹, Nashita Riaz¹, Elinor Simons⁷, Piushkumar J. Mandhane^{8,9}, Meghan B. Azad^{10,11}, Stuart E. Turvey^{4,11}, Theo J. Moraes^{1,12†} and Padmaja Subbarao^{1,2,3,12,13,14*†}

¹Translational Medicine Program, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada, ²Department of Physiology, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³Epidemiology Division, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁴Department of Pediatrics, BC Children's Hospital, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁵Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemistry, Simon Fraser University, Burnaby, BC, Canada, ⁶Division of Respiratory Medicine, Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁷Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, Section of Allergy and Immunology, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ⁸Department of Pediatrics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, ⁹Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences, UCSI University, Kuala Lampur, Malaysia, ¹⁰Manitoba Interdisciplinary Lactation Centre (MILC), Children's Hospital Research Institute of Manitoba, Winnipeg, MB, Canada, ¹¹Department of Pediatrics, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ¹³Department of Pediatrics, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ¹⁴Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Objective: Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs) in early life are one of the strongest risk factors for childhood asthma and are often treated with systemic antibiotics (IV or oral). We aimed to explore the association between early-life LRTIs and systemic antibiotics on asthma development and the potential mediating role of antibiotics in this relationship.

Methods: Data were collected as part of the longitudinal, general Canadian population CHILD Study. LRTIs during the first 18 months of life were identified through parental symptom report at regular study visits. Systemic antibiotic use was defined as at least one dose of oral/intravenous antibiotics between birth and the 18-month visit and were further categorized by indication as either given for a respiratory indication (upper or lower respiratory symptoms) or non-respiratory indication. Asthma was diagnosed by in-study pediatricians at the 5-year study visit. Adjusted logistic regression models and mediation analyses via systemic antibiotics use were performed.

Results: Among 2,073 participants included in our analysis, 72 (4.9%) had asthma age 5, and 609 (29.3%) used systemic antibiotics before the 18-month visit. Among children who had taken antibiotics, 61.6% also had an LRTI in that period compared to 49.7% among children without exposure to systemic antibiotics (p < .001). Moderate-severe LRTIs before age 18 months were associated with higher odds of 5-year asthma [aOR 4.12 (95%CI 2.04–7.95) p < .001]. Antibiotics taken for respiratory indications were associated with

higher odds of asthma at age 5 [aOR 2.36 (95%CI 1.59–3.48) p < .001]. Children who received systemic antibiotics for only non-respiratory indications during the first 18 months of life were not associated with increased odds of asthma [aOR 1.08 (95%CI 0.44–2.30) p = .851]. Using mediation analysis, 21.7% of the association between LRTI and asthma is estimated to be mediated through use of early-life systemic antibiotics. However, a significant direct effect of moderate-to-severe LRTIs on asthma risk remained in adjusted mediation models (p = .014).

Conclusion: Through mediation modeling we estimate that the increased risk of asthma at age 5 that is associated with moderate-severe LRTIs in infancy may be partially mediated by systemic antibiotics taken during the first 18 months of life. This underscores the importance of public health strategies focused on antibiotic stewardship and reducing early life LRTIs to mitigate asthma risk.

KEYWORDS

preschool asthma, respiratory tract infections, antibiotics, mediation analyses, cohort study, clinical epidemiology

Introduction

Asthma is one of the most common chronic diseases among children in the United States and Canada and is characterized by reversible airway obstruction, airway hyper-responsiveness, and airway inflammation (1-3). Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs) in the first years of life are one of the strongest risk factors for childhood asthma (4, 5) with recent meta-analyses estimating that children who experienced a LRTI in infancy are up to three times more likely to develop wheezing in adolescence and that this association persists into adulthood (6). Given that by age two years about 80% of children are exposed to a respiratory virus, it is imperative to disentangle the underlying mechanisms and modifiable risk factors driving these associations (7). Recent interest has pointed to analyzing modifiable factors in early life such as the use of systemic antibiotics in the treatment of LRTI.

Antibiotic use in the first year of life has consistently been reported to be strongly associated with later asthma diagnosis (8–12). Moreover, investigators reported that at a population level in British Columbia, Canada, each 10% increase in antibiotic prescriptions under age 1 was associated with a 24% increase in asthma prevalence between 1 and 4 years of age (11). Other studies suggest that the indication for antibiotic prescription may affect the risk of asthma development, noting that systemic antibiotics prescribed to treat respiratory infections (e.g., amoxicillin, penicillin, cephalosporin, and macrolides) resulted in a greater risk of asthma compared to systemic antibiotics prescribed for non-respiratory indications, such as a urinary tract infection (10). Antibiotics taken for non-respiratory infections have also been associated with asthma development but with lower estimated effects (10, 13).

Despite consistent associations between LRTIs in early life and the development of later asthma, their independent or joint effect with early-life antibiotic use has not been thoroughly studied. Specifically, it is unclear whether early-life systemic antibiotics serve as a mediating variable of the association of early life LRTIs and subsequent childhood asthma. In the present study, we analyze data from the longitudinal multi-center CHILD Study to assess the relationship between symptomatic LRTIs in the first 18 months of life and physician-diagnosed asthma by 5 years of age, and to estimate the mediating role of antibiotics use up to 18 months of age.

Methods

Study population

The CHILD Study enrolled pregnant mothers during their second or third trimester from the general Canadian population, with an initial recruitment of 3,624 mothers between 2008 and 2012 (14). After healthy delivery at 35 weeks gestation or later, 3,454 mothers remained eligible. The study, spanning four locations across Canada (Vancouver, Winnipeg and Morden-Winkler, Edmonton, and Toronto) and had inclusion criteria of mother's age being >18 years (>19 years in Vancouver), residence within 50 km of the delivery hospital and had consented to cord blood donation. Exclusion criteria covered major congenital abnormalities, respiratory distress syndrome, multiple births, plans to relocate within a year, *in vitro* fertilization-conceived children, and those not spending more than 80% of their time at their primary listed home.

Lower respiratory tract infections

Parent/caregiver reported history of colds and respiratory symptoms from birth to 18 months of age were collected at regular study intervals (3-, 6-, 12-, and 18-month study visits). We developed a symptom-based LRTI definition after a thorough review of the literature regarding epidemiological definitions of respiratory infections in children [detailed in (15)]. An LRTI was defined as the presence within the last 3 or 6 months of: (i) a cold and (ii) a fever, and (iii) a cough, chest congestion or trouble breathing (Supplementary Figure 1). LRTI severity was classified as mild, or moderate/severe based on health care utilization. Moderate-severe infections were any LRTI that required an unscheduled doctor visit (moderate), a hospital visit or an emergency department visit (severe). Children could have an LRTI with or without wheeze symptoms, as it was not required for our definition to minimize the risk of identifying children already showing potential signs of propensity to asthma (airway hyperresponsiveness).

Given that clinical diagnosis and/or virological testing for all LRTIs was unavailable, we performed validation of our symptom-based LRTI using a subset of CHILD Study participants (365 families) using Viral Score Cards modified from the URECA Wisconsin Upper Respiratory Symptom Survey for Kids (WURSS-K) and nasal swabs for PCR sequencing of nine viruses (Influenza A, Influenza B, Respiratory syncytial virus, 1, 2 Rhinovirus, Enterovirus, Parainfluenza and 3, Metapneumovirus and Adenovirus) (16). Parents/caregivers were asked to call study investigators and fill out the URECA WURSS-K Viral Score Cards by phone during every period of respiratory illness in the first year of life. Infants then were scored as having no symptoms (score = 0), mild symptoms (score 1-3), moderate symptoms (score = 4), or severe symptoms (score \geq 5). Infants who received moderate or severe scores underwent nasal swabs that were subsequently PCR sequenced for nine viruses including Influenza A, Influenza B, Respiratory syncytial virus, Rhinovirus/ Enterovirus, Parainfluenza 1,2 and 3, Metapneumovirus and Adenovirus. Symptoms associated with positive viral swabs are detailed in Supplementary Table 1. Symptoms of "runny nose", "wiping nose once per hour", "cough in the last three days" and "fever" were most prevalent among positive viral swabs (Supplementary Table 1). We performed a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis to identify the diagnostic performance of our LRTI and URTI definitions in this subset of CHILD participants. Any positive viral swab was assigned as true positive reference.

LRTI definition validation

In our LRTI definition validation sub-study, 365 participants notified the study team of a "cold". 70% of these colds were assigned "mild" scores while 13% of kids were assigned "severe" scores. Moderate to severe "colds" occurred in 24% of sub-study who then underwent nasal swabs (n = 86). Enterovirus/ Rhinovirus (ER) (25.58%) and RSV (16.26%) were the most common agents among the positive swabs. A minority were positive for *S.pneumonia* (11.63%) and 13.95% were negative for the entire panel tested (Supplementary Figure 1). In our AUROC analysis, an LRTI definition that included fever had the highest area under the curve (AUC = 0.70) for a positive swab compared to the LRTI definition without fever (AUC = 0.52) suggesting that including fever significantly improved detection of LRTI cases and this definition was therefore used in all subsequent analyses (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 2).

Antibiotics used between birth and the 18-month visit were obtained from CHILD Study medication questionnaires completed by a parent or caregiver at the 3-,6-,12-,18-month visit. Children were classified as exposed or unexposed to early life systemic antibiotics if at least one oral/intravenous antibiotic course was reported between birth and 18-month visit. Early-life systemic antibiotic use from hereon refers to at least one dose of oral/intravenous antibiotics between birth and the 18-month visit.

Antibiotic use was further classified as used for any respiratory or only non-respiratory indications. Children who received systemic antibiotics for any respiratory indications [upper respiratory tract infections, ear infection (otitis media), sinusitis, sore throat, croup, bronchiolitis, bronchitis, pneumonia, combinations of cold, congestion, cough and fever symptoms, influenza, and respiratory distress at birth] were included in the respiratory indication group. Children who only received antibiotics for non-respiratory indications (eye infections, sepsis, urinary tract infections, skin conditions such as eczema, rash, hives, and impetigo or various fungal infections) were included in the non-respiratory indication group. Children who received a systemic antibiotic for both a respiratory and non-respiratory infection were included in the any respiratory antibiotic group. Similarly, if a child received multiple antibiotics during infancy for both reasons, they were included in the any respiratory antibiotic group.

To control for the possibility that prior exposure to antibiotics may affect the risk of early LRTI, participants who received systemic antibiotics at a visit prior to when they reported their first LRTI were excluded from analyses. Finally, to avoid confounding by reverse causation, children who received systemic antibiotics due to wheeze or asthma symptoms were excluded from analyses.

Asthma diagnosis and wheezing

Pediatric asthma specialists conducted structured interviews with accompanying parent or guardian at in-person clinic visits to identify symptoms and physical findings consistent with asthma (14). Study physicians answered the question: "In your opinion, does this child have asthma? (Yes/Possible/No)". Children in the "Possible" category were considered as "No asthma".

Covariates

Child ethnicity (Caucasian/non-Caucasian), parity (older siblings yes/no), household annual income (\$0-\$49,999 CAD, \$50,000-\$99,999, \$100,000-\$149,999, >\$150,000), maternal and paternal physician-diagnosed asthma (ever/never diagnosed), and any prenatal smoke exposure (yes/no) were self-reported at enrollment through questionnaires during the second or third trimester of pregnancy. Infant sex (female/male), gestational age and weight at birth and mode of delivery (cesarian/vaginal) were obtained from birth records. Information regarding the duration (months) and exclusivity (exclusive or partial/none) of breastfeeding in the first 3, 6 and 12 months were collected through repeated questionnaires within the first two years of life. Information on time spent away from home at 18 months was defined as significant time (>7 h per week, yes/no) spent away from home, and was collected through parent questionnaires. Information on recurrent wheezing was collected through clinical assessments performed at the 1-year and 3-year visits. At the clinical visit, parents were asked if the child had a wheezing noise coming from their chest in the past 12 months (yes/no). Recurrent wheezing was defined as 2 or more episodes of wheeze in the last 12 months reported at the 3-, 6- or 12 month CHILD Health Questionnaires.

Statistical methods

Descriptive statistics are presented as mean (standard deviation, SD) for continuous measures, and frequency (%) for categorical measures. *P*-values were obtained by *t*-test, Fisher's exact test and chi-square test where appropriate.

Adjusted logistic regression analyses were performed using the R stats package "glm" function to estimate the odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for the association of any LRTI in early life, LRTI severity (No, Mild, Moderate-Severe) and systemic antibiotic use (No vs. Yes) with asthma diagnosis at 5 years of age. Each exposure was analyzed separately and in combined models to determine their relationships with 5-year asthma development. All models were adjusted by study site, child sex, ethnicity (Caucasian), breastfeeding status at 3-months, prenatal smoke exposure, mode of delivery, family income, time spent away from home at 12-months, presence of older siblings, and parental history of asthma. To explore the impact of indication, we replicated our logistic regression models in children with antibiotics taken for a respiratory indication (any respiratory antibiotic use vs. no systemic antibiotics) and a second set examining the impact of non-respiratory antibiotics (non-respiratory antibiotic use vs. no systemic antibiotics).

Mediation analyses were performed using the Baron & Kenny approach in the R *mediation* package "mediate" function using a mediator model assessing the direct relationship between LRTI severity and antibiotic use, and an outcome model evaluating the effect of these factors on 5-year asthma. To satisfy the binary exposure required in mediation analysis, moderate-severe infections were compared to a combined reference group of children who reported mild or no LRTIs in the first 18 months. The total, direct, and indirect effects (mediation) were estimated, with adjustments made for potential confounders. Confidence intervals were calculated via bootstrapping (n = 1,000 simulations). Mediation analysis was also undertaken after excluding children with antibiotics due to non-respiratory indications.

Finally, a sensitivity analysis using the same set of confounders as the primary analysis was performed in non-wheezing children to investigate if the effects remained consistent in children not predisposed to asthma. R version 4.2.2 was used to perform all analyses.

Results

Out of all participants in the CHILD Study (N = 3,454), 3,301 children had at least one respiratory infection questionnaire completed during the first 18 months of life. Among participants with respiratory infection questionnaires available, 2,073 (62.8%) also had an available history of antibiotic medication between birth and 18-month visit (at least two antibiotic questionnaires competed) along with an asthma diagnosis recorded at the 5-year visit (Supplementary Figure 2). These participants were included in subsequent analyses. Of these participants (n = 2,073), 52% were male, 65% were Caucasian, 16.5% had prenatal smoke exposure and 37% had a family history of asthma (Table 1). 1,420 (43.0%) of these participants reported at least one LRTI in the first 18 months (Supplementary Table 3, Supplementary Figure 5). Prevalence of any LRTI or most severe LRTI during the first 18 months of life in the CHLD Study are provided in Supplementary Figure 5.

LRTI and antibiotic Use

1,464 of the 2,073 included participants reported no systemic (oral or IV) antibiotics taken in the first 18 months of life and 609 (29.4%) reported taking 1 or more dose of systemic antibiotics during this period. Of these participants, 132 (6.4%) reported antibiotics taken for only non-respiratory indications and 477 (23.0%) reported taking antibiotics for any respiratory indication (Table 1).

Participants who reported an LRTI in the first 18 months of life were more likely to have older siblings (56.6% of Moderate-severe, 47.0% of Mild vs. 38.0% of No LRTI group), more recurrent wheezing (32.9% Moderate-severe vs. 81.8% Mild vs. 5.6% of the No LRTI group), and more 3-year and 5-year asthma (Table 1). Participants who received systemic antibiotics were significantly more likely to be male (57.6 vs. 51.9%), be from the Toronto or Winnipeg study sites (p = .009), significantly more likely to have early and more frequent LRTIs in the first 18 months than children with no systemic antibiotics use (Table 1). These children were also significantly more likely to spend time away from home at 18-months (63.3% vs. 55.0%), have older siblings (47.5% vs. 41.3%), not be exclusively breastfed at hospital discharge, 3- or 6-months (p = .038, .052, .073), and had higher rates of 1- and 3-year recurrent wheeze (8.3% vs. 6.0% and 8.4% vs. 6.0%), and 3- and 5-year physician diagnosis of asthma (8.9% vs. 4.6% p < .001, 9.4% vs. 4.9%) (Table 1). Compared to children without systemic antibiotics, participants with antibiotics taken for a respiratory indication were significantly more likely to have LRTIs in the first 18 months, had higher weight for age z-score at birth, higher weight at the 5-year visit, spent more time away from home at 18-months, were more likely to have older siblings, had higher rates of 1- and 3-year recurrent wheeze (14.7% vs. 6.0% and 13.5% vs. 7.5%), and 3- and 5-year

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of CHILD study participants by history of LRTI or systemic antibiotics taken between birth and 18-month visit. All *p*-value comparisons made to "No LRTI" or "No systemic antibiotics" in the first 18 months group (*n* = 2,073).

	Lower re	espiratory trac	t infections (L	RTI)	Systemic antibiotics						
	No LRTI	Mild LRTI	Moderate- Severe	p	No systemic antibiotics	Any systemic antibiotics	p	Non-respiratory indication	p	Respiratory indication	р
	(n = 971)	(<i>n</i> = 1,026)	(n = 76)		(<i>n</i> = 1,464)	(<i>n</i> = 609)		(n = 132)		(n = 477)	
Sex assigned at birth, male (%)	499 (51.4)	572 (55.8)	40 (52.6)	.146	760 (51.9)	351 (57.6)	.020	80 (60.6)	.068	271 (56.8)	.070
Caucasian, yes (%)	647 (66.6)	677 (66.0)	47 (61.8)	.690	955 (65.2)	416 (68.3)	.195	85 (64.4)	.922	331 (69.4)	.107
Study Site (%)				.221			.009		.807		.006
Edmonton	145 (14.9)	176 (17.2)	13 (17.1)		241 (16.5)	93 (15.3)		22 (16.7)		71 (14.9)	
Toronto	251 (25.8)	219 (21.3)	20 (26.3)		340 (23.2)	150 (24.6)		30 (22.7)		120 (25.2)	
Vancouver	222 (22.9)	260 (25.3)	20 (26.3)		381 (26.0)	121 (19.9)		30 (22.7)		91 (19.1)	
Winnipeg	353 (36.4)	371 (36.2)	23 (30.3)		502 (34.3)	245 (40.2)		50 (37.9)		195 (40.9)	
LRTI in the first 18 months	-	-	-	-	728 (49.7)	375 (61.6)	<.001	60 (45.5)	.396	315 (66.0)	<.001
Age of the first LRTI	-	11.87 (4.14)	10.15 (4.41)	-	11.99 (4.20)	11.24 (4.10)	.009	10.28 (4.30)	.009	11.39 (4.06)	.048
Total LRTI in the first 18 months			,	-			.026		.286		.041
1 LRTI reported	-	652 (77.3)	36 (48.0)		465 (78.2)	224 (69.1)		31 (68.9)		193 (69.2)	
2 LRTI reported	-	168 (19.9)	25 (33.3)		110 (18.5)	83 (25.6)		11 (24.4)		72 (25.8)	
3 LRTI reported	-	19 (2.3)	11 (14.7)		16 (2.7)	14 (4.3)		3 (6.7)		11 (3.9)	
4 LRTI reported	-	4 (0.5)	3 (4.0)		4 (0.7)	3 (0.9)		0 (0.0)		3 (1.1)	
Weight for age z-score at birth [mean (SD)]	0.30 (1.00)	0.32 (0.96)	0.29 (0.82)	.84	0.30 (0.96)	0.33 (1.01)	.483	0.08 (1.05)	.014	0.40 (0.99)	.046
Weight at 3-year, kg [mean (SD)]	15.12 (1.98)	14.98 (1.74)	15.01 (1.86)	.288	15.01 (1.86)	15.13 (1.89)	.178	14.94 (1.70)	.661	15.19 (1.94)	.076
Height at 3-year, kg [mean (SD)]	96.03 (4.01)	95.81 (3.85)	95.97 (4.08)	.481	95.85 (3.88)	96.07 (4.06)	.269	95.47 (4.11)	.285	96.23 (4.04)	.071
Weight at 5-year, kg [mean (SD)]	19.64 (2.98)	19.41 (2.76)	19.28 (2.34)	.136	19.43 (2.79)	19.72 (2.98)	.031	19.42 (2.94)	.996	19.80 (2.98)	.011
Height at 5-year, kg [mean (SD)]	110.80 (4.77)	110.68 (4.70)	110.49 (4.59)	.769	110.68 (4.66)	110.87 (4.88)	.388	110.18 (5.15)	.252	111.06 (4.79)	.118
Prenatal smoke exposure, yes (%)	166 (17.1)	161 (15.7)	12 (15.8)	.69	242 (16.5)	97 (15.9)	.785	18 (13.6)	.460	79 (16.6)	1.00
Prenatal annual family income, CAD (%)			1	.741			.623		.358		.821
\$0-\$49,999	105 (10.8)	114 (11.1)	12 (15.8)		164 (11.2)	67 (11.0)		14 (10.6)		53 (11.1)	
\$50,000-\$99,999	305 (31.4)	314 (30.6)	23 (30.3)		468 (32.0)	174 (28.6)		34 (25.8)		140 (29.4)	
\$100,000-\$149,999	251 (25.8)	276 (26.9)	14 (18.4)		374 (25.5)	167 (27.4)		44 (33.3)		123 (25.8)	
> \$150,000	215 (22.1)	230 (22.4)	21 (27.6)		323 (22.1)	143 (23.5)		28 (21.2)		115 (24.1)	
Prefer not to say	95 (9.8)	92 (9.0)	6 (7.9)		135 (9.2)	58 (9.5)		12 (9.1)		46 (9.6)	
Time away from home <18 m, yes (%)	434 (55.4)	515 (59.1)	42 (63.6)	.19	654 (55.0)	337 (63.3)	.001	60 (56.1)	.911	277 (65.2)	<.001
Older siblings, yes (%)	369 (38.0)	482 (47.0)	43 (56.6)	<.001	605 (41.3)	289 (47.5)	.012	62 (47.0)	.243	227 (47.6)	.019
Delivery mode, cesarian section (%)	233 (24.0)	251 (24.5)	18 (23.7)	.965	343 (23.4)	159 (26.1)	.215	43 (32.6)	.025	116 (24.3)	.738
Hospital breastfeeding status			.359			.038		.004		.312	
Exclusive	622 (74.3)	664 (76.4)	51 (79.7)		963 (77.2)	374 (71.5)		71 (63.4)		303 (73.7)	
Partial	197 (23.5)	184 (21.2)	10 (15.6)		256 (20.5)	135 (25.8)		36 (32.1)		99 (24.1)	
None	18 (2.2)	21 (2.4)	3 (4.7)		28 (2.2)	14 (2.7)		5 (4.5)		9 (2.2)	

(Continued)

10.3389/falgy.2024.1463867

TABLE 1 Continued

	Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI)			Systemic antibiotics							
	No LRTI	Mild LRTI	Moderate- Severe	р	No systemic antibiotics	Any systemic antibiotics	p	Non-respiratory indication	р	Respiratory indication	p
	(<i>n</i> = 971)	(<i>n</i> = 1,026)	(n = 76)		(<i>n</i> = 1,464)	(<i>n</i> = 609)		(<i>n</i> = 132)		(n = 477)	
3-month breastfeeding status				.130		1	.052		.159		.130
Exclusive	614 (63.2)	627 (61.1)	41 (53.9)		925 (63.2)	357 (58.6)		77 (58.3)		280 (58.7)	
Partial	234 (24.1)	284 (27.7)	21 (27.6)		376 (25.7)	163 (26.8)		33 (25.0)		130 (27.3)	
None	123 (12.7)	115 (11.2)	14 (18.4)		163 (11.1)	89 (14.6)		22 (16.7)		67 (14.0)	
6-month breastfeeding status				.584			.073		.466		.113
Exclusive	178 (18.4)	205 (20.0)	12 (15.8)		292 (20.0)	103 (16.9)		22 (16.8)		81 (17.0)	
Partial	592 (61.2)	603 (58.9)	44 (57.9)		878 (60.2)	361 (59.4)		78 (59.5)		283 (59.3)	
None	197 (20.4)	216 (21.1)	20 (26.3)		289 (19.8))	144 (23.7)		31 (23.7)		113 (23.7)	
Inhalant sensitization at 1-year, yes (%)	35 (3.7)	39 (3.9)	3 (4.1)	.981	55 (3.8)	22 (3.7)	.992	3 (2.3)	.623*	19 (4.1)	.919
Atopy 1 year, yes (%)	120 (12.8)	126 (12.5)	10 (13.5)	.956	188 (13.1)	68 (11.5)	.345	18 (14.1)	.868	50 (10.8)	.208
Atopy 3 year, yes (%)	126 (13.7)	141 (14.3)	10 (14.3)	.918	187 (13.3)	90 (15.7)	.202	21 (16.7)	.364	69 (15.4)	.315
Atopy 5 year, yes (%)	180 (19.4)	193 (19.5)	18 (24.3)	.582	262 (18.7)	129 (21.8)	.121	30 (23.1)	.270	99 (21.5)	.213
Recurrent wheezing 1-year, Yes (%)	54 (5.6)	90 (8.8)	25 (32.9)	<.001	88 (6.0)	81 (13.3)	<.001	11 (8.3)	.385	70 (14.7)	<.001
Recurrent wheezing 3-year, Yes (%)	73 (7.6)	93 (9.2)	17 (22.4)	<.001	108 (7.5)	75 (12.4)	<.001	11 (8.4)	.832	64 (13.5)	<.001
Asthma 3-year, yes (%)	48 (5.1)	56 (5.6)	15 (20.5)	<.001	66 (4.6)	53 (8.9)	<.001	6 (4.6)	1.00*	47 (10.2)	<.001
Asthma 5-year, yes (%)	48 (4.9)	67 (6.5)	14 (18.4)	<.001	72 (4.9)	57 (9.4)	<.001	7 (5.3)	.833*	50 (10.5)	<.001
Parental history of asthma, Yes (%)	356 (36.7)	385 (37.5)	36 (47.4)	.178	538 (36.7)	239 (39.2)	.308	39 (29.5)	.120	200 (41.9)	.049

Bold indicates significant *p* values.

*Fisher's exact test was used instead of Chi-square testing for any categorical variables where n < 5.

physician diagnosis of asthma (10.2 and 10.5% vs. 4.6 and 4.9%) (Table 1). Children who received systemic antibiotics for a respiratory indication by the 18-month visit had significantly higher rates of parental history of asthma compared to the no systemic antibiotics group (41.9% vs. 36.7%) (Table 1).

LRTI and systemic antibiotics in the first 18 months are associated with asthma at 5-years

Participants who reported a LRTI in the first 18 months of life had greater odds of 5-year asthma (aOR 1.50 [95%CI 1.04–2.20] p = .033 (n = 1,103/2,073) (Figure 1). Children with moderatesevere LRTIs had significantly higher odds of 5-year asthma [aOR 4.12 (95%CI 2.04–7.95) p < .001] (n = 76/2,073) (Figure 1). Children with only mild LRTIs in the first 18 months of life had no significant increase in odds of 5-year asthma compared to the no LRTI group [aOR 1.34 (95%CI 0.91–1.98) p = .145] (n = 1,026/2,073) (Figure 1).

Systemic antibiotics taken by the 18-month visit was associated with a significantly increased adjusted odds ratio of 5-year asthma [2.07 (95%CI 1.43–3.01) p < .001] (n = 609/2,073) (Figure 1). In particular, systemic antibiotics taken for a respiratory indication (upper or lower respiratory) were associated with higher odds of asthma at the 5-year visit (aOR 2.36 [95%CI 1.59–3.48] p < .001(n = 477/1,941) (Figure 1). However, children who received systemic antibiotics for only non-respiratory indications by 18 months were not associated with increased odds of asthma [aOR 1.08 (95%CI 0.44–2.30) p = .851] (n = 132/1,596).

Next, we explored the association between severity of LRTI and history of early-life antibiotics. We observed that a higher portion of participants with a history of moderate-severe LRTI in the first 18 months had received systemic antibiotics during that period (73%) compared to mild (30.6%) and no LRTI participants (23.7%) (Figure 2A). Children with moderate-severe infections (defined here as requiring unscheduled healthcare services) more often received systemic antibiotics during early life, both for nonrespiratory indications (only) (16.7% vs. Mild; 7.3% and No; 8.9%) (Figure 2B) as well as for respiratory indications (72% of Moderate-Severe LRTI participants vs. 27.11% of Mild and 18.02% of No LRTI) (Figure 2C).

Antibiotics mediate the relationship between moderate-severe LRTI and 5-year asthma

We next explored the combined associations between LRTIs and systemic antibiotics during the first 18 months of life on 5-year asthma diagnosis. LRTI under 18 months were significantly associated with systemic antibiotics taken during that period [aOR 1.60 (95%CI 1.32–1.95) p < .001](Table 2). In combined models of any LRTI and any systemic antibiotics under 18 months, only antibiotics were significantly associated with increased odds of 5-year asthma [aOR 2.00 (95%CI 1.37–2.90) p = .002] (Table 2).

Since LRTIs were not significantly associated with asthma in combined models with antibiotics (p = .08) (Table 2), mediation analyses focused on moderate-severe infections.

In combined mutually adjusted models of LRTI severity and any systemic antibiotics taken before the 18-month visit, both moderateto-severe LRTIs [aOR 3.36 (95%CI 1.59–6.81) p = .001] and systemic antibiotics were significantly associated with 5-year asthma [aOR 1.82 (95%CI 1.21–2.72) p = .004] (Table 2). Since both moderatesevere LRTI and systemic antibiotics were associated with increased risk of asthma, we explored the potential mediating effect of systemic antibiotics taken for any indication.

In our first mediation analysis we estimated that 21.7% (p = .004) of the association between moderate-to-severe LRTIs and 5-year visit asthma was mediated through use of systemic antibiotics [$\beta_{indirect}$ effect = 0.025 (95%CI 0.008–0.050), p = .002] (n = 2,070) (Table 3, Figure 3). A direct effect of moderate-to-severe LRTIs on 5-year asthma remained significant in this model [β_{direct} effect = 0.091 (95%CI 0.0019–0.170), p = .014] (Table 3, Figure 3).

Indication for antibiotics and early-life recurrent wheeze alter the mediating role of systemic antibiotics on asthma

We observed a stronger association between 5-year asthma and early systemic antibiotics used for respiratory indications (Figure 1) and therefore replicated our mediation models after stratifying participants by indication. First, we examined the mediating role of antibiotics taken for a respiratory indication on the association between early-life LRTIs and 5-year asthma. Similar associations for moderate-severe LRTI [aOR 2.85 (95%CI 1.33-5.82), p = .005] and systemic antibiotics for any respiratory indication remained with 5-year asthma [aOR 2.05 (95%CI 1.36-3.08), p = .001] among children who received antibiotics for any respiratory indication (n = 1,941) (Supplementary Table 4). Significant mediation of the association between moderate-severe LRTIs and 5-year asthma (27.7%, p = .006) remained among children who took systemic antibiotics for any respiratory indications [$\beta_{indirect}$ $_{effect} = 0.031$ (95%CI 0.015-0.050), p = .002] (Supplementary Table 5). A significant direct effect of moderate-severe LRTI on risk of 5-year asthma remained among these participants [β_{direct} $_{effect} = 0.081$ (95%CI 0.011-0.160), p = .026] (Supplementary Table 5).

Next, we explored whether the association between systemic antibiotics for a respiratory indication and asthma may be an artefact of children with pre-existing wheeze symptoms. We performed a sensitivity mediation in a subset of n = 1,748participants who did not have recurrent wheezing already present at the 1-year visit (Supplementary Table 6, Figure 3). Mediation analysis in non-wheezers estimated that 36.3% (p = .030) of the relationship between moderate-to-severe LRTIs before 18 months and asthma at age 5 was mediated through systemic antibiotics taken for a respiratory indication [$\beta_{indirect} = 0.039$ (95%CI 0.015– 0.060), p < .001]. However, there was no significant direct effect of moderate-severe LRTI in the non-recurrent wheezing subset



Adjusted odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) of physician diagnosis of asthma at 5 years of age for LRTIs and antibiotics between birth and 18-month visit. Models adjusted by site, child sex, Caucasian, breastfeeding <3 m, prenatal smoke exposure, mode of delivery, family income, away from home <12 m, older siblings, and parental history of asthma.

 $[\beta_{direct} = 0.069 (95\% CI - 0.015 - 0.160), p = .110]$ (Supplementary Table 7, Figure 3).

Finally, systemic antibiotics used between birth and 18 months for only non-respiratory indications was not associated to 5-year asthma in this analysis [aOR 1.08 (95%CI 0.44–2.30), p = .851] (Supplementary Table 7). Mediation analysis in this subset of participants was not pursued due to the limited number of participants with moderate-severe LRTI and antibiotics taken in infancy for only non-respiratory indications (n = 8).

Discussion

Using data collected in the CHILD Study we investigated the role of LRTIs and systemic antibiotics in the first 18-months of life on asthma diagnosis at the 5-year visit. While in our adjusted models the presence of any LRTI in the first 18 months was not a significant risk factor for asthma, we found that moderate-severe LRTIs significantly increased the estimated risk of asthma at age 5. Through mediation analyses we estimated that over 20% of this association (moderate-severe LRTIs and asthma) may be attributed to systemic antibiotic exposure, particularly among children who were prescribed antibiotics for a respiratory indication. Moreover, these associations were present among children without wheezing symptoms in the first year of life and preceding symptoms of early life asthma.

We provide evidence that systemic antibiotics taken in the first 18 months of life, regardless of the indication, partially mediates the association between moderate-severe LRTI and 5-year asthma. In subsequent mediation analyses, we identified that the proportion mediated was increased in cases where the systemic antibiotics were taken for respiratory indications. Suggesting a direct association between infection severity on asthma, independent of, yet compounded by, antibiotic use. In our sensitivity analysis in only non-recurrent wheezers (excluding children with recurrent wheezing at 1-year visit), the mediating effect of respiratory antibiotics was increased even further, with no significant direct effect of moderate-severe LRTIs remaining. These results suggest that in children without early symptoms of asthma, a substantial proportion of the association between moderate-severe LRTIs and asthma may be explained by systemic antibiotic exposure rather than a respiratory infection itself.

Our study is the first to investigate the mediating role of antibiotic use in the association between early-life LRTIs and asthma at age 5. Nonetheless, our results support observations from other studies. Bentouhami et al. (17) performed an incidence density study nested in a data collection project with information on 1,128 mother–child pairs where systemic antibiotic use in the first year of life was defined as excessive (\geq 4 courses) vs. non-excessive (<4 courses) use based on information from weekly diaries (17). The authors found a stronger association between the incidence of asthma and the use of systemic antibiotics in the first year of life among children who had LRTIs (defined as having had bronchitis with or without chronic cough and/or pneumonia according to the reporting of the parents) during that time. The asthma incidence density ratio (IDR) was significantly higher for children with LRTIs (IDR 5.17)



Percent of CHILD study participants who had taken systemic antibiotics between birth and the 18-month visit by indication (any reason, only nonrespiratory, any respiratory) and by severity of LRTIs reported by 18 months of age. (A) Percent (%) of participants who received any systemic antibiotic across LRTI severities, (B) percent of participants who took antibiotics due to only non-respiratory indications across LRTI severities, (C) percent of participants who took antibiotics by the 18-month visit due to respiratory indications by LRTI severity group.

compared to those without (IDR 1.49). Similarly, the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (LSAC) found that antibiotics given to children between birth and 24 months increased their risk of developing asthma later in childhood (6 and 15 years old) using medication record data (18). After LSAC authors accounted for respiratory infections that prompted antibiotic use (such as ear infections, hospitalization for fever or viral infections in the first year of life), early antibiotic use in children still significantly increased the risk of developing early-persistent asthma by 2.3 times (95% CI: 1.47-3.67, p < 0.001) compared to those without antibiotic exposure (18). Finally, a systematic review demonstrated that after adjusting for respiratory infections, there was still a significant and independent association between antibiotics and asthma (although decreasing from OR 1.38 to OR 1.16 after adjustment) (19).

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the association between LRTIs, antibiotics, and asthma. One hypothesis suggests that antibiotics may eliminate beneficial bacteria, which otherwise have a protective effect, thereby increasing the risk of allergic illnesses. Another possibility is that antibiotics with anti-inflammatory properties, such as macrolides, may inhibit type 1 immune responses, leading to a dominance of type 2 immune responses. Antibiotics might also contribute to the development of asthma by disrupting the human microbiome in a critical period when the human microbiome and immune system are developing (20-22). It is hypothesized that this effect is caused through perturbations in the populations, community succession, and diversity of the airway and gut microbiota. Using >2 antibiotic treatments between birth and 11 months of age was associated with an increased risk of asthma which was partially

TABLE 2 Individual and combined regression models analyzing the association between any LRTIs within the first 18 months of life (LRTI <18 m) or the severity of those LRTIs (LRTI severity) and the use of systemic antibiotics for any indication before the 18-month visit, on the odds of an asthma diagnosis at age 5.

	Adjuste	ed LRTI <18 m	model ^a	Adjusted LRTI severity model ^a					
		(<i>N</i> = 2,073)		(N = 2,073)					
	aOR	CI	p		aOR	CI	p		
		Cr	ude models:	asthma 5Y~X					
Asth	ma 5Y~LRTI	<18 m		Asthm	a 5Y~LRTI se	everity			
	LRTI < 18 m				LRTI severity				
Yes	1.50	1.04-2.20	0.033	Mild	1.34	0.91-1.98	0.145		
-				Moderate-severe	4.12	2.04-7.95	<0.001		
Asth	nma 5Y~1 + ant	ibiotics		Asthma 5Y-1 + antibiotics					
Any systemic antibiotics	2.07	1.43-3.01	<0.001	Any Systemic Antibiotics 1.87		1.26-2.74	0.002		
Mediator mod	el: antibiotics (I	Ŋ∼LRTI <18 m(X)		Mediator model: antibiotics (M)~LRTI severity (X)					
Antil	biotics~1 + LRTI	< 18 m		Antibiotics~1 + LRTI severity					
	LRTI < 18 m			LRTI severity					
Yes	1.60	1.32-1.95	<0.001	Mild	1.41	1.15-1.72	0.001		
-				Moderate-severe	9.05	5.37-15.85	<0.001		
Outcome model: 5-year	∙asthma (Y)~an	tibiotics (M) + LRT	T < 18 m (X)	Outcome model: 5-year asthma (Y)~antibiotics (M) + LRTI severity					
					(X)				
LRTI < 18 m				LRTI severity					
Yes	1.40	0.96-2.06	0.080	Mild	1.29	0.86-1.95	0.216		
-				Moderate-severe	3.36	1.59-6.81	0.001		
Any antibiotics	2.00	1.37-2.90	<0.001	Any antibiotics	1.82	1.21-2.72	0.004		

Bold indicates significant p values.

^aModels adjusted by: site, child sex, Caucasian, breastfeeding <3 m, prenatal smoke exposure, mode of delivery, family income, away from home <12 m, older siblings, and parental history of asthma.

TABLE 3 Mediation 1: systemic antibiotics taken for any indication as a mediator between severe LRTI and 5-year asthma (N = 2,070).

Adjusted model ^a (N = 2,070)								
		OR (95%	CI)	<i>p</i> -value				
5-year asthma ^a ~X	5-year asthma ^a ~X							
Moderate-to-severe LRTI (vs. mild & no)		3.51 (1.79, 6	5.46)	<.001				
Any systemic antibiotics		2.05 (1.4, 2	.97)	<.001				
Mediator model: systemic antibiotics by 18 months ~LRTI severity								
Moderate-to-severe LRTI		7.58 (4.54, 1	3.15)	<.001				
Outcome model: asthma 18 months	5Y~LR	TI severity + s	ystemic antib	iotics by				
Moderate-to-severe LRTI		2.70 (1.20 /	2()	.002				
		2.79 (1.39, 5						
Any systemic antibiotics		1.83 (1.24, 2	2.68)	.002				
Mediation output	β	95% CI lower	95% Cl upper	p				
Total effect	0.117	0.039	0.210	.002				
Indirect effect (ab)	0.025	0.008	0.050	.002				
Direct effect (c')	0.091	0.019	0.170	.014				
Proportion mediated,%	21.7%	7.7	54.0	.004				

Bold indicates significant p values.

^aModels adjusted by: site, child sex, Caucasian, breastfeeding <3 m, prenatal smoke exposure, mode of delivery, family income, away from home <12 m, older siblings, and parental history of asthma.

mediated through longitudinal change in the composition of the nasal microbiome (12). Infant antibiotic use was associated with elevated *Moraxella, Haemophilus,* and *Streptococcus,* which are

pathogenic associated genus (23) and high Moraxella sp. abundance is associated with preschool asthma (12, 24). There is also evidence that antibiotics increase the risk of asthma through their influence on the gut microbiome (25-27) thought to occur through depletion of beneficial bacteria with fermentative capacity (e.g., short chain fatty acid producing species), decreased overall diversity and therefore reduced resistance to pathogenic bacteria colonization (28). These microbial disruptions can exacerbate airway inflammation or may impact proper immune system development increasing the risk of developing asthma. In the CHILD Study, the number of antibiotics courses within the first year of life was associated with decreased gut alpha diversity, and this effect was greatest when taken under 3 months of age (11). CHILD authors further demonstrated that the gut microbiome diversity at 1 year mediated the relationship between infant antibiotic use and asthma diagnosis at age 5 (11).

In our analyses we followed the most widely used mediation methodology outlined by Baron and Kenny (11) which requires the following assumptions to be satisfied: (i) no misspecification of causal order, (ii) no misspecification of causal direction, (iii) no misspecification due to unmeasured variables, and (iv) no misspecification due to imperfect measurement (29). By measuring and defining our variables in terms of temporality and having a theory for biological plausibility we minimize risks of violating the first two assumptions. However, as an observational study it is not possible to guarantee complete adherence of the latter two assumptions. We acknowledge that our reliance on



parental reporting may overestimate LRTI prevalence. We attempted to mitigate this by including fever as a required factor in our symptom-based definition of LRTIs. Fever is an objective indicator of symptomatic infection that parents can measure; inclusion of fever in our symptom-based definition is supported by our validation analysis of LRTI symptoms vs. virological testing, where including fever significantly improved the identification of true positives (laboratory confirmed LRTIs). The trade-off between the increased specificity of objective diagnostic tests and decreased applicability in primary care or low-resource settings needs to be evaluated in the design of future research studies.

In this context, our classification of infection severity using healthcare utilization may also be biased by parental behavior. Parents with heightened vigilance due to increased medical literacy or family history of asthma may be more inclined to seek medical care. Such patterns could influence our classification of LRTI severity and the likelihood of receiving antibiotics. However, our use of a validated LRTI definition ensures that the classification is based on consistent, clinically relevant criteria rather than subjective or behavioral factors, improving the reliability of our assessment. Additionally, we attempted to minimize these parental factors by adjusting our models for family income and family history of asthma. Our symptom-based LRTI definition may be used in future population-based studies to explore the associations reported here and could be adapted for other parental reported studies, data-linkage studies, or in low-income settings where objective testing for infection may not be readily available.

Given that our LRTI and antibiotic data rely on parental reports collected through questionnaires administered at regular intervals, we could not report on associations outside these intervals, such as the impact of earlier or later timing of infections or antibiotics during the first 18 months, or the cumulative antibiotic exposure in infancy. Nonetheless, findings from a smaller subset of CHILD Study participants that linked administrative data found a significant dose-response between number of antibiotic courses and asthma, with other studies reporting similar findings (11, 18, 30). While we were unable to replicate this approach in our mediation models due to sample size limitations, this gap highlights an area for future investigation, particularly concerning the hypothesis that earliertiming of infections and frequent antibiotic treatment could be more detrimental to the development of the microbiome and immune system. Imperfect measurement of asthma in this age group may also be possible. Differentiating early signs of asthma from symptoms of early respiratory infections is a complex methodological challenge. In young children, asthma is often used as an umbrella diagnosis that is not well defined. As a result, the classification of pediatric asthma may be susceptible to bias, with certain subtypes potentially being underrepresented or overrepresented.

Another limitation to our mediation methodology is that any interactions between LRTIs and type of antibiotics cannot be tested. We attempted to explore this question using an alternative approach, by conducting stratified analysis by antibiotic indication (31). Among children who had received respiratory antibiotics only, we estimated a significant mediating effect of 21.7%. Unfortunately, we were unable to replicate this analysis in children who had received only non-respiratory antibiotics due to insufficient sample size in this mediator group, a challenge that would have persisted in a formal interaction analysis. This limited sample size likely reflects the high cooccurrence of LRTIs and antibiotics during this period, where many LRTIs were treated with antibiotics. As the CHILD Study is a general population cohort, the small number of participants with moderate-to-severe LRTIs treated exclusively with nonrespiratory antibiotics further constrained our analysis. Additionally, our classification of antibiotics into "any respiratory" and "non-respiratory" indications complicates categorization, as children may receive antibiotics for multiple indications. To address this, and in line with our primary objective, we included children who received antibiotics for both indications in the "any respiratory antibiotic" group, capturing instances where antibiotics for LRTI could mediate the respiratory pathway to asthma. However, interpreting these findings requires caution, as attributing risk solely to respiratory antibiotics may overestimate their effect or underestimate the effect of non-respiratory antibiotics.

Finally, a limitation of this mediation approach is the categorical nature of our mediator and outcome, which in part is due to non-collapsibility in logistic regression models and may lead to underestimation of proportions mediated (32). Where the mediator can effectively be intervened upon, and where assumptions of consistency, exchangeability, and positivity are complied with, future studies should consider implementation of causal mediation analysis using a potential outcomes framework to estimate controlled direct and indirect effects (33). Future studies may also benefit from evaluating the confounding role of factors not measured here such as genetic background, epigenetic effects and airway microbiome interactions. Our study design is also at risk of confounding by indication where severe LRTIs requiring antibiotics may be linked to future asthma diagnoses due to shared underlying susceptibilities such as impaired lung function, genetic predisposition to asthma or early immune dysregulation that increase risk of both early-life LRTIs and later asthma. This makes it challenging to seperate the effect of antibiotics from the effect of the infection, and as a result, our

model may overestimate the contribution of systemic antibiotics to the development of asthma. To minimize this, following pharmacoepidemiologic practices when confounding by indication cannot be directly measured, we did not include wheezing symptoms in our definition of LRTI, and conducted sensitivity analysis in non-recurrent wheezers at age 1 (34). Our findings remained consistent in these analyses, suggesting the association between antibiotics and asthma is not soley driven by misclassified early asthma/wheezing.

We also recognize that children living in remote areas, or from lower socioeconomic backgrounds experience a disproportionate burden of infection and asthma (35, 36). We address potential confounding of this nature by adjusting all analyses by factors such as study site and family income. Nonetheless, given that our definition of infection severity is based on healthcare utilization, future studies on populations with limited access to care are needed to assess the generalizability of our findings to these groups of children. While our study focuses on the impact of early-life antibiotic use in the general population, it is crucial to recognize that high-risk patient populations or cases of severe infections require distinct clinical considerations, and we do not advocate for withholding antibiotics in cases when they are necessary. Additionally, given the diversity of healthcare systems worldwide, further research in settings outside Canada is needed to assess the generalizability of our findings to populations with differing healthcare practices and needs. Finally, considering that antibiotic prescriptions from our study occurred during the 2010-2012 period, prescribing practices may have since evolved due to initiatives like "Choosing Wisely Canada", potentially leading to fewer infants receiving antibiotics for viral LRTIs. Future studies should attempt to replicate these associations using current datasets to account for changes in clinical practices and to validate these findings in a contemporary cohort.

Overall, our study provides novel evidence that both the severity and management of the infection, rather than simply the occurrence of a LRTI per se, may be relevant to asthma development. This highlights the importance of prudent antibiotic use, especially considering the potential long-term effects of these treatments and contribution of unnecessary use to rising antibiotic resistance. While our study illuminates potential links and mechanisms, it also emphasizes the complexity of asthma development and the multifaceted influence of early-life exposures. Ultimately, our results are based on observational data, and the significance of antibiotic use as a mediator in this study does not necessarily confirm causality. There is need for further research involving a finer examination of types of respiratory infection, severity of infection, and nature of antibiotic usage to elucidate these relationships and inform strategies to mitigate risk of developing asthma.

Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: data from the CHILD Cohort Study is available to researchers upon request. Requests to access these

datasets should be directed to https://childstudy.ca/for-researchers/ study-data.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by University of British Columbia, University of Alberta, University of Manitoba, The Hospital for Sick Children and McMaster University's respective ethics review boards. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin.

Author contributions

MM: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing - original draft. MR: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing - review & editing, Software. DD: Writing - review & editing, Data curation. GW: Data curation, Writing - review & editing. FB: Project administration, Writing - review & editing. RV: Writing - review & editing. EN: Data curation, Writing - review & editing. NR: Data curation, Writing - review & editing. ES: Project administration, Writing - review & editing. PM: Project administration, Writing - review & editing. MA: Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. ST: Data curation, Project administration, Writing - review & editing. TM: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Writing - review & editing, Project administration. PS: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing - review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Debbie and Donald H. Morrison Family Foundation and the Allergy, Genes, and Environment Network of Centres of Excellence (AllerGen NCE) provided core support for the CHILD Cohort Study (grants to founding CHILD Study director MS and current

References

director PS). MVM is funded by the CIHR-Institute of Circulatory and Respiratory Health Canada Doctoral Research Award, the CIHR-Canadian Lung Association Research Studentship, and the SickKids Hospital Restracomp PhD Scholarship. MER is funded by a CIHR Canada Graduate Scholarship Doctoral Award. DLYD is funded by a CIHR Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship Doctoral Award and the University of British Columbia Four Year Doctoral Fellowship. FB is a Simon Fraser University Distinguished Professor. PJM is funded by Women's and Children's Health Research Institute (WCHRI). MBA holds a Tier 2 Canada Research Chair in the Developmental Origins of Chronic Disease and is a Fellow of the CIFAR Humans and the Microbiome Program. SET holds a Tier 1 Canada Research Chair in Pediatric Precision Health and the Aubrey J. Tingle Professor of Pediatric Immunology. PS holds a Tier 1 Canada Research Chair in Pediatric Asthma and Lung Health.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/falgy.2024. 1463867/full#supplementary-material

5. Castro-Rodriguez JA, Forno E, Rodriguez-Martinez CE, Celedón JC. Risk and protective factors for childhood asthma: what is the evidence? *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract.* (2016) 4(6):1111–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2016.05.003

6. Kenmoe S, Bowo-Ngandji A, Kengne-Nde C, Ebogo-Belobo JT, Mbaga DS, Mahamat G, et al. Association between early viral LRTI and subsequent wheezing

^{1.} Global Asthma Network. *The Global Asthma Report 2022*. Wisconsin: The GINA Scientific Committee (2022). Available online at: http://www.globalasthmareport.org/ (Accessed December 14, 2023).

^{2.} Sennhauser FH, Braun-Fahrländer C, Wildhaber JH. The burden of asthma in children: a European perspective. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* (2005) 6:2–7. doi: 10.1016/j. prrv.2004.11.001

^{3.} Haley KJ, Drazen JM. Inflammation and airway function in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. (1998) 157:1-3. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.157.1.ed-19

^{4.} Abreo A, Gebretsadik T, Stone CA, Hartert TV. The impact of modifiable risk factor reduction on childhood asthma development. *Clin Transl Med.* (2018) 7(1):15. doi: 10.1186/s40169-018-0195-4

development, a meta-analysis and sensitivity analyses for studies comparable for confounding factors. *PLoS One*. (2021) 16(4):e0249831. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0249831

7. Glezen WP, Taber LH, Frank AL, Kasel JA. Risk of primary infection and reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. *Am J Dis Child.* (1986) 140(6):543–6. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.1986.02140200053026

8. Donovan BM, Abreo A, Ding T, Gebretsadik T, Turi KN, Yu C, et al. Dose, timing, and type of infant antibiotic use and the risk of childhood asthma. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 70:1658–65. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciz448

9. Goksör E, Alm B, Pettersson R, Möllborg P, Erdes L, Åberg N, et al. Early fish introduction and neonatal antibiotics affect the risk of asthma into school age. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2013) 24(4):339-44. doi: 10.1111/pai.12078

10. Ortqvist AK, Lundholm C, Kieler H, Ludvigsson JF, Fall T, Ye W, et al. Antibiotics in fetal and early life and subsequent childhood asthma: nationwide population based study with sibling analysis. *Br Med J.* (2014) 349(3):g6979. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g6979

11. Patrick DM, Sbihi H, Dai DLY, Al Mamun A, Rasali D, Rose C, et al. Decreasing antibiotic use, the gut microbiota, and asthma incidence in children: evidence from population-based and prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:1094–105. doi: 10.1016/s2213-2600(20)30052-7

12. Toivonen L, Schuez-Havupalo L, Karppinen S, Waris M, Hoffman KL, Camargo CA, et al. Antibiotic treatments during infancy, changes in nasal microbiota, and asthma development: population-based cohort study. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2021) 72(9):1546–54. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa262

13. Marra F, Marra CA, Richardson K, Lynd LD, Kozyrskyj A, Patrick DM, et al. Antibiotic use in children is associated with increased risk of asthma. *Pediatrics*. (2009) 123(3):1003–10. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-1146

14. Subbarao P, Anand SS, Becker AB, Befus AD, Brauer M, Brook JR, et al. The Canadian healthy infant longitudinal development (CHILD) study: examining developmental origins of allergy and asthma. *Thorax.* (2015) 70(10):998–1000. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207246

15. Medeleanu M, Upton JEM, Reyna Vargas ME, Dai R, Mandhane PJ, Simons E, et al. Moderate-to-severe lower respiratory tract infection in early life is associated with increased risk of polysensitization and atopic dermatitis: findings from the CHILD study. J Allergy Clin Immunol Glob. (2022) 1(2):73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jacig.2021.12.005

16. Barrett B, Locken K, Maberry R, Schwamman J, Brown R, Bobula J, et al. The Wisconsin upper respiratory symptom survey (WURSS): anew research instrument for assessing the common cold. *J Fam Pract.* (2002) 51(3):265.

17. Bentouhami H, Bungwa MK, Casas L, Coenen S, Weyler J. Asthma occurrence in children and early life systemic antibiotic use: an incidence density study. Allergy. *Asthma & Clinical Immunology*. (2023) 19(1):18. doi: 10.1186/s13223-023-00773-8

18. Lu Y, Wang Y, Wang J, Lowe AJ, Grzeskowiak LE, Hu YJ. Early-Life antibiotic exposure and childhood asthma trajectories: a national population-based birth cohort. *Antibiotics*. (2023) 12(2):314. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics12020314

19. Murk W, Risnes KR, Bracken MB. Prenatal or early-life exposure to antibiotics and risk of childhood asthma: a systematic review. *Pediatrics*. (2011) 127(6):1125–38. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-2092

20. Wypych TP, Wickramasinghe LC, Marsland BJ. The influence of the microbiome on respiratory health. *Nat Immunol.* (2019) 20(10):1279–90. doi: 10. 1038/s41590-019-0451-9

21. Di Cicco M, Pistello M, Jacinto T, Ragazzo V, Piras M, Freer G, et al. Does lung microbiome play a causal or casual role in asthma? *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2018) 53(10):1340–5. doi: 10.1002/ppul.24086

22. Loverdos K, Bellos G, Kokolatou L, Vasileiadis I, Giamarellos E, Pecchiari M, et al. Lung microbiome in asthma: current perspectives. *J Clin Med.* (2019) 8(11):1967. doi: 10.3390/jcm8111967

23. Teo SM, Mok D, Pham K, Kusel M, Serralha M, Troy N, et al. The infant nasopharyngeal microbiome impacts severity of lower respiratory infection and risk of asthma development. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2015) 17(5):704–15. doi: 10.1016/j. chom.2015.03.008

24. Bisgaard H, Hermansen MN, Buchvald F, Loland L, Halkjaer LB, Bønnelykke K, et al. Childhood asthma after bacterial colonization of the airway in neonates. *N Engl J Med.* (2007) 357(15):1487–95. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa052632

25. Dharmage SC, Lodge CJ, Lowe AJ, Allen KJ. Antibiotics and risk of asthma: a debate that is set to continue. *Clin Exp Allergy.* (2015) 45(1):6–8. doi: 10.1111/cea. 12424

26. Russell SL, Gold MJ, Willing BP, Thorson L, McNagny KM, Finlay BB. Perinatal antibiotic treatment affects murine microbiota, immune responses and allergic asthma. *Gut Microbes.* (2013) 4(2):158–64. doi: 10.4161/gmic.23567

27. van Nimwegen FA, Penders J, Stobberingh EE, Postma DS, Koppelman GH, Kerkhof M, et al. Mode and place of delivery, gastrointestinal microbiota, and their influence on asthma and atopy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2011) 128(5):948–55.e1-3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.07.027

28. Lange K, Buerger M, Stallmach A, Bruns T. Effects of antibiotics on gut microbiota. Dig Dis. (2016) 34(3):260-8. doi: 10.1159/000443360

29. Baron RM, Kenny DA. The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (1986) 51(6):1173-82. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173

30. Chen I-L, Tsai M-K, Chung H-W, Hsieh H-M, Huang Y-T, Lin Y-C, et al. The effects of antibiotic exposure on asthma in children with atopic dermatitis. *Sci Rep.* (2021a) 11(1):8526. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-87981-7

31. MacKinnon DP, Fairchild AJ, Fritz MS. Mediation analysis. Annu Rev Psychol. (2007) 58:593–614. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-87981-7

32. Rijnhart JJM, Valente MJ, Smyth HL, MacKinnon DP. Statistical mediation analysis for models with a binary mediator and a binary outcome: the differences between causal and traditional mediation analysis. *Prev Sci.* (2023) 24(3):408–18. doi: 10.1007/s11121-021-01308-6

33. Nguyen TQ, Schmid I, Ogburn EL, Stuart EA. Clarifying causal mediation analysis: effect identification via three assumptions and five potential outcomes. *J Causal Inference*. (2022) 10(1):246–79. doi: 10.1515/jci-2021-0049

34. Sendor R, Stürmer T. Core concepts in pharmacoepidemiology: confounding by indication and the role of active comparators. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2022) 31(3):261–9. doi: 10.1002/pds.5407

35. Grant T, Croce E, Matsui EC. Asthma and the social determinants of health. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2022) 128(1):5–11. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2021.10.002

36. Yang-Huang J, McGrath JJ, Gauvin L, Nikiéma B, Spencer NJ, Awad YA, et al. Early family socioeconomic status and asthma-related outcomes in school-aged children: results from seven birth cohort studies. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2024) 79(1):1–11. doi: 10.1136/jech-2023-220726

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stuart Turvey, University of British Columbia, Canada

REVIEWED BY Liying Darlene Dai, University of British Columbia, Canada Courtney Hoskinson, University of British Columbia, Canada

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiao-yuan Ding

☑ dingdingxiaoyuan@163.com
RECEIVED 28 May 2024
Lagencer 17 February 2025

ACCEPTED 17 February 2025 PUBLISHED 27 February 2025

CITATION

Jiang W-y, Jiao R-h, Ma S-l, Dai J-s, Zhu H-f, Wu M-y, Che Y-r, Zhang L and Ding X-y (2025) Serum inflammatory factors, vitamin D levels, and asthma severity in children with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight: a comparative study.

Front. Pediatr. 13:1439841. doi: 10.3389/fped.2025.1439841

COPYRIGHT

© 2025 Jiang, Jiao, Ma, Dai, Zhu, Wu, Che, Zhang and Ding. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Serum inflammatory factors, vitamin D levels, and asthma severity in children with comorbid asthma and obesity/ overweight: a comparative study

Wan-yu Jiang¹, Rong-hong Jiao², Su-li Ma¹, Jin-sheng Dai¹, Hai-feng Zhu¹, Meng-ya Wu¹, Yan-ran Che¹, Lei Zhang¹ and Xiao-yuan Ding^{1*}

¹Pediatrics Department, Shanghai Pudong New Area People's Hospital, Shanghai, China, ²Department of Clinical Laboratory, Shanghai Pudong New Area People's Hospital, Shanghai, China

Objective: To investigate serum inflammatory factors, vitamin D levels, and asthma severity in children with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight, compared with those with asthma or obesity/overweight alone.

Methods: This retrospective comparative study included children suffering from asthma alone, asthma combined with obesity/overweight, or obesity/overweight alone at Shanghai Pudong New Area People's Hospital between January 2020 and December 2021.

Results: A total of 168 children (mean age: 4.32 + 1.64 years; 117 males) were included. Compared with children with asthma alone (n = 56), those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight (n = 56) exhibited higher levels of serum levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6) (35.75 \pm 24.56 vs. 15.40 \pm 19.67), TNF- α $(15.44 \pm 7.35 \text{ vs. } 12.16 \pm 7.24)$, and leptin $(3.89 \pm 3.81 \text{ vs. } 1.27 \pm 2.31)$, and lower levels of 25-hydroxycholecalciferol (25-(OH) D_3) (26.03 ± 10.77 vs. 37.15 ± 13.35), IL-10 (8.69 ± 2.76 vs. 15.32 ± 6.28), and IL-13 (449.40 ± 315.37 vs. 605.27 ± 351.02) (all P < 0.05). Compared with children with obese/ overweight alone (n = 56), those with comorbid asthma and obesity/ overweight had lower IL-10 (8.69 ± 2.76 vs. 12.29 ± 6.61) and higher IL-6 (35.75 ± 24.56 vs. 20.53 ± 17.07), IL-13 (449.40 ± 315.37 vs. 309.47 ± 257.45), and leptin $(3.89 \pm 3.81 \text{ vs. } 2.48 \pm 3.52)$ (all P < 0.05). Children with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight showed higher Preschool Respiratory Assessment Measure (PRAM) scores (3.14 ± 2.40 vs. 1.93 ± 1.02 , P = 0.008) and longer hospital stays (5.96 \pm 1.25 vs. 5.29 \pm 1.36 days, P = 0.007) compared to those with asthma alone.

Conclusions: Significant differences were observed in IL-6, IL-10, IL-13, 25-(OH) D_3 levels, and leptin among children with asthma combined with obesity/ overweight and those with asthma or obesity/overweight alone. Children with obesity/overweight alone displayed more severe clinical manifestations and longer hospital stays compared with those with asthma alone.

KEYWORDS

vitamin D, obesity, asthma severity, pediatric asthma, inflammatory factors, retrospective comparative study

Introduction

Pediatric asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease of the airways in children, characterized by airflow obstruction. According to the Global Asthma Report (GAR), 262 million people had asthma in 2019, and 1 in 10 children had asthma symptoms worldwide (1). The global epidemic of asthma in children and adults continues to rise (2). Environmental factors (such as air pollution, pollens, mold, pets, and weather conditions), host factors (such as obesity, nutritional factors, infections, and allergic sensitization), and genetic factors (i.e., asthma susceptibility genes) interact to influence the occurrence and severity of asthma (3).

Childhood obesity is another serious public health issue worldwide, putting children and adolescents at risk of poor health during childhood and adulthood. In China, 6.8% of children <6 years are overweight and 3.6% are obese. In the recent decade, the prevalence of overweight and obesity among Chinese children has been increasing (4). Among children and adolescents aged 6-17 years, 11.1% are overweight and 7.9% are obese (5). Obesity/overweight is a major risk factor for asthma and a complex interaction between obesity and asthma results in higher severity of asthma and poorer control of asthma symptoms (6). In obese individuals, multiple inflammatory mediators and M1 macrophage infiltration are increased in adipose tissues, causing inflammation. The inflammatory process also increases the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-6, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), IL-1 β , and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), all contributing to asthma pathogenesis and severity (7). Obesity-related asthma is associated with a Th1 immune response (involving TNF-a, IFN- γ , IL-6, and IL-8) rather than a Th2 response (which involved IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13) (8). Nevertheless, the role of inflammatory factors in obese patients with asthma remains unclear.

Vitamin D is an essential nutrient and is required for immune regulation (9, 10). 25-hydroxycholecalciferol (25-(OH) D₃) is a form of vitamin D that the body produces or absorbs from animal sources. The other form of vitamin D is 25-hydroxyvitamin D₂ (ergocalciferol), which comes from plant sources. The total level of 25-(OH)D₃ in the blood is the primary measurement used to assess vitamin D status (11). Obesity and vitamin D deficiency (serum levels <30 ng/ml) have been associated with more severe asthma symptoms (12, 13). The Childhood Asthma Management Program (CAMP) revealed that 35% of children aged 5-12 years had mild to moderate asthma and vitamin D deficiency (<30 ng/ml) (14). Moreover, a study that used the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) found a significant correlation between vitamin D deficiency [defined as serum 25-(OH) D₃ levels <30 ng/ml] and asthma symptoms in children. Another study associated vitamin D deficiency with poor lung function in obese children (15). Taken together, vitamin D deficiency is seen in obesity and asthma, but the exact interplay among the three in children remains to be defined.

Therefore, this study aimed to investigate serum inflammatory factors, vitamin D levels, and asthma severity in children with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight, compared with those with asthma or obesity/overweight alone. The results could help refine our understanding of the epidemiology and pathogenesis of asthma in children with obesity/overweight.

Methods

Study design and patients

The retrospective comparative study included children with asthma alone, comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight, or obesity/overweight alone, hospitalized (those with asthma) or attending the outpatient clinic (those with obesity/overweight alone) at Shanghai Pudong New Area People's Hospital between January 2020 and December 2021. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shanghai Pudong New Area People's Hospital (approval #prylz2020-101). The requirement for individual consent was waived by the committee due to the retrospective nature of the study.

The inclusion criteria were (1) children aged 1–11 years and (2) diagnosed with asthma according to the criteria in the "Guideline for the Diagnosis and Optimal Management of Asthma in Children (2016)" (16). The exclusion criterion was wheezing due to other conditions (e.g., congenital heart disease, gastroesophageal reflux, or bronchopulmonary dysplasia).

Data collection

Obese/overweight was defined according to the "Chinese Preschool Children Growth Reference Standard and Related Curve: Based on GAMLSS Approach" (17). A BMI of $\geq P_{95}$ was considered obese, and a BMI of $\ge P_{85}$ was considered overweight (17). The children were categorized into children with asthma alone, obese/overweight alone, and obese/overweight and asthma comorbidity (hereafter referred to as those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight). The age, sex, height, and weight of the selected subjects were recorded. Age was accurate to 1 month, height to 1 cm, and weight to 0.1 kg. The PRAM score, length of hospital stay, hospitalization cost, and systemic glucocorticoid use were collected in children with asthma. The discharge criteria included no symptoms of wheezing or shortness of breath and the absence of pulmonary rales. The Preschool Respiratory Assessment Measure (PRAM) was used to evaluate asthma severity (18).

On the day of hospital admission, blood was collected for laboratory testing. Fasting venous blood (3 ml) was collected, held at room temperature for 30 min, and centrifuged at 3,000 r/min for 5 min to collect the serum. Separated serum was stored at -80° C until further use. The 25-(OH) D₃ levels were determined using the electrochemical luminescence method from Roche (Basel, Switzerland). Leptin (kit no. CSB-E04649h), IL-6 (kit no. CSB-E04638h), TNF- α (kit no. CSB-E04740h), IL-10 (kit no. CSB-E04593h), IL-4 (kit no. CSB-E04633h), and IL-13 (kit no. CSB-E04601h) levels were determined by ELISA, following manufacturer's instructions (Cusabio Technology LLC, Wuhan, China). A Microlab STAR automatic enzyme immunoassay analyzer (Hamilton Co., Reno, NV, USA) was used for measurements.

Sample size

The sample size for this study was calculated to ensure sufficient power to detect significant differences in serum inflammatory factors, vitamin D levels, and asthma severity among the three groups: asthma alone, asthma combined with obesity/overweight, and obesity/overweight alone.

According to preliminary investigation data by the authors (10 cases in each group), the mean levels of IL-6 were 13.45 ± 17.69 pg/ml for asthma, 39.67 ± 21.58 pg/ml for asthma and obesity, and 22.05 ± 22.13 pg/ml for obesity. Using the G*Power 3.1.9.2 software, the effect size (Cohen's d for ANOVA) was calculated as 0.49. Using a two-sided significance level (α) of 0.05 and a power (1- β) of 0.90, it was calculated that a total of 57 patients would be needed. Considering that IL-6 levels do not conform to a normal distribution, the number of patients needed to be increased by 15%. In addition, considering a missing rate of 10%, the minimum sample size required was $n = 57 \times 115\% \times 110\%$, which is approximately equal to 24 patients in each group. Based on the financial and material resources of this study, 56 samples were surveyed in each group to meet the minimum sample size requirement.

Statistical analysis

SPSS 23.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analysis. The figures were drawn using the "ggplot2" 3.4.4 package in R 4.3.1. Continuous variables were described as means \pm SD. Normally distributed variables were tested using the independent sample t-test (two groups) and one-way ANOVA (multiple groups). For data with a non-normal distribution, the Mann–Whitney *U* test was used to compare two groups, and

the Kruskal-Wallis H test was used to compare multiple groups. The Bonferroni method was used to control for false positives. Categorical variables were described as n (%) and analyzed using the chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test. Fisher's exact test when the expected number of observations in any of the cells of a contingency table was below 5, or below 10 when there was only one degree of freedom; otherwise, the chi-squared test was used. Therefore, the chi-squared test was used for sex and systemic glucocorticoid use. Spearman correlation analysis was conducted analyze the correlations among variables. to "Systemic glucocorticoid use" is a categorical (binary) variable; after it was encoded as 0/1, the Spearman correlation coefficient with vitamin D was calculated, which is a point-biserial correlation coefficient. Two-sided P-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Characteristics of the children

The eligible patients treated between January 2020 and December 2021 were included. A total of 168 children (117 males; mean age of 4.32 ± 1.64 years) were included. The patients were grouped according to their condition: asthma, obese/ overweight, and comorbid asthma and obese/overweight. There were no significant differences in sex or age among the three groups (all *P* > 0.05). Compared with children with asthma alone (*n* = 56), those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight (*n* = 56) and obesity/overweight (*n* = 56) had significantly higher BMI (19.70 ± 2.33 and 19.35 ± 2.20 vs. 16.16 ± 0.71 , both *P* < 0.05) (Table 1).

Serum cytokine levels

Then, serum levels of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines were compared among the three groups to determine whether comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight influenced the cytokine levels compared with asthma alone or obesity/ overweight alone. Compared with children with asthma alone (n = 56), those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight (n = 56) exhibited significantly higher levels of serum levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6) $(35.75 \pm 24.56 \text{ vs. } 15.40 \pm 19.67)$, TNF- α

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics.

Variables	Asthma group (<i>n</i> = 56)	Comorbidity group (<i>n</i> = 56)	Obese/overweight group (n = 56)	Р
Age (y)	4.39 ± 1.57	4.46 ± 1.77	4.13 ± 1.59	0.262
Sex				0.554 ^a
Male	40 (71.4%)	36 (64.3%)	41 (73.2%)	
Female	16 (28.6%)	20 (35.7%)	15 (26.8%)	
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	16.16 ± 0.71	19.70 ± 2.33*	19.35 ± 2.20*	< 0.001

The *p*-values presented in the final column of the table were unadjusted. The *p*-values denoted with *signified *post-hoc* comparisons that were adjusted through the Bonferroni correction method.

*P < 0.05 vs. children with asthma alone.

^aChi-squared test.

 $(15.44 \pm 7.35 \text{ vs.} 12.16 \pm 7.24)$, and leptin $(3.89 \pm 3.81 \text{ vs.} 1.27 \pm 2.31)$, and lower levels of 25-(OH) D₃ (26.03 ± 10.77 vs. 37.15 ± 13.35), IL-10 (8.69 ± 2.76 vs. 15.32 ± 6.28), and IL-13 (449.40 ± 315.37 vs. 605.27 ± 351.02) (all *P* < 0.05). Compared with children with obese/overweight alone (*n* = 56), those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight had significantly lower IL-10 (8.69 ± 2.76 vs. 12.29 ± 6.61) and higher IL-6 (35.75 ± 24.56 vs. 20.53 ± 17.07), IL-13 (449.40 ± 315.37 vs. 309.47 ± 257.45), and leptin (3.89 ± 3.81 vs. 2.48 ± 3.52) (all *P* < 0.05) (Table 2; Figures 1, 2). These results suggested the combined effect of comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight on the levels of several cytokines.

Asthma symptoms and severity

In order to investigate whether obesity/overweight influenced asthma, the severity of asthma was compared between the asthma alone and comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight groups to examine the impact of obesity/overweight on asthma. Compared with children with asthma alone, those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight had significantly higher PRAM scores $(3.14 \pm 2.40 \text{ vs.} 1.93 \pm 1.02, P = 0.008)$ and longer length of hospital stay $(5.96 \pm 1.25 \text{ vs.} 5.29 \pm 1.36, P = 0.007)$. There were no significant differences in hospitalization cost and systemic glucocorticoid use between children with asthma alone and comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight (Table 3). Hence, obesity/overweight appeared to exacerbate asthma.

Correlations

Finally, correlations were examined between indicators of obesity and inflammation markers. BMI was negatively correlated with 25-(OH) D₃ (r = -0.284, P < 0.001), IL-10 (r = -0.181, P = 0.019), and IL-13 (r = -0.188, P = 0.015). BMI was positively correlated with IL-6 (r = 0.386, P < 0.001), TNF- α (r = 0.172, P = 0.026), and leptin (r = 0.383, P < 0.001) (Table 4). Vitamin D was negatively correlated with IL-6 (r = -0.160, P = 0.038) and leptin (r = -0.155, P = 0.045). Vitamin D was positively correlated with IL-10 (r = 0.229, P = 0.003) (Table 5).

Discussion

The present study showed that children with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight had higher IL-6, TNF- α , and leptin, and lower 25-(OH) D₃, IL-10, and IL-13 than children with asthma alone, and had lower IL-10 and higher IL-6, IL-13, and leptin than children with obesity/overweight alone. Compared with children with asthma alone, those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight had a higher PRAM score and longer length of hospital stay. These findings highlight the importance of obesity in the management of pediatric asthma.

In the current study, children with obesity/overweight and children with comorbid obesity/overweight and asthma showed higher IL-6 than children with asthma, which illustrates that IL-6 is involved in the pathogenesis of asthma in obese children. High IL-6 secretion by brown fat cells in mice causes the failure of brown fat cells to decompose fat or metabolize glucose and other substances, resulting in obesity and other related complications (19), supporting the present study. In addition, previous studies showed that obese children had a higher Th1 proportion and inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IFN- γ , and TNF- α) levels (20, 21).

In this present study, the leptin levels in those with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight were substantially higher than in children with obesity/overweight alone, while leptin expression in children with obesity/overweight alone was higher than in children with asthma alone. The comorbid asthma and overweight/obesity group had a lower expression of IL-10 and IL-13 than children with asthma alone, suggesting that the expression of Th2-related inflammatory factors was higher in children with asthma but not in children with comorbidity. However, the present study did not include healthy controls to verify the mechanism of leptin involvement in asthma. As observed in the literature, obese individuals have higher leptin expression, which in turn stimulates fat cells to secrete proinflammatory mediators such as IL-6, TNF-α, and IL-12 (22, 23). Leptin stimulates the secretion of IL-6 and TNF- α in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (24). Leptin levels are higher in patients with asthma than in healthy controls, and leptin expression is significantly higher in patients with worsening asthma symptoms than in asymptomatic patients (25). Taken

TABLE 2 Comparison of proinflammatory mediators and 25-(OH) D3 in the three groups of children.

Indicators	Asthma group (<i>n</i> = 56)	Comorbidity group (<i>n</i> = 56)	Obese/overweight group (n = 56)	Р
25-(OH) D ₃ , ng/ml	37.15 ± 13.35	$26.03 \pm 10.77^{*}$	$27.45 \pm 11.27^{*}$	< 0.001
IL-6, pg/ml	15.40 ± 19.67	$35.75 \pm 24.56^{*}$	20.53 ± 17.07*\#	< 0.001
TNF-α, pg/ml	12.16 ± 7.24	15.44 ± 7.35*	13.77 ± 8.03	0.013
IL-10, pg/ml	15.32 ± 6.28	$8.69 \pm 2.76^{*}$	12.29 ± 6.61**#	< 0.001
IL-13, pg/ml	605.27 ± 351.02	$449.40 \pm 315.37^*$	309.47 ± 257.45*`#	< 0.001
Leptin, ng/ml	1.27 ± 2.31	$3.89 \pm 3.81^{*}$	2.48 ± 3.52*,#	< 0.001
IL-4, pg/ml	47.80 ± 36.15	56.90 ± 44.83	50.33 ± 40.93	0.741

25-(OH) D₃, 25-hydroxycholecalciferol; IL-6, interleukin 6; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-α; IL-10, interleukin 10; IL-13, interleukin 13; IL-4, interleukin 4.

The *p*-values presented in the final column of the table were unadjusted. The *p*-values denoted with * and # signified *post-hoc* comparisons that were adjusted through the Bonferroni correction method.

The data were non-normally distributed. The global *P*-values were from the Kruskal–Wallis test. The Mann–Whitney test was used for the *post hoc* testing of pairs of groups: *P < 0.05 vs. the asthma group; *P < 0.05 vs. the comorbidity group.



FIGURE 1

Comparison of 25-(OH) D3, leptin, interleukin (IL)-6, and IL-13 in the three groups of children. (A) 25-(OH)D₃. (B) Leptin. (C) IL-6. (D) IL-13. 25-(OH) D₃, 25-hydroxycholecalciferol; IL-6, interleukin 6; IL-13, interleukin 13. The data were non-normally distributed. The global *P*-values were from the Kruskal–Wallis test. The Mann–Whitney test was used for the *post hoc* testing of pairs of groups. Statistical significance between groups is indicated as follows: *P < 0.05; ns (not significant) $P \ge 0.05$. The figure was drawn using the "ggplot2" 3.4.4 package in R 4.3.1. Error bars represented standard deviation.

together, these findings suggest that leptin is involved in the pathogenesis of obesity-related asthma. Leptin promotes the differentiation and activation of Th1 cells, inhibits the production of the Th2 cytokines (such as IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10), and activates the proinflammatory Th17 cytokines (26–28).

In the present study, BMI was moderately and positively correlated with leptin and IL-6. A previous study found that the obesity-related proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 was related to asthma severity when metabolic syndrome co-occurred (29). Vitamin D reduces inflammation through various mechanisms, including inhibition of NF- κ B signaling, P38 MAP kinase phosphorylation, and activating macrophages, B cells, T cells, neutrophils, dendritic cells, and mast cells (30, 31). Moreover, vitamin D deficiency was found to be associated with obesity and asthma (14). Vitamin D increases the expression of CD14 in lung epithelial cells and macrophages and participates in local defense mechanisms (32). Vitamin D regulates the expression of bronchial vascular endothelial growth factor, fibronectin, and IL-6 in bronchial smooth muscle, thereby reducing airway inflammation (33–35). Children with asthma and obesity have



been reported to have lower serum vitamin D levels (15, 36). In a previous study, 29% of overweight children (BMI: 85th–95th percentile for age and gender), 34% of obese children (BMI: 95th–99th percentile), and 49% of severely obese children (BMI > 99th percentile) had 25(OH) D₃ levels of <30 ng/ml (36). Serum vitamin D levels are inversely correlated with body fat levels, partly due to increased vitamin D storage in adipose tissue (37). Vitamin D deficiency is associated with the acute exacerbation of asthma and glucocorticoid resistance (38, 39). Vitamin D increases the bioavailability of glucocorticoids in

airway smooth muscle cells and exerts a protective effect on Th1/Th2-driven airway inflammation (40). Nevertheless, the interaction between asthma, obesity, and vitamin D deficiency is complex.

In the present study, BMI was negatively correlated with 25-(OH) D_3 , while the levels of 25-(OH) D_3 in children with comorbid asthma and obesity/overweight and children with obese/overweight alone were lower than children with asthma alone and the normal standard (<30 ng/ml). Nevertheless, there were no significant differences between those with comorbid

TABLE 3	Comp	oarison o	f asthn	na sev	verity a	nd ot	her parame	ters betv	veen
children	with	asthma	alone	and	those	with	comorbid	asthma	and
obesity/c	overwe	eight.							

Parameters	Asthma group (n = 56)	Comorbidity group (<i>n</i> = 56)	Р
PRAM score	1.93 ± 1.02	3.14 ± 2.40	0.008 ^a
Length of hospital stay (d)	5.29 ± 1.36	5.96 ± 1.25	0.007 ^a
Hospitalization cost (CNY)	3,593.79 ± 772.62	3,656.74 ± 720.22	0.364 ^a
Systemic Glucocorticoid use	27 (48.2%)	35 (62.5%)	0.128 ^b

PRAM, the preschool respiratory assessment measure.

^aMann–Whitney test.

^bChi-squared test.

TABLE 4 Correlation of BMI with vitamin D and proinflammatory mediators.

	Correlation coefficient (r)	Р
25-(OH) D ₃	-0.284	< 0.001
IL-6	0.386	< 0.001
TNF-α	0.172	0.026
IL-10	-0.181	0.019
IL-13	-0.188	0.015
Leptin	0.383	<0.001

25-(OH) D₃, 25-hydroxycholecalciferol; IL-6, interleukin 6; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor- α ; IL-10, interleukin 10; IL-13, interleukin 13.

TABLE 5 Correlation of vitamin D with pro inflammatory medi	ators and
clinical characteristics.	

	Correlation coefficient (r)	Р
IL-6	-0.160	0.038
TNF-α	-0.012	0.875
IL-10	0.229	0.003
IL-13	0.126	0.104
Leptin	-0.155	0.045
PRAM score	0.089	0.353
Length of hospital stay (d)	0.076	0.424
Hospitalization cost (CNY)	-0.091	0.343

IL-6, interleukin 6; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-α; IL-10, interleukin 10; IL-13, interleukin 13.

asthma and obesity/overweight and children with obesity/ overweight alone. The present study examined the correlation between vitamin D and various proinflammatory factors, and vitamin D had a weak negative correlation with IL-6 and leptin, as well as a weak positive correlation with IL-10. Krajewska et al. found that vitamin D intake seemed to exert its antiinflammatory effect mainly via decreasing the CRP level and protecting stable values of IL-10 (41). It suggests that 25-(OH)D₃ may be involved in the regulation of relevant inflammatory factors. Still, vitamin D levels were not associated with the severity or length of hospital stay in children with asthma. Overall, vitamin D deficiency hinders the immune regulation in obese children.

According to the PRAM scores, the children with comorbidity suffered from more severe asthma symptoms, including difficulty breathing, compared with children with asthma alone. Nevertheless, systemic glucocorticoid administration did not produce any significant difference in asthma severity between the two groups. Children with comorbidity stayed longer in the hospital and suffered from more severe asthma symptoms with no ease with glucocorticoid administration, implying that obesity-related asthma may have had glucocorticoid resistance. Obese children displayed more severe clinical manifestations, and asthma control was very difficult in those children (42). The interaction between obesity and pulmonary disorders is multifaceted. Obesity alters chest wall dynamics, directly affecting the thorax biomechanics. In a previous study, obesity was positively associated with the length of hospital stay and the need for mechanical ventilation in children with asthma (43).

The present study has some limitations. Due to the absence of a normal control group in this study, it was impossible to compare the inflammatory factors of the disease groups with children without asthma or obesity/overweight. Since the data were retrieved from a single center, generalizability is limited. The study did not investigate the physical activity of the included children, family economy, or culture. Since it was a retrospective study, the families could not be contacted to collect such data. This study did not reexamine the inflammatory factors during the stable phase of asthma; therefore, the changes in the expression of these inflammatory factors after the treatment could not be speculated. Further prospective studies are necessary to investigate whether vitamin D supplementation or effective control of body weight can normalize the inflammatory factors and ease the severity of asthma in children with obesityassociated asthma.

In conclusion, there were significant differences in IL-6, IL-10, IL-13, 25-(OH) D_3 levels, and leptin levels among children with asthma combined with obesity/overweight and those with asthma or obesity/overweight alone. Furthermore, those with obesity/ overweight and asthma may display more severe clinical manifestations and longer hospital stays compared to children with asthma alone.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Ethic Committee of Shanghai Pudong New Area People's Hospital (No. prylz2020-101). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin.

Author contributions

W-yJ: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing original draft, Writing - review & editing. R-hJ: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. S-lM: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. J-sD: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. H-fZ: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. M-yW: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. Y-rC: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. LZ: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Writing - review & editing. X-yD: Conceptualization, curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Data Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by the Outstanding Young Medical Talent Training Program of the Pudong Health Bureau of Shanghai funding (No. PWRq2020-38) and the Youth Project of Shanghai

References

 Global Asthma Network. The global asthma report 2022. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. (2022) 26(Supp 1):1–104. doi: 10.5588/ijtld.22.1010

2. Dharmage SC, Perret JL, Custovic A. Epidemiology of asthma in children and adults. *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:246. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00246

3. Toskala E, Kennedy DW. Asthma risk factors. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. (2015) 5(Suppl 1):S11-6. doi: 10.1002/alr.21557

4. Hong Y, Ullah R, Wang JB, Fu JF. Trends of obesity and overweight among children and adolescents in China. *World J Pediatr.* (2023) 19(12):1115–26. doi: 10. 1007/s12519-023-00709-7

5. Pan XF, Wang L, Pan A. Epidemiology and determinants of obesity in China. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. (2021) 9(6):373-92. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00045-0

6. Chen Z, Salam MT, Alderete TL, Habre R, Bastain TM, Berhane K, et al. Effects of childhood asthma on the development of obesity among school-aged children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 195(9):1181–8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201608-1691OC

7. Bantulà M, Roca-Ferrer J, Arismendi E, Picado C. Asthma and obesity: two diseases on the rise and bridged by inflammation. *J Clin Med.* (2021) 10(2):169. doi: 10.3390/jcm10020169

8. Nyambuya TM, Dludla PV, Mxinwa V, Nkambule BB. Obesity-related asthma in children is characterized by T-helper 1 rather than T-helper 2 immune response: a meta-analysis. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol.* (2020) 125(4):425–32.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2020.06.020

9. Ginde AA, Sutherland ER. Vitamin D in asthma: panacea or true promise? J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2010) 126(1):59-60. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.05.030

10. Gregori S, Casorati M, Amuchastegui S, Smiroldo S, Davalli AM, Adorini L. Regulatory T cells induced by 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and mycophenolate mofetil treatment mediate transplantation tolerance. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167(4):1945–53. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.4.1945

11. Holick MF. Vitamin D status: measurement, interpretation, and clinical application. Ann Epidemiol. (2009) 19(2):73-8. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2007.12.001

12. Bates JH. Physiological mechanisms of airway hyper responsiveness in obese asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (2016) 54(5):618–23. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0019PS

13. Dixon AE, Poynter ME. Mechanisms of asthma in obesity. Pleiotropic aspects of obesity produce distinct asthma phenotypes. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 54(5):601–8. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0017PS

Municipal Health Commission Scientific Research funding (No. 20204Y0110).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the children and their parents for participating in this study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. Reinehr T, Langrock C, Hamelmann E, Lücke T, Koerner-Rettberg C, Holtmann M, et al. 25-Hydroxvitamin D concentrations are not lower in children with bronchial asthma, atopic dermatitis, obesity, or attention-deficient/ hyperactivity disorder than in healthy children. *Nutr Res.* (2018) 52:39–47. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2018.01.002

15. Han YY, Forno E, Celedón JC. Vitamin D insufficiency and asthma in a US nationwide study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract.* (2017) 5(3):790–6.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2016.10.013

16. Subspecialty Group of Respiratory Diseases, Society of Pediatrics, Chinese Medical Association; Editorial Board, Chinese Journal of Pediatrics. Guideline for the diagnosis and optimal management of asthma in children (2016). *Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi*. (2016) 54(3):167–81. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0578-1310.2016.03.003

17. Zhang S, Jiang C, Tu C. Chinese preschool children growth reference standard and related curve: based on GAMLSS approach. *Iran J Public Health.* (2021) 50(6):1250–9. doi: 10.18502/ijph.v50i6.6424

18. Chalut DS, Ducharme FM, Davis GM. The preschool respiratory assessment measure (PRAM): a responsive index of acute asthma severity. *J Pediatr.* (2000) 137(6):762-8. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2000.110121

19. Qing H, Desrouleaux R, Israni-Winger K, Mineur YS, Fogelman N, Zhang C, et al. Origin and function of stress-induced IL-6 in murine models. *Cell.* (2020) 182(2):372–87.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.054

20. Pacifico L, Di Renzo L, Anania C, Osborn JF, Ippoliti F, Schiavo E, et al. Increased T-helper interferon-gamma-secreting cells in obese children. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2006) 154(5):691–7. doi: 10.1530/eje.1.02138

21. Jensen ME, Collins CE, Gibson PG, Wood LG. The obesity phenotype in children with asthma. *Paediatr Respir Rev.* (2011) 12(3):152–9. doi: 10.1016/j.prrv. 2011.01.009

22. Umetsu DT. Mechanisms by which obesity impacts upon asthma. *Thorax.* (2017) 72(2):174-7. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209130

23. Bastard JP, Maachi M, Lagathu C, Kim MJ, Caron M, Vidal H, et al. Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. *Eur Cytokine Netw.* (2006) 17(1):4–12.

24. Agrawal S, Gollapudi S, Su H, Gupta S. Leptin activates human B cells to secrete TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-10 via JAK2/STAT3 and p38MAPK/ERK1/2 signaling pathway. J Clin Immunol. (2011) 31(3):472–8. doi: 10.1007/s10875-010-9507-1

25. Szczepankiewicz D, Sobkowiak P, Narożna B, Wojsyk-Banaszak I, Bręborowicz A, Szczepankiewicz A. Leptin gene polymorphism affects leptin level in childhood asthma. *World J Pediatr.* (2018) 14(6):601–6. doi: 10.1007/s12519-018-0182-2

26. Rastogi D, Fraser S, Oh J, Huber AM, Schulman Y, Bhagtani RH, et al. Inflammation, metabolic dysregulation, and pulmonary function among obese urban adolescents with asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2015) 191(2):149–60. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201409-1587OC

27. Martín-Romero C, Santos-Alvarez J, Goberna R, Sánchez-Margalet V. Human leptin enhances activation and proliferation of human circulating T lymphocytes. *Cell Immunol.* (2000) 199(1):15–24. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1999.1594

28. Yu Y, Liu Y, Shi FD, Zou H, Matarese G, La Cava A. Cutting edge: leptin-induced ROR γ t expression in CD4+ T cells promotes Th17 responses in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol. (2013) 190(7):3054–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203275

29. Peters MC, McGrath KW, Hawkins GA, Hastie AT, Levy BD, Israel E, et al. Plasma interleukin-6 concentrations, metabolic dysfunction, and asthma severity: a cross-sectional analysis of two cohorts. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2016) 4(7):574–84. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(16)30048-0

30. Krishnan AV, Feldman D. Mechanisms of the anti-cancer and antiinflammatory actions of vitamin D. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2011) 51:311–36. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010510-100611

31. Yin K, Agrawal DK. Vitamin D and inflammatory diseases. J Inflamm Res. (2014) 7:69–87. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S63898

32. Otelea MR, Rascu A. Vitamin D intake and obesity in occupational asthma patients and the need for supplementation. *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets.* (2018) 18(6):565–72. doi: 10.2174/1871530318666180628121321

33. Bossé Y, Maghni K, Hudson TJ. 1alpha,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D3 stimulation of bronchial smooth muscle cells induces autocrine, contractility, and remodeling processes. *Physiol Genomics.* (2007) 29(2):161–8. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics. 00134.2006

34. Song Y, Qi H, Wu C. Effect of 1,25-(OH)2D3 (a vitamin D analogue) on passively sensitized human airway smooth muscle cells. *Respirology*. (2007) 12(4):486–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2007.01099.x

35. Himes BE, Koziol-White C, Johnson M, Nikolos C, Jester W, Klanderman B, et al. Vitamin D modulates expression of the airway smooth muscle transcriptome in fatal asthma. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10(7):e0134057. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0134057

36. Turer CB, Lin H, Flores G. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among overweight and obese US children. *Pediatrics.* (2013) 131(1):e152–61. doi: 10.1542/ peds.2012-1711

37. Paul G, Brehm JM, Alcorn JF, Holguín F, Aujla SJ, Celedón JC. Vitamin D and asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2012) 185(2):124–32. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201108-1502CI

38. Brehm JM, Acosta-Pérez E, Klei L, Roeder K, Barmada M, Boutaoui N, et al. Vitamin D insufficiency and severe asthma exacerbations in Puerto Rican children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2012) 186(2):140–6. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201203-0431OC

39. Lan N, Luo G, Yang X, Cheng Y, Zhang Y, Wang X, et al. 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-deficiency enhances oxidative stress and corticosteroid resistance in severe asthma exacerbation. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9(11):e111599. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0111599

40. Vo P, Bair-Merritt M, Camargo CA. The potential role of vitamin D in the link between obesity and asthma severity/control in children. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2015) 9(3):309–25. doi: 10.1586/17476348.2015.1042457

41. Krajewska M, Witkowska-Sedek E, Ruminska M, Stelmaszczyk-Emmel A, Sobol M, Majcher A, et al. Vitamin D effects on selected anti-inflammatory and proinflammatory markers of obesity-related chronic inflammation. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne).* (2022) 13:920340. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.920340

42. Ahmadizar F, Vijverberg SJ, Arets HG, de Boer A, Lang JE, Kattan M, et al. Childhood obesity in relation to poor asthma control and exacerbation: a metaanalysis. *Eur Respir J.* (2016) 48(4):1063–73. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00766-2016

43. Okubo Y, Nochioka K, Hataya H, Sakakibara H, Terakawa T, Testa M. Burden of obesity on pediatric inpatients with acute asthma exacerbation in the United States. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract.* (2016) 4(6):1227–31. doi: 10.1016/j. jaip.2016.06.004

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY David Michael Patrick, University of British Columbia, Canada

REVIEWED BY Daniel P. Potaczek, University of Marburg, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Kyla J. Hildebrand 🖂 kyla.hildebrand@cw.bc.ca

RECEIVED 28 February 2025 ACCEPTED 18 April 2025 PUBLISHED 30 April 2025

CITATION

Adamko DJ and Hildebrand KJ (2025) The changing epidemiology of paediatric childhood asthma and allergy in different regions of the world. Front. Allergy 6:1584928. doi: 10.3389/falgy.2025.1584928

COPYRIGHT

© 2025 Adamko and Hildebrand. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The changing epidemiology of paediatric childhood asthma and allergy in different regions of the world

D. J. Adamko¹ and Kyla J. Hildebrand^{2*}

¹Division of Respiratory Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatchewan, SK, Canada, ²Division of Immunology, Department of Pediatrics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Allergic disorders encompass a variety of conditions including asthma, atopic dermatitis, food allergy, allergic rhinitis, and eosinophilic esophagitis. These atopic disorders are connected via an abnormal host immune response to the environment. A series of longitudinal cross-sectional studies conducted over the past 3 decades have reported on the epidemiological trends that contribute towards the development of pediatric asthma and allergic disease. Infant birth cohort studies assessing the microbiome have offered clues as to the underlying biological mechanisms and basis for allergic disease. Why this abnormal immune response is occurring is the basis of decades of research and the reasons for this chapter. Our understanding of the biology of the immune system has increased exponentially with the advances in genomic testing, providing further opportunity for targeted treatments and more importantly, primary prevention of atopic disease.

KEYWORDS

asthma, allergy, epidemiology, inborn error immunity, primary atopic disorders

Introduction

Asthma and allergic diseases are the most common chronic pediatric conditions and are leading healthcare costs. In 2013, direct costs of pediatric asthma were US\$5.92 billion, with the average annual costs per child ranging from US\$3,076 to US\$13,612 (1). Allergic disorders encompass a variety of conditions including asthma, atopic dermatitis, food allergy, allergic rhinitis, and eosinophilic esophagitis. Allergic disease develops in a time-based sequence, often referred to as the 'atopic march': beginning with atopic dermatitis and food allergy in infancy, to the development of asthma and allergic rhinitis in later childhood or beyond (2, 3). Severe forms of atopic diseases are a manifestation of immune dysregulation and reflect a new category of inborn errors of immunity collectively defined as primary atopic disorders (4). These allergic conditions are connected via an abnormal host immune response to the environment. For reasons that are currently unknown, exposure to common environmental factors like animal dander, certain foods, inhaled molds or pollens are not tolerated but instead generate a T Helper type 2 (T_H2)-like immune response driven by proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5 and IL-13 which activate effectors cells such as mast cells and eosinophils, thus driving inflammation. Classically, the diagnosis of allergic disease is established clinically based on the presence of effector cells like eosinophils or

immunoglobulin E (IgE)-mediated activation of mast cells and/or basophils. These immune cells promote an allergic response leading to symptoms of asthma such as paroxysmal cough, dyspnea, and wheezing; for allergic rhinoconjunctivitis symptoms of rhinorrhea, angioedema and conjunctivitis, and urticaria, flushing and possibly hypotension in the setting of anaphylaxis (5).

Understanding the biology driving inflammation is a key goal for research and prevention

Environmental exposures vary in an urban vs. rural setting, which seems to factor into the development of allergic disease. The term 'hygiene hypothesis' was coined in 1989 by Strachnan reflecting an observational theory that children with fewer viral infections in early life were more likely to develop allergic rhinitis (6). Stiemsma et al. summarized the evolution of the immune dysregulation associated with the hygiene hypothesis including the early report of low incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in Western Nigeria where malaria exposure is frequent (7) and how experimental theories have expanded the hygiene hypothesis to also include commensal and symbiotic intestinal microbes (8). One of the earliest studies assessing the role of farm exposures was described by Martinez and Holt by comparing two cross-sectional studies in Europe and concluded that children who lived on farms are exposed to a more diverse range of microbial agents and develop less allergic disease as demonstrated by reduced prevalence of asthma and atopy (9). Stein et al. demonstrated that even among genetically similar populations such as the Amish and Hutterite communities in the United States, environmental exposures as it relates to differing farming practices elicits varying innate immune responses. Amish farmers use a traditional practice with exposure to environments rich in microbes, whereas Hutterites apply industrialised technology. None of the Amish children studied had asthma in contrast to 20% of Hutterite children (10). However, the impact of rural exposures on asthma is complex and in some cases under-diagnosis of asthma may be occurring in these rural/remote communities (11). New research assessing the modality or route of exposure (inhaled, ingested) and effect on the varying tissue microbiomes (respiratory, intestinal, cutaneous) are emerging as a key question in our understanding of causal mechanisms (12). Early life exposures to inflammation generate innate immune responses that vary within and across populations (13). The discovery of T regulatory cells and innate lymphoid cells add to our understanding of the complexities of the immune system in atopic disease development beyond Th1 vs. Th2 imbalances (14). The increased prevalence of allergic disease has been attributed in part to epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation, whereby environmental effects create biochemical changes of transcriptionally relevant genetic information without altering the nucleotide sequence of the genome (15). Evolutionary life history theory considers the relative cost and effectiveness of different immune responses: innate immune responses are lower cost up front however are imperative for novel infections; acquired immune responses are most effective against secondary infections due to antigen-specific antibodies however require nutritional abundance (16). Socioeconomic factors, including access to healthcare, complicate the relationship of location and allergy.

Nutrition also plays a role in homeostasis between the balance of Th_1 and Th_2 immune responses. Micronutrient deficiencies may contribute to atopic diseases: iron, zinc, vitamins A and D deficiencies are drivers of atopic diseases. Children with allergic diseases in the US and China are up to 8 times more likely to be anemic compared to children without allergic disease. Dietary restrictions due to food allergy can also lead to micronutrient deficiencies (17). Gut microbiome studies of seminomadic gatherer/hunter people of the Yanomami has been found to be distinctly more diverse when compared to westernized counterparts. Indigenous diets contain high-fiber plant products rich in inulin, which has been shown to stabilize gut homeostasis via short chain fatty acids that inhibit proinflammatory cytokines when absorbed by gut epithelial cells (18).

Epidemiological trends of asthma and atopic disease among children and youth

Asthma is one of the most common chronic respiratory conditions of childhood worldwide, but regional differences exist. Several large population-based and cohort studies have shaped our understanding of asthma and allergic disease worldwide, providing early clues into the factors impacting the epidemiology of allergic disease and asthma worldwide including climate change, pollution, nutrition, birthing patterns, use of antibiotics early in life, and environmental exposures including viral infections.

In North America, data from the Center for Disease Control in the United States in 2019–2021 reported the prevalence of asthma among children less than 18 years was 6.5%. Prevalence was higher among youth 15–17 years (9.5%), in Black/African American children (11.6%), in Puerto Rican children (17%), and in those with the lowest household incomes (10.2%). Data from the National Institute of Health reported the prevalence of childhood asthma was 8.4% in 2017 declining to 5.8% in 2020, however the authors caution that a newer data collection strategy, coupled with the COVID19 pandemic reducing the number of viral respiratory tract infections, may be contributing factors to the declining prevalence (19).

The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) is the largest study examining the prevalence and severity of asthma symptoms, allergic rhinitis and eczema among children in different parts of the world. The ISAAC studies advanced our understanding of the epidemiology of pediatric asthma, and led to the exploration of environmental factors that might contribute to the asthma and the atopic march at a population level. This cross-sectional study consisted of three phases. ISAAC Phase I (1994–1995) involved the assessment of prevalence and severity of asthma and allergic disease and included 700,000 school-age children from 56 countries using simple core questionnaires that

were easy to implement regardless of health care resources. Phase II investigated possible etiological factors as suggested by Phase I; and Phase III (2011-2003) was a repetition of Phase I to assess trends in prevalence over time. There were two age groups of children studied: 6-7- and 13-14-year-olds. The Phase I study found significant differences in the prevalence of asthma between countries: In the 13-14-year-old age group, the prevalence of wheeze in the preceding 12 months ranged from 2.1 in Indonesia to 31.2% in the United Kingdom (UK) and 4.1 in Indonesia to 32.1% in Costa Rica in the younger age group. Prevalence was higher in countries that were English speaking or Latin America. This study had three countries with 14-15 study sites each, however the prevalence of asthma varied from low in India, moderate in Italy and high in the UK, suggesting discrepancies were most consistent between countries compared to within countries (20).

ISAAC also reported prevalence results for allergic rhinitis and atopic dermatitis. Allergic rhinitis symptom prevalence was reported between 0.8% and 14.9% in the 6–7-year-olds and from 1.4% to 39.7% in the 13–14-year-olds. This variation in reporting of allergic rhinoconjunctivitis symptoms highlighted differences in how allergic disease symptoms are labelled and reported at a population level (21). For atopic eczema, the ISAAC study reported that the highest prevalence rates were seen in countries where asthma rates were not similarly elevated including Scandinavia and African countries (22). The discordance in prevalence for atopic diseases within a country reflects a need for further research as to why some countries seemingly follow an 'atopic march' and others may not.

ISAAC Phase III study included approximately 1,200,000 children from 233 centers in 98 countries. Results found that the global prevalence of current asthma, rhinoconjunctivitis and eczema in the 13–14-year age group was 14.1%, 14.6% and 7.3%, respectively. Consistent with results from the Phase I study, The Phase III study demonstrated a wide variability in the prevalence and severity of asthma, rhinoconjunctivitis and eczema depending on the regions. Additionally, the Phase III study further established that the prevalence of allergic disease is high in non-affluent centres with low socioeconomic conditions. This suggests local environment characteristics play a key role in determining the differences in prevalence between one place and another (23).

To improve our understanding of asthma symptoms in younger children, the International Study of Wheezing Infants (EISL) was performed as a multicenter, cross-sectional study assessing the prevalence of recurrent wheezing and related risk factors in infants during the first year of life. This study revised the ISAAC questionnaire and validated it for infants less than 12 months of age and administered the survey between 12 and 15 m of age. In 2005, 30,093 children participated from 17 centers [25,030 in Latin American (LA) countries in 12 sites; and 5063 from 5 European (EU) sites]. Of the results reported, symptoms of a viral infection in the first 3 months of life were the most consistent factor associated with a shorter time to first episode of wheeze (24).

More recently the Global Asthma Network (GAN) Phase 1 study published results from a cross-sectional study striving to

report on global surveillance of asthma prevalence, severity, management and risk factors. This was the first study since ISAAC that aimed to assess global asthma prevalence over a 27-year period among school age children. Results include a decrease in prevalence for severe asthma symptoms in adolescents however there was an overall increased report of ever having asthma symptoms and night cough in both adolescents and school age children. Key findings of the GAN study indicates that the overall prevalence of asthma remains stable, however 1 in 20 children worldwide has severe asthma (25).

Lastly, the Environmental Influences on Child Health Outcomes (ECHO) study assessed 5,809 children from 10 of the 12 cohorts from the Children's Respiratory and Environmental Workgroup (CREW) birth cohort consortium. This study assigned census-derived tract-level data for socioeconomic, demographic, and housing variables. Study findings included Black and Hispanic children had higher rates of asthma and asthma morbidity compared to White children; Black and Hispanic children in this study resided in communities with economic deprivation at a disproportionate rate compared to White children. Applying census data to the CREW cohorts, the authors reported environmental characteristics at birth relating to population density and poverty were associated with an elevated risk of asthma incidence. Black and Hispanic children were at higher risk than White children for developing asthma regardless of neighbourhood, further linking race, ethnicity and neighbourhood factors with onset of asthma (26).

The role of viruses in the development of asthma

Viruses are important factors in the environment which the host must respond to. This response can be important in the development of asthma and the diagnosis of asthma (27). Numerous studies have shown that infants (<2-year-olds) with a more severe response [i.e., hospitalized with Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) bronchiolitis] are at increased risk of developing later asthma and in some cases even allergic disease (28-32). In addition, there are data that other viruses which cause hospitalization at this young age (i.e., human metapneumovirus) can also increase the risk of later asthma and allergic disease (33). It is also well described that common cold viruses like Rhinovirus are a key trigger for an asthma exacerbation in all ages. People that present to urgent care with Rhinovirus are much more likely to have a diagnosis of asthma (34). The host response to these common viruses is critical to our understanding of allergic disease and asthma (35). For example, there is excellent data in vivo and in vitro that typically allergic effector cells like eosinophils can be triggered by viral infection to release mediators and induce airway hyperresponsiveness (36, 37). RSV has unique characteristics that could attract allergic effector cells to the airway (38). Overall, the reason why people with allergic inflammation respond so poorly to common colds is an important factor in our understanding of allergic airway disorders.

The role of the microbiome: expanding understanding of genes and environment on development of allergic disease

The Canadian Healthy Infant Longitudinal Development (CHILD) Study is a longitudinal birth cohort study that aims to advance knowledge about the genetic and environmental determinants of atopic diseases including asthma, allergy, allergic rhinitis and eczema. This study recruited 3,500 pregnant women who gave birth between 2009 and 2012 from 4 provinces and followed the infants prospectively. One of the first published reports from this cohort study reported on the gut microbiome of 24 healthy infants and correlated with mode of delivery and feeding status (breastfed or formula fed). Infants born by elective caesarean section had low bacterial diversity and richness. This study advanced understanding of infant gut microbiota and offered new evidence correlating to mode of delivery (39). Another key finding from the CHILD study is the impact of the timing of systemic antibiotics administered within the first year of life are associated with risk of atopic dermatitis [adjusted odds ratio (aOR) = 1.81; 95% CI: 1.28-2.57; P < 0.001]. Additionally, antibiotics in the first year of life were linked to infant gut microbiome disruption and elevated atopic dermatitis risk. This study also identified key gut microbiome components that could potentially be used to predict and possibly prevent the onset of atopic dermatitis (40). Antibiotic stewardship programs have successfully reduced the use of antibiotic prescriptions in infants and children: a systematic review of 113 studies assessing antimicrobial stewardship programs in children 0-18 years, 79.6% of the studies showed a significant reduction in inappropriate antibiotic prescriptions (41). A Canadian population level study coupled with a prospective cohort analysis found that declining rates of asthma diagnosis at age 1-4 years was associated with decreased antibiotic use in infancy (age < 1 year). Asthma incidence increased by 24% with each 10% increase in antibiotic prescribing (adjusted incidence rate ratio 1.24 [95% CI: 1.20-1.28]; p < 0.0001) (42). Birth cohorts from around the world continue to collect key information and data, providing clues on mechanisms of disease for the development of asthma and atopic disease, and offer strategies towards primary prevention at an individual and population level.

Severe atopy: the tip of the iceberg for uncovering inborn errors of immunity (IEI)

While the environment is important, family history and a genetic basis for disease is well-described. Inborn errors of immunity are a group of disorders caused by damaging germline variants in single genes. The International Union of Immunological Societies (IUIS) has curated and maintained an updated list of inborn errors of immunity since the 1970s. In the United States the incidence of IEIs is 6 per 10,000 individuals (43). Although once considered a rare group of diseases, more recently our understanding has shifted to recognize that collectively these disorders are more common and important for allergic diseases. In the 2024 summary, the IUIS listed 555 IEI's and 17 phenocopies due to genetic variants in 504 different genes (44). Severe atopy including atopic dermatitis, allergic asthma and food allergy are a well described presentation for a group of IEIs categorized as primary atopic disorders (PADs), a term first coined in 2018 to delineate this distinct group. PADs are a group of heritable monogenic allergic disorders, often characterized by severe, early-onset, and co-existent allergic conditions such as atopic dermatitis, food allergy and allergic asthma (45). One of the challenges of PADs is that environmental and host factors can contribute to the heterogeneity of the clinical presentation and severity of disease, requiring clinicians to have a high index of suspicion for IEI, particularly in the absence of infections (46). Our understanding of the biology of these conditions has laid the groundwork for therapies for some of the most common allergic disorders affecting large portions of the population.

Conclusion

Allergic disorders affect a significant proportion of the global population. Abnormal host immune responses towards common antigens in the environment, coupled with genetic predisposition, form the matrix of atopic disease. Epidemiologic data arising from birth cohorts and cross-sectional studies around the world have significantly altered our understanding of the geneenvironment interaction as it relates to allergic conditions and factors influencing the risk of developing disease. Our understanding of the biologic and immunologic mechanisms underpinning monogenic forms of the primary atopic disorders characterized by immune dysregulation has contributed towards targeted therapies. Ongoing research and applications of genomic testing to further characterize biological pathways may help pave the transition towards precision medicine for atopic disorders.

Author contributions

DA: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. KJH: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Generative AI statement

The author(s) declare that no Generative AI was used in the creation of this manuscript.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Perry R, Braileanu G, Palmer T, Stevens P. The economic burden of pediatric asthma in the United States: literature review of current evidence. *Pharmacoeconomics*. (2019) 37(2):155–67. doi: 10.1007/s40273-018-0726-2

2. Spergel JM. Epidemiology of atopic dermatitis and the atopic march in children. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. (2010) 30(3):269-80. doi: 10.1016/j.iac.2010.06.003

3. Yang L, Fu J, Zhou Y. Research progress in atopic March. Front Immunol. (2020) 11:1907. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01907

4. Lyons JJ, Milner JD. Primary atopic disorders. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:1009-22. doi: 10.1084/jem.20172306

5. Ogulur I, Mitamura Y, Yazici D, Pat Y, Ardicli S, Li M, et al. Type 2 immunity in allergic diseases. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2025) 22:211-42. doi: 10.1038/s41423-025-01261-2

6. Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. Br Med J. (1989) 299(6710):1259-60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.299.6710.1259

7. Greenwood BM. Polyarthritis in Western Nigeria. I. Rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. (1969) 28(5):488–96. doi: 10.1136/ard.28.5.488

8. Stiemsma LT, Reynolds LA, Turvey SE, Finlay BB. The hygiene hypothesis: current perspectives and future therapies. *Immunotargets Ther.* (2015) 4:143–57. doi: 10.2147/ITT.S61528

9. Ege MJ, Mayer M, Normand AC, Genuneit J, Cookson WOCM, Braun-Fahrlander C, et al. Exposure to environmental microorganisms and childhood asthma. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 364:701–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1007302

10. Stein MM, Hrusch CL, Gozdz J, Igartua C, Pivniouk V, Murray SE, et al. Innate immunity and asthma risk in Amish and Hutterite farm children. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 375(5):411–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1508749

11. Oluwole O, Rennie DC, Senthilselvan A, Dyck R, Afanasieva A, Adamko DJ, et al. Asthma diagnosis among children along an urban-rural gradient. *J Asthma*. (2018) 55(11):1242–52. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2017.1407335

12. Von Mutius E. The "hygiene hypothesis" and the lessons learnt from farm studies. Front Immunol. (2021):12:635522. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.635522

13. McDade TW. Early environments and the ecology of inflammation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109(Suppl 2):17281–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1202244109

14. Garn H, Potaczek DP, Pfefferle PI. The hygiene hypothesis and new perspectives —current challenges meeting an old postulate. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:637087. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.637087

15. Potaczek DP, Alhamwe BA, Miethe S, Garn H. Epigenetic mechanisms in allergy development and prevention. *Handb Exp Pharmacol.* (2022) 268:331–57. doi: 10.1007/164_2021_475

16. McDade TW, Georgiev AV, Kuzawa CW. Trade-offs between acquired and innate immune defenses in humans. *Evol Med Public Health*. (2016) 2016(1):1–16. doi: 10.1093/emph/eov033

17. Peroni DG, Hufnagl K, Comberiati P, Roth-Walter F. Lack of iron, zinc and vitamins as a contributor to the etiology of atopic diseases. *Front Nutr.* (2023) 9:1032481. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1032481

18. Pfefferle PI, Keber CU, Cohen RM, Garn H. The hygiene hypothesis—learning from but not living in the past. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:635935. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2021.635935

19. Frey SM, Rowe RK, Halterman JS. The prevalence of childhood asthma: interpreting falling rates in the context of shifting measurement and the COVID19 pandemic. *Curr Opin Pulm Med.* (2023) 29(3):197–201. doi: 10.1097/MCP. 000000000000959

20. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee. Worldwide variations in the prevalence of asthma symptoms: the international study of asthma and allergies in childhood (ISAAC). *Eur Resp J.* (1998) 12(2):315–35. doi: 10.1183/09031936.98.12020315

21. Strachan D, Sibbald B, Weiland SK, Ait-Khaled N, Anabwani G, Anderson HR, et al. Worldwide variations in prevalence of symptoms of allergic rhinoconjunctivitis in children: the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (1997) 8:161–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3038

22. Beasley R, The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee. Worldwide variation in the prevalence of symptoms

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis and atopic eczema: ISAAC. Lancet. (1998) 351:1225-32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(97)07302-9

23. Mallol J, Crane J, von Mutius E, Odhiambo J, Keil U, Stewart A, et al. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) phase three: a global synthesis. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)*. 2013 41(2):73–85. doi: 10.1016/j. aller.2012.03.001

24. Pacheco-Gonzalez R, Mallol J, Solé D, Brand PLP, Perez-Fernandez V, Sanchez-Solis M, et al. Factors associated with the time to the first wheezing episode in infants: a cross-sectional study from the International Study of Wheezing in Infants (EISL) 2016. *NPJ Prim Care Resp Med.* (2016) 26:15077. doi: 10.1038/npjpcrm.2015.77

25. Asher MI, Rutter CE, Bissell K, Chiang CY, El Sony A, Ellwood E, et al. Worldwide trends in the burden of asthma symptoms in school-age children: global asthma network phase I cross-sectional study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:1569–80. doi: 10. 1183/13993003.02094-2020

26. Zanobetti A, Ryan PH, Coull B, Brokamp C, Datta S, Blossom J, et al. Childhood asthma incidence, early and persistent wheeze and neighbourhood socioeconomic factors in the ECHO/CREW consortium. *JAMA Pedatr.* (2022) 176(8):759–67. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.1446

27. Jartti T, Gern JE. Role of viral infections in the development and exacerbation of asthma in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2017) 140(4):895–906. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci. 2017.08.003

28. Bacharier L, Cohen R, Schweiger T, Yin-Declue H, Christie C, Zheng J, et al. Determinants of asthma after severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2012) 130(1):91–100.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.02.010

29. Wu P, Dupont WD, Griffin MR, Carroll KN, Mitchel AF, Gebretsadik T, et al. Evidence of a causal role of winter virus infection during infancy in early childhood asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2008) 178:1123–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200804-579OC

30. Thomsen SF, van der Sluis S, Stensballe LG, Posthuma D, Skytthe A, Kyvik KO, et al. Exploring the association between severe respiratory syncytial virus infection and asthma: a registry-based twin study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 179:1091–7. doi: .org/10.1164/rccm.200809-1471OC

31. Sigurs N, Aljassim F, Kjellman B, Robinson PD, Sigurbergsson F, Bjarnason R, et al. Asthma and allergy patterns of 18 years after severe RSV bronchiolitis in the first year of life. *Thorax.* (2010) 65(12):1045–52. doi: 10.1136/thx.2009.121582

32. Wang G, Han D, Jiang Z, Li M, Yang S, Liu L, et al. Association between early bronchiolitis and the development of childhood asthma: a meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e043956. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043956

33. Munoz-Quiles C, Lopez-Lacort M, Diez-Domingo J, Orrico-Sanchez A. Bronchiolitis regardless of its etiology and severity, is associated with increased risk of asthma: a population-based study. *J Infect Dis.* (2023) 228(7):840–50. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiad093

34. Navanandan N, Jackson ND, Hamington KL, Everyman JL, Pruesse E, Secor EA, et al. Viral determinants of childhood asthma exacerbation severity and treatment response. *J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract.* (2025) 13(1):95–104. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip. 2024.09.020

35. Gern JE. How rhinovirus infections cause exacerbations of asthma. *Clin Exp* Allergy. (2015) 45(1):32–42. doi: 10.1111/cea.12428

36. Ilarraza R, Wu Y, Skappak CD, Ajamian F, Proud D, Adamko DJ. Rhinovirus has the unique ability to directly activate human T cells *in vitro. J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2013) 131(2):395–404. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.11.041

37. Skappak C, Ilarraza R, Wu YQ, Drake MG, Adamko DJ. Virus-induced asthma attack: the importance of allergic inflammation in response to viral antigen in an animal model of asthma. *PLoS One.* (2017) 12(7):e0181425. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0181425

38. Ajamian F, Ilarraza R, Wu Y, Morris K, Odemuyiwa SO, Moqbel R, et al. CCL5 persists in RSV stocks following sucrose-gradient purification. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2020) 108(1):169–76. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4MA0320-621R

39. Azad MB, Konya T, Maughan H, Guttman DS, Field CJ, Chari RS, et al. Gut microbiota of healthy Canadian infants: profiles by mode of delivery and infant diet at 4 months. *CMAJ.* (2013) 185(5):385–94. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.121189

40. Hoskinson C, Medeleanu MV, Reyna ME, Dai DLY, Chowdhury C, Moraes TJ, et al. Antibiotics taken within the first year of life are linked to infant gut microbiome

disruption and elevated atopic dermatitis risk. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2024) 154(1):131–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2024.03.025

41. Donà D, Barbieri E, Daverio M, Lundin R, Giaquinto C, Zaoutis T, et al. Implementation and impact of pediatric antimicrobial stewardship programs: a systematic scoping review. *Antimicrob Resist Infect Control.* (2020) 9(1):3. doi: 10. 1186/s13756-019-0659-3

42. Patrick DM, Sbihi H, Dai DLY, Al Mamun A, Rasali D, Rose C, et al. Decreasing antibiotic use, the gut microbiota, and asthma incidence in children: evidence from population-based and prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8(11):1094–105. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30052-7

43. Rider NL, Truxton A, Ohrt T, Margolin-Katz I, Horan M, Shin H, et al. Validating inborn error of immunity prevalence and risk with nationally

representative electronic health record data. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2024) 153(6):1704-10. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2024.01.011

44. Poli MC, Aksentijevich I, Bousfiha A, Cunningham-Rundles C, Hambleton S, Klein C, et al. Human inborn errors of immunity: 2024 Update on the classification from the International Union of Immunological Societies Expert Committee. Available online at: https://wp-iuis.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/app/uploads/2025/01/08170257/IEI-Final-Update-of-2024-Report-Jan-2025.pdf (accessed January 25, 2024).

45. Vaseghi-Shanjani M, Smith KL, Sara RJ, Modi BP, Branch A, Sharma M, et al. Inborn errors of immunity manifesting as atopic disorders. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2021) 148:1130–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2021.08.008

46. Biggs CM, Lu HY, Turvey SE. Monogenic immune disorders and severe atopic disease. *Nat Genet.* (2017) 49(8):1162–3. doi: 10.1038/ng.3925

Frontiers in Allergy

Understanding the mechanisms, etiology and management of allergies

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



